
CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF 

YPSILANTI BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

May 15, 2018 
 

Work Session – 5:00 p.m. 
Regular Meeting – 7:00 p.m. 

 
Ypsilanti Township Civic Center 

7200 S. Huron River Drive 
Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

Supervisor 
BRENDA L. STUMBO 

Clerk 
KAREN LOVEJOY ROE 

Treasurer 
LARRY J. DOE 

Trustees 
STAN ELDRIDGE 

HEATHER JARRELL ROE 
MONICA ROSS WILLIAMS 

JIMMIE WILSON, JR. 



 

DEPARTMENTAL 

REPORTS 

 

 



14-B District Court

Revenue Report for April 2018

General Account

Account Number

Due to Washtenaw County

(101-000-000-214.222) $4,032.17

Due to State Treasurer

Civil Filing Fee Fund  (MCL 600.171): $16,947.00

State Court Fund  (MCL 600.8371): $1,860.00

Justice System Fund  (MCL 600.181): $25,110.08

Juror Compensation Reimbursement Fund:

Civil Jury Demand Fee  (MCL 600.8371): $10.00

Drivers License Clearance Fees  (MCL 257.321a): $2,700.00

Crime Victims Rights Fund  (MCL 780.905): $6,975.00

Judgment Fee  (Dept. of Natural Resources): $0.00

E-File Fee  (228.56): $4,755.00

Due to Secretary of State

(101-000-000-206.136) $2,700.00

Total: $61,057.08

Due to Ypsilanti Township

Court Costs (101-000-000-602.136): $46,807.15

Civil Fees (101-000-000-603.136): $14,258.00

Probation Fees (101-000-000-604.000): $9,826.40

Ordinance Fines (101-000-000-605.001): $64,169.07

Bond Forfeitures (101-000-000-605.003): $5,875.00

Interest Earned (101-000-000-605.004): $0.00

State Aid-Caseflow Assistance (101-000-602.544): $0.00

Expense Write-Off: $0.00

Bank Charges (Expense - 101.136.000.957.000): ($896.82)

Total: $140,038.80

Total to General Account - (101.000.000.004.136): $205,128.05

Escrow Account

(101-000-000-205.136)

Court Ordered Escrow: $5,199.00

Bonds: $16,364.52

Restitution: $6,286.06

Total to Escrow Account - (101.000.000.205.136): $27,849.58



Year to Date

Prior Year Comparison

Month Revenue Revenue

2017 2018

January 120,611.62$          109,316.31$         

February 155,669.56$          137,035.89$         

March 182,041.34$          143,323.89$         

April 148,443.25$          140,038.80$         

May 162,945.87$          

June 139,612.07$          

July 140,495.57$          

August 161,593.12$          

September 145,006.23$          

October 149,269.12$          

November 126,239.85$          

December 111,592.86$          

Grant: 117,000.00$          

Standardization

Payment: 45,724.00$            45,724.00$           

Year-to Date

Totals: 1,906,244.46$       575,438.89$         

Expenditure

Budget: 1,486,200.32$       1,680,537.00$       

Difference: 420,044.14$          (1,105,098.11)$     



 

 

14-B District Court 

 

  Monthly Disbursements 

 

 April 2018 

 

 

 Revenue received as a Fine for violation of a State Statute is disbursed to the Washtenaw 

County Treasurer, for library purposes. 

 

 Revenue received as a Fine for violation of a Township Ordinance and all Court Costs are 

disbursed to the Ypsilanti Township Treasurer.  Local revenue also includes Probation oversight 

fees and Bond Forfeitures. 

 

 Revenue received as State Filing Fee, State Court Fund, Justice System Fund, Juror 

Compensation, Crime Victims Rights Fund and Dept. of Natural Resources Judgment Fee is 

forwarded to the State Treasurer. 

  

 Money received as Garnishment Proceeds, Criminal Bonds, Restitution, and Court 

Ordered Escrow are deposited in the Escrow Account of the Court. 

 

 All other revenues are transferred to the Ypsilanti Township Treasurer. 

 

 

                         April 2018 Disbursements: 

 

  Washtenaw County:                  $   4,032.17 

       

  State of Michigan:                     $   61,057.08 

 

  Ypsilanti Township Treasurer:     $140,038.80 

 

 

      TOTAL:   $205,128.05 



Supervisor 
BRENDA L. STUMBO 

Clerk 
KAREN LOVEJOY ROE 

Treasurer 
LARRY J. DOE 

Trustees 
         STAN ELDRIDGE 

          HEATHER ROE 

MONICA ROSS-WILLIAMS 

     JIMMIE WILSON, JR.

 
 

 

 

 

Date:  May 2, 2018 
To:  Clerk’s Office 
CC:   
From: Michael Saranen, Hydro Operation Manager 
      
Subject: Monthly Report (activities in April 2018) 

 

Activities: 

Ford Lake Dam 
 
General Operation Summary: 
The Hydro Station continues to operate safely and continues to get routine safety inspections and 
preventive maintenance. Operators had 6 after hour call-ins for the month primarily for adjusting the 
lake level.  

 
Average precipitation for the month of April is around 2.85”, this year it was about 2.60” and production 
for the month was slightly above average. 

 
Regulatory: 
  

For 2018- 
- update DSSMP  
- A DSSMR- Submitted to FERC 
- Owners Dam Safety Program Review (complete) 
- EAP Training (completed) 
- Part 12- recommendation plan (almost finished) 
- WQ Report (preparing equipment for the season) 
- Nuisance Plant Plan Report  
- Wildlife Plan Report  
- Historical Activity Report  
- Gate Certification  
- Security Review  
- FERC Annual Safety inspection  
- EAP annual update and test  
- Spillway Assessment (reviewing comments from FERC) 
- Annual DEQ lake Operation Monitoring Report (comlpete) 

 
For 2019- 

- EAP Table &Functional Exercise 
 
 
 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
Hydro Station  

 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive 
Ypsilanti, MI  48197 

Phone:  (734) 544.3690 
Fax:  (734) 544.3626 

 
www.ytown.org 

 

http://www.ytown.org/


 
 
Projects: 
 

Concrete Maintenance (On Hold until 2019) 
 Repair small areas concrete damaged from exposure to ice and road salt. Repair exterior stairs and hand 

railing. 
 

Generator #2 Turbine Bearing 
In January 2018, the Board approved staff to gather quotes to replace the turbine bearing. Project has 
approval from the Board. James Luffel & Company has approved for the project. Scheduled for July 
2018. The new bearing is being manufactured and on schedule per JL&C. Currently working on getting 
the US Ecology contract setup and crews scheduled in early July to clean the rooms. 

 

River Coordination  
Van Buren Twp. and French Landing Dam are considering lowering Belleville Lake in the fall of 2019. It 
will be important to look at the possible effects to the Hydro Station and the operations if Belleville Lake 
is to be lowered. 
 
 

Operation Summary 
2018      April            YTD         5 yr. Ave. 
Precipitation1                      2.60”               8.28”               31.47”  
Days Online                   30  119.8          353.3 
Gross generation MWH (estimated)           1,434.604             4,834.064             9,201.715 
Generation lost MWH (estimated)*                   1.284                11.264    403.286         
After Hour Call In                    
 Water levels      5        12       35 
 Mechanical/Electrical     1        1         4 
 Other       0        0         4 
 Totals       6        13       43 
 
 
 
Recent History    2013          2014    2015           2016  2017  
Precipitation total   40.87”          34.31”     25.27”         29.61”  27.30” 
Days Online    345          355      345              359.5  362 
Generation MWH (estimated)  8,991.285      9,745.999    7,723.040    8,803.436  10,744.816 
Generation lost MWH (estimated)* 454.824*       643.164*     419.050*     229.798*  269.595* 
 
After Hour Call In                   
 Water levels   44          43      32  31   26 
 Mechanical/Electrical  1           7      1  4   5 
 Other    0           15     1  2   3 
  
 Totals    45          67          34  37   34 
 
1 Totals from Weather Underground – Ypsilanti Willow Run 
*losses related to scheduled & unscheduled maintenance and water quality discharges. 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
Spilling Summary: 
 
Releasing water from the sluice gates is primary to maintain lake level when flow exceeds the 
powerhouse. At certain times, we can use the gates to help keep the lake mixing to maintain oxygen 
levels (effectiveness depends on a number of factors) at the bottom of the lake. 
 
The water quality monitoring begins on June 1st and will end on September 30th; operators monitor the 
water quality conditions and take readings as outline in the WQ Plan. The hydro discharges from the 
bottom gates to maintain run of river and/or help with water quality in Ford Lake. The Federal License 
requires we pass water with a minimum of 5mg/l of dissolved oxygen all the time.  Therefore, spilling 
from the bottom gates in the summer for improving the lake is not always possible. 

 
Sluice Gate Usage Summary: 
          Current Year Current Year      Current Year   Prior Year 
2018 Days Spilled  Lost KWh* Lost $* Lost $* 
January 1.8 0 0 0 
February 8.8 0 0 0 
March 17.5 0 0 0 
April 13.1 0 0 0 
May    0 
June    8,129 
July    862 
August    0 
September    0 
October    0 
November    0 
December    0 

Totals 41.2 0 0 $ 8,991 
 
*estimated losses from diverting water away from generators for the purpose improving WQ. 

Sargent Charles Dam  
 
This dam continues to get routine safety inspections and appropriate maintenance. 
 
The Sargent Charles Dam is due for the 5 year inspection in 2018. It has been requested that the State 
perform inspection and complete the report on the Twp. behalf. This is at no cost to the Twp. 

Other 
  Assist Residential Services with special projects 
  Discuss confine space rescue with Fire Chief 
  Attended Bi-annual HRWC Dam Operator meeting 
 



 

 
  
  2201 Hogback Road  Ann Arbor, Michigan  48105-9732  OFFICE  (734) 971-8400  FAX  (734) 973-4624  EMAIL  sheriff@ewashtenaw.org 

JERRY L. CLAYTON MARK A. PTASZEK 

 SHERIFF UNDERSHERIFF 

 
 

To: Brenda Stumbo, Ypsilanti Township Supervisor 
From: Mike Marocco, Police Services Lieutenant 
Cc: Mike Radzik, Ypsilanti Township Police Administrator & Ypsilanti Township Board 
Keith Flores, WCSO Police Services Commander 
Date: May 1, 2018 
Re: April 1 2018 Police Services Monthly Report 
 
In April of 2018, there were 3759 calls for service in Ypsilanti Township, which is a .18% increase 
in calls for service as compared to April of 2017.   
 
OPERATIONS 
During April of 2018, Patrol Operations has been efficient in handling calls for service, traffic 
enforcement and community engagement duties in pursuit of our total policy philosophy.  We 
continue to focus on root cause issues and build on the success we have experienced within the 
community.  As weather has improved we have seen an increase in Burglary and Larceny From 
Auto complaints.  However, the rates in those crime categories are trending toward the 
lowered rates we have had over the past several years.   
 
From a year to date perspective, comparing 2018 to the same period in 2017, we have several 
positive comparisons: 
 
Robberies are down 41% 
Motor Vehicle Theft is down 31% 
Larcenies (all categories) are down 18% 
Home Invasion / Burglaries are down 7% 
 
That same period showed that Fraud increased by 13%.  There are several different types of 
Fraud that are represented in the overall increase.  However, the major contributor to the 
increase is a 48.5% increase in reported Identity Theft within Ypsilanti Township this year 
compared to last.  The geography, expertise and time necessary to investigate this type of crime 
places significant pressure on resources. 
 

YOUTH INITIATIVE 
The Sheriff’s Office continues to partner with courts, probation and social services to ensure 
that there is accountability beyond Sheriff’s Office contact with the offenders that are 
consistently involved in crimes.  The year to date reductions in burglaries, stolen autos and 
juvenile mischief complaints is directly related to the Sheriff’s Office engagement of our 
juvenile population and their family structures.   



We are currently finalizing the Summer of 2018 project that will focus on Juveniles and 
Neighborhoods within the community.   
 

COMMUNITY ACTION TEAM 
During the month of April, the Sheriff’s Office executed narcotics related search warrants within 

Ypsilanti Township which resulted in seizures of narcotics, weapons and currency.    

Our collaboration with the Michigan Department of Correction in reference to parole compliance 

continues to pay dividends.  Fast reaction to tips regarding parolee misconduct as well as regular 

home visits are expected by the parolees that are living in Ypsilanti Township and surrounding 

areas.  



CLR-008 Monthly Summary Of Offenses (WD)

City:Ypsilanti Twp-YPT

Month: April

Year: 2018

Print Option: Print Both Monthly and YTD

Include Unfounded: No

Report Offenses: Include All (1,2,3,4)

Attempted/Completed/NA: Includes Attempted, Completed

City: Ypsilanti Twp-YPT

5/1/2018 8:55:58 AM                  Page 1 of 7



CLR-008 Monthly Summary Of Offenses (WD)

City:Ypsilanti Twp-YPT

                 For The Month Of April

Classification Apr/2017 Apr/2018 %Change

09001  MURDER/NONNEGLIGENT MANSLAUGHTER (VOLUNTARY) 1 0 -100%

10001  KIDNAPPING/ABDUCTION 1 0 -100%

11001  SEXUAL PENETRATION PENIS/VAGINA -CSC lST DEGREE 2 4 100%

11002  SEXUAL PENETRATION PENIS/VAGINA -CSC 3RD DEGREE 0 0 0%

11003  SEXUAL PENETRATION ORAL/ANAL -CSC lST DEGREE 0 1 0%

11004  SEXUAL PENETRATION ORAL/ANAL -CSC 3RD DEGREE 1 0 -100%

11005  SEXUAL PENETRATION OBJECT -CSC IST DEGREE 0 0 0%

11007  SEXUAL CONTACT FORCIBLE -CSC 2ND DEGREE 0 1 0%

11008  SEXUAL CONTACT FORCIBLE -CSC 4TH DEGREE 3 0 -100%

12000  ROBBERY 2 3 50%

13001  NONAGGRAVATED ASSAULT 43 37 -13.9%

13002  AGGRAVATED/FELONIOUS ASSAULT 21 28 33.33%

13003  INTIMIDATION/STALKING 3 4 33.33%

20000  ARSON 0 0 0%

22001  BURGLARY -FORCED ENTRY 11 8 -27.2%

22002  BURGLARY -ENTRY WITHOUT FORCE (Intent to Commit) 4 3 -25%

23001  LARCENY -POCKETPICKING 0 0 0%

23003  LARCENY -THEFT FROM BUILDING 15 9 -40%

23005  LARCENY -THEFT FROM MOTOR VEHICLE 15 32 113.3%

23006  LARCENY -THEFT OF MOTOR VEHICLE PARTS/ACCESSORIES 6 6 0%

23007  LARCENY -OTHER 7 5 -28.5%

24001  MOTOR VEHICLE THEFT 7 5 -28.5%

24002  MOTOR VEHICLE, AS STOLEN PROPERTY 2 1 -50%

24003  MOTOR VEHICLE FRAUD 0 0 0%

25000  FORGERY/COUNTERFEITING 3 1 -66.6%

26001  FRAUD -FALSE PRETENSE/SWINDLE/CONFIDENCE GAME 14 14 0%

26002  FRAUD -CREDIT CARD/AUTOMATIC TELLER MACHINE 7 12 71.42%

26005  FRAUD -WIRE FRAUD 1 0 -100%

26007  FRAUD - IDENTITY THEFT 5 11 120%

27000  EMBEZZLEMENT 3 1 -66.6%

28000  STOLEN PROPERTY 0 2 0%

29000  DAMAGE TO PROPERTY 35 21 -40%

30001  RETAIL FRAUD -MISREPRESENTATION 0 0 0%

30002  RETAIL FRAUD -THEFT 8 8 0%

30003  RETAIL FRAUD -REFUND/EXCHANGE 0 0 0%

35001  VIOLATION OF CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE ACT 16 11 -31.2%

35002  NARCOTIC EQUIPMENT VIOLATIONS 8 6 -25%

36002  SEXUAL PENETRATION NONFORCIBLE -OTHER 0 1 0%

37000  OBSCENITY 2 0 -100%

40002  COMMERCIALIZED SEX -ASSISTING/PROMOTING PROSTITUTION 1 0 -100%

52001  WEAPONS OFFENSE- CONCEALED 3 4 33.33%

52003  WEAPONS OFFENSE -OTHER 1 1 0%

Group A Totals 251 240 -4.38%

5/1/2018 8:55:58 AM                  Page 2 of 7



CLR-008 Monthly Summary Of Offenses (WD)

City:Ypsilanti Twp-YPT

                 For The Month Of April

Classification Apr/2017 Apr/2018 %Change

22003  BURGLARY - UNLAWFUL ENTRY (NO INTENT) 2 1 -50%

26006  FRAUD -BAD CHECKS 0 0 0%

36004  SEX OFFENSE -OTHER 0 1 0%

38001  FAMILY -ABUSE/NEGLECT NONVIOLENT 6 3 -50%

38003  FAMILY -OTHER 0 0 0%

41002  LIQUOR VIOLATIONS -OTHER 2 4 100%

48000  OBSTRUCTING POLICE 6 10 66.66%

49000  ESCAPE/FLIGHT 1 1 0%

50000  OBSTRUCTING JUSTICE 9 11 22.22%

53001  DISORDERLY CONDUCT 4 0 -100%

53002  PUBLIC PEACE -OTHER 1 0 -100%

54001  HIT and RUN MOTOR VEHICLE ACCIDENT 2 3 50%

54002  OPERATING UNDER THE INFLUENCE OF LIQUOR OR DRUGS 24 23 -4.16%

55000  HEALTH AND SAFETY 1 4 300%

57001  TRESPASS 0 0 0%

57002  INVASION OF PRIVACY -OTHER 0 0 0%

59000  ELECTION LAWS 0 0 0%

62000  CONSERVATION 1 0 -100%

63000  VAGRANCY 0 0 0%

70000  JUVENILE RUNAWAY 6 8 33.33%

73000  MISCELLANEOUS CRIMINAL OFFENSE 2 7 250%

77000  CONSPIRACY (ALL CRIMES) 0 0 0%

Group B Totals 67 76 13.43%

2800  JUVENILE OFFENSES AND COMPLAINTS 43 35 -18.6%

2900  TRAFFIC OFFENSES 30 19 -36.6%

3000  WARRANTS 62 47 -24.1%

3100  TRAFFIC CRASHES 79 106 34.17%

3200  SICK / INJURY COMPLAINT 114 125 9.649%

3300  MISCELLANEOUS COMPLAINTS 729 802 10.01%

3400  WATERCRAFT COMPLAINTS / ACCIDENTS 0 0 0%

3500  NON-CRIMINAL COMPLAINTS 1143 750 -34.3%

3700  MISCELLANEOUS TRAFFIC COMPLAINTS 776 1135 46.26%

3800  ANIMAL COMPLAINTS 71 59 -16.9%

3900  ALARMS 161 165 2.484%

Group C Totals 3208 3243 1.091%

4000  HAZARDOUS TRAFFIC CITATIONS / WARNINGS 1 12 1100%

4100  NON-HAZARDOUS TRAFFIC CITATIONS / WARNINGS 0 1 0%

4200  PARKING CITATIONS 1 4 300%

4300  LICENSE / TITLE / REGISTRATION CITATIONS 0 3 0%

4500  MISCELLANEOUS A THROUGH UUUU 3 1 -66.6%

Group D Totals 5 21 320%

5000  FIRE CLASSIFICATIONS 1 0 -100%

5/1/2018 8:55:58 AM                  Page 3 of 7



CLR-008 Monthly Summary Of Offenses (WD)

City:Ypsilanti Twp-YPT

Group E Totals 1 0 -100%

6000  MISCELLANEOUS ACTIVITIES (6000) 41 30 -26.8%

6100  MISCELLANEOUS ACTIVITIES (6100) 146 120 -17.8%

6300  CANINE ACTIVITIES 10 3 -70%

6500  CRIME PREVENTION ACTIVITIES 13 16 23.07%

6600  COURT / WARRANT ACTIVITIES 0 0 0%

6700  INVESTIGATIVE ACTIVITIES 10 10 0%

Group F Totals 220 179 -18.6%

City : Ypsilanti Twp Totals 3752 3759 0.186%

5/1/2018 8:55:58 AM                  Page 4 of 7



CLR-008 Monthly Summary Of Offenses (WD)

City:Ypsilanti Twp-YPT

             Year To Date Through April

Classification 2017 2018 %Change

Group F Totals 0 0 0%

09001  MURDER/NONNEGLIGENT MANSLAUGHTER (VOLUNTARY) 2 0 -100%

10001  KIDNAPPING/ABDUCTION 2 1 -50%

11001  SEXUAL PENETRATION PENIS/VAGINA -CSC lST DEGREE 13 13 0%

11002  SEXUAL PENETRATION PENIS/VAGINA -CSC 3RD DEGREE 3 2 -33.3%

11003  SEXUAL PENETRATION ORAL/ANAL -CSC lST DEGREE 2 1 -50%

11004  SEXUAL PENETRATION ORAL/ANAL -CSC 3RD DEGREE 1 0 -100%

11005  SEXUAL PENETRATION OBJECT -CSC IST DEGREE 1 0 -100%

11007  SEXUAL CONTACT FORCIBLE -CSC 2ND DEGREE 2 2 0%

11008  SEXUAL CONTACT FORCIBLE -CSC 4TH DEGREE 8 8 0%

12000  ROBBERY 17 10 -41.1%

13001  NONAGGRAVATED ASSAULT 182 162 -10.9%

13002  AGGRAVATED/FELONIOUS ASSAULT 65 74 13.84%

13003  INTIMIDATION/STALKING 18 15 -16.6%

20000  ARSON 1 1 0%

22001  BURGLARY -FORCED ENTRY 45 41 -8.88%

22002  BURGLARY -ENTRY WITHOUT FORCE (Intent to Commit) 12 12 0%

23001  LARCENY -POCKETPICKING 1 0 -100%

23003  LARCENY -THEFT FROM BUILDING 55 38 -30.9%

23005  LARCENY -THEFT FROM MOTOR VEHICLE 48 54 12.5%

23006  LARCENY -THEFT OF MOTOR VEHICLE PARTS/ACCESSORIES 16 10 -37.5%

23007  LARCENY -OTHER 26 24 -7.69%

24001  MOTOR VEHICLE THEFT 42 29 -30.9%

24002  MOTOR VEHICLE, AS STOLEN PROPERTY 5 3 -40%

24003  MOTOR VEHICLE FRAUD 1 0 -100%

25000  FORGERY/COUNTERFEITING 7 8 14.28%

26001  FRAUD -FALSE PRETENSE/SWINDLE/CONFIDENCE GAME 35 37 5.714%

26002  FRAUD -CREDIT CARD/AUTOMATIC TELLER MACHINE 31 37 19.35%

26005  FRAUD -WIRE FRAUD 3 2 -33.3%

26007  FRAUD - IDENTITY THEFT 35 52 48.57%

27000  EMBEZZLEMENT 4 5 25%

28000  STOLEN PROPERTY 5 7 40%

29000  DAMAGE TO PROPERTY 104 65 -37.5%

30001  RETAIL FRAUD -MISREPRESENTATION 2 4 100%

30002  RETAIL FRAUD -THEFT 38 54 42.10%

30003  RETAIL FRAUD -REFUND/EXCHANGE 1 1 0%

35001  VIOLATION OF CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE ACT 68 53 -22.0%

35002  NARCOTIC EQUIPMENT VIOLATIONS 32 21 -34.3%

36002  SEXUAL PENETRATION NONFORCIBLE -OTHER 0 1 0%

37000  OBSCENITY 3 0 -100%

40002  COMMERCIALIZED SEX -ASSISTING/PROMOTING PROSTITUTION 1 0 -100%

52001  WEAPONS OFFENSE- CONCEALED 12 13 8.333%

52003  WEAPONS OFFENSE -OTHER 3 3 0%

5/1/2018 8:55:58 AM                  Page 5 of 7



CLR-008 Monthly Summary Of Offenses (WD)

City:Ypsilanti Twp-YPT

Group A Totals 952 863 -9.34%

22003  BURGLARY - UNLAWFUL ENTRY (NO INTENT) 7 5 -28.5%

26006  FRAUD -BAD CHECKS 5 3 -40%

36004  SEX OFFENSE -OTHER 0 2 0%

38001  FAMILY -ABUSE/NEGLECT NONVIOLENT 19 8 -57.8%

38003  FAMILY -OTHER 1 1 0%

41002  LIQUOR VIOLATIONS -OTHER 8 13 62.5%

48000  OBSTRUCTING POLICE 35 40 14.28%

49000  ESCAPE/FLIGHT 4 1 -75%

50000  OBSTRUCTING JUSTICE 48 42 -12.5%

53001  DISORDERLY CONDUCT 16 4 -75%

53002  PUBLIC PEACE -OTHER 2 0 -100%

54001  HIT and RUN MOTOR VEHICLE ACCIDENT 13 19 46.15%

54002  OPERATING UNDER THE INFLUENCE OF LIQUOR OR DRUGS 82 79 -3.65%

55000  HEALTH AND SAFETY 10 10 0%

57001  TRESPASS 0 13 0%

57002  INVASION OF PRIVACY -OTHER 1 0 -100%

59000  ELECTION LAWS 1 0 -100%

62000  CONSERVATION 1 0 -100%

63000  VAGRANCY 1 0 -100%

70000  JUVENILE RUNAWAY 25 28 12%

73000  MISCELLANEOUS CRIMINAL OFFENSE 5 9 80%

77000  CONSPIRACY (ALL CRIMES) 1 0 -100%

Group B Totals 285 277 -2.80%

2800  JUVENILE OFFENSES AND COMPLAINTS 123 85 -30.8%

2900  TRAFFIC OFFENSES 120 82 -31.6%

3000  WARRANTS 217 197 -9.21%

3100  TRAFFIC CRASHES 441 509 15.41%

3200  SICK / INJURY COMPLAINT 448 539 20.31%

3300  MISCELLANEOUS COMPLAINTS 2578 2792 8.301%

3400  WATERCRAFT COMPLAINTS / ACCIDENTS 4 1 -75%

3500  NON-CRIMINAL COMPLAINTS 4491 3230 -28.0%

3700  MISCELLANEOUS TRAFFIC COMPLAINTS 3391 3738 10.23%

3800  ANIMAL COMPLAINTS 236 199 -15.6%

3900  ALARMS 715 610 -14.6%

Group C Totals 12764 11982 -6.12%

4000  HAZARDOUS TRAFFIC CITATIONS / WARNINGS 2 41 1950%

4100  NON-HAZARDOUS TRAFFIC CITATIONS / WARNINGS 0 2 0%

4200  PARKING CITATIONS 4 24 500%

4300  LICENSE / TITLE / REGISTRATION CITATIONS 3 7 133.3%

4500  MISCELLANEOUS A THROUGH UUUU 12 16 33.33%

Group D Totals 21 90 328.5%

5000  FIRE CLASSIFICATIONS 2 0 -100%

Group E Totals 2 0 -100%

5/1/2018 8:55:58 AM                  Page 6 of 7



CLR-008 Monthly Summary Of Offenses (WD)

City:Ypsilanti Twp-YPT

             Year To Date Through April

Classification 2017 2018 %Change

6000  MISCELLANEOUS ACTIVITIES (6000) 137 140 2.189%

6100  MISCELLANEOUS ACTIVITIES (6100) 458 434 -5.24%

6300  CANINE ACTIVITIES 34 20 -41.1%

6500  CRIME PREVENTION ACTIVITIES 89 80 -10.1%

6600  COURT / WARRANT ACTIVITIES 3 0 -100%

6700  INVESTIGATIVE ACTIVITIES 35 41 17.14%

Group F Totals 756 715 -5.42%

City : Ypsilanti Twp Totals 14780 13927 -5.77%

5/1/2018 8:55:58 AM                  Page 7 of 7



   Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
7200 S. HURON RIVER DRIVEYPSILANTI, MI 48197 

 
  SUPERVISOR BRENDA STUMBO  CLERK KAREN LOVEJOY ROE  TREASURER LARRY DOE 

TRUSTEES: STAN ELDRIDGE  HEATHER JARRELL ROE  MONICA ROSS WILLIAMS  
JIMMIE WILSON, JR. 

 

                                 

 
  

WORK SESSION AGENDA 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
TUESDAY, MAY 15, 2018 

      

 
5:00pm 

 
CIVIC CENTER 
BOARD ROOM 

7200  HURON RIVER DRIVE 
 

 
 

 
1. AGENDA REVIEW .............................................................................. SUPERVISOR STUMBO 
 
2. OTHER DISCUSSION   ............................................................................   BOARD MEMBERS 

 
 
 



 

REVIEW AGENDA 
 

A. SUPERVISOR STUMBO WILL REVIEW BOARD 
MEETING AGENDA 



 

OTHER DISCUSSION 
 

A. BOARD MEMBERS HAVE THE OPPORTUNITY TO 
DISCUSS ANY OTHER PERTINENT ISSUES 



   Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
7200 S. HURON RIVER DRIVEYPSILANTI, MI 48197 

 
  SUPERVISOR BRENDA STUMBO  CLERK KAREN LOVEJOY ROE  TREASURER LARRY DOE 

TRUSTEES: STAN ELDRIDGE  HEATHER JARRELL ROE  MONICA ROSS WILLIAMS  
JIMMIE WILSON, JR. 

 

                                 

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
       TUESDAY, MAY 15, 2018 

    7:00 P.M. 
 
 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND INVOCATION 

 
3. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

 
4. CONSENT AGENDA 

 
A. MINUTES OF THE APRIL 17, 2018 WORK SESSION AND REGULAR MEETING, APRIL 

24, 2018 SPECIAL MEETING AND CLOSED SESSION, MAY 2, 2018 SPECIAL MEETING 
AND CLOSED SESSION AND MAY 9, 2018 SPECIAL MEETING AND CLOSED SESSION 
 

B. STATEMENTS AND CHECKS 
 

1. STATEMENTS AND CHECKS FOR MAY 1, 2018 IN THE AMOUNT OF 
$533,946.56 

2. STATEMENTS AND CHECKS FOR MAY 15, 2018 IN THE AMOUNT OF 
$827,638.06 

3. CLARITY HEALTH CARE DEDUCTIBLE ACH EFT FOR APRIL 2018 IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $50,851.60 

4. CLARITY HEALTH CARE ADMIN FEE APRIL 2018 IN THE AMOUNT OF 
$1,086.00 

 
C. APRIL 2018 TREASURER’S REPORT 

 
5. ATTORNEY REPORT 

 
A. GENERAL LEGAL UPDATE 

 
OLD BUSINESS 
 
1. 2ND READING OF RESOLUTION 2018-07, PROPOSED ORDINANCE 2018-477, AN 

ORDINANCE TO AMEND CHAPTER 22 OF THE YPSILANTI CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
CODE OF ORDINANCES BY ADDING A NEW ARTICLE REQUIRING REGISTRATION 
OF COMMERCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL BUSINESSES  
(FIRST READING HELD AT THE APRIL 17, 2018 REGULAR MEETING) 

 

2. 2ND READING OF RESOLUTION 2018-11, PROPOSED ORDINANCE 2018-478, AN 
ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 74, TOWNSHIP ZONING ORDINANCE, SO 
AS TO REZONE 1250 EAST MICHIGAN AVENUE, BEING PARCEL ID# K-11-10-107-011, 
FROM ITS CURRENT B-3 (GENERAL BUSINESS) DISTRICT ZONING CLASSIFICATION 
TO IRO (INDUSTRIAL, RESEARCH, OFFICE) DISTRICT ZONING CLASSIFICATION 

            (FIRST READING HELD AT THE APRIL 17, 2018 REGULAR MEETING) 
 

 
 
 



Ypsilanti Township Board Agenda Page 2  May 15, 2018 
  

   
    
   
 
 
 
 
  

NEW BUSINESS 
 
1. BUDGET AMENDMENT #9 
 
2. REQUEST FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENT APPROVAL OF A SMALL WINE MAKER 

LICENSE FOR ROBERT G. JR. AND PAULA SAWITSKI TO BE LOCATED AT 6216 
SWALLOW LANE 

 
3. REQUEST APPROVAL OF METRO ACT APPLICATION OF LIGHTSPEED 

COMMUNICATIONS, LLC PER PUBLIC ACT 48 OF 2002 
 

4. REQUEST APPROVAL OF THE YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
STRATEGY 

 
5. REQUEST APPROVAL OF THE EAST MICHIGAN AVENUE AND ECORSE ROAD 

PLACEMAKING PLAN 
 

6. REQUEST APPROVAL OF PROPOSAL  WITH OHM FOR CONSTRUCTION SERVICES 
FOR THE FIRE STATION HQ PARKING LOT IMPROVEMENTS IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO 
EXCEED $49,900.00 BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #206-970-000-976-005 

 
7. AMENDMENT TO ORIGINAL PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH OHM 

FOR PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERING DESIGN SERVICES FOR ADDITIONAL WORK 
FOR THE GROVE ROAD PATHWAY EXTENSION IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED 
$10,680.00 BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #212-212-000-997-007 

 
8. REQUEST APPROVAL OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF YPSILANTI, THE 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI AND THE BOARD OF COUNTY ROAD 
COMMISSIONERS OF THE COUNTY OF WASHTENAW FOR EMERICK STREET 
PAVEMENT REMOVAL AND RESURFACING PROJECT BETWEEN GROVE RD. AND 
THE 1-94 SERVICE DRIVE IN THE AMOUNT OF $55,000.00 BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM 
#101-446-000-818-022 

 
9. REQUEST OF MARK NELSON, 14B COURT MAGISTRATE TO RENEW THE RANT 

SOFTWARE ANNUAL LICENSE FEE IN THE AMOUNT OF $1,100.00 BUDGETED IN 
LINE ITEM #236-136-000-819-006 

 
10. REQUEST OF MARK NELSON, 14B COURT MAGISTRATE FOR APPROVAL OF THE 

SECOND ADDENDUM TO THE MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN 14B 
DISTRICT COURT AND COURT INNOVATIONS INCORPORATED TO INCREASE THE 
MONTHLY FEE BY $405.00 AND A SET UP FEE OF $1,500.00 BUDGETED IN LINE 
ITEM #236-136-000-819-006   

 
11. REQUEST TO WAIVE THE FINANCIAL POLICY AND APPROVE THE PROPOSAL 

FROM INNOVATIVE ENVIRONMENTAL SOLUTIONS, INC. FOR SOIL TESTING OF 
FUEL SYSTEM REMOVAL AT THE CIVIC CENTER IN THE AMOUNT OF $11,950.00 
BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #101-265-000-931-020 

 
12. REQUEST APPROVAL OF 2018 YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP THIRD AGREEMENT WITH 

THE WASHTENAW COUNTY ROAD COMMISSION FOR IMPROVEMENTS TO LOCAL 
TOWNSHIP ROADS IN THE AMOUNT OF $583,561.20 BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #101-
446-000-818-022 

 



Ypsilanti Township Board Agenda Page 3  May 15, 2018 
  

   
    
   
 
 
 
 
  

13. REQUEST APPROVAL OF EASEMENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN YPSILANTI 
TOWNSHIP, WILLOW RUN ARSENAL OF DEMOCRACY LANDHOLDINGS LIMITED 
PARTNERSHIP (WRAD), AND AMERICAN CENTER FOR MOBILITY (ACM)  

 
14. REQUEST OF MIKE RADZIK, OCS DIRECTOR FOR AUTHORIZATION TO SEEK LEGAL 

ACTION IF NECESSARY TO ABATE PUBLIC NUISANCE FOR PROPERTY LOCATED 
AT 1138 LEVONA ST., 1252 WOODGLEN AVE., 7058 HOGAN DR., AND 835 GEORGE 
PLACE/665 NORTH MIAMI AVENUE IN THE AMOUNT OF $0,000.00 BUDGETED IN 
LINE ITEM #101-950-000-801-023 

 
15. REQUEST OF MIKE RADZIK, OCS DIRECTOR TO APPROVE TWO CONTRACTS WITH 

THE WASHTENAW COUNTY SHERIFF’S OFFICE TO FACILITATE COLLABORATIVE 
SHARING OF SCHOOL RESOURCE DEPUTIES FOR SUMMER MONTHS WITH 
LINCOLN CONSOLIDATED SCHOOLS AND YPSILANTI COMMUNITY SCHOOLS IN 
THE AMOUNT OF $45,701.00  BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #266-301-000-831-008  
 

16. REQUEST APPROVAL OF AGREEMENT WITH THE WASHTENAW COUNTY ROAD 
COMMISSION FOR THE FOLEY AVENUE CDBG LOCAL ROAD PROJECT IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $211,700.00 WITH A MINIMUM OF $130,000.00 FROM CDBG FUNDS AND 
$81,7000.00 FUNDED BY THE TOWNSHIP BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #101-446-000-
818-022 

 
17. REQUEST APPROVAL OF PURCHASE AGREEMENT WITH DTE FOR THE LED 

CONVERSION OF ONE HUNDRED AND FIVE (105) LIGHTS AT VARIOUS LOCATIONS 
THROUGHOUT YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP IN THE AMOUNT OF $61,079.60 BUDGETED IN 
LINE ITEM #101-956-000-926-050 

 
18. REQUEST TO SET A PUBLIC HEARING DATE OF TUESDAY, JUNE 19, 2018 AT 

APPROXIMATELY 7:00PM – CREATION OF STREETLIGHT SPECIAL ASSESSMENT 
DISTRICT #211 CREEKSIDE VILLAGE WEST-2  

 
 
AUTHORIZATIONS AND BIDS 
 
1. REQUEST OF TRAVIS MCDUGALD, IS MANAGER FOR APPROVAL TO SEEK 

REQUESTS FOR PROPOSALS FOR THE INSTALLATION OF A CELLULAR REPEATER 
SYSTEM FOR THE TOWNSHIP CIVIC CENTER AND 14B COURT 
 

2. REQUEST TO AWARD LOW BID FOR FIRE STATION HQ PARKING LOT 
IMPROVEMENTS TO DOAN CONSTRUCTION IN THE AMOUNT OF $360,466.66 WITH 
A CONTINGENCY AMOUNT OF $36,000.00 FOR A TOTAL OF $396,466.66 BUDGETED 
IN LINE ITEM #206-970-000-976-005 

 
3. REQUEST OF MIKE RADZIK, OCS DIRECTOR FOR AUTHORIZATION TO WAIVE THE 

FINANCIAL POLICY AND ACCEPT A BID FROM A.R. TOTAL CONSTRUCTION FOR A 
VARIETY OF MAINTENANCE WORK AT THE POLICE FACILITY LOCATED AT 1405 
HOLMES RD. IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $25,000.00 BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM 
#266-301-000-931-011 

 
        

OTHER BUSINESS  
 
  



 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 

 



 

CONSENT AGENDA 

 

 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE APRIL 17, 2018 WORK SESSION MEETING 

 
Supervisor Stumbo called the meeting to order at approximately 5:00 p.m. in the 
Ypsilanti Township Civic Center Board Room, 7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti 
Township. 
 

Members Present: Supervisor Brenda L. Stumbo, Clerk Lovejoy Roe, 

                                        Treasurer Doe, Trustees: Stan Eldridge, Heather Jarrell Roe, 
                                        Monica Ross-Williams and Jimmie Wilson, Jr. 
 

Members Absent:  none 

 

Legal Counsel:  Wm. Douglas Winters  

 

1. SEMCOG PRESENTATION…………AMY MALMER & GRANT BROOKS 
(see attached) 
 

Grant Brooks, Membership Specialist gave an overview of SEMCOG to the Board. 
He explained recent planning activities and their efforts for implementing these 
plans in Ypsilanti Township through a slide-show presentation. Mr. Brooks stated 
SEMCOG is celebrating their fifty-year anniversary. He said Ypsilanti Townships’ 
delegate for SEMCOG is Trustee Jarrell Roe and the alternate is Treasurer Doe.  
 
Amy Malmer, Membership Manager explained some of the regional plans that 
SEMCOG had recently worked on. She said they developed the regions’ 
transportation plan, which prioritized spending on the regions roads, transit, 
walking and biking trails at a cost of just under one billion dollars per year. She said 
these transportation projects are critical to preserve jobs and the economy and 
improve delivery of services, goods and freight. Ms. Malmer said they work closely 
with the County Road Commission and WATS to collect, share and analyze data on 
traffic counts, pavement conditions, and traffic crashes all of which help to 
prioritize projects within the county and the larger SEMCOG region. She said the 
Regional Transportation Plan is implemented through the Transportation 
Improvement Program (TIP). She said the TIP was a collection of projects that 
improves the quality and reliability of the transportation system for all users as well 
as it supports our economic prosperity. She explained that in Ypsilanti Township in 
2017 the majority of the funds were spent on roadway safety and operations. Ms. 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE APRIL 17, 2018 WORK SESSION MEETING 
PAGE 2 
 
Malmer stated from 2018-2020 another $1.8 million would be invested for projects 
in Ypsilanti Township. 
 
Trustee Wilson asked if SEMCOG was involved with any recreation projects. Ms. 
Malmer stated they just launched a Parks and Recreation task force, which would 
be guiding SEMCOG’s work and looking throughout the region where we have 
facilities and where there were gaps.  She said they would then focus on filling in 
those gaps. She said Trustee Ross-Williams was serving on the Parks and 
Recreation Task Force. 
 
Supervisor Stumbo asked if they had discussed regional recycling.  Ms. Malmer 
stated they have served on County Solid Waste Committees and participated with 
them but did not have their own task force. 
 
Ms. Kaiser, Township Resident asked if they were involved with the regional transit 
project for the five counties. Ms. Malmer stated they work closely with them but 
they are a separate organization. Ms. Kaiser stated she was opposed to the 
regional transit project.  

 
2. AGENDA REVIEW………………………………….BRENDA STUMBO 

 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 

A. MINUTES OF THE APRIL 3, 2018 WORK SESSION AND REGULAR MEETING 
 

B. STATEMENTS AND CHECKS 
 

1. STATEMENTS AND CHECKS FOR APRIL 17, 2018 IN THE AMOUNT OF 
$1,198.607.84 
 

2. CLARITY HEALTH CARE DEDUCTIBLE ACH EFT FOR MARCH 2018 IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $62,059.56 

 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE APRIL 17, 2018 WORK SESSION MEETING 
PAGE 3 
 

3. CLARITY HEALTH CARE ADMIN FEE MARCH 2018 IN THE AMOUNT OF 
$1,077.00 

 
ATTORNEY REPORT 
 

1. GENERAL LEGAL UPDATE – (provided under Other Business) 
 

OLD BUSINESS 

1. REQUEST OF BRIAN MCCLEERY, ASSISTANT ASSESSOR FOR 
AUTHORIZATION TO ENTER INTO NEGOTIATIONS TO SELL YPSILANTI 
TOWNSHIP OWNED PROPERTY LOCATED AT 138 S. HARRIS RD PARCEL ID 
K#11-10-180-007 (TABLED AT THE APRIL 3, 2018 REGULAR MEETING)  

 
Brian McCleery, Assistant Assessor sent a letter requesting this be removed from 
the agenda. 
 
Trustee Eldridge asked why Mr. McCleery wanted this removed. Supervisor Stumbo 
stated the church next door had asked to purchase the lot but it turned out a group 
interested in purchasing the church was interested in the lot. 

 

NEW BUSINESS 
 

1. BUDGET AMENDMENT #8 
 
Trustee Ross-Williams questioned the environmental services fund increase of 
680%. Supervisor Stumbo stated we briefly talked about that during Evan Pratts’ 
presentation at the last meeting. She said we take our recycling to a MRF 
(Materials Reycling Facility) and they separate the materials. She said if there was a 
market for the recyclables, they sell them and we get money back from the 
recyclables which we do not currently get revenue from our recyclables. Supervisor 
Stumbo stated the rate to drop it off at the MRF has increased. 
 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE APRIL 17, 2018 WORK SESSION MEETING 
PAGE 4 
 

2. REQUEST OF ERIC COPELAND, FIRE CHIEF FOR APPROVAL OF AUTOMATIC 
MUTUAL AID AGREEMENT WITH THE VAN BUREN TOWNSHIP FIRE 
DEPARTMENT (Discussed Later in Meeting)  

 
3. 1ST READING OF RESOLUTION 2018-07, PROPOSED ORDINANCE 2018-

477, AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND CHAPTER 22 OF THE YPSILANTI 
CHARTER TOWNSHIP CODE OF ORDINANCES BY ADDING A NEW ARTICLE 
REQUIRING REGISTRATION OF COMMERCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL 
BUSINESSES   

 
Supervisor Stumbo stated the need for this ordinance had been discussed for 
about ten years.  She said this ordinance requires businesses to register with the 
OCS Department.     
 
Trustee Ross-Williams asked if there was a registration fee. Supervisor Stumbo 
stated the registration fee was for all new businesses.    
 
Charlotte Wilson, Planning and Development Coordinator stated the existing 
businesses could scan the form and email it in and there would be no fee involved.   
 
Trustee Eldridge asked if this included home based businesses. Ms. Wilson stated 
not at this time. 
 
Trustee Ross-Williams asked if all the businesses would be listed on the website. 
Ms. Wilson said they all would be on the website.    
 

4. RESOLUTION 2018-10, PROFESSIONAL SERVICE FEES FOR TOWNSHIP, 
ATTORNEY, PLANNER ENGINEER AND FIRE DEPARTMENT   

 
Charlotte Wilson, Planning and Development Coordinator stated she has the 
current and new fee schedule if anyone was interested in seeing it. She said the 
new format was easier to use for developers and staff. 
 
 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE APRIL 17, 2018 WORK SESSION MEETING 
PAGE 5 
 

5. 1ST READING OF RESOLUTION 2018-11, PROPOSED ORDINANCE 2018-
478, AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 74, TOWNSHIP 
ZONING ORDINANCE, SO AS TO REZONE 1250 EAST MICHIGAN AVENUE, 
BEING PARCEL ID# K-11-10-107-011, FROM IT’S CURRENT B-3 (GENERAL 
BUSINESS) DISTRICT ZONING CLASSIFICATION TO IRO (INDUSTRIAL, 
RESEARCH, OFFICE) DISTRICT ZONING CLASSIFICATION  
     

Charlotte Wilson, Planning and Development Coordinator explained why the 
zoning in this area was proposed to be changed. 
 
Carlos Martinez, GM&T Engineering, Inc. owner and Ypsilanti Township resident, 
petitioned for this zoning change so he could move his business from Plymouth to 
Ypsilanti. He said NASA certified his business and he planned to bring jobs to 
Ypsilanti Township.   
   

6. RESOLUTION 2018-12, AUTHORIZING THE DIVISION OF A PLATTED LOT IN 
COUNTRY CLUB PARK SUBDIVISION PARCEL ID# K-11-07-440-016    

 
Brian McCleery, Assistant Assessor stated the applicant had four lots and wanted 
to divide this property up into two lots.  Mr. McCleery explained how the lots 
would be divided.        
 

7. REQUEST OF MIKE RADZIK, OCS DIRECTOR FOR AUTHORIZATION TO SEEK 
LEGAL ACTION IF NECESSARY TO ABATE PUBLIC NUISANCE FOR 
PROPERTY LOCATED AT 669 WOBURN/1490 CONCORD IN THE AMOUNT 
OF $10,000.00 BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #101-950-000-801-023   

 
Attorney Winters explained the violations.  He said the property owners were not 
fixing the problems with the apartment buildings. Attorney Winters said that its’ 
been 13 months since the problems began with this complex.  He said there was 
water damage to individual apartments and there was a chance for mold to cause 
health hazards. He said this legal action would be better suited for the Circuit Court 
instead of the 14B District Court and would be moved to the Circuit Court if the 
board approves the request.         
 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE APRIL 17, 2018 WORK SESSION MEETING 
PAGE 6 
 

8. AUTHORIZATION TO COMMIT $81,000.00 IN COST SHARING WITH THE 
CITY OF YPSILANTI FOR THE PAVING AND IMPROVEMENTS FOR EMERICK 
ST. BETWEEN GROVE RD, AND THE SERVICE DR. WITH AN AGREEMENT 
AND BUDGET AMENDMENT TO BE BROUGHT BACK TO THE BOARD OF 
APPROVAL   
 

Supervisor Stumbo stated the County Road Commission may administer the 
contract and this cost would be less than proposal in the board packet. She said the 
City was paying 50% and all the engineering costs. Supervisor stated the maximum 
amount the township would pay would be $81,000.00 but if the County Road 
Commission does the project it would be around $50,000.00. She said the Road 
Commission would bring the actual agreement to the Board. She said the City of 
Ypsilanti wanted to make sure the Township would collaborate on this project. 
 
Clerk Lovejoy Roe stated there would be more road projects brought to the board 
at the next board meeting. 
 
Attorney Winters stated all parties involved would be carrying liability insurance. 
He said although the township contributed funds for the project they would not be 
held liable for anything to do with the construction, engineering, or any potential 
lawsuits regarding this project. 
        

9. REQUEST TO APPROVE AGREEMENT WITH WASHTENAW COUNTY ROAD 
COMMISSION FOR 2018 LOCAL ROAD DUST CONTROL IN THE AMOUNT 
OF $5,682.60 BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #212-212-000-818-006 

 
10.  REQUEST TO CANCEL MAY 1, 2018 BOARD MEETING DUE TO MAY 8, 

2018 SPECIAL ELECTION 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE APRIL 17, 2018 WORK SESSION MEETING 
PAGE 7 
 
AUTHORIZATIONS AND BIDS 
 

1. REQUEST AUTHORIZATION TO AWARD THE LOW BID AND DESIGNATE 
TRENDSET COMMUNICATIONS GROUP AS THE TOWNSHIP PREFERRED 
NETWORK CABLE INSTALLER UNTIL APRIL 2020 

 
2. REQUEST OF ERIC COPELAND, FIRE CHIEF TO SEEK SEALED BIDS FOR THE 

REPLACEMENT OF THE ROOF AT FIRE STATION #3 20 S. HEWITT 
 
 

3. REQUEST OF CARL GIRBACH, RESIDENTIAL SERVICES FOR APPROVAL TO 
WAIVE THE FINANCIAL POLICY AND AWARD THE LOW QUOTE TO J.W. TURF 
FOR PURCHASE OF A JOHN DEERE PROGATOR 2020A IN THE AMOUNT OF 
$18,827.35 BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #212-970-000-977-000 AND FOR 
APPROVAL TO TRADE IN A 1995 GEHL SKID STEER 

 
Clerk Lovejoy Roe explained that MITN bid this out. 
 

 NEW BUSINESS  
 

2. REQUEST OF ERIC COPELAND, FIRE CHIEF FOR APPROVAL OF AUTOMATIC 
MUTUAL AID AGREEMENT WITH THE VAN BUREN TOWNSHIP FIRE 
DEPARTMENT 

 
Chief Copeland stated Van Buren Township only has two trucks and if they sent 
both to assist, they would be left without a truck. He said Van Buren Township 
responds south of Textile and west to Green Farm subdivision to Hitchingham 
Road. He said he would bring the agreements with the City of Ypsilanti and 
Superior Township to the board later. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE APRIL 17, 2018 WORK SESSION MEETING 
PAGE 8 
 
OTHER BUSINESS 
 
ATTORNEY REPORT 
 

3. GENERAL LEGAL UPDATE  
 
Attorney Winters stated he spoke with the Insurance Adjuster regarding the 
invoice they sent seeking reimbursement of the Fire Truck the Township loaned the 
City of Ypsilanti for 24 weeks when their truck was damaged in an accident. He said 
they calculated the value of that was $48,000.00. Attorney Winters said the 
Insurance Company stated they would be issuing Ypsilanti Township a check today 
for $24,000.00. He said they were going to contact the insurance company that 
insured the vehicle which crashed into the fire truck for the additional $24,000.00. 
Attorney Winters said if we get additional dollars based on the invoice we would 
be paid in full. He said if we do not get the additional dollars, we could discuss with 
the City of Ypsilanti to use that amount to put toward the road improvement 
contract on Emerick. 
 
Attorney Winters stated for the past 14 months we have been trying to work with 
DTE to release the $800,000.00 escrow account from the Hydro Station. He said, 
currently there were no funds going into the escrow account. He said in 2019, we 
would begin to receive 10% a year for the next 10-years until the contract 
terminates. He said it is Township money and the Township was not earning any 
interest on their $800,000.00.  Attorney Winters said if we could get the funds in 
one lump sum, the Township could use the funds for some of the projects that 
need done in the Township. Attorney Winters stated they met with DTE last week 
and they indicated they would research if they could accept a performance bond 
that would release the $800,000.00 to the Township. He said there should be a 
decision by April 30, 2018. Attorney Winters stated that as DTE was examining our 
contract they discovered they had shorted the Township by about $215,000.00 
over and above the $800,000.00 they owed us. 
 
Attorney Winters stated they determined what might be the accurate PILOT 
payment that was owed to the Township from AMC. He said he hoped by the next 
board meeting they would have a resolution regarding this. 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE APRIL 17, 2018 WORK SESSION MEETING 
PAGE 9 
 
 
Attorney Winters stated regarding the Johnson Street house and there was a five 
months padlock agreement where the property owner must evict the current 
tenants. He said moving forward the owner would be proactive with this rental by 
doing enhanced background checks for future tenants. 
 
Attorney Winters stated this time of year they receive information on foreclosed 
homes from the county. He said the Township would need to get the list of 
foreclosures from the county so they could go over it with Habitat deciding which 
houses Habitat would be interested in refurbishing. 
 
Work session adjourned at 6:20 p.m. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
  
 
 
Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk 
 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE APRIL 17, 2018 REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

 
Supervisor Stumbo called the meeting to order at approximately 7:00 p.m. in the 
Ypsilanti Township Civic Center Board Room, 7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti 
Township. The Pledge of Allegiance was recited followed by a moment of silent 
prayer. 
 

Members Present: Supervisor Brenda L. Stumbo, Clerk Lovejoy Roe, 

                                        Treasurer Doe, Trustees:  Stan Eldridge, Heather Jarrell Roe, 
                                        Monica Ross-Williams, and Jimmie Wilson, Jr. 
 

Members Absent:  none 

  

Legal Counsel:  Wm. Douglas Winters  
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 
Stephen Hudak, Township Resident stated the reasons he would like a snow 
ordinance.  Mr. Hudak said that many township residents that he had spoken to 
about snow removal were in favor of an ordinance. 
 
Arloa Kaiser, Township Resident stated she was against a snow ordinance. She said 
salt put on the snow and ice would contaminate our water. 
 
Richard Bowser, Township Resident stated he was a new resident to the township 
and loves living here. He said he was disappointed with not having an ordinance for 
snow removal. He said the condition of the sidewalks in his area need to be 
repaired, many are slanted and hard to walk on. 

 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 

A. MINUTES OF THE APRIL 3, 2018 WORK SESSION AND REGULAR MEETING 
 

B. STATEMENTS AND CHECKS 
 

1. STATEMENTS AND CHECKS FOR APRIL 17, 2018 IN THE AMOUNT OF 
$1,198.607.84 
 

2. CLARITY HEALTH CARE DEDUCTIBLE ACH EFT FOR MARCH 2018 IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $62,059.56 

 
3. CLARITY HEALTH CARE ADMIN FEE MARCH 2018 IN THE AMOUNT OF 

$1,077.00 
 

C. MARCH  2018 TREASURER’S REPORT 

 
A motion was made by Clerk Lovejoy Roe, supported by Trustee Jarrell Roe to 
Approve the Consent Agenda. 
 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE APRIL 17, 2018 REGULAR MEETING 
PAGE 2 
 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 

ATTORNEY REPORT  
 

A. GENERAL LEGAL UPDATE – (Provided at the Work Session Meeting) 
 
 

OLD BUSINESS 

1. REQUEST OF BRIAN MCCLEERY, ASSISTANT ASSESSOR FOR 
AUTHORIZATION TO ENTER INTO NEGOTIATIONS TO SELL YPSILANTI 
TOWNSHIP OWNED PROPERTY LOCATED AT 138 S. HARRIS RD PARCEL ID 
K#11-10-180-007 (TABLED AT THE APRIL 3, 2018 REGULAR MEETING)  

 
A motion was made by Clerk Lovejoy Roe, supported by Treasurer Doe to remove 
from table. 
 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
A motion was made by Clerk Lovejoy Roe, supported by Treasurer Doe to 
permanently remove this item from agenda. 
 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 

NEW BUSINESS 
 

1. BUDGET AMENDMENT #8. 
 
A motion was made by Clerk Lovejoy Roe, supported by Treasurer Doe to 
Approve Budget Amendment #8 (see attached). 

 
The motion carried unanimously. 

  
 

2. REQUEST OF ERIC COPELAND, FIRE CHIEF FOR APPROVAL OF AUTOMATIC 
MUTUAL AID AGREEMENT WITH THE VAN BUREN TOWNSHIP FIRE 
DEPARTMENT 

 
A motion was made by Trustee Wilson, supported by Trustee Jarrell Roe to 
Approve the Request of Eric Copeland, Fire Chief for Approval of Automatic 
Mutual Aid Agreement with the Van Buren Township Fire Department (see 
attached).   
 
 The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
 
 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE APRIL 17, 2018 REGULAR MEETING 
PAGE 3 
 
 
 

3. 1ST READING OF RESOLUTION 2018-07, PROPOSED ORDINANCE 2018-477, 
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND CHAPTER 22 OF THE YPSILANTI CHARTER 
TOWNSHIP CODE OF ORDINANCES BY ADDING A NEW ARTICLE REQUIRING 
REGISTRATION OF COMMERCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL BUSINESSES 

 
A motion was made by Clerk Lovejoy Roe, supported by Trustee Eldridge to 
Approve 1st Reading of Resolution 2018-07, Proposed Ordinance 2018-477, an 
Ordinance to Amend Chapter 22 of the Ypsilanti Charter Township Code of 
Ordinances by Adding a New Article Requiring Registration of Commercial and 
Industrial Businesses (see attached). 
 
Jarrell Roe:             Yes             Eldridge:            Yes             Ross-Williams:       Yes 
Lovejoy-Roe:         Yes              Stumbo:            Yes             Doe:                          Yes 
Wilson:                   Yes 
 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 

4. RESOLUTION 2018-10, PROFESSIONAL SERVICE FEES FOR TOWNSHIP, 
ATTORNEY, PLANNER ENGINEER AND FIRE DEPARTMENT   

 
A motion was made by Clerk Lovejoy Roe, supported by Trustee Eldridge to 
Approve Resolution 2018-10, Professional Service Fees for Township, Attorney, 
Planner Engineer and Fire Department (see attached). 
 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 

5. 1ST READING OF RESOLUTION 2018-11, PROPOSED ORDINANCE 2018-
478, AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 74, TOWNSHIP 
ZONING ORDINANCE, SO AS TO REZONE 1250 EAST MICHIGAN AVENUE, 
BEING PARCEL ID# K-11-10-107-011, FROM IT’S CURRENT B-3 (GENERAL 
BUSINESS) DISTRICT ZONING CLASSIFICATION TO IRO (INDUSTRIAL, 
RESEARCH, OFFICE) DISTRICT ZONING CLASSIFICATION    

 
A motion was made by Clerk Lovejoy Roe, supported by Trustee Jarrell Roe to 
Approve 1st Reading of Resolution 2018-11, Proposed Ordinance 2018-478, an 
Ordinance Amending Ordinance No. 74, Township Zoning Ordinance, so as to 
Rezone 1250 East Michigan Avenue, Being Parcel ID# K-11-10-107-011, From it’s 
Current B-3 (General Business) District Zoning Classification to IRO (Industrial, 
Research, Office) District Zoning Classification (see attached).      
 
Jarrell Roe:             Yes             Eldridge:            Yes             Ross-Williams:       Yes 
Lovejoy-Roe:         Yes              Stumbo:            Yes             Doe:                          Yes 
Wilson:                   Yes 
 
The motion carried unanimously. 
  



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE APRIL 17, 2018 REGULAR MEETING 
PAGE 4 
 
 
6. RESOLUTION 2018-12, AUTHORIZING THE DIVISION OF A PLATTED LOT IN 

COUNTRY CLUB PARK SUBDIVISION PARCEL ID# K-11-07-440-016 
 
A motion was made by Clerk Lovejoy Roe, supported by Treasurer Doe to 
Approve Resolution 2018-12, Authorizing the Division of a Platted Lot in Country 
Club Park Subdivision Parcel ID #K-11-07-440-016 (see attached). 
 
 The motion carried unanimously. 
     

7. REQUEST OF MIKE RADZIK, OCS DIRECTOR FOR AUTHORIZATION TO SEEK 
LEGAL ACTION IF NECESSARY TO ABATE PUBLIC NUISANCE FOR PROPERTY 
LOCATED AT 669 WOBURN/1490 CONCORD IN THE AMOUNT OF 
$10,000.00 BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #101-950-000-801-023   

 
A motion was made by Trustee Jarrell Roe, supported by Trustee Ross-Williams 
to Approve the Request of Mike Radzik, OCS Director for Authorization to Seek 
Legal Action if Necessary to Abate Public Nuisance for Property Located at 669 
Woburn/1490 Concord in the Amount of $10,000.00 Budgeted in Line Item #101-
950-000-801-023. 
               
The motion carried unanimously. 
 

8. AUTHORIZATION TO COMMIT $81,000.00 IN COST SHARING WITH THE 
CITY OF YPSILANTI FOR THE PAVING AND IMPROVEMENTS FOR EMERICK 
ST. BETWEEN GROVE RD, AND THE SERVICE DR. WITH AN AGREEMENT 
AND BUDGET AMENDMENT TO BE BROUGHT BACK TO THE BOARD FOR 
APPROVAL        

 
A motion was made by Clerk Lovejoy Roe, supported by Trustee Ross-Williams to 
Approve Authorization to Commit $81,000.00 in Cost Sharing with the City of 
Ypsilanti for the Paving and Improvements for Emerick St. between Grove Rd, 
and the Service Dr. with an Agreement and Budget Amendment to be Brought 
Back to the Board for Approval.    
   
The motion carried unanimously. 

 
9. REQUEST TO APPROVE AGREEMENT WITH WASHTENAW COUNTY ROAD 

COMMISSION FOR 2018 LOCAL ROAD DUST CONTROL IN THE AMOUNT OF 
$5,682.60 BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #212-212-000-818-006 

 
A motion was made by Treasurer Doe, supported by Trustee Wilson to Approve 
Request Agreement with Washtenaw County Road Commission for 2018 Local 
Road Dust Control in the Amount of $5,682.60 Budgeted in Line Item #212-212-
000-818-006 (see attached). 
 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE APRIL 17, 2018 REGULAR MEETING 
PAGE 5 
 

10.  REQUEST TO CANCEL MAY 1, 2018 BOARD MEETING DUE TO MAY 8, 2018 
SPECIAL ELECTION    

 
A motion was made by Trustee Ross-Williams, supported by Trustee Wilson to 
Approve Request to Cancel May 1, 2018 Board Meeting Due to May 8, 2018 
Special Election 
 
The motion carried unanimously. 
     
 

AUTHORIZATIONS AND BIDS 
 

1. REQUEST AUTHORIZATION TO AWARD THE LOW BID AND DESIGNATE 
TRENDSET COMMUNICATIONS GROUP AS THE TOWNSHIP PREFERRED 
NETWORK CABLE INSTALLER UNTIL APRIL 2020 

 
A motion was made by Clerk Lovejoy Roe, supported by Trustee Ross-Williams to 
Approve the Request for Authorization to Award the Low Bid and Designate 
Trendset Communications Group as the Township Preferred Network Cable 
Installer until April 2020. 

 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 

2. REQUEST OF ERIC COPELAND, FIRE CHIEF TO SEEK SEALED BIDS FOR THE 
REPLACEMENT OF THE ROOF AT FIRE STATION #3 20 S. HEWITT 

 
A motion was made by Clerk Lovejoy Roe, supported by Trustee Jarrell Roe to 
Approve the Request of Eric Copeland, Fire Chief to Seek Sealed Bids for the 
Replacement of the Roof at Fire Station #3 20 S. Hewitt. 

 
The motion carried unanimously. 

 

3. REQUEST OF CARL GIRBACH, RESIDENTIAL SERVICES FOR APPROVAL TO 
WAIVE THE FINANCIAL POLICY AND AWARD THE LOW QUOTE TO J.W. TURF 
FOR PURCHASE OF A JOHN DEERE PROGATOR 2020A IN THE AMOUNT OF 
$18,827.35 BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #212-970-000-977-000 AND FOR 
APPROVAL TO TRADE IN A 1995 GEHL SKID STEER 

 
A motion was made by Clerk Lovejoy Roe, supported by Trustee Jarrell Roe to 
Approve the Request of Carl Girbach, Residential Services for Approval to Waive 
the Financial Policy and Award the Low Quote to J.W. Turf for Purchase of a John 
Deere Progator 2020A in the Amount of $18,827.35 Budgeted in Line Item #212-
970-000-977-000 and for Approval to Trade in a 1995 GEHL Skid Steer. 

 

The motion carried unanimously. 

 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE APRIL 17, 2018 REGULAR MEETING 
PAGE 6 
 
OTHER BUSINESS 
 
Attorney Winters stated they had a meeting with Ypsilanti Community Schools 
(YCS) and the Township has a written confirmation that YCS would proceed with 
the demolition of Kettering and Thurston Schools. He stated after the demolition 
was completed they would meet with the School officials to help identify the best 
repurposing of those properties. He said they were zoned residential which would 
be ideal to develop but the property was owned by the school district so ultimately 
it would be their choice in what they would want done with it. He said the school 
district stated they were planning to repurpose Kaiser School. 

 
A motion was made by Clerk Lovejoy Roe, supported by Treasurer Doe to 
Adjourn. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 7:20 p.m. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
Brenda L. Stumbo, Supervisor                  Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk 
Charter Township of Ypsilanti                  Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
 
 
 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI

 2018 BUDGET AMENDMENT #8

April 17, 2018

AMOUNTS ROUNDED TO THE NEAREST DOLLAR 

101 - GENERAL OPERATIONS FUND Total Increase $3,708.00

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 101-000-000-699.000 $1,755.00

Net Revenues $1,755.00

Expenditures: Salary-Pay Out 101-227-000-708.004 $1,630.00

FICA&Medicare 101-227-000-715.000 $125.00

Net Expenditures $1,755.00

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 101-000-000-699.000 $1,785.00

Net Revenues $1,785.00

Expenditures: Salary-Pay Out 101-253-000-708.004 $1,658.00

FICA&Medicare 101-253-000-715.000 $127.00

Net Expenditures $1,785.00

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 101-000-000-699.000 $168.00

Net Revenues $168.00

Expenditures: Salary-Pay Out 101-265-000-708.004 $168.00

Net Expenditures $168.00

Request to increase budget for PTO payout request over the budgeted 32 hours, an additional 80 hours to be paid 

at 75%.  This will be funded by an Appropriation of Prior Year Fund Balance.

Request to increase budget for PTO payout request over the budgeted 32 hours, an additional 9 hours to be paid at 

75%.  This will be funded by an Appropriation of Prior Year Fund Balance.

Request to increase budget for PTO payout request over the budgeted 32 hours, an additional 80 hours to be paid 

at 75%.  This will be funded by an Appropriation of Prior Year Fund Balance.

1 of 2



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI

 2018 BUDGET AMENDMENT #8

April 17, 2018

212 - BIKE, SIDEWALK, REC, ROADS GENERAL FUND (BSRII) Total Increase $18,828.00

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 212-000-000-699.000 $18,828.00

Net Revenues $18,828.00

Expenditures: Equipment 212-970-000-977.000 $18,828.00

Net Expenditures $18,828.00

226 - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES FUND Total Increase $35,000.00

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 226-000-000-699.000 $35,000.00

Net Revenues $35,000.00

Expenditures: Curbside Recycling Disposal 226-226-000-804.008 $35,000.00

Net Expenditures $35,000.00

584 - GOLF COURSE FUND Total Increase $4,300.00

Revenues: Misc Revenue - Insurance Reimbursed 584-000-000-694.004 $4,300.00

Net Revenues $4,300.00

Expenditures: Operating Supplies - Cart Rental 584-584-000-757.003 $4,300.00

Net Expenditures $4,300.00

Request to increase the budget for insurance reimbursement for stolen golf cart. This is funded by receipt of 

insurance check. 

Request to increase budget for Waste Management recycle drop off fees at the New Boston Recycle Center owned 

by Republic Services. The fees per ton have increased from an average of $10 to $78. Our average monthly 

tonnage is 120 tons at $10 per ton = $ 1,200 and at $78 per ton = $9,360. While we did increase the  budget for 2018 

to $95,000, we did not estimate an increase of 680%. This will be funded by an Appropriation for Prior Year Fund 

Balance.

Request to purchase a ProGator 2020A  for parks system and grounds.  The cost of the ProGator is $23,827.35 less 

a trade in value of an old skid steer for $5,000 for a total cost of $18,827.35.  This will be funded by an 

Appropriation of Prior Year Fund Balance.

2 of 2



Motion to Amend the 2018 Budget (#8): 

 

 

 

Move to increase the General Fund budget by $3,708 to $9,035,218 and approve the 

department line item changes as outlined. 

 

Move to increase the Bike, Sidewalk, Rec, Roads, General (BSRII) Fund budget by 

$18,828 to $1,797,991 and approve the department line item changes as outlined. 

 

Move to increase the Environmental Services Fund by $35,000 to $2,801,876 and 

approve the department line item changes as outlined. 

 

Move to increase the Golf Course Fund by $4,300 to $748,801 and approve the 

department line item changes as outlined.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 
Washtenaw Area Mutual Aid Association 

Ypsilanti Township and Van Buren Township Fire Automatic Mutual Aid Program 

 
 
 
Purpose: 
This activity will be conducted under the auspices of the existing interlocal agreement as 
developed by the Washtenaw Area Mutual Aid Association (WAMAA). It will enhance the 
existing agreement by sharing resources to make available more firefighters and resources on 
the scene of a structure fire in the participating communities, while maintaining local control of 
resources. This enhanced response will afford greater safety for firefighters, improved 
efficiency and effectiveness in fire ground operations and enhance daily cooperative efforts so 
that in the event of a major, multi-jurisdictional incident, fire department command staff 
members from both agencies, as well as firefighters, would be accustomed to working together 
closely. This concept falls directly in line with federal, state, and local ideologies of regional 
cooperative efforts and, therefore, may enhance future funding opportunities for the 
participating communities. 
 
Scope: 
Participants in this agreement will include the Charter Township of Van Buren, Wayne County, 
Michigan, and the Charter Township of Ypsilanti in Washtenaw County, Michigan. 
 
Procedure: 
Upon dispatching the jurisdictional fire department to a reported "working" structure fire, 
meeting the below criteria, the jurisdictional dispatch center shall immediately contact the 
dispatch center for the other participating agency and request a response for "Automatic 
Mutual Aid" as per the agreement. 
 
Ypsilanti Township: Ypsilanti Township agrees to send two Fire Engines, a large fire suppression 
vehicle containing minimally 750 gallons of water, to Van Buren Township when a "working" 
(i.e. flames visible, heavy smoke visible, or an explosion was detected) structure fires reported 
in the southwestern six (6) mile section (located within the Ryznar Drive / Elwell Road, South 
Service Drive, Rawsonville Road, and Bemis Road area) and northwestern two (2) sections 
(located within the Beck Road, Ecorse Road, Rawsonvilie/ Michigan Bypass, and Mott Road 
area) of Van Buren Township .See attached Van Buren Township Map and refer to sections 5, 6, 
19, 20, 29, 30, 31,and 32. 
 



 

Van Buren Township: Van Buren Township agrees to send one (1) Fire Engine, as described 
above, to Ypsilanti Township when a "working" structure fire is reported in the southwestern 
eight (8) mile section of Ypsilanti Township) located within the Hitchingham Road, Textile Road, 
Rawsonville Road, and Bemis Road area). See attached Ypsilanti Township Map and refer to 
sections 25, 26,27, 28,33, 34,35, and 36. 
 
When dispatched to the scene of a working structure fire it is understood, unless otherwise 
directed by the scene's incident commander, that the agency providing the resource under this 
agreement will respond emergent (i.e.: lights and siren) with a minimum manpower of two 
firefighters. 
 
It is also understood that the incident commander will maintain full command authority over all 
responding resources. All participating departments shall utilize an accepted National Fire 
Academy Incident Command System (or similar). 
 
Efforts will be made to clear the Automatic Aid resources as quickly as possible after the fire is 
brought under control. 
 
Due to the dynamics of the fluctuating availability of resources and manpower it is understood 
that participating communities may not always be able to commit resources under this 
program. In those instances, the host community is to be notified as soon as possible so that 
they can request additional assistance from other departments. The intent of this automatic 
mutual aid agreement is for working structure fires under the conditions listed above. Its intent 
is to supplement resources & manpower but not to reduce fire department staffing by reliance 
on automatic aid. 
 
Agreement: 
We, as the authorized representatives of the below listed fire departments, agree to participate 
in the WAMAA Ypsilanti Township and Van Buren Township Fire Automatic Aid Program, 
contingent upon subsequent approval by the chief administrative officials and/or governing 
bodies of our respective municipalities. This program operates as an enhancement of, and in 
accordance with, the existing mutual aid interlocal agreement. 
 
This agreement will remain effective 30 days from the signature date below until terminated by 
either municipality’s governing board of trustees/ city council. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 





CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
 

RESOLUTION 2018-07 
(In Reference to Ordinance 2018-477) 

 
Commercial and Industrial Business Registration  

 
 
 Whereas, the Township’s  Office of Community 

Standards  has recommend that the Ypsilanti Township 

Board adopt an Ordinance requiring  commercial and 

industrial businesses in Ypsilanti Township to register with 

the Office of Community Standards; and 

 Whereas, adoption of Business Registration Ordinance 

2018-477 will enable the Office of Community Standards to 

advise prospective commercial and industrial businesses, 

before their operations begin,  of applicable zoning and code 

requirements; and 

 Whereas, the information required in the proposed 

Ordinance includes an afterhours emergency contact 

number that may be used in case of a police or fire 

emergency; and  

 Whereas, the information required in the proposed 

Ordinance includes whether there are hazardous materials 

or substances within commercial or industrial business 

premises; and 

 Whereas,  knowledge that hazardous materials and 

substances are present in commercial and industrial 

buildings  is important for firefighters, law enforcement  and 



other emergency first responders in the event of an 

emergency; 

 Whereas, the Ordinance provides that all existing 

commercial and industrial businesses will have 120 days 

from the effective date of the Ordinance to register their 

businesses with the Office of Community Standards;   

 Now Therefore, 

 Be it resolved, that Ordinance No. 2018- 477   is 

hereby adopted by reference. 



 

 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

Ordinance No. 2018-477 
 
 

An Ordinance to Amend Chapter 22 of the Ypsilanti Charter 
Township Code of Ordinances by Adding a New Article 

Requiring Registration of Commercial and Industrial Businesses 
 
 
 The Charter Township of Ypsilanti ordains that the Charter Township 

Code of Ordinances is amended as follows: 

Section 1. Purpose 
 
 The purpose of this article concerning the registration of commercial 
and industrial businesses within the Township is to protect the health, safety, 
and welfare of persons in the Township by providing the Township with the 
information necessary to ensure compliance with safety, structure and fire 
laws; identify business activities and establishments which concern  zoning, 
occupancy, density of occupancy; the presence, storage and handling of 
hazardous materials; the physical condition of places where persons are 
employed or carry on trade, and the enforcement of the law, including local, 
state and federal laws, and regulations, applying to business establishments 
located within Ypsilanti Township. 
 
Section 2. Definitions. 
 
 The following terms when used in this article, shall have the meaning 
ascribed to them in this section. 
  
 Business establishment means any lot, building or structure, or a part 
thereof, including without limitation, leased or occupied space in a mall, store 
or building, permanently located within Ypsilanti Township, from which: 1) a 
person(s) engages in or causes to be engaged in any act or acts of buying, 
selling, leasing, renting, or otherwise disposing of, performing or marketing, 
any goods, services, merchandise or commodities of any kind or description 
for commercial profit; 2) a person(s)  engages in industrial production of 
merchandise or commodities of any kind or description for commercial profit.
  
Section 3. Business Registration Certificate required. 
 
 No person, firm partnership or corporation shall, directly or indirectly, 
operate, conduct, maintain or manage any business establishment within 
Ypsilanti Township without first obtaining a business registration certificate 
issued pursuant to this article.  
 
Section 4. Business Registration Certificate required to be Posted.  
The business registration certificate shall be posted in a conspicuous place 
at or near the entrance the business so that it may be read at any time. 
 
 
Section 5. State license or permit not a substitute. 
 
 The fact that a license or permit has been granted to any person, firm, 
partnership or corporation by the state to engage in the operation, conduct, 
maintenance, or management of any business establishment shall not 



 

 2 

constitute an exemption from the necessity of procuring a business 
registration certificate as required by this article. 
 
Section 6. Application; form; contents. 
 
 Each person, firm, partnership or corporation required to procure a 
business registration certificate from the township shall make application for 
such certificate to the Office of Community Standards in the form and 
manner prescribed by that Office and shall state, under oath, such facts as 
may be prescribed for, or applicable to, the granting of such certificate, 
including the following: 
 

(a) The full name, business address, residence address, email 
address and telephone number of the owner or their agent. 

(b) The full name, email address and 24 hour emergency 
telephone number of the person to contact in the event of an 
emergency during non-business hours. 

(c) The address where the business will be located. 

(d) The nature and character of goods, wares, merchandise to be 
sold or offered for sale or services to be provided by the 
applicant. 

(e) The nature and kind of business establishment which the 
applicant proposes to conduct. 

(f) Whether any hazardous materials will be stored, kept or used 
at the business establishment premises. Hazardous materials 
are those chemicals or substances defined as such in the 
International Fire Code adopted by reference in Chapter 30, 
Section 26 (30-26) of the Township Code of Ordinances. 

Section 7.     Term. 
 
 A business registration certificate granted under this article shall be 
valid until the business establishment is transferred or sold to a new owner 
or if the business expands it use to include uses not listed in the original 
application.  
 
Section 8.  Separate premises. 
 
 If a business registration certificate holder intends to locate a business 
establishment at a new address in the jurisdiction, a business registration 
certificate issued for the new address is required before business is 
conducted at the new address. 
 
 
Section 9. Transferability. 
  
 A certificate of registration issued under this article is not transferable. 
If a business establishment is transferred or sold to a new owner or if the 
business establishment use expands  or changes to include uses not listed 
in the original application, a new  business registration application and 
certificate is required before business is conducted by the new owner or the 
new use is added to the business establishment. 
 
 



 

 3 

Section 10. Requirements for Certificate of Compliance; compliance 
with state law and township ordinances. 
 

(a) No certificate required by this article shall be issued to any 
applicant who is required to procure a license or permit from a 
state of federal agency until such applicant shall submit 
evidence that the required state or federal license or permit has 
been issued and that all applicable fees have been paid. 

(b)  No certificate shall be granted to any applicant until such 
applicant has complied with all the provisions of this article and 
other ordinances of the township pertaining to businesses for 
which an application for a certificate is made.  No certificate 
shall be granted, if the approval of any officer of the township is 
required, until such approval is made.  Approval in each 
instance shall mean written approval by the designated officer 
upon the face of the application for a certificate, subscribed by 
such officer, and the date of approval. 

Section 11. Certificate fees. 
 
 Business registration certificate fees shall be set from time to time by 
resolution of the township board for the cost of administering this ordinance 
including but not limited to zoning verification, building code compliance, and 
fire safety code compliance for any change of use or change of occupancy 
of commercial and industrial spaces as applicable, except that no fee shall 
be collected for initial registration of businesses in existence at the time of 
publication in a newspaper of general circulation as required by law. 
   
Section 12. Fees; exemptions. 
 
 No registration fee shall be required from any applicant exempt from 
payment of the fee by state or federal law. 
 
Section 13. Denial, revocation and suspension. Right to Appeal. 
Hearing. 
 

Business registration certificates issued under this article may be 
revoked or suspended by the Director of Community Standards, at 
any time, for any of the following reasons: 

 
 (a) Fraud, misrepresentation or any false statement made in the 
application for  certificate; 

 (b) Fraud, misrepresentation or any false statement made in the 
operation of  the business establishment. 

 (c) Conducting a business establishment in an unlawful manner 
or in such a  manner as to  constitute a threat to the health, 
safety or welfare of the public. 

Section 14. Revocation/ suspension/denial of certificate; notice 
required. 
 
 Written notification of suspension/ revocation/denial of certificate, 
stating the causes for said action, shall be delivered to the certificate holder 
personally or mailed to his business address as shown on the application 
for license. 
 
 



 

 4 

Section 15. Right to Appeal. Hearing. Standard of Review. 
 

(a) A certificate holder has the right to appeal such 
suspension/revocation to the Township Board, provided a written 
request to appeal is filed with the Township Clerk within 10 days 
after the notice of suspension/revocation/denial of certificate is sent 
to the certificate holder at its business address as shown on the 
application for business registration certificate.  

(b) At the hearing before the Township Board, the certificate 
holder/applicant shall have the right to hear the evidence relied upon 
by the Director of Community Standards in determining to 
suspended/revoke/deny the certificate; and the right to present 
evidence and witnesses on his/her own behalf. 

(c) Following the hearing, the Township Board shall determine 
whether the decision to suspend/revoke/deny the certificate was 
supported by competent, material and substantial evidence.  A 
written statement of the Township Board’s findings and 
determination shall be made within 21 days after the conclusion of 
the hearing. 

Section 16. Penalty. 
 

(a) Persons, firms, partnerships or corporations who violate any 
section of this article shall be responsible for a municipal civil 
infraction as provided in Chapter 40, Article II, of this Code of 
Ordinances for the Charter Township of Ypsilanti. 

(b) The imposition of a fine shall not relieve the business 
establishment from responsibility to correct the violation. All 
such persons, firms, partnerships or corporations shall be 
required to correct or remedy such situation or defects within a 
reasonable time and each act or violation and every day upon 
which said violation should occur shall constitute a separate 
offense. 

(c) The application of the penalty of this section shall not be held 
to prevent the enforcement removal of prohibited conditions by 
injunctive or other relief in a court of competent jurisdiction. 

Section 17.    Severability. 

 Should any section, subdivision, sentence, clause or phrase of this 
Ordinance be declared by the Courts to be invalid, the same shall not affect 
the validity of the Ordinance as a whole or any part thereof other than the 
part as invalidated. 
 
Section 18.    Publication Clause. 
  
 This Ordinance shall be published in a newspaper of general 
circulation as required by law. 
 
 

 

 

 



 

 5 

Section 19.      Effective Date. 

 This Ordinance shall be effective 120 days after publication in a 
newspaper of general circulation as required by law. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
I, Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti, County of Washtenaw, State of 
Michigan hereby certify approval of the first reading of Proposed Ordinance No. 2017-477 by the 
Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board of Trustees assembled at a regular meeting held on April 17, 
2018. The second reading is scheduled to be heard on May 15, 2018. 
 

 
_______________________________ 

Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk 
                                                                                                            Charter Township of Ypsilanti 

 



Charter Township of Ypsilanti 

 
Resolution No. 2018-10 

 

Professional Service Fees for Township, 
Attorney, Planner, Engineer and Fire Department 

 
 

WHEREAS, on December 16, 2014 the Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
adopted Resolution No. 2014-36 Professional Service Fees for 
Township, Attorney, Planner, Engineer and Fire Department, which fee 
schedule has from time to time been amended; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Charter Township of Ypsilanti wishes to amend 
Resolution No. 2014-36, Professional Service Fees for Township, 
Attorney, Planner, Engineer and Fire Department inclusive of all 
subsequent fee resolution amendments approved since adoption of 
Resolution No. 2014-36; and 
 
WHEREAS, the attached Professional Services Fees for Township, 
Attorney, Planner, Engineer and Fire Department incorporate all of 
these changes. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Charter Township of 

Ypsilanti specifically adopts and incorporates by reference the attached 

Professional Services Fees for Township, Attorney, Planner, Engineer 

and Fire Department with hourly rate exhibits in its entirety. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that any previous Professional Service 

Fees not in conformity with those contained in the attached fee 

schedule shall be repealed. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Professional Service Fees for 
Township, Attorney, Planner, Engineer and Fire Department shall 
become effective immediately. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
I, Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti, County of Washtenaw, State of 

Michigan hereby certify the above resolution is a true and exact copy of Resolution No. 2018-10 

approved by the Charter Township of Ypsilanti, Board of Trustees assembled at a Regular 

Meeting held on April 17, 2018. 

                                    

                                                                                    ___________________________________ 

                                                                                                                Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk 

                                                                                              Charter Township of Ypsilanti 



Professional Services Fees for

Township, Attorney, Planner, Engineer 

and Fire Department 

Effective April 17, 2018

1-6

7
8

  9

- Fee Schedule
- Hourly Rate Schedules

• Carlisle Wortman Associates
• OHM Advisors
• Stantec Consulting
• Township Staff / Attorney       10    



Non‐Refundable Fee Refundable Deposit Township Planner Engineer Fire
Pre‐Application Meeting $650 N/A $150 $125 $300 $75

Non‐Refundable Fee Refundable Deposit Township Planner Engineer Fire
Rezoning $1,500 $1,500  $1,500 Hourly Hourly (If applicable) Hourly

Non‐Refundable Fee Refundable Deposit
less than one (1) acre: $3,000
one (1) acre to five (5) acres: $4,000 Township Planner Engineer Fire
over five (5) acres to ten (10) acres: $5,500 $500 Hourly Hourly Hourly
greater than ten (10) acres: $5,500 + $50 per acre over ten (10) acres
less than one (1) acre: $1,500
one (1) acre to five (5) acres: $2,000 Township Planner Engineer Fire
over five (5) acres to ten (10) acres: $2,500 $500 Hourly Hourly Hourly
greater than ten (10) acres: $2,500 + $50 per acre over ten (10) acres
less than one (1) acre: $1,000
one (1) acre to five (5) acres: $1,200 Township Planner Engineer Fire
over five (5) acres to ten (10) acres: $1,500 $100 Hourly Hourly Hourly
greater than ten (10) acres: $1,500 + $50 per acre over ten (10) acres
less than one (1) acre: $3,000
one (1) acre to five (5) acres: $4,000 Township Planner Engineer Fire
over five (5) acres to ten (10) acres: $5,500 $1,500 + $20 per acre Hourly Hourly Hourly
greater than ten (10) acres: $5,500 + $50 per acre over ten (10) acres

Non‐Refundable Fee Refundable Deposit Township Planner Engineer Fire
Special Land Use/Uses 
Subject to Special 

Conditions (other than 
group day care home)

$1,000 $1,000  $1,000 Hourly N/A N/A

Group day care home $100 N/A $100 N/A N/A N/A

Non‐Refundable Fee Refundable Deposit Township Planner Engineer Fire
Residential $125 N/A $125 N/A N/A N/A

Non‐Residential $500 N/A $500 N/A N/A N/A

Non‐Refundable Fee Refundable Deposit Township Planner Engineer Fire
Regular Meeting N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Special Meeting $1,100 N/A $1,100 N/A N/A N/A

Planned Development 
Stage I and Rezoning

$1,500 + $20 per acre

Preliminary Site Plan Review

Pre‐Application Meeting

$500

$500

$100Administrative

Zoning Board of Appeals Meeting

Zoning Board of Appeals Application

Rezoning

Special Land Use/Uses Subject to Special Conditions

Full

Sketch

Fee Breakdown

Fee Breakdown

Fee Breakdown

Fee Breakdown

Fee Breakdown

Fee Breakdown

Fee Breakdown

Fee Breakdown

Fee Breakdown

1



Non‐Refundable Fee Refundable Deposit Township Planner Engineer Fire
Regular Meeting N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Special Meeting $1,100 N/A $1,100 N/A N/A N/A

Non‐Refundable Fee Refundable Deposit Township Planner Engineer Fire

Full $500

1.5% of cost for infrastructure improvements including water, sanitary, 
storm, retention/detention basins, grading, earth balance and paving 
(minimum $2,000). With costs over $2,000,000 the engineer may reduce 
the rate through estimated hourly review cost. A mandatory meeting shall 
be scheduled after the 2nd review (if not approved) before submittal of 
3rd review.

$500 N/A Hourly Hourly

Sketch $500

1.5% of cost for infrastructure improvements including water, sanitary, 
storm, retention/detention basins, grading, earth balance and paving 
(minimum $2,000). With costs over $2,000,000 the engineer may reduce 
the rate through estimated hourly review cost. A mandatory meeting shall 
be scheduled after the 2nd review (if not approved) before submittal of 
3rd review.

$500 N/A Hourly Hourly

Administrative $100

1.5% of cost for infrastructure improvements including water, sanitary, 
storm, retention/detention basins, grading, earth balance and paving 
(minimum $2,000). With costs over $2,000,000 the engineer may reduce 
the rate through estimated hourly review cost. A mandatory meeting shall 
be scheduled after the 2nd review (if not approved) before submittal of 
3rd review.

$500 N/A Hourly Hourly

Planned Development $500

1.5% of cost for infrastructure improvements including water, sanitary, 
storm, retention/detention basins, grading, earth balance and paving 
(minimum $2,000). With costs over $2,000,000 the engineer may reduce 
the rate through estimated hourly review cost. A mandatory meeting shall 
be scheduled after the 2nd review (if not approved) before submittal of 
3rd review.

$500 N/A Hourly Hourly

Non‐Refundable Fee Refundable Deposit Township Planner Engineer Fire
less than two (2) acres: $1,000
two (2) acre to ten (10) acres: $1,500
over ten (10) acres to forty (40) acres: $2,500
over forty (40) acres to 100 acres: $3,500
greater than 100 acres: $3,500 + $30 per acre over 100 acres
less than two (2) acres: $2,000
two (2) acre to ten (10) acres: $2,500
over ten (10) acres to forty (40) acres: $3,500
over forty (40) acres to 100 acres: $5,000
greater than 100 acres: $5,000 + $30 per acre over 100 acres

Planning Commission Meeting

Soil Erosion and Sedimentation Control Review and Inspections

Soil Erosion and 
Sedimentation Control 

Review

Soil Erosion and 
Sedimentation Control 

Inspections
N/A

$100

*Fees cover two (2) detailed engineering reviews. A mandatory meeting will be scheduled to review design specifics after the 2nd 
detailed engineering review (if not approved) before submittal of a 3rd detailed engineering review. Township engineer, Township staff 
representative(s), developer, and project engineer must be in attendance for the mandatory meeting.

Detailed Engineering Review*

Fee Breakdown

Fee Breakdown

$100

Hourly

N/A

N/A

Hourly

Hourly

N/A

N/A

Fee Breakdown

2



Non‐Refundable Fee Refundable Deposit Township Planner Engineer Fire
less than one (1) acre: $3,000
one (1) acre to five (5) acres: $4,000
over five (5) acres to ten (10) acres: $5,500
greater than ten (10) acres: $5,500 + $50 per acre over ten (10) acres
less than one (1) acre: $1,500
one (1) acre to five (5) acres: $2,000
over five (5) acres to ten (10) acres: $2,500
greater than ten (10) acres: $2,500 + $50 per acre over ten (10) acres
less than one (1) acre: $1,000
one (1) acre to five (5) acres: $1,200
over five (5) acres to ten (10) acres: $1,500
greater than ten (10) acres: $1,500 + $50 per acre over ten (10) acres
less than one (1) acre: $3,000
one (1) acre to five (5) acres: $4,000
over five (5) acres to ten (10) acres: $5,500
greater than ten (10) acres: $5,500 + $50 per acre over ten (10) acres

Non‐Refundable Fee Refundable Deposit Attorney Planner Engineer
Full N/A $2,500  Hourly Hourly Hourly

Sketch N/A $2,500  Hourly Hourly Hourly
Administrative N/A $2,500  Hourly Hourly Hourly

Planned Development N/A $2,500  Hourly Hourly Hourly

Non‐Refundable Fee Refundable Deposit Township Planner Engineer Fire
Pre‐Construction Meeting $575 $500  $575 N/A Hourly Hourly

Non‐Refundable Fee Refundable Deposit Township Planner Engineer Fire
Earth Balancing and 

Excavation
$300 + $20 per acre $500  $300 + $20 per acre N/A Hourly N/A

Non‐Refundable Fee Refundable Deposit Township Planner Engineer Fire
Private Road Review $500  $2,000  $500 Hourly Hourly Hourly

Private Road Inspection N/A $1,000  N/A N/A Hourly N/A

Non‐Refundable Fee Refundable Deposit Township Planner Engineer Fire
Future Land Use 
Map/Master Plan 

Amendment
$1,500  $1,500  $1,500 Hourly Hourly (If applicable) N/A

Private Road

Future Land Use Map/Master Plan Amendment

Fee Breakdown

Fee Breakdown

Pre‐Construction Requirements and Meeting

Earth Balancing and Excavation

Planned Development 
Stage II

$1,000 + $20 per acre

Development Agreement

Full $500

Sketch $500

Administrative $100

Final Site Plan Review

Fee Breakdown

N/A

Fee Breakdown

Fee Breakdown

$500

$500

$500

$500

Hourly N/A Hourly

Hourly

Hourly

Hourly

N/AHourly

Hourly

Hourly

N/A

Fee Breakdown

3



Non‐Refundable Fee Refundable Deposit Township Planner Engineer Fire
Miscellaneous 

Administrative Review 
$100  $1,000  $100 Hourly Hourly (If applicable) N/A

Non‐Refundable Fee Refundable Deposit Township Planner Engineer Fire
Miscellaneous Engineering 

Review 
$100  $1,000  $100 N/A Hourly N/A

Non‐Refundable Fee Refundable Deposit Township Planner Engineer Fire
Landscape, Bike 

Path/Sidewalk, Open Space 
Site Inspections

$150 per inspection N/A $150 per inspection N/A N/A N/A

Non‐Refundable Fee Refundable Deposit Township Planner Engineer Fire
Miscellaneous Inspection $50 per inspection N/A $50 per inspection N/A N/A N/A

Non‐Refundable Fee Refundable Deposit Township Planner Engineer Fire
Residential $50  N/A $50 N/A N/A N/A

Non‐Residential $100  N/A $100 N/A N/A N/A

Non‐Refundable Fee Refundable Deposit Township Planner Engineer Fire
Zoning Permit $50  N/A $50 N/A N/A N/A

Non‐Refundable Fee Refundable Deposit Township Planner Engineer Fire

Sign Permit $25 + $50 per sign face N/A
$25 + $50 per sign 

face
N/A N/A N/A

Non‐Refundable Fee Refundable Deposit Township Planner Engineer Fire
Woodlands $100  $1,000  $100 N/A Hourly N/A

Non‐Refundable Fee Refundable Deposit Township Planner Engineer Fire
Wetlands $100  $1,000  $100 N/A Hourly N/A

Miscellaneous Inspection

Landscape, Bike Path/Sidewalk, Open Space Site Inspections

Miscellaneous Engineering Review (Structural/Traffic/ect.)

Miscellaneous Administrative Review Fee Breakdown

Fee Breakdown

Fee Breakdown

Fee Breakdown

Fee Breakdown

Fee Breakdown

Fee Breakdown

Fee Breakdown

Fee BreakdownWoodlands

Wetlands

Sign Permit

Zoning Verification Letter

Zoning Permit

4



Fee Breakdown
Non‐Refundable Fee Refundable Deposit Assessing

Single Address $50 per lot (1 or 2 addresses) N/A
$50 per lot (1 or 2 

addresses)

Residential Development $25 per lot (3 or more addresses) N/A
$25 per lot (3 or 
more addresses)

Re‐Addressing 
Development

$475 + $25 per lot N/A $475 + $25 per lot

Fee Breakdown
Non‐Refundable Fee Refundable Deposit Assessing

Land Division, 
Combination, and/or 
Boundary Change

$25 per lot N/A $25 per lot

Non‐Refundable Fee Refundable Deposit Township Planner Engineer Fire
Collection Box Application 

Fee
$200  N/A $200 N/A N/A N/A

Cash Surety $250  N/A $250 N/A N/A N/A
Annual Permit Renewal 

Fee
$50  N/A $50 N/A N/A N/A

Code Violation Response 
Fee

$75  N/A $75 N/A N/A N/A

Non‐Refundable Fee Refundable Deposit Township Planner Engineer Fire
Junk Yard License 
Application Fee

$150  N/A $150 N/A N/A N/A

Junk Yard Annual 
Inspections

$150  N/A $150 N/A N/A N/A

Junk Yard Re‐Inspections $50 per inspection N/A $50 per inspection N/A N/A
$50 per 

inspection

Non‐Refundable Fee Refundable Deposit Township Planner Engineer Fire

Liquor Annual Inspections $150  N/A $150 N/A N/A N/A

Liquor Re‐Inspections $50 per inspection N/A $50 per inspection N/A N/A
$50 per 

inspection

Fee Breakdown

Fee Breakdown

Fee BreakdownLiquor License Inspection

Addressing

Land Division, Combination, and/or Boundary Change

Collection Box Permit

Junk Yard Permit

5



Non‐Refundable Fee Refundable Deposit Township Planner Engineer Fire
Smoking Lounge 
Application Fee

$200  N/A $200 N/A N/A N/A

Smoking Lounge Annual 
Inspections

$150  N/A $150 N/A N/A N/A

Smoking Lounge Re‐
Inspections

$50 per inspection N/A $50 per inspection N/A N/A
$50 per 

inspection
Smoking Lounge Zoning 

Compliance
N/A $180  Hourly N/A N/A N/A

Non‐Refundable Fee Refundable Deposit Township Planner Engineer Fire

Business License Fee $200  N/A
$75 ($25 Admin & 

$50 Building)
$75 N/A $50

Notes:
Fees shall be paid prior to processing applications and/or permits.
Outstanding fees, bills, and deposits shall be paid prior to advancing project in the development review process
Site plan review fees paid are for one (1) review by Township, Planning, Engineering and Fire unless otherwise noted.

Effective Date: 2‐24‐92  Amended:3‐21‐95; 6‐30‐95; 2‐1‐97; 2‐4‐97; 2‐28‐97; 6‐17‐97; 9‐15‐98; 7‐22‐99; 5‐18‐00; 12‐18‐01; 12‐12‐02; 3‐10‐04; 5‐1‐05; 12‐8‐05; 12‐20‐05; 4‐4‐06; 01‐08; 1‐5‐09; 2‐14‐14; 1‐5‐15; 9‐1‐16; 04‐17‐18

Business License Fee Breakdown

6

Smoking Lounge Permit Fee Breakdown



7



8



Stantec Consulting / 2018 Fee Schedule

Title 
Hourly 

Rate Description 

Construction Technician 
CAD Technician 

$80 - $95 

• Junior-level position

• Independently carries out assignments of limited scope using standard procedures,
methods, and techniques

• Assists senior staff in carrying out more advanced procedures

• Completed work is reviewed for feasibility and soundness of judgment

• Graduate from an appropriate post-secondary program or equivalent

• Generally, four years’ work experience

Engineering Assistant 
Engineer-In-Training 
Construction Technician 

$102 - $115 

• Fully qualified professional position

• Carries out assignments requiring general familiarity within a broad field of the
respective profession

• Makes decisions by using a combination of standard methods and techniques

• Actively participates in planning to ensure the achievement of objectives

• Works independently to interpret information and resolve difficulties

• Graduate from an appropriate post-secondary program, with credentials or equivalent

• Generally, six years experience

CAD Manager 
Designer 
Process Designer 
Project Engineer 
Senior Project Engineer 
Survey Manager 
Construction Technician 
Senior Civil Engineer 
Environmental Engineer 
Survey Crew Chief 

$121- $137 

• First level supervisor of first complete level of specialization

• Provides applied professional knowledge and initiative in planning and coordinating work
programs

• Adapts established guidelines as necessary to address unusual issues

• Decisions accepted as technically accurate, however may on occasion be reviewed for
soundness of judgment 

• Graduate from an appropriate post-secondary program, with credentials or equivalent

• Generally, nine years’ experience

Associate 
Senior Associate 
Project Manager 
Field Services Manager 
Landscape Architect $144 - $180 

• Highly-specialized technical professional or supervisor of groups of professionals

• Provides multidiscipline knowledge to deliver innovative solutions in related field of
expertise

• Participates in short and long range planning to ensure the achievement of objectives

• Makes responsible decisions on all matters, including policy recommendations, work
methods, and financial controls associated with large expenditures

• Reviews and evaluates technical work

• Graduate from an appropriate post-secondary program, with credentials or equivalent

• Generally, ten years’ experience with extensive, broad experience

Principal 

$180 - $210 

• Senior level consultant or management function

• Recognized as an authority in a specific field with qualifications of significant value

• Provides multidiscipline knowledge to deliver innovative solutions in related field of
expertise

• Independently conceives programs and problems for investigation

• Participates in discussions to ensure the achievement of program and/or project
objectives

• Makes responsible decisions on expenditures, including large sums or implementation
of major programs and/or projects

• Graduate from an appropriate post-secondary program, with credentials or equivalent

• Generally, fifteen years’ experience with extensive professional and management
experience

 Survey Crew $150 
$220 

1 person crew 
2 person crew 

9



2018 

YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP 

HOURLY COST RECOVERY RATES 

 

 

Township Attorney     $200 

Fire Marshal      $58 

Planning & Development Coordinator  $40 

Clerical Support      $25 

Ordinance Officer     $26 

Building Inspector     $42 

Community Standards Director   $55 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
 

RESOLUTION 2018-11 
(In Reference to Ordinance 2018-478) 

 
Rezoning of 1250 East Michigan 

 
 

 Whereas, at is regularly scheduled meeting held March 27, 2018, 

the Charter Township of Ypsilanti (Township) Planning Commission 

(Commission) recommended that the Township Board approve a rezoning 

request for a certain parcel of property comprising 1.424 acres, commonly 

identified as 1250 East Michigan Avenue, Parcel ID K-11-10-107-011, from 

the B-3 (General Business) zoning district to the IRO (Industrial, Research, 

Office) zoning district; and  

 Whereas, proposed Ordinance No. 2018-478  rezones 1250 East 

Michigan Avenue, Parcel ID K-11-10-107-011, from B-3 District to IRO 

District zoning classification; and 

 Whereas, the Township Board of Trustees agrees that the rezoning 

is appropriate. 

 Now Therefore, 

 Be it resolved that the Charter  

Township of Ypsilanti hereby adopts and incorporates by reference 

Ordinance No. 2018-478 attached hereto, by reference, in its entirety.  

  



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

PROPOSED ORDINANCE 2018-478 

An Ordinance Amending Ordinance No. 74, 
Township Zoning Ordinance, So As To Rezone 

1250 East Michigan Avenue, being Parcel ID K-11-10-107-011, 
From Its Current B-3 (General Business) District Zoning Classification 

To IRO (Industrial, Research, Office) District Zoning Classification 

The Charter Township of Ypsilanti hereby ordains that 

Ordinance No. 74, adopted May 18, 1994, shall be amended as follows: 

Real Property consisting of 1.424 acres of land located at 1250 East 

Michigan Avenue, also known as Parcel ID K-11-10-107-011, and more 

particularly described as follows: 

See attached legal description labeled “Attachment A” 

shall be rezoned from its current B-3 (General Business) District zoning 

classification to the IRO (Industrial, Research, Office) District zoning 

classification. 

The Zoning Map, as incorporated by reference, in the Charter  

Township of Ypsilanti Zoning Ordinance is hereby amended by the 

rezoning of the afore-described parcel of property from its B-3 District 

zoning classification to the IRO District zoning classification.  

Severability 

In the event that any one or more sections, provisions, 

phrases or words of this ordinance shall be found to be invalid by a 

Court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not affect the 

validity nor the enforceability of the remaining sections, provisions, 

phrases or words of this Ordinance unless expressly so determined 

by a Court of competent jurisdiction.   



Publication 

 This Ordinance shall be published in a newspaper of general 

circulation as required by law.  

Effective date 

 This Ordinance shall become effective upon publication in a 

newspaper of general circulation as required by law.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

I, Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti, County of Washtenaw, State of 
Michigan hereby certify approval of the first reading of Proposed Ordinance No. 2017-478 by the 
Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board of Trustees assembled at a regular meeting held on April 17, 
2018. The second reading is scheduled to be heard on May 15, 2018. 
 

 
_______________________________ 

Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk 
                                                                                                            Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
 





Page 1 of 2 

 

 

 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
 

Resolution No. 2018-12 

 
RESOLUTION REGARDING THE DIVISION OF A 

PLATTED LOT 
 
 

 Resolution authorizing the division of platted lots in Country Club Park 
Subdivision 
 
 WHEREAS, the owner of a Lots 116, 117, 118 and 119 of Country Club 
Park Subdivision has made a request to change lot boundaries as previously 
approved and recorded; and 
 
 WHEREAS,  Township ordinance no. 2000-243, Article IX, Section 11.01 
states that “Upon the filing of a petition, by the owner or owners of all interest 
therein, with the Township Board, the platted lots, outlot, or parcels of land in 
existing recorded plats may be partitioned or divided upon resolution of the 
Township Board into not more than four (4) parts, each of which shall, in regard 
to width, depth and area, conform to the terms and provisions of the Charter 
Township of Ypsilanti Zoning Ordinance, as amended; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Township Planning and Development Coordinator has 
reviewed the division and confirmed that the resulting parcels meet the minimum 
requirements for lot size and road frontage as set forth by Section 2000 of the 
Township Zoning Ordinance. 
 
 THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the revised property descriptions 
are approved as follows:  
 
LEGAL DESCRIPTIONS: 
 
PARCEL 1: 
 
ALL OF LOTS 116 AND 117 AND THE WEST HALF OF LOT 118 
  
OTHERWISE DESCRIBED AS: 
 
COMMENCING AT THE NW CORNER OF LOT 115 OF “COUNTRY CLUB 
PARK SUB”, AS RECORDED IN LIBER 5 OF PLATS, PAGE 14 WASHTENAW 
COUNTY RECORDS, YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP, WAHTENAW COUNTY, 
MICHIGAN, THENCE S 89’05’00’ E 70.07 FEET ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF 
SAID LOT 115 AND THE SOUTH LINE OF HARDING AVE (50.00 FEET WIDE) 
TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, 
 
THENCE CONTINUING S 89’05’00 E 150.00 FEET; THENCE S 00-50-42’ W 
119.84 FEET; THENCE N 89’ 09’ 51’ W 149.84 FEET ALONG THE SOUTH 
LINE OF THE W ½ OF LOT 118 AND THE SOUTH LINE OF LOTS 116 & 117 
OF SAID “COUNTRY CLUB PARK SUBDIVISION”; THENCE N 00’46’15’ E 
120.05 FEET ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 116 TO THE POINT OF 
BEGINNING. BEING A PART OF SECTION 7, T3S, R7E, YPSILANTI 
TOWNSHIP, WASHTENAW COUNTY, MICHIGAN AND CONTAINING 0.41 
ACRES OF LAND, MORE OR LESS. BEING SUBJECT TO EASMENTS AND 
RESTRICTIONS OF RECORD, IF ANY.  
 
 
PARCEL 2: 
 
THE EAST HALF OF LOT 118 AND ALL OF LOT 119  
 



Page 2 of 2 

 

 

 

OTHERSWISE DESCRIBED AS: 
 
COMMENCING AT THE NW CORNER OF LOT 115 OF “COUNTRY CLUB PARK 
SUB”, AS RECORDED IN LIBER 5 OF PLATS, PAGE 14, WASHTENAW 
COUNTY RECORDS, YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP, WASHTENAW COUNTY, 
MICHIGAN, THENCE S 89’05’00’ E 220.07 FEET ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF 
SAID LOT 115 AND THE SOUTH LINE OF HARDING AVE (50.00 FEET WIDE) 
TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, 
 
THENCE CONTINUING S 89’05’00’ E 90.00 FEET; THENCE S 00’50’42’ W 
119.71 FEET; THENCE N 89’09’51’ W 90.00 FEET ALONG THE SOUTH LINE 
OF LOT 119 AND THE E ½ OF LOT 118 OF SAID “COUNTRY CLUB PARK SUB”;  
THENCE N 00’50’42 E 119.84 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. BEING A 
PART OF SECTION 7, T3S, R7E, YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP, WASHTENAW 
COUNTY, MICHIGAN AND CONTAINING 0.25 ACRES OF LAND, MORE OR 
LESS. BEING SUJECT TO EASEMENTS AND RESTRICTIONS OF RECORD, IF 
ANY. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
I, Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti, County of Washtenaw, State of 
Michigan hereby certify the above resolution is a true and exact copy of Resolution No. 2018-12 
approved by the Charter Township of Ypsilanti, Board of Trustees assembled at a Regular 
Meeting held on April 17, 2018. 
                                    
                                                                                    ___________________________________ 
                                                                                                                Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk 

                                                                                            Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
 







CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE APRIL 24, 2018 SPECIAL MEETING 

 

 

Supervisor Stumbo called the meeting to order at approximately 8:30am in the 
Ypsilanti Township Civic Center Board Room, 7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti 
Township.  
 

Members Present: Supervisor Brenda L. Stumbo, Clerk Lovejoy Roe, 

                                        Treasurer Doe, Trustees: Stan Eldridge and Heather Jarrell Roe 
                                         
 

Members Absent:  Trustees Monica Ross-Williams and Jimmie Wilson, Jr. 

  

Legal Counsel:  Wm. Douglas Winters  
 
 

AGENDA 
 
A Special Meeting of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board of Trustees has 
been called by Supervisor Brenda Stumbo for the following items: 
 

1. REQUEST TO ENTER INTO CLOSED SESSION PURSUANT TO MCL 15.268 
SECTION 8 SUBPARAGRAPH (C) “FOR STRATEGY AND NEGOTIATION 
SESSIONS CONNECTED WITH THE NEGOTIATION OF THE TEAMSTERS 
COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT IF EITHER NEGOTIATION PARTY 
REQUESTS A CLOSED HEARING” 

 
A motion was made by Treasurer Doe, seconded by Trustee Jarrell Roe to enter 
closed session pursuant to MCL 15.268 Section 8 Subparagraph (C) “For strategy 
and negotiation sessions connected with the negotiation of the Teamsters 
Collective Bargaining Agreement if either negotiation party requests a closed 
hearing”. 
 
Jarrell Roe:             Yes             Eldridge:            Yes              
Lovejoy-Roe:         Yes              Stumbo:            Yes              
Doe:                        Yes 
 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
The Board went into closed session at approximately 8:32am. 
 
The Board came out of closed session at approximately 11:25am 
 

2. REQUEST AUTHORIZATION OF TEAMSTERS BARGAING CONTRACT FOR 
YEARS 2018-2021 

 
A motion was made by Clerk Lovejoy Roe, seconded by Trustee Eldridge to 
proceed as directed during the Closed Session.  
 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE APRIL 24, 2018 SPECIAL MEETING 
PAGE 2 
 

 

 

 
The meeting was adjourned at approximately 11:30am. 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
Brenda L. Stumbo, Supervisor                  Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk 
Charter Township of Ypsilanti                  Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
 
 
 



Closed Session Minutes 

A. The April 24, 2018 Closed Session Minutes will be
distributed to Board Members prior to the meeting.



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE MAY 2, 2018 SPECIAL MEETING 

 
Supervisor Stumbo called the meeting to order at approximately 8:30am in the 
Ypsilanti Township Civic Center Board Room, 7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti 
Township.  
 

Members Present: Supervisor Brenda L. Stumbo, Clerk Lovejoy Roe, 

Treasurer Doe, Trustees: Stan Eldridge, Heather Jarrell Roe, 
Monica Ross Williams and Jimmie Wilson, Jr. 

                                         
 

Members Absent:  None 

  

Legal Counsel:  Wm. Douglas Winters  
 
 

AGENDA 
 
A Special Meeting of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board of Trustees has 
been called by Supervisor Brenda Stumbo for the following items: 
 

1. REQUEST TO ENTER INTO CLOSED SESSION PURSUANT TO MCL 15.268 
SECTION 8 SUBPARAGRAPH (C) “FOR STRATEGY AND NEGOTIATION 
SESSIONS CONNECTED WITH THE NEGOTIATION OF THE TEAMSTERS 
COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT IF EITHER NEGOTIATION PARTY 
REQUESTS A CLOSED HEARING” 

 
A motion was made by Treasurer Doe, seconded by Trustee Eldridge to enter 
closed session pursuant to MCL 15.268 Section 8 Subparagraph (C) “For strategy 
and negotiation sessions connected with the negotiation of the Teamsters 
Collective Bargaining Agreement if either negotiation party requests a closed 
hearing”. 
 
Eldridge:                 Yes             Ross Williams:    Yes 
Lovejoy-Roe:          Yes             Stumbo:              Yes              
Doe:                         Yes        Wilson:                Yes 
 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
The Board went into closed session at approximately 8:32am. 
 
The Board exited closed session at approximately 9:56am. 
 

2. REQUEST AUTHORIZATION OF TEAMSTERS BARGAING CONTRACT FOR 
YEARS 2018-2021 

 
A motion was made by Treasurer Doe, seconded by Trustee Wilson to authorize 
the Teamsters Bargaining Contract for Years 2018-2021. 
 
The motion carried unanimously. 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE MAY 2, 2018 SPECIAL MEETING 
PAGE 2 
 
 
A motion was made by Trustee Wilson, supported by Treasurer Doe to Adjourn. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 9:57am. 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
Brenda L. Stumbo, Supervisor                  Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk 
Charter Township of Ypsilanti                  Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
 
 
 



Closed Session Minutes 

A. The May 2, 2018 Closed Session Minutes will be 
distributed to Board Members prior to the meeting.



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
MINUTES OF THE MAY 9, 2018 SPECIAL MEETING 

 
Supervisor Stumbo called the meeting to order at approximately 8:30am in the 
Ypsilanti Township Civic Center Board Room, 7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti 
Township.  
 

Members Present: Supervisor Brenda L. Stumbo, Clerk Lovejoy Roe, 

Treasurer Doe, Trustees: Stan Eldridge, Heather Jarrell Roe, 
Monica Ross Williams and Jimmie Wilson, Jr. 

                                         
 

Members Absent:  None 

  

Legal Counsel:  Wm. Douglas Winters  
 
 

AGENDA 
 
A Special Meeting of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board of Trustees has 
been called by Supervisor Brenda Stumbo for the following items: 
 

1. REQUEST TO ENTER INTO CLOSED SESSION PURSUANT TO MCL 15.268 
SECTION 8 SUBPARAGRAPH (C) “FOR STRATEGY AND NEGOTIATION 
SESSIONS CONNECTED WITH THE NEGOTIATION OF THE AFSCME 
COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT IF EITHER NEGOTIATION PARTY 
REQUESTS A CLOSED HEARING” 

 
A motion was made by Treasurer Doe, seconded by Trustee Jarrell Roe to enter 
closed session pursuant to MCL 15.268 Section 8 Subparagraph (C) “For strategy 
and negotiation sessions connected with the negotiation of the Teamsters 
Collective Bargaining Agreement if either negotiation party requests a closed 
hearing”. 
 
Eldridge:                 Yes             Ross Williams:    Yes    Jarrell Roe:   Yes 
Lovejoy-Roe:          Yes             Stumbo:              Yes              
Doe:                         Yes        Wilson:                Yes 
 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
The Board went into closed session at approximately 8:38am. 
 
The Board exited closed session at approximately 12:05pm 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
Brenda L. Stumbo, Supervisor                  Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk 
Charter Township of Ypsilanti                  Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
 



Closed Session Minutes 

A. The May 9, 2018 Closed Session Minutes will be
distributed to Board Members prior to the meeting.























         OFFICE OF THE TREASURER

                     LARRY J. DOE

MONTHLY TREASURER'S  REPORT

APRIL 1, 2018 THROUGH APRIL 30, 2018

Account Name Beginning Balance Cash Receipts Cash Disbursements Ending Balance

101 - General Fund 3,878,159.60 4,881,165.04 2,315,125.57 6,444,199.07

101 - Payroll 129,246.96 607,742.11 592,788.34 144,200.73

101 - Willow Run Escrow 143,168.04 47.07 0.00 143,215.11

206 - Fire Department 41,337.83 4,888,898.09 512,386.54 4,417,849.38

208 - Parks Fund 25,118.60 21.18 308.24 24,831.54

212 - Roads/Bike Path/Rec/General Fund 198,347.03 1,135,148.79 1,018.98 1,332,476.84

226 - Environmental Services 971,951.44 2,430,217.74 194,611.04 3,207,558.14

230 - Recreation 105,375.65 33,655.75 50,553.58 88,477.82

236 - 14-B District Court 263,673.09 155,003.12 101,840.82 316,835.39

244 - Economic Development 67,965.90 57.91 0.00 68,023.81

248 - Rental Inspections 94,985.47 35,566.53 19,539.09 111,012.91

249 - Building Department Fund 1,036,623.41 94,978.48 40,885.10 1,090,716.79

250 - LDFA Tax 19,461.11 119,451.58 0.00 138,912.69

252 - Hydro Station Fund 554,254.86 56,691.18 13,219.99 597,726.05

266 - Law Enforcement Fund 350,194.04 6,708,099.55 519,928.22 6,538,365.37

397 - Series "B" Cap. Cost of Funds 45,642.27 38.91 0.00 45,681.18

398 - LDFA 2006 Bonds 333,248.16 283.99 0.00 333,532.15

584 - Green Oaks Golf Course 89,684.33 44,770.10 59,060.62 75,393.81

590 - Compost Site 717,206.99 18,964.32 110,905.57 625,265.74

595 - Motor Pool 252,246.42 198.46 42,885.54 209,559.34

701 - General Tax Collection 107,906.58 7,209.47 26,702.51 88,413.54

703 - Current Tax Collections 19,512,218.78 53,538.53 19,495,848.88 69,908.43

707 - Bonds & Escrow/GreenTop 1,638,135.03 68,843.48 68,458.33 1,638,520.18

708 - Fire Withholding Bonds 74,413.73 24.46 0.00 74,438.19

893 - Nuisance Abatement Fund 61,841.72 11,278.60 2,056.30 71,064.02

ABN AMRO Series "B" Debt Red. Cap.Int. 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

GRAND  TOTAL 30,712,407.04 21,351,894.44 24,168,123.26 27,896,178.22



 

ATTORNEY REPORT 
 

GENERAL LEGAL UPDATE 
 

 



 

OLD BUSINESS 

 

 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
 

RESOLUTION 2018-07 
(In Reference to Ordinance 2018-477) 

 
Commercial and Industrial Business Registration  

 
 
 Whereas, the Township’s  Office of Community 

Standards  has recommend that the Ypsilanti Township 

Board adopt an Ordinance requiring  commercial and 

industrial businesses in Ypsilanti Township to register with 

the Office of Community Standards; and 

 Whereas, adoption of Business Registration Ordinance 

2018-477 will enable the Office of Community Standards to 

advise prospective commercial and industrial businesses, 

before their operations begin,  of applicable zoning and code 

requirements; and 

 Whereas, the information required in the proposed 

Ordinance includes an afterhours emergency contact 

number that may be used in case of a police or fire 

emergency; and  

 Whereas, the information required in the proposed 

Ordinance includes whether there are hazardous materials 

or substances within commercial or industrial business 

premises; and 

 Whereas,  knowledge that hazardous materials and 

substances are present in commercial and industrial 

buildings  is important for firefighters, law enforcement  and 



other emergency first responders in the event of an 

emergency; 

 Whereas, the Ordinance provides that all existing 

commercial and industrial businesses will have 120 days 

from the effective date of the Ordinance to register their 

businesses with the Office of Community Standards;   

 Now Therefore, 

 Be it resolved, that Ordinance No. 2018- 477   is 

hereby adopted by reference. 



 

 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

Ordinance No. 2018-477 
 
 

An Ordinance to Amend Chapter 22 of the Ypsilanti Charter 
Township Code of Ordinances by Adding a New Article 

Requiring Registration of Commercial and Industrial Businesses 
 
 
 The Charter Township of Ypsilanti ordains that the Charter Township 

Code of Ordinances is amended as follows: 

Section 1. Purpose 
 
 The purpose of this article concerning the registration of commercial 
and industrial businesses within the Township is to protect the health, safety, 
and welfare of persons in the Township by providing the Township with the 
information necessary to ensure compliance with safety, structure and fire 
laws; identify business activities and establishments which concern  zoning, 
occupancy, density of occupancy; the presence, storage and handling of 
hazardous materials; the physical condition of places where persons are 
employed or carry on trade, and the enforcement of the law, including local, 
state and federal laws, and regulations, applying to business establishments 
located within Ypsilanti Township. 
 
Section 2. Definitions. 
 
 The following terms when used in this article, shall have the meaning 
ascribed to them in this section. 
  
 Business establishment means any lot, building or structure, or a part 
thereof, including without limitation, leased or occupied space in a mall, store 
or building, permanently located within Ypsilanti Township, from which: 1) a 
person(s) engages in or causes to be engaged in any act or acts of buying, 
selling, leasing, renting, or otherwise disposing of, performing or marketing, 
any goods, services, merchandise or commodities of any kind or description 
for commercial profit; 2) a person(s)  engages in industrial production of 
merchandise or commodities of any kind or description for commercial profit.
  
Section 3. Business Registration Certificate required. 
 
 No person, firm partnership or corporation shall, directly or indirectly, 
operate, conduct, maintain or manage any business establishment within 
Ypsilanti Township without first obtaining a business registration certificate 
issued pursuant to this article.  
 
Section 4. Business Registration Certificate required to be Posted.  
The business registration certificate shall be posted in a conspicuous place 
at or near the entrance the business so that it may be read at any time. 
 
 
Section 5. State license or permit not a substitute. 
 
 The fact that a license or permit has been granted to any person, firm, 
partnership or corporation by the state to engage in the operation, conduct, 
maintenance, or management of any business establishment shall not 



 

 2 

constitute an exemption from the necessity of procuring a business 
registration certificate as required by this article. 
 
Section 6. Application; form; contents. 
 
 Each person, firm, partnership or corporation required to procure a 
business registration certificate from the township shall make application for 
such certificate to the Office of Community Standards in the form and 
manner prescribed by that Office and shall state, under oath, such facts as 
may be prescribed for, or applicable to, the granting of such certificate, 
including the following: 
 

(a) The full name, business address, residence address, email 
address and telephone number of the owner or their agent. 

(b) The full name, email address and 24 hour emergency 
telephone number of the person to contact in the event of an 
emergency during non-business hours. 

(c) The address where the business will be located. 

(d) The nature and character of goods, wares, merchandise to be 
sold or offered for sale or services to be provided by the 
applicant. 

(e) The nature and kind of business establishment which the 
applicant proposes to conduct. 

(f) Whether any hazardous materials will be stored, kept or used 
at the business establishment premises. Hazardous materials 
are those chemicals or substances defined as such in the 
International Fire Code adopted by reference in Chapter 30, 
Section 26 (30-26) of the Township Code of Ordinances. 

Section 7.     Term. 
 
 A business registration certificate granted under this article shall be 
valid until the business establishment is transferred or sold to a new owner 
or if the business expands it use to include uses not listed in the original 
application.  
 
Section 8.  Separate premises. 
 
 If a business registration certificate holder intends to locate a business 
establishment at a new address in the jurisdiction, a business registration 
certificate issued for the new address is required before business is 
conducted at the new address. 
 
 
Section 9. Transferability. 
  
 A certificate of registration issued under this article is not transferable. 
If a business establishment is transferred or sold to a new owner or if the 
business establishment use expands  or changes to include uses not listed 
in the original application, a new  business registration application and 
certificate is required before business is conducted by the new owner or the 
new use is added to the business establishment. 
 
 



 

 3 

Section 10. Requirements for Certificate of Compliance; compliance 
with state law and township ordinances. 
 

(a) No certificate required by this article shall be issued to any 
applicant who is required to procure a license or permit from a 
state of federal agency until such applicant shall submit 
evidence that the required state or federal license or permit has 
been issued and that all applicable fees have been paid. 

(b)  No certificate shall be granted to any applicant until such 
applicant has complied with all the provisions of this article and 
other ordinances of the township pertaining to businesses for 
which an application for a certificate is made.  No certificate 
shall be granted, if the approval of any officer of the township is 
required, until such approval is made.  Approval in each 
instance shall mean written approval by the designated officer 
upon the face of the application for a certificate, subscribed by 
such officer, and the date of approval. 

Section 11. Certificate fees. 
 
 Business registration certificate fees shall be set from time to time by 
resolution of the township board for the cost of administering this ordinance 
including but not limited to zoning verification, building code compliance, and 
fire safety code compliance for any change of use or change of occupancy 
of commercial and industrial spaces as applicable, except that no fee shall 
be collected for initial registration of businesses in existence at the time of 
publication in a newspaper of general circulation as required by law. 
   
Section 12. Fees; exemptions. 
 
 No registration fee shall be required from any applicant exempt from 
payment of the fee by state or federal law. 
 
Section 13. Denial, revocation and suspension. Right to Appeal. 
Hearing. 
 

Business registration certificates issued under this article may be 
revoked or suspended by the Director of Community Standards, at 
any time, for any of the following reasons: 

 
 (a) Fraud, misrepresentation or any false statement made in the 
application for  certificate; 

 (b) Fraud, misrepresentation or any false statement made in the 
operation of  the business establishment. 

 (c) Conducting a business establishment in an unlawful manner 
or in such a  manner as to  constitute a threat to the health, 
safety or welfare of the public. 

Section 14. Revocation/ suspension/denial of certificate; notice 
required. 
 
 Written notification of suspension/ revocation/denial of certificate, 
stating the causes for said action, shall be delivered to the certificate holder 
personally or mailed to his business address as shown on the application 
for license. 
 
 



 

 4 

Section 15. Right to Appeal. Hearing. Standard of Review. 
 

(a) A certificate holder has the right to appeal such 
suspension/revocation to the Township Board, provided a written 
request to appeal is filed with the Township Clerk within 10 days 
after the notice of suspension/revocation/denial of certificate is sent 
to the certificate holder at its business address as shown on the 
application for business registration certificate.  

(b) At the hearing before the Township Board, the certificate 
holder/applicant shall have the right to hear the evidence relied upon 
by the Director of Community Standards in determining to 
suspended/revoke/deny the certificate; and the right to present 
evidence and witnesses on his/her own behalf. 

(c) Following the hearing, the Township Board shall determine 
whether the decision to suspend/revoke/deny the certificate was 
supported by competent, material and substantial evidence.  A 
written statement of the Township Board’s findings and 
determination shall be made within 21 days after the conclusion of 
the hearing. 

Section 16. Penalty. 
 

(a) Persons, firms, partnerships or corporations who violate any 
section of this article shall be responsible for a municipal civil 
infraction as provided in Chapter 40, Article II, of this Code of 
Ordinances for the Charter Township of Ypsilanti. 

(b) The imposition of a fine shall not relieve the business 
establishment from responsibility to correct the violation. All 
such persons, firms, partnerships or corporations shall be 
required to correct or remedy such situation or defects within a 
reasonable time and each act or violation and every day upon 
which said violation should occur shall constitute a separate 
offense. 

(c) The application of the penalty of this section shall not be held 
to prevent the enforcement removal of prohibited conditions by 
injunctive or other relief in a court of competent jurisdiction. 

Section 17.    Severability. 

 Should any section, subdivision, sentence, clause or phrase of this 
Ordinance be declared by the Courts to be invalid, the same shall not affect 
the validity of the Ordinance as a whole or any part thereof other than the 
part as invalidated. 
 
Section 18.    Publication Clause. 
  
 This Ordinance shall be published in a newspaper of general 
circulation as required by law. 
 
 

 

 

 



 

 5 

Section 19.      Effective Date. 

 This Ordinance shall be effective 120 days after publication in a 
newspaper of general circulation as required by law. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
 

OFFICE OF COMMUNITY STANDARDS 
 

Building Safety  Planning & Zoning  Ordinance Enforcement  Police Services 
 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive    Ypsilanti, MI  48197    (734) 485-4393 

 

 
To:  Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk 
 

From:  Michael Radzik, OCS Director 
 

Re: Procedure for administration of the Business Registration ordinance 

 

Copy: McLain & Winters, Township Attorneys 
 

Date:  April 3, 2018 
 
The Board of Trustees is considering a Business Registration ordinance that will require 
commercial and industrial businesses to register with the Office of Community Standards (OCS).  
This memorandum outlines the procedure to be used to administer the ordinance. 
 
Registration 
All commercial and industrial businesses are required to register using an application form 
provided by OCS.  A copy of the form is enclosed for reference.  The form requires reporting of 
information in accordance with provisions of the ordinance. 
 
Existing Businesses at Time of Ordinance Publication 
Businesses in existence on the date of publication of the adopted ordinance shall register with 
OCS by submitting a completed application form.  Qualifying existing businesses shall be 
exempt from fees and will not be inspected unless zoning or building code violations are 
reported or become known to exist. 
 
An existing business previously registered will be required to submit a new registration form 
and will be subject to zoning verification and building code inspection pursuant to approved 
fees for any of the following reasons: 

1. Change of ownership 
2. Relocation to a different physical space 
3. Expansion or significant change of the use originally reported 

 
New Businesses 
New businesses shall submit a completed application form and pay the required fees.  New 
business applications shall be subject to the following action steps: 

1. Be reviewed by the Planning Dept to verify compliance with zoning regulations; 
2. Be inspected to verify compliance with building and property maintenance codes; 
3. Be inspected to verify compliance with the fire safety code. 

 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive    Ypsilanti, MI  48197    (734) 485-4393   ytown.org 

If zoning compliance cannot be verified, the business registration application shall be denied 
with reasons for the denial provided.  A statement explaining appeal provisions of the 
ordinance shall be included with the denial document. 
 
If building, fire, or property maintenance code violations are observed, the violations shall be 
corrected prior to approval of the application.  Applicable building permits shall be obtained 
and receive final approval. 
 
Upon successful completion of the review process, a new Certificate of Occupancy shall be 
issued for the business premises. 
 
Record Keeping 
Upon receipt of a new application form, a Business Registration Certificate shall be created in 
the BS&A Permitting software system.  Components of the review process shall be tracked to 
completion within the new certificate record.  
 
Required information including emergency contact information and a list of hazardous 
materials stored on the premises shall be inputted into the software system so as to allow data 
to be reported and shared with public safety agencies. 
 
A Business Registry shall be maintained on the Township’s public website as a reference guide 
for residents and as a means to promote local businesses. 



7200 S. Huron River Drive    Ypsilanti, MI  48197    (734) 485-4393  
 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
OFFICE OF COMMUNITY STANDARDS 

 

Building Safety  Planning & Zoning  Ordinance Enforcement  Police Services 
 

 

BUSINESS REGISTRATION APPLICATION 
 

Non-Refundable Registration Fee - $200.00 
 

A business registration certificate granted under this article shall be valid until the business establishment is 
transferred or sold to a new owner or if the business expands its use to include uses not listed in the original 
application.  
 

_________________________________________ _____________________________________________________  

NAME OF BUSINESS  BUSINESS ADDRESS 

 

OWNER /AGENT INFORMATION 
 

__________________________________________________________________________   

OWNER / AGENT FULL NAME (PRINTED)  

 

_________________________________________ _________________________ ______ ______________  

OWNER / AGENT BUSINESS ADDRESS CITY STATE ZIP 

 

_________________________________________ _________________________ ______ ______________  

OWNER / AGENT RESIDENCE ADDRESS CITY STATE ZIP 

 

________________________________ _____________________________________________________________  

PHONE  EMAIL ADDRESS   

 

24-HOUR EMERGENCY CONTACT 
 

__________________________________________________________________________   

EMERGENCY CONTACT FULL NAME (PRINTED)  

 

________________________________ ____________________________________________________________  

PHONE  EMAIL ADDRESS 

   

1. Explain the nature and kind of business establishment to be conducted:  __________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. List the nature and character of goods, wares and merchandise to be sold, offered for sale or services to 
be provided:    

________________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________________  



7200 S. Huron River Drive    Ypsilanti, MI  48197    (734) 485-4393  
 

Business License Registration Application 
Page 2 
 

3. Will any hazardous materials will be stored, kept or used at the business establishment premises? Hazardous 
materials are those chemicals or substances defined as such in the International Fire Code adopted by 
reference in Section 30-26 of the Township Code of Ordinances. 

 ________ No ________ Yes If yes, list all hazardous materials: ______________ 

________________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
______________________________ ____________________________ _________________ 

SIGNATURE OF APPLICANT  PRINTED NAME OF APPLICANT  DATE 

  

   

 

 

_____________________________________ ___ APPROVED ___ DENIED ____________________ 

ZONING COORDINATOR     DATE 

 

COMMENTS: _____________________________________________________________________________________________________________         

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

 

____________________________________ ___ APPROVED ___ DENIED ____________________ 

BUILDIING OFFICIAL     DATE 

 

COMMENTS: _____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

_____________________________________ ___ APPROVED ___ DENIED ____________________ 

FIRE MARSHAL     DATE 

 

COMMENTS: _____________________________________________________________________________________________________________          

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
 

RESOLUTION 2018-11 
(In Reference to Ordinance 2018-478) 

 
Rezoning of 1250 East Michigan 

 
 

 Whereas, at is regularly scheduled meeting held March 27, 2018, 

the Charter Township of Ypsilanti (Township) Planning Commission 

(Commission) recommended that the Township Board approve a rezoning 

request for a certain parcel of property comprising 1.424 acres, commonly 

identified as 1250 East Michigan Avenue, Parcel ID K-11-10-107-011, from 

the B-3 (General Business) zoning district to the IRO (Industrial, Research, 

Office) zoning district; and  

 Whereas, proposed Ordinance No. 2018-478  rezones 1250 East 

Michigan Avenue, Parcel ID K-11-10-107-011, from B-3 District to IRO 

District zoning classification; and 

 Whereas, the Township Board of Trustees agrees that the rezoning 

is appropriate. 

 Now Therefore, 

 Be it resolved that the Charter  

Township of Ypsilanti hereby adopts and incorporates by reference 

Ordinance No. 2018-478 attached hereto, by reference, in its entirety.  

  



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
 

ORDINANCE 2018-478 
 

An Ordinance Amending Ordinance No. 74, 
Township Zoning Ordinance, So As To Rezone 

1250 East Michigan Avenue, being Parcel ID K-11-10-107-011, 
From Its Current B-3 (General Business) District Zoning Classification  

To IRO (Industrial, Research, Office) District Zoning Classification 
 
 

 The Charter Township of Ypsilanti hereby ordains that 

Ordinance No. 74, adopted May 18, 1994, shall be amended as follows: 

 Real Property consisting of 1.424 acres of land located at 1250 East 

Michigan Avenue, also known as Parcel ID K-11-10-107-011, and more 

particularly described as follows: 

 

              See attached legal description labeled “Attachment A” 

 

shall be rezoned from its current B-3 (General Business) District zoning 

classification to the IRO (Industrial, Research, Office) District zoning 

classification. 

 The Zoning Map, as incorporated by reference, in the Charter  

Township of Ypsilanti Zoning Ordinance is hereby amended by the 

rezoning of the afore-described parcel of property from its B-3 District 

zoning classification to the IRO District zoning classification.  

Severability 

 In the event that any one or more sections, provisions, 

phrases or words of this ordinance shall be found to be invalid by a 

Court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not affect the 

validity nor the enforceability of the remaining sections, provisions, 

phrases or words of this Ordinance unless expressly so determined 

by a Court of competent jurisdiction.    

 

 



Publication 

 This Ordinance shall be published in a newspaper of general 

circulation as required by law.  

Effective date 

 This Ordinance shall become effective upon publication in a 

newspaper of general circulation as required by law.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 





CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
OFFICE OF COMMUNITY STANDARDS 

 

Building Safety • Planning & Zoning • Ordinance Enforcement • Police Services 

7200 S. Huron River Drive  •  Ypsilanti, MI  48197  •  (734) 485-4393 

To: 

From: 

Re: 

Copy: 

Date: 

Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk 

Charlotte Wilson, Planning and Development Coordinator 

Request to rezone a 1.424 acre parcel from B-3 (General Business) to IRO 
(Industrial Research Office) located at 1250 East Michigan Avenue, parcel 
K-11-10-107-011.

McLain & Winters, Township Attorneys 

April 9th, 2018 

Please be advised that the Planning Commission recommended approval of the request to rezone 
the 1.424 acre parcel from B-3 (General Business) to IRO (Industrial Research Office) located at 
1250 East Michigan Avenue, parcel K-11-10-107-011. The enclosed packet includes the following 
components: 

1. Planning Commission meeting minutes and recommendation 03/27/2018
2. Planning Commission staff report 03/27/2018
3. Rezoning application 03/05/2018
4. Zoning verification letter 11/03/18
5. Article XIII. IRO Industrial Research Office District 04/09/2018

Please be further advised that the Planning Commission made the following recommendation to 
the Township Board: 

Motion by Eldridge – “I move to recommend approval to the Township Board of Trustees the 
request to rezone the 1.424 acre parcel from B-3 (General Business) to IRO (Industrial Research 
Office) located at 1250 East Michigan Avenue, parcel K-11-10-107-011 as the request is consistent 
with the criteria established in the Township zoning ordinance section 2704: Criteria for 
amendments to the zoning map and is consistent with the finding that circumstances have 
significantly changed since 2014, specifically the creation of the American Center for mobility and 
the elimination of the B-4 and other districts.” 

Support: Krieg  Motion Carries - All 

I respectfully request that you place this information packet and recommendation for 
approval on the April 17, 2018 Board of Trustees meeting agenda for its consideration.  
Please contact me with questions or concerns. 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

MINUTES OF THE MARCH 27, 2018 REGULAR MEETING 
 
 

Commissioner Richie called the regular meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. in the Ypsilanti 
Township Civic Center Board Room 7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti Township. 
 
Commissioners Present:    Commissioners Sally Richie, Stan Eldridge, Laurence Krieg, 

Bill Sinkule and Gloria Peterson  
 
Commissioners Absent:   Chair Jason Iacoangeli and Commissioner Muddasar 

Tawakkul 
 
Others in Attendance: Denny McLain, Township Attorney; Megan Masson-Minock, 

Carlisle/Wortman Associates; Michael Radzik, Office of 
Community Standards Director  

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

 
2. ROLL CALL  

 

3. APPROVAL OF THE TUESDAY, MARCH 13, 2018 REGULAR MEETING 
MINUTES  

 
A motion was made by Commissioner Krieg supported by Commissioner 
Peterson to approve the minutes of the March 13, 2018 Regular Meeting. The 
motion carried unanimously. 
 

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
A motion was made by Commissioner Krieg supported by Commissioner 
Eldridge to approve the agenda. The motion carried unanimously. 

   
5. PUBLIC HEARINGS AND PLAN REVIEW 
 

A. PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN – KALITTA AIR, BRAKE AND TIRE ADDITION – 
10990 BLACKMORE AVENUE – TO CONSIDER THE PRELIMINARY SITE 
PLAN FOR A 12,000 SQUARE FOOT ADDITION TO AN EXISTING 12,000 
SQUARE FOOT BUILDING LOCATED AT 10990 BLACKMORE AVENUE, 
PARCEL K-11-25-100-028.  

 
Megan Masson-Minock, Carlisle Wortman Associates, said the addition is proposed to 
be located on a paved area of the existing site within a fenced area.  The existing 
storage shed in this area would be moved to a grassy area adjacent to the northwest 
corner of the existing parking lot.  The property is zoned I-2, general industrial and the 
building operates as a warehouse and repair facility.  The parcel is 4.25 acres and the 
surrounding parcels are zoned I-2.  Ms. Masson-Minock stated planning consultants 
reviewed the preliminary site plan and recommended approval.  OHM, engineers 
recommended approval in a March 15, 2018 review letter with a few comments that can 
be resolved during detailed engineering.  Ypsilanti Community Utilities Authority 
approved the plans in a letter dated March 7, 2018 with comments that can be 
addressed during detailed engineering.  Ypsilanti Township Fire Department approved 
conditionally with comments and requirements in a letter dated March 14, 2018.   
 
Ms. Masson-Minock stated per the Master Plan this use is consistent and the proposed 
building would be located on an existing paved area.  She said the building would 
comply with all area height, bulk, density and area and everything in the zoning 
ordinance.  The two (2) existing access points off of Blackmore Avenue would remain 
and the Fire Marshall commented in regards to fire access.  Parking complies with the 
zoning ordinance with twenty-two (22) spaces and one (1) barrier-free space.  Ms. 
Masson-Minock stated the applicant proposed adding ten (10) LED lights in the addition 
which complies with the zoning ordinance.  The applicant proposed adding six (6) five 
(5) foot tall Colorado blue spruce trees to screen the storage yard from Blackmore 
Avenue and an eight (8) foot wide strip of river rock surrounding the building as an 



Charter Township Of Ypsilanti 
Planning Commission Regular Meeting Minutes 
March 27, 2018 
Page 2 
 
infiltration trench for roof drainage.  Ms. Masson-Minock said that in Carlisle Wortman’s 
letter to the applicant they said the river rock needed to be replaced with appropriate 
landscape material.  The applicant proposed to maintain the existing six (6) foot tall 
barbed-wire on chain-link fence.  Ms. Masson-Minock stated barbed-wire is prohibited 
except where for the purpose of protecting public safety, the Planning Commission can 
approve.  Ms. Masson-Minock said the applicant brought a colored version of the 
building elevations to the meeting since one was missing from the packet.  The primary 
building materials would match the existing building materials and it meets the zoning 
requirements.   
 
Ms. Masson-Minock stated Carlisle Wortman’s recommendations are for the 
Commission to make a decision about the barbed-wire fence and based on that 
decision they recommend the preliminary site plan be approved conditionally on 
receiving colored building elevations and that the following items be resubmitted as part 
of the final site plan approval: show stripped barrier-free parking space, replace river 
rock with appropriate landscaping, provide fixture cut sheets for lighting, clarify trash 
storage and pick up and if an exterior dumpster is proposed it needs to be screened 
behind a wall and either removing or allowing the barbed-wire on chain-linked fence.   
 
Michael Pole, general contractor for B&B General Contracting provided the colored 
elevation to the Planning Commission.  He stated the color sample provided is part of 
the pre-engineered steel building in medium gray.  The color is similar to the storage 
building that is being relocated and the existing building’s siding will be color-matched to 
the gray.   
 
Commissioner Krieg requested clarification on the floor plan sheet A2.01 and the room 
labeled Blast Room.   
 
Christopher Barz, Kalitta Air stated the Blast Room is where paint finish is removed for 
the wheel assemblies of aircraft.    
 
A motion was made by Commissioner Eldridge, supported by Commissioner 
Sinkule to recommend preliminary site plan approval for construction of a 12,000 
square foot addition to an existing 12,000 square foot building located at 10990 
Blackmore Avenue, Parcel K-11-25-100-028 with the following conditions:  
 

The applicant must obtain all necessary permits from the Office of 
Community Standards. 

 
 Show the striped barrier-free parking space  
 
 Replace river rock with appropriate landscaping  
 
 Provide fixture cut sheets  
 

Clarify trash storage and pick up and if an exterior dumpster is proposed 
the dumpster shall be screen with a masonry wall that will match the 
building 
 
Continued use of barbed-wire fence as-is.   

 
At this point Mr. Barz stated they would remove the barbed-wire fence and screen the 
dumpster in front of the building but would like to keep the river rock as it is uniform with 
the rest of their buildings.   
 
Ms. Masson-Minock said there is nothing in the zoning ordinance that says a building 
has to be landscaped in that way.  She said it does not create a problem with 
precedence.   
 
Commissioner Eldridge, supported by Commissioner Sinkule made the following 
changes to the above conditions:  
 



Charter Township Of Ypsilanti 
Planning Commission Regular Meeting Minutes 
March 27, 2018 
Page 3 
 

Leave river rock as in currently in place 
 
Remove barbed-wire on chain-linked fence  

 
The motion carried as follows:  
 
Richie: Yes     Krieg: Yes     Eldridge: Yes     Sinkule: Yes     Peterson: Yes      
 

B. REZONING – B-3 TO IRO – 1250 EAST MICHIGAN AVENUE – TO CONSIDER 
RECOMMENDING TO THE TOWNSHIP BOARD OF TRUSTEES TO REZONE 
THE 1.424 ACRE PARCEL FROM B-3 (GENERAL BUSINESS) TO IRO 
(INDUSTRIAL RESEARCH OFFICE) LOCATED AT 1250 EAST MICHIGAN 
AVENUE, PARCEL K-11-10-107-011.  

 
Ms. Megan-Minock stated the Master Plan designates the site for Urban Commercial 
Corridor which generally corresponds to P-1, RM-4, B-4, B-5 and B-6.  She said B-4 
through B-6 are not zoning options anymore and were removed beginning March 1, 
2018.  The parcel is currently a vacant commercial building and was previously an 
automotive parts shop.  The proposed use is for professional engineering offices that 
validate electronic components such as airbag sensors.  Ms. Masson-Minock stressed 
to the Commission that the decision would impact all other businesses zoned IRO.  She 
said the surrounding parcels were zoned B-3 and multi-family residential.   
 
Ms. Masson-Minock stated section 2704 in the zoning ordinance provides the criteria for 
the amendment of the zoning map and discussed the criteria.  She said the request for 
rezoning is not consistent with the future land use map.  The site is already developed 
and does not pose a risk to the environment.  The applicant has a very specific 
business and identified the building as one they could reuse immediately.  Ms. Masson-
Minock said Carlisle Wortman does not believe surrounding businesses would be 
negatively impacted by rezoning as all business would be conducted inside the building.  
 
Ms. Masson-Minock read the intent of the IRO district and asked the Commission to 
keep it in mind when making their decision.   
 
Ms. Masson-Minock said Carlisle Wortman believed the utilities and streets were 
sufficient for the proposed business.  She said the American Center for Mobility has 
increased the demand for supporting industries in the area and research facilities of the 
size that the applicant needs are limited.  The building is 6, 871 square feet with an 
elevated loading dock and is suited for automotive research.  She said most of the 
vacant buildings in the industrial district were set up for large scale manufacturing work 
and were 100,000 square feet or more.   
 
Ms. Masson-Minock said the property meets the dimensional regulations for IRO with 
the exception of a twenty (20) foot side yard setback.  She said no variance would be 
needed because it is an existing building built in a conforming way even if the zoning 
changes.   
 
Denny McLain, Township Attorney confirmed that no variance would be needed.   
 
Ms. Masson-Minock said that IRO would be the most appropriate zoning district if this 
parcel were to be rezoned and with changing circumstances and the Township’s future 
vision it makes the most sense.   
 
Ms. Masson-Minock stated Carlisle Wortman’s recommendation is that the Commission 
make a finding that circumstances have changed and the Urban Commercial Corridor is 
outdated as well as recommend approval to the Township Board.  She said there were 
two (2) suggested motions: to approve or deny.   
 
The applicant stated his current office is in Plymouth, Michigan and he would like his 
office to be in Ypsilanti because he also lives here.   
 
Commissioner Eldridge asked Mr. McLain if it would be a spot zoning.   



Charter Township Of Ypsilanti 
Planning Commission Regular Meeting Minutes 
March 27, 2018 
Page 4 
 
 
Mr. McLain said that based on research he believed the Township could defend any 
challenge that it was being spot zoned.   
 
Commissioner Eldridge asked what could happen if the Planning Commission approved 
this request but then rejected the next applicant requesting re-zoning to IRO.   
 
Mr. McLain replied that every case rested on its own basis.   
 
Commissioner Krieg stated he was okay with the change and creating a zone for the 
American Center for Mobility.  He believed it important to look at the context and be 
clear why the Commission made the decision.  He brought up two (2) issues, the first 
regarding the type of activity that would take place inside the building.  Commissioner 
Krieg said the applicant believed his business would not be allowed in a commercial 
zoned building.  He asked the difference between testing sensors and other computer 
use and why it would not fit.   
 
The applicant said he believed IRO better reflected the nature of their business and 
would allow continuous growth of activities.  He said IRO specifically mentioned testing 
and lab and that is what his company does.  He stated he wants to follow the zoning 
code and believed that the company would if zoned IRO and wanted to avoid future 
misinterpretation.  The applicant said that the activities include engineering and 
physical, mechanical, environmental and electrical testing.  He said it would be difficult 
to forecast what the testing would look like in five (5) years but believed IRO would 
cover what they did.   
 
Commissioner Krieg said his other issue is the time-frame for rezoning the East 
Michigan/Ecorse areas and what the impact would be on this particular case.   
 
Ms. Masson-Minock replied currently the Township is going through a corridor planning 
process that needs to be complete by end of May 2018 and put in place summer 2018.  
Zoning changes would occur afterwards and with the Master Plan update in 2019 she 
said the process could begin this year.  She stated the applicant’s business would fit 
based on what has been discussed and if it succeeds it could act as a pilot project for 
future zoning applications.   
 
Commissioner Eldridge asked what the Plymouth property is zoned.   
 
The applicant stated he does not know.   
 
Commissioner Eldridge asked if the fire code would change in the rezoned building in 
the Township based on what the applicant would be doing.   
 
Ms. Masson-Minock stated she did not believe so but it would be up to the Fire 
Department.  In order to occupy the building the applicant would need to file a change of 
use and at that time the Fire Department would assess.   
 
The applicant clarified the types of testing and stated environmental testing referred to 
the use of a refrigerator where the part would be cooled down and an oven to heat it up.  
He stated the appliances were the same types found in any residential kitchen.   
 
Commissioner Eldridge asked why there was no report from Carlisle Wortman.   
 
Ms. Masson-Minock replied that there has not been a rezoning request since Charlotte 
Wilson was hired at the Township.  She said Ms. Wilson did send a letter to her for 
review but due to their schedules there was not enough time to compile a report.   
 
Michael Radzik, OCS Director addressed the building code issues.  He stated at the 
time a change of use application was filed the Building Department’s inspectors would 
tour the building.  Any changes or violations would be required to be completed prior to 
occupancy.   
 



Charter Township Of Ypsilanti 
Planning Commission Regular Meeting Minutes 
March 27, 2018 
Page 5 
 
Commissioner Sinkule asked the applicant how long his company has been in 
Plymouth.  
 
The applicant replied since 2005.   
 
Commissioner Sinkule asked how the business has fared.   
 
The applicant replied very well but he wants to be near the American Center for 
Mobility.  
 
Commissioner Sinkule asked the applicant if he leased the building in Plymouth. 
 
The applicant confirmed.   
 
A motion was made by Commissioner Eldridge to recommend approval to the 
Township Board of Trustees the request to rezone the 1.424 acre parcel from B-3 
(General Business) to IRO (Industrial Research Office) located at 1250 East 
Michigan Avenue, Parcel K-11-10-107-011 as the request is consistent with the 
criteria established in the Township zoning ordinance section 2704: Criteria for 
Amendments to the Zoning Map; and is also consistent with the changing Master 
Plan.   
 
Ms. Masson-Minock suggested an amendment: Criteria for Amendments to the 
Zoning Map and is consistent with the finding that circumstances have 
significantly changed since 2014, specifically the opening of the American Center 
for Mobility and the proposed changes in zoning districts.   
 
Commissioner Eldridge repeated the amendment and added: and the elimination 
of the B-4 and other districts.   
 
Commissioner Krieg supported as amended.   
 
The motion passed unanimously.   
 
6. OLD BUSINESS  
 
None  
 
6. NEW BUSINESS 
 
None  
 
7. OPEN DISCUSSION FOR ISSUES NOT ON THE AGENDA 
 

A. CORRESPONDENCE RECEIVED 
 
Ms. Masson-Minock said the Commissioners have the latest publication from Michigan 
Association of Planning on their desks.   
 

B. PLANNING COMMISSION MEMBERS 
 
None 
 

C. MEMBERS OF THE AUDIENCE 
 
None  
 
8. TOWNSHIP BOARD REPRESENTATIVE REPORT 
 
There was no report. 

 
9. ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS REFPRESENTATIVE REPORT 



Charter Township Of Ypsilanti 
Planning Commission Regular Meeting Minutes 
March 27, 2018 
Page 6 
 
 
There was no report.   
 
10. TOWNSHIP ATTORNEY REPORT 
 
There was no attorney report. 
 
11. PLANNING DEPARTMENT REPORT 
 
Mr. Radzik updated current projects.  He said Restaurant Depot is having a pre-
construction meeting on Tuesday April 3, 2017 and may have begun site clearing.   
 
Fairfield Inn is close to receiving their Certificate of Occupancy and should open spring 
2018.   
 
Hampton Inn is in the second round of preliminary site plan review.  It will be across the 
street from Fairfield Inn.   
 
Mr. Radzik said he is expecting another preliminary site plan for a third hotel at 800 
South Hewitt Road in the upcoming weeks.   
 
Mr. Radzik said the Township has had numerous inquiries on vacant land for single-
family and multi-family construction.   
 

12. OTHER BUSINESS 
 

There was no other business. 
 

A motion was made by a Commissioner Peterson, supported by Commissioner 
Krieg to adjourn the meeting. The motion carried unanimously.   
 
The meeting was adjourned at approximately 7:20 p.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Laura Gough 
OCS Clerk  
 
Recommended for approval as edited  
Laurence Krieg, Secretary 
Planning Commission 
 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
 

OFFICE OF COMMUNITY STANDARDS 
 

Building Safety • Planning & Zoning • Ordinance Enforcement • Police Services 
 
 

Staff Report 
Petition to Rezone Real Property 

1250 East Michigan Avenue 
March 27, 2018 

 
CASE LOCATION AND SUMMARY 
A petition has been filed with the Office of Community Standards requesting to consider 
recommending to the Township Board of Trustees to rezone the 1.424 acre parcel from B-3 
(General Business) to IRO (Industrial Research Office) located at 1250 East Michigan Avenue, 
parcel K-11-10-107-011. 
 
APPLICANT 
Carlos Gutierrez Martinez 
775 Davis Street, Suite #4  
Plymouth, MI 48170 
 
CROSS REFERENCES 
Zoning Ordinance citations: 
• Article XXVII; Section 2701 – Changes and Amendments 
• Article XIII; Section 1300 – IRO Industrial, Research and Office District 
 
SUBJECT SITE USE, ZONING AND COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
The Comprehensive Plan designates this site for Urban Commercial Corridor which corresponds 
to the following zoning districts: P-1, RM-5, B-4, B-5, and B-6. The subject property is currently 
zoned B-3, general business.  The parcel is currently a vacant commercial building, previously an 
automotive parts shop. 
 
The proposed use is for professional engineering offices validating electrical components (airbag 
sensors, radios, ect.). Equipment for testing is used in an office environment, generally within 
cubicles. 
 
On November 3rd, 2017, a zoning verification letter was written stating that the proposed use is 
permitted if the principal use remained office space for the engineering firm. The applicant was 
concerned that their business would be primarily data collection of automotive parts with office 
space as an accessory use. 
 

  



1250 East Michigan Avenue Rezoning  
March 27th, 2018 
 
Aerial – 1250 East Michigan Avenue 

 
  
Google Maps – 1250 East Michigan Avenue 

 
 
 



1250 East Michigan Avenue Rezoning  
March 27th, 2018 
 
ADJACENT USES, ZONING AND COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
Direction Use Zoning Master Plan 
North Commercial B-3 Urban Commercial Corridor 
South Railroad / Multiple-Family Residential N/A / RM-2 N/A / MFR-2 
East Commercial B-3 Urban Commercial 

Corridor 
West Commercial B-3 Urban Commercial 

Corridor 
 
ANALYSIS 
Section 2704 of the Zoning Ordinance provides criteria for amendment of the zoning map. This 
review is based on those rezoning criteria and the most recent Master Plan update. 
 
a. Consistency with the goals, policies and future land use map of the Charter Township of 

Ypsilanti Master Plan, including any sub-area or corridor plans. If conditions have changed 
since the master plan was adopted, the rezoning may be found to be consistent with recent 
development trends in the area. 

 
• The requested rezoning is not consistent with the Future Land Use Map of the 

Township Master Plan which recommends “Urban Commercial Corridor” uses for the 
subject properties. However, the zoning districts which correspond with Urban 
Commercial Corridor (B-4, B-5, B-6) were removed from the zoning ordinance in 
March 2018. Conditions have changed since the Master Plan was updated in 2014. The 
American Center for Mobility is changing the economic landscape of the Township, 
attracting supporting research businesses that are vital for its success. This rezoning 
request is consistent with the goals stated in the Plan. 
 

• With a grant from the University of Michigan, Carlisle/Wortman Associates is 
undergoing a corridor study of East Michigan Avenue (along with Ecorse Road). While 
this is in the public discussion phases, there has been general agreement and no direct 
opposition to date.  
 

• Excerpt from 2014 Master Plan Update: Urban Commercial Corridor: Michigan 
Avenue. This corridor is the primary eastern gateway into and out of the City of 
Ypsilanti. This corridor contains more intense commercial activity and uses, but is 
developed in a typical suburban style with large setbacks and lot areas. Adjacent uses 
are more intense than Ecorse, including larger industrial development (especially 
toward the east), in addition to single-family and multi-family housing. There has been 
more recent development along this corridor, so by leveraging this development into a 
unified corridor typology, the Township can increase density, activity and promote the 
area as a major gateway. 

 
b. Compatibility of the site's physical, geological, hydrological and other environmental features 

with all uses permitted in the proposed zoning district compared to uses permitted under 
current zoning. 
 



1250 East Michigan Avenue Rezoning  
March 27th, 2018 
 

• There is no evidence indicating that the site contains any environmental features that 
would restrict development under either the current or proposed zoning designations. 

 
c. Evidence the applicant cannot receive a reasonable return on investment through developing 

the property with at least one of the uses permitted under the current zoning. 
 

• The current facility located in Plymouth is looking for a more suitable location for their 
business. The applicant will likely receive a reasonable return on investment with a 
commercial use but this is not central to the business. The principal research aspects of 
the proposed use would not be allowed without the requested zoning amendment.   
 

d. The compatibility of all uses permitted in the proposed zoning district with surrounding uses 
and zoning in terms of land suitability, impacts on the environment, density, nature of use, 
traffic impacts, aesthetics, infrastructure and potential influence on property values compared 
to uses permitted under current zoning. 
 

• As the proposed IRO zoning designation prohibits the outdoor storage of goods or 
materials, the impact to any neighboring property will be limited.  The properties to the 
east, west, and north are commercial properties and would not be affected by the 
rezoning. The property immediately to the south is railroad, followed by multiple 
family residential. All IRO use activity must be within an enclosed building and the 
uses would have minimal impact on surrounding properties. 
 

e. The capacity of township utilities and services are sufficient to accommodate all the uses 
permitted in the requested district without compromising the health, safety and welfare of the 
township. 
 

• Public water and sewer and other necessary utilities are available in this area to serve 
the site.  
 

f. The capacity of the street system to safely and efficiently accommodate the expected traffic 
generated by uses permitted in the requested zoning district. A traffic impact study in 
accordance with the requirements of the township traffic impact study ordinance shall be 
provided if the proposed rezoning district permits uses that could generate 100 or more 
directional trips during the peak hour, or at least 1,000 more trips per day than the majority 
of the uses that could be developed under the current zoning, as determined by the community 
and economic development department. 
 

• A traffic impact study was not required for this proposal due to a negligible change in 
traffic which is far less than the 100 peak hour trips noted by the ordinance to require 
a traffic impact study. 

 
g. The apparent demand for the types of uses permitted in the requested zoning district in the 

township, and surrounding area, in relation to the amount of land in the township, and 
surrounding area, currently zoned and available to accommodate the demand. 
 



1250 East Michigan Avenue Rezoning  
March 27th, 2018 
 

• The American Center for Mobility is increasing demand for supporting industries in 
the surrounding area. Existing facilities of this size for office research operations are 
limited. The existing 6,871 square foot building with an elevated loading dock is suited 
for re-use to an automotive research use. Most vacant buildings in the industrial zoning 
districts are set up for larger scale manufacturing work.  An automotive research site 
of the nature proposed does not need 100,000 square feet or more of space. 
 

•  The B-3 zoning designation also would not permit the existing use by a matter of right 
or special land use.  The proposed rezoning would resolve this issue. 

 
h. The boundaries of the requested zoning district are sufficient to meet the dimensional 

regulations for the zoning district listed in Article XX Schedule of Regulations. 
 

• The property meets the dimensional requirements as noted within the schedule of 
regulations, except for the west side setback. IRO requires a setback of 20 feet. The 
current facility has a west side setback of 10 feet. 

 
i. If a rezoning is appropriate, the requested zoning district shall be more appropriate from the 

township's perspective than another zoning district. 
 

•  The proposed IRO zoning is more appropriate than other zoning districts which would 
allow the same use, such as I-1.  The intent of the IRO district is to be the least intense 
of industrial zoning districts. No outdoor storage is permitted and all activities must 
remain within enclosed buildings. The IRO zoning district ensures the compatibility 
between the operations and activities of businesses and character of the neighborhood 
in which the center is located 

 
j.  The requested rezoning will not create an isolated and unplanned spot zone. 
 

• The requested IRO zoning on this site would be consistent with surrounding land uses. 
The land uses permitted in IRO are harmonious with B-3 uses and Master Plan 
description of the Urban Commercial Corridor.  

 
k.  The request has not previously been submitted within the past one year, unless conditions have 

changed or new information has been provided. 
 

• A rezoning request has not been considered on this site within the past year. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
The recent changes to the zoning ordinance and economic landscape of the Township deem the 
Urban Commercial Corridor future land use category as outdated. After reviewing the uses 
permitted by right and special use in IRO and B-3, the uses in IRO ensure the compatibility 
between the operations and activities of businesses and character of the neighborhood in which the 
center is located.  The intent of the B-3 general business district is designed to provide sites for 
more diversified business types which would often be incompatible with the pedestrian movement 
in the local business district or the community business district.  



1250 East Michigan Avenue Rezoning  
March 27th, 2018 
 
 
This request requires the Planning Commission to make a recommendation to the Township Board. 
Therefore, it is the recommendation of staff that the Planning Commission approve a motion to 
recommend approval to the Township Board.    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Suggested Motions: The following suggested motions are intended to assist the Commission in 
making the desired motion of their choice.  The Commission may utilize, add or reject any motion 
and/or conditions suggested herein as they deem appropriate. 
 
Motion to approve: 
 
“I move to recommend approval to the Township Board of Trustees the request to rezone the 1.424 
acre parcel from B-3 (General Business) to IRO (Industrial Research Office) located at 1250 East 
Michigan Avenue, parcel K-11-10-107-011 as the request is consistent with the criteria established 
in the Township Zoning Ordinance Section 2704, criteria for amendments to the zoning map.” 
 
Motion to deny: 
 
“I move to recommend denial to the Township Board of Trustees the request to rezone the 1.424 
acre parcel from B-3 (General Business) to IRO (Industrial Research Office) located at 1250 East 
Michigan Avenue, parcel K-11-10-107-011 as the request is inconsistent with the criteria 
established in the Township Zoning Ordinance Section 2704, criteria for amendments to the zoning 
map: 
 

1. _____________________________________________________________________ 
 
2. _____________________________________________________________________ 
 
3. _____________________________________________________________________” 

 
 
Respectfully submitted, 

Charlotte Wilson 
Charlotte Wilson 
Planning and Development Coordinator 





























7200 S. Huron River Drive  •  Ypsilanti, MI  48197  •  (734) 485-3943 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
OFFICE OF COMMUNITY STANDARDS 

 

Building Safety • Planning & Zoning • Ordinance Enforcement 

TO: James F. Berkemeier and Carlos Gutierrez 

FROM: Charlotte Wilson, Planning and Development Coordinator 

DATE: November 3, 2017 

SUBJECT: 1250 East Michigan Avenue 

The property at 1250 East Michigan Avenue, parcel K-11-10-107-011, is zoned B-3, General 
Business.  

The proposed use is for professional engineering offices validating electrical components (airbag 
sensors, radios, ect.). Equipment for testing is used in an office environment, generally within 
cubicles. Offices for professional occupations are a principal permitted use of B-3 in Section 801.1 
of the zoning ordinance.  

Sincerely, 

Charlotte Wilson 
Charlotte Wilson 
Planning and Development Coordinator 



�������� �	
�����������������
��	����
��������������������� �!�����"�


���

#$%$&$'$($)$*$+$,$#-$##$#%$
#$ .$/$0$1$2$3$%$ .$/$0$1$ 4#54%5

6789:;<�=999$�>�97?�9@ABC8796;�7<C<67:D�?EE9:<�A9C879:8�C20$�#&--$�>�9FG2FGH8I2�97?�JF1KLGMJ.N�M2L2.M0I�OP02�1JLGMJ0GL�JL�LO�12LJQF21�.L�GO�RMOSJ12�3OM�.�T0OUUKFJGV�O3�OP02W�M2L2.M0I�.F1�JF1KLGMJ.N�3.0JNJGJ2L$T�8I2�97?�JF1KLGMJ.N�M2L2.M0I�OP021JLGMJ0GL�.M2�12LJQF21�GO�2FLKM2�GI2�0OUR.GJ/JNJGV�/2GX22F�GI2�OR2M.GJOFL�GI2M2JF�.F1�GI2�.0GJSJGJ2L�.F1�0I.M.0G2M�O3�GI2�F2JQI/OMIOO1�JF�XIJ0I�GI2�02FG2M�JL�NO0.G21$�8I21JLGMJ0G�JL�2LG./NJLI21�GO�2F0OKM.Q2�KL2L�XIJ0I�I.S2�.�IJQI�S.NK2�R2M�.0M2�O3�N.F1�GI.G�XJNN�LKRRN2U2FG�GI2�GOXFLIJRYL�G.Z�/.L2$C20$�#&-#$�>�[MJF0JR.N�KL2L�R2MUJGG21H9F�.F�97?�JF1KLGMJ.N�M2L2.M0I�OP02�1JLGMJ0GW�FO�/KJN1JFQ�OM�N.F1�LI.NN�/2�KL21�.F1�FO�/KJN1JFQ�LI.NN�/2�2M20G21�2Z02RG�3OM�OF2�OM�UOM2�O3�GI2�3ONNOXJFQ�LR20J\21�KL2LKFN2LL�OGI2MXJL2�RMOSJ121�JF�GIJL�OM1JF.F02H6FV�KL2�0I.MQ21�XJGI�GI2�RMJF0JR.N�3KF0GJOF�O3�/.LJ0�M2L2.M0IW�12LJQF�.F1�RJNOG�OM�2ZR2MJU2FG.N�RMO1K0G�12S2NORU2FG$?P02�/KJN1JFQL�3OM�.FV�O3�GI2�3ONNOXJFQ�O00KR.GJOFLH�2Z20KGJS2W�.1UJFJLGM.GJS2W�RMO32LLJOF.NW�.00OKFGJFQW�XMJGJFQW�0N2MJ0.NW�LG2FOQM.RIJ0W�1M.3GJFQ�.F1L.N2L$A.G.�RMO02LLJFQ�.F1�0OURKG2M�02FG2MLW�JF0NK1JFQ�L2MSJ02�.F1�U.JFG2F.F02�O3�2N20GMOFJ0�1.G.�RMO02LLJFQ�2]KJRU2FG$.̂F_LW�0M21JG�KFJOFLW�L.SJFQL�.F1�NO.F�.LLO0J.GJOFL$DOLRJG.NLW�0NJFJ0L�.F1�U21J0.N�OP02L̀�U21J0.N�N./OM.GOMJ2L$aOG2NL�OM�IOG2NL$6LL2U/NV�I.NNLW�1JLRN.V�I.NNLW�0OFS2FGJOF�02FG2M�OM�LJUJN.M�RN.02L�O3�.LL2U/NV�XI2F�0OF1K0G21�0OURN2G2NV�XJGIJF�2F0NOL21�/KJN1JFQL$[OLG�OP02L$CG.G2>NJ02FL21�M2LJ12FGJ.N�0IJN1�.F1�.1KNG�0.M2�3.0JNJGJ2L�.L�RMOSJ121�3OM�JF�L20GJOF�%#%%$?GI2M�KL2L�LJUJN.M�GO�GI2�./OS2�KL2L$aKFJ0JR.N�/KJN1JFQL�.F1�KL2L$6002LLOMV�LGMK0GKM2L�.F1�KL2L�0KLGOU.MJNV�JF0J12FG�GO�GI2�./OS2�R2MUJGG21�KL2L$4?M1$�@O$�,,>%-(W�&>#)>,,5C20$�#&-%$�>�BL2L�R2MUJGG21�LK/b20G�GO�LR20J.N�0OF1JGJOFLH8I2�3ONNOXJFQ�KL2L�U.V�/2�R2MUJGG21�KROF�GI2�QM.FGJFQ�O3�.�R2MUJG�3OM�LK0I�KL2�/V�GI2�RN.FFJFQ�0OUUJLLJOF�LK/b20G�GO�GI2�0OF1JGJOFL�I2M2JF.3G2M�JUROL21�3OM�2.0IKL2W�.F1�LK/b20G�3KMGI2M�GO�LK0I�OGI2M�0OF1JGJOFL�XIJ0IW�JF�GI2�ORJFJOF�O3�GI2�0OUUJLLJOFW�.M2�F202LL.MV�GO�RMOSJ12�.12]K.G2�RMOG20GJOF�GO�GI2�F2JQI/OMIOO1�.F1�GO./KGGJFQ�RMOR2MGJ2L�.F1�LK/b20G�3KMGI2M�GO�.�RK/NJ0�I2.MJFQ�I2N1�JF�.00OM1�XJGI�L20$�%&-,�.F1�3KMGI2M�LI.NN�/2�M2SJ2X21�.L�RMOSJ121�JF�L20$�%##,H6FV�O3�GI2�3ONNOXJFQ�JF1KLGMJ.N�KL2L�XI2F�0OF1K0G21�XIONNV�XJGIJF�.�0OURN2G2NV�2F0NOL21�/KJN1JFQH8I2�U.FK3.0GKM2W�0OUROKF1JFQW�RMO02LLJFQW�R.0_.QJFQ�OM�GM2.GU2FG�O3�LK0I�RMO1K0GL�.LH�/._2MV�QOO1LW�0.F1VW�0OLU2GJ0LW�RI.MU.02KGJ0.NLWGOJN2GMJ2LW�3OO1�RMO1K0GLW�I.M1X.M2�.F1�0KGN2MV̀�GOONW�1J2W�Q.KQ2�.F1�U.0IJF2�LIORL$8I2�U.FK3.0GKM2W�0OUROKF1JFQW�.LL2U/NJFQ�OM�GM2.GU2FG�O3�.MGJ0N2L�OM�U2M0I.F1JL2�3MOU�GI2�3ONNOXJFQ�RM2SJOKLNV�RM2R.M21�U.G2MJ.NLH�/OF2W0.FS.LW�02NNORI.F2W�0NOGIW�0OM_W�32.GI2MLW�32NGW�\/2MW�3KMW�QN.LLW�I.JMW�IOMFW�N2.GI2MW�R.R2MW�RN.LGJ0LW�RM20JOKL�OM�L2UJRM20JOKL�U2G.NL�OM�LGOF2LWLI22GU2G.N�42Z0NK1JFQ�N.MQ2�LG.URJFQ�LK0I�.LH�.KGOUO/JN2�32F12ML�OM�/O1J2L5W�LI2NNW�G2ZGJN2LW�GO/.00OW�X.ZW�XJM2W�XOO1�42Z0NK1JFQ�L.X�.F1�RN.FJFQUJNNL5�.F1�V.MFL$8I2�U.FK3.0GKM2�O3�ROGG2MV�.F1�\QKMJF2L�OM�OGI2M�LJUJN.M�02M.UJ0�RMO1K0GL�KLJFQ�OFNV�RM2SJOKLNV�RKNS2MJc21�0N.VW�.F1�_JNFL�\M21�OFNV�/V�2N20GMJ0JGVOM�Q.L$a.FK3.0GKM2�O3�UKLJ0.N�JFLGMKU2FGLW�GOVLW�FOS2NGJ2L�.F1�U2G.N�OM�MK//2M�LG.URLW�OM�OGI2M�LU.NN�UON121�MK//2M�RMO1K0GL$a.FK3.0GKM2�OM�.LL2U/NV�O3�2N20GMJ0.N�.RRNJ.F02LW�2N20GMOFJ0�JFLGMKU2FGL�.F1�12SJ02LW�M.1JOL�.F1�RIOFOQM.RIL$;./OM.GOMJ2LW�2ZR2MJU2FG.NW�\NU�OM�G2LGJFQ$72G.JN�.F1�L2MSJ02�KL2L�U.V�/2�R2MUJGG21�JF�/KJN1JFQL�XIJ0I�2Z0221�OF2�LGOMV�JF�I2JQIG�.L�L20OF1.MV�KL2L�GO�GI2�RMJF0JR.N�R2MUJGG21�OP02�KL2LJF0NK121�JF�R.M.QM.RIL�#�GIMOKQI�(�O3�L20$�#&-#�./OS2H72G.JN�/KLJF2LL2L�OM�L2MSJ02�2LG./NJLIU2FGL$[2MLOF.N�L2MSJ02�2LG./NJLIU2FGLW�LK0I�.L�/KG�FOG�NJUJG21�GOH�M2R.JM�LIORL�4X.G0I2LW�M.1JOW�G2N2SJLJOFW�LIO2W�2G0$5W�G.JNOM�LIORLW�/2.KGV�R.MNOML�OM/.M/2MLIORLW�N.KF1MJ2L�OM�1MV�0N2.F2MLW�RMJFGJFQ�OM�RIOGOQM.RIJ0�M2RMO1K0GJOFW�RIOGOQM.RIJ0W�.MG�OM�JFG2MJOM�120OM.GJFQ�LGK1JOL$8I2.G2MLW�/OXNJFQ�.NN2VLW�/JNNJ.M1�I.NNLW�I2.NGI�L.NOFL�OM�LJUJN.M�3OMUL�O3�JF1OOM�M20M2.GJOF$72LG.KM.FGL�OM�OGI2M�RN.02L�L2MSJFQ�3OO1�.F1�/2S2M.Q2LW�/KG�FOG�JF0NK1JFQ�1MJS2>JFW�3.LG>3OO1W�0.MMV>OKG�OM�1MJS2>GIMOKQI�M2LG.KM.FGL�.F1�LK/b20G3KMGI2M�GO�GI2�3ONNOXJFQ�0OF1JGJOFLHCK0I�KL2L�LI.NN�/2�NO0.G21�XJGIJF�.F�OP02�LGMK0GKM2�OM�UOG2N�/KJN1JFQ�OM�LI.NN�/2�NO0.G21�JF�.�3M22LG.F1JFQ�/KJN1JFQ�XJGIJF�GI2�97?�1JLGMJ0G�LO.L�GO�/2�.1b.02FG�GO�.�KL2�12LJQF.G21�.L�/2JFQ�.NNOX21�JF�L20$�#&-#W�R.M.QM.RIL�%W�&W�'W�(W�)W�OM�*$CK0I�KL2�LI.NN�/2�RN.FF21�.L�.�R.MG�O3�.F�OS2M.NN�RN.F�3OM�12S2NORU2FG�O3�FOG�N2LL�GI.F�&-�.0M2L�.F1�LI.NN�/2�R.MG�O3�.�L2MSJ02�2LG./NJLIU2FG0OURN2Z�3OM�LK0I�12S2NORU2FG$



�������� �	
�����������������
��	����
��������������������� �!�����"�


���

#$%#&%'()($(&( *(+(,(-(.(/(0(1(

23,4�35.5�54*66�,789:;5.�<7=�87:.�=4*<�)>�9.:,.<=�7?�=4.�6*<-�*:.*�7?�*<�7@.:*66�-.@.6798.<=(A4.�67,*=;7<�7?�53,4�35.5�54*66�+.�.5=*+6;54.-�*=�=4.�=;8.�7?�5;=.�96*<�:.@;.B�*<-�*99:7@*6�?7:�=4.�=7=*6�-.@.6798.<=�,7896.C(2.,(�'$>$(�D�E.F3;:.-�,7<-;=;7<5GA4.�73=-77:�5=7:*H.�7?�H77-5�7:�8*=.:;*65�54*66�+.�9:74;+;=.-(I<J�35.�.5=*+6;54.-�;<�=4.�KEL�-;5=:;,=�54*66�+.�79.:*=.-�57�*5�=7�,7896J�B;=4�=4.�9.:?7:8*<,.�5=*<-*:-5�5.=�?7:=4�4.:.;<*?=.:�;<�5.,(�)')>(I66�35.5�54*66�:.,.;@.�5;=.�96*<�:.@;.B�*<-�*99:7@*6�+J�=4.�96*<<;<H�,788;55;7<�9:;7:�=7�=4.�;553*<,.�7?�*<J�+3;6-;<H�9.:8;=(LMD5=:..=�67*-;<H�54*66�+.�9:7@;-.-�;<�*,,7:-*<,.�B;=4�=4.�?7667B;<H�5,4.-36.GN7:�7O,.�+3;6-;<H5�7?�6.55�=4*<�'>>P>>>�5F3*:.�?..=�;<�H:755�Q77:�*:.*P�*=�6.*5=�7<.�67*-;<H�59*,.P�5.9*:*=.�?:78�7MD5=:..=�9*:R;<HP�54*66�+.�9:7@;-.-;<�=4.�:.*:�7:�5;-.�J*:-�7<6J(N7:�7O,.�+3;6-;<H5�7?�'>>P>>>�5F3*:.�?..=�;<�H:755�Q77:�*:.*�7:�87:.P�*=�6.*5=�7<.�67*-;<H�59*,.�B;=4�*�-;8.<5;7<�7?�*=�6.*5=�=.<�+J�/>�?..=�7:�/>>5F3*:.�?..=�;<�*:.*P�B;=4�,6.*:*<,.�7?�*=�6.*5=�'&�?..=�;<�4.;H4=P�;<�=4.�:.*:�7:�5;-.�J*:-�7<6J(N7:�9:;<,;9*6�35.5�9.:8;==.-�53+S.,=�=7�59.,;*6�,7<-;=;7<5P�7<.�5.9*:*=.�59*,.P�;<�*--;=;7<�=7�59*,.5�:.F3;:.-�?7:�7O,.5P�54*66�+.�9:7@;-.-�?7:�.*,45.:@;,.�.<=:*<,.�=7�=4.�5.,7<-*:J�35.5�;<�=4.�:.*:�7:�5;-.�J*:-�7<6J(N7:�;<-35=:;*6�+3;6-;<H5P�7MD5=:..=�67*-;<H�54*66�+.�9:7@;-.-�;<�*,,7:-*<,.�B;=4�5.,(�)'>0(I66�67*-;<H�*<-�3<67*-;<H�54*66�+.�9:7@;-.-�7M�5=:..=�;<�=4.�:.*:�J*:-�7:�;<�*<�;<=.:;7:�5;-.�J*:-P�*<-�;<�<7�;<5=*<,.�54*66�+.�9.:8;==.-�;<�*�?:7<=�J*:-(I66�67*-;<H�*<-�3<67*-;<H�*:.*5�54*66�+.�5,:..<.-�?:78�93+6;,�@;.B(I66�+3;6-;<H5�54*66�+.�9:7@;-.-�B;=4�T<;54.-�8*=.:;*65�7<�*66�5;-.5�.C975.-�=7�93+6;,�@;.B(�U76.�+*:<�=J9.5�7?�5=:3,=3:.5�54*66�<7=�+.�9.:8;==.-(V*:H;<*6�*,,.55�:7*-5�8*J�+.�:.F3;:.-�;<�*,,7:-�B;=4�5.,(�)''/(/(-(I<J�?*,;6;=J�9:7@;-;<H�-:;@.D=4:73H4�5.:@;,.�54*66�9:7@;-.�*�+J9*55�6*<-�W6*<.X�?7:�@.4;,6.5�<7=�3=;6;Y;<H�-:;@.D=4:73H4�?*,;6;=;.5(2.,(�'$>&(�D�I:.*�*<-�+36R�:.F3;:.8.<=5G2..�*:=;,6.�ZZP�[2,4.-36.�7?�E.H36*=;7<5[�6;8;=;<H�=4.�4.;H4=�*<-�+36R�7?�+3;6-;<H5P�=4.�8;<;838�5;Y.�7?�67=�+J�9.:8;==.-�6*<-�35.�*<-�9:7@;-;<H�8;<;838�J*:-�5.=+*,R:.F3;:.8.<=5(



 

NEW BUSINESS 

 

 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI

 2018 BUDGET AMENDMENT #9

May 15, 2018

AMOUNTS ROUNDED TO THE NEAREST DOLLAR 

101 - GENERAL OPERATIONS FUND Total Increase $870,555.00

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 101-000-000-699.000 $2,264.00

Net Revenues $2,264.00

Expenditures: Salary-Pay Out 101-201-000-708.004 $2,103.00

FICA&Medicare 101-201-000-715.000 $161.00

Net Expenditures $2,264.00

Revenues: Federal Grant 101-000-000-529.000 $130,000.00

Prior Year Fund Balance 101-000-000-699.000 $81,700.00

Net Revenues $211,700.00

Expenditures: Highway & ST-Road Construction 101-446-000-818.022 $211,700.00

Net Expenditures $211,700.00

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 101-000-000-699.000 $583,561.00

Net Revenues $583,561.00

Expenditures: Highway & ST-Road Construction 101-446-000-818.022 $583,561.00

Net Expenditures $583,561.00

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 101-000-000-699.000 $61,080.00

Net Revenues $61,080.00

Expenditures: Street Light - Construction 101-956-000-926.050 $61,080.00

Net Expenditures $61,080.00

Request to increase budget for PTO payout request over the budgeted 32 hours, an additional 40 hours for one 

employee and 80 hours for another employee to be paid out at 75%.  This will be funded by an Appropriation of 

Prior Year Fund Balance.

Request to increase the budget for a WCRC (Washtenaw County Road Commission) CDBG Project for road 

improvement on Foley Avenue. The total project is estimated at $211,700 with the CDBG grant reimbursing the 

Township for $130,000 making the total expense to the Township at $81,700. This will be funded by grant 

reimbursement of $130,000 and an Appropriation of Prior Year Fund Balance.

Request to increase the budget for a WCRC project for road improvement on Lakecrest Drive, Lakecrest Court, 

Hawthorne Avenue, Park Avenue, Gates Avenue, Tyler Road, and The Pines Subdivision.   The total road 

improvement project is $988,500 with outside matching funds of $404,939 and the estimated Township expense of 

$583,561. This will be funded by an Appropriation of Prior Year Fund Balance.

Request to increase the budget for a DTE project for the conversion of 105 Street Lights to LED throughout the 

Township.  This will be funded by an Appropriation of Prior Year Fund Balance.

1 of 3



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI

 2018 BUDGET AMENDMENT #9

May 15, 2018

101 - GENERAL OPERATIONS FUND - CONTINUED

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 101-000-000-699.000 $11,950.00

Net Revenues $11,950.00

Expenditures: Non Reoccurring R&M Civic Center 101-265-000-931.020 $11,950.00

Net Expenditures $11,950.00

206 - FIRE FUND Total Increase $400,615.00

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 206-000-000-699.000 $376,615.00

Net Revenues $376,615.00

Expenditures: Capital Outlay - Fire Station 206-970-000-976.005 $376,615.00

Net Expenditures $376,615.00

Revenues: Misc. Revenue - Insurance Reimburse 206-000-000-694.004 $24,000.00

Net Revenues $24,000.00

Expenditures: Auto & Truck Main Station 206-206-000-863.001 $10,000.00

Capital Outlay Fire Apparatus 206-970-000-979.000 $14,000.00

Net Expenditures $24,000.00

Request to increase the budget for complete reconstruction project of the lot paving, sidewalks, and curbs at the 

Fire Station on Ford Blvd. for $396,467and the professional engineering services of OHM at $49,900. The total 

project would be $446,367. There currently is $69,752 budgeted so the amount of $376,615 will be funded by an 

Appropriation of Prior Year Fund Balance.

Request to increase the budget for the purchase of an SUV for the Fire Chief. The Fire Chief already has a budget 

of $35,000 but needs an additional $14,000 for the lights and decals. The Fire Department has received a check in 

the amount of $24,000 from the City of Ypsilanti for the use of one of our fire trucks while theirs was out of 

commission.  We will use $10,000 of the check to increase the budget for the maintenance of vehicles and $14,000 

to increase the capital outlay for the SUV.  This will be funded by the  funds received from the City of Ypsilanti for 

use of our fire truck.  

Request to increase the budget for soil testing of fuel system removal at Civic Center by Innovative Environmental 

Solutions. This is for the initial testing. This will be funded by an Appropriation of Prior Year Fund Balance.

2 of 3



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI

 2018 BUDGET AMENDMENT #9

May 15, 2018

212 - BIKE, SIDEWALK, REC, ROADS GENERAL FUND (BSRII) Total Increase $10,680.00

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 212-000-000-699.000 $10,680.00

Net Revenues $10,680.00

Expenditures: Capital Outlay - Pathway 212-212-000-997.007 $10,680.00

Net Expenditures $10,680.00

236 - 14B DISTRICT COURT FUND Total Increase $5,030.00

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 236-000-000-699.000 $3,930.00

Net Revenues $3,930.00

Expenditures: Computer Programs 236-136-000-819.006 $3,930.00

Net Expenditures $3,930.00

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 236-000-000-699.000 $1,100.00

Net Revenues $1,100.00

Expenditures: Computer Programs 236-136-000-819.006 $1,100.00

Net Expenditures $1,100.00

Request to increase the budget to renew and approve a fees addendum to Memorandum of Agreement between 

Court Innovations Inc. and State Court Administrative Office. Payment of additional monthly subscription cost of 

$405.00 and set up fee of $1,500 for a total of $3,390 for the balance of 2018. This will be funded by an 

Appropriation of Prior Year Fund Balance. 

Request to increase the budget to renew 1 year RANT software annual license fee. This is an assessment tool used 

by the Court's probation department and the adult drug court grant program. This will be funded by an 

Appropriation of Prior Year Fund Balance. 

Request to increase the budget for an additional $10,680 for the Grove St Pathway Extension for professional 

engineering services of OHM.  This will be funded by an Appropriation of Prior Year Fund Balance. 

3 of 3



Motion to Amend the 2018 Budget (#9): 

 

 

 

Move to increase the General Fund budget by $870,555 to $9,905,773 and approve the 

department line item changes as outlined. 

 

Move to increase the Fire Fund budget by $400,615 to $5,583,867 and approve the 

department line item changes as outlined. 

 

Move to increase the Bike, Sidewalk, Rec, Roads, General (BSRII) Fund budget by 

$10,680 to $1,808,671 and approve the department line item changes as outlined. 

 

Move to increase the 14B District Court Fund by $5,030 to $1,984,930 and approve the 

department line item changes as outlined. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



7200 S. Huron River Drive    Ypsilanti, MI  48197    (734) 485-3943 

 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
 

OFFICE OF COMMUNITY STANDARDS 
 

Building Safety  Planning & Zoning  Ordinance Enforcement 
 

 

 
TO:   Karen Lovejoy Roe, Ypsilanti Township Clerk 
 
FROM:  Charlotte Wilson, Planning and Development Coordinator 
 
DATE:  May 8th, 2018 
 
SUBJECT:  Small Winemaker License request from Robert G. Jr. and Paula Sawitski 

at 6216 Swallow Lane 
 
 
Robert G. Jr. and Paula Sawitski at 6216 Swallow Lane are requesting local government approval for a local 
government approval in pursuit of a Small Winemaker’s License from the State of Michigan Department 
of Licensing and Regulatory Affairs Liquor Control Commission (MLCC). 
 
For the past couple of months, Mr. Robert Sawitski has been in regular contact with the Office of 
Community Standards. On Friday, April 20, 2017 we met and had a discussion of the process, procedures 
and requirements set forth by Ypsilanti Township zoning ordinance regarding 6216 Swallow Lane and 
another property, 7185 Stony Creek Road.  
 
We determined that the location at 7185 Stony Creek Road, zoned R-2, is allowed to operate as a vineyard, 
but due to zoning may not operate as a tasting room location. Their homestead at 6216 Swallow Lane, 
zoned R-2, currently has some vineyards and Robert G. Jr. and Paula Sawitski would like to produce wine 
on their property to sell online or at local farmer’s markets. The winemaking use would be accessory to 
their home and farm. No retail nor tasting room would be conducted on the premise. We believe this 
venture will not affect the surrounding properties and their character and is in accordance with the 
Ypsilanti Township Zoning Ordinance.  
 
Finally, a Small Winemaker License does not count against the Township’s allotted quota of on premise 
retail licenses.  
 
If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me. 
 
Sincerely, 

Charlotte Wilson 

Charlotte Wilson 
Planning and Development Coordinator 



From : Robert G Sawitski 
<robert_g_sawitski@huntsman.com>

Subject : Township committee mtg (May 15) - 
Small wine makers license

To : lstanfield@ytown.org
Cc : rpsawitski@yahoo.com

Zimbra lstanfield@ytown.org

Township committee mtg (May 15) - Small wine makers license

Thu, May 10, 2018 12:17 PM 

Hi Lisa,

Per our conversation yesterday, I have drafted a short summary for the committee to review regarding our request for the 
township's approval for our small wine maker license.  Hopefully this addresses your needs.  Paula and I will be there to answer 
any questions.  At this point, we will not be planning to make a presentation (due to the full agenda).  If you decide it may be 
appropriate, please let me know and we'll come prepared.

Background to request for township approval to continue pursuing a small wine makers licence:

In December, 2014, my wife and I purchased the 11.2 acre property located at 6216 Swallow Lane in Ypsilanti Township.  Being 
wine lovers and the new owners of a farm, we decided to plant 500 cold-climate grape vines on the property in the spring of 2015. 
 The soil in our area is ideal for growing grapes that can survive our cold Michigan winters.  The small vineyard produces four 
different varieties of white grapes and six different varieties of red grapes, all of which are ideal for making sweet and dry Michigan 
wines.  

Grape vines typically take two to three years to develop to the point they can support the growth of fruit.  So the first harvest from 
our vineyard occurred in the fall of 2017.  The wines made from this first harvest are developing into some very high quality wines 
based on feedback from two local commercial wine makers in Tecumseh (both of them are mentoring my wife and I in grape 
growing and wine making).  

The wines that we made last fall are for personal consumption, not for commercial sale.  We made less than the federally allowed 
200 gallons of wine per year for personal consumption.  

Our hope is that we will be able to make wine commercially from the grapes we harvest this fall.  If we are successful in keeping the 
birds at bay this growing season, our small vineyard should produce about 500 gallons of wine.  This would be more than federally 
allowed without a small wine makers license.  Receiving approval from the township is the first step in obtaining our small wine 
makers license.  If we get your approval, we can submit our application to the state and federal departments.

As a licensed small wine maker, we will produce wine at 6216 Swallow Lane and sell it at local farm markets.  Selling at farm 
markets is allowed by the state provided we obtain a farm market permit, which can only be granted after the small wine maker 
license is granted.  We will not be selling wine from our home at 6216 Swallow Lane.  

Please feel free to ask any questions.  My wife (Paula) and I will be present for the working session on May 15 as well as the vote. 
 Thanks for your consideration of our request.

Best Regards,

Bob Sawitski
Account manager
Huntsman 
+1 (734) 250-5290 (cell)

Page 1 of 2Zimbra

5/11/2018https://pluto.twp.ypsilanti.mi.us/zimbra/h/printmessage?id=91547&tz=America/New_York































 

Richard K. Carlisle, President    Douglas J. Lewan, Executive Vice President    John L. Enos, Principal 

   David Scurto, Principal   Benjamin R. Carlisle, Principal   Sally M. Elmiger, Principal    Craig Strong, Principal    R. Donald Wortman, Principal   

Laura K. Kreps, Associate     Paul Montagno, Associate 

 

 

May 1, 2018 
 

Brenda Stumbo, Supervisor 

Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk 

Larry Doe, Treasurer 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti 

7200 S. Huron River Drive 

Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

 

 

Re: Ypsilanti Township Economic Development Strategy –  

Request for Township Board Adoption 

 

 

Dear Township Board Members: 

 

I am pleased to report that we have completed the Economic Development 

Strategy report. This letter outlines the work that has been completed and the 

action which is requested. 

 

Deliverables 

 Work product has been prepared in three forms: Economic Development 

Strategy (full report), Technical Bulletins and Technical Reports.  

 

The Economic Development Strategy (full report) consists of an Executive 

Summary and five chapters: 

 

 Chapter 1 – Creating an Environment for Investment 

 Chapter 2 – Ypsilanti Township Assets 

 Chapter 3 – Ypsilanti Township Business Climate 

 Chapter 4 – Vision, Principles and Strategies 

 Chapter 5 – Implementation, Strategy and Responsibilities 

 

The Technical Bulletins are shorter and provide a summarized version of data and 

key subject matter. Technical Reports are more lengthly, presenting data and 

information in a more detailed matter. 

 

The following Technical Bulletins have been prepared: 

 



Ypsilanti Township Economic Development Strategy – Request for Township Board 

Adoption 

May 1, 2018 
 

 

 

2 
 

 Bulletin 1 – Creating an Environment for Investment 

 Bulletin 2 – Small Business is a REALLY Big Deal 

 Bulletin 3 – Environment for Retail Investment 

 Bulletin 4 – Environment for Industrial/Research Office Investment 

 Bulletin 5 – What it Means to Be Development Ready 

 Bulletin 6 – Community Engagement  

 

The following Technical Reports have been prepared: 

 

 Technical Report 1 – Retail Market Analysis 

 Technical Report 2 – Industrial Market Analysis 

 Technical Report 3 – Asset Inventory Report 

 Technical Report 4 – Township Owned Property 

 Technical Report 5 – Vacant Commercial and Industrial Properties 

 

Community Engagement 

Community engagement was an important component of the planning process 

and consisted of meeting with the Steering Committee, conducting a survey of 

business owners/managers, conducting stakeholder interviews, and holding the 

highly successful Real Estate Forum.  

 

Next Step 

The Steering Committee reviewed the final draft of the Economic Development 

Strategy at two separate meetings. Between the two Steering Committee 

meetings, we made a presentation before the Township Board in a working 

session.  

 

We are now asking for Township Board approval of the final report. We believe 

both the Economic Development Strategy along with associated documents will 

provide elected and appointed Township Officials, the new Economic 

Development Director, and Township staff with a clear blueprint for action. Thank 

you for the opportunity to assist you with this vital and exciting work. 

 

Yours Truly, 
 

 
 

 



Ypsilanti Township Economic Development Strategy – Request for Township Board 

Adoption 

May 1, 2018 
 

 

 

3 
 

Cc:  D. Heidt, Deputy County Administrator 
 
 
 



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

March 2018

Charter Township of Ypsilanti

Economic Development Strategy



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

March 2018

Page left intentionally blank



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

     March 2018 i

Executive Summary

Ypsilanti Township finds itself in a regional and 
national, if not world-wide, competition to retain and 
attract business as well as workers.  In an economy 
where driving forces are changing from industry and 
manufacturing to technology and the management 
of information, traditional economic development 
strategies of financial incentives are no longer sufficient.  
Communities must also create an environment for 
investment through attractive placemaking and cost-
effective place-based investment.    

Process
In the fall of 2017, Ypsilanti Township received a grant 
from the Washtenaw County Office of Community 
and Economic Development to create an economic 
development strategy.  Working with a consultant, the 
Township administration formed a steering committee 
of sixteen local business owners, realtors, property 
managers, economic development specialists, elected 
and appointed officials.  

The process included: 

• Asset inventory; 

• Community engagement via a survey, interviews 
and a real estate forum;

• Analysis of the investment environment for retail, 
industrial and office businesses;

• Education on the benefits of small businesses; and 

• Updates on how a  community can become ready 
for development.  

The resulting economic development strategy lays out 
a path for Ypsilanti Township to be an even better place 
to live, work and invest.

Assets and Opportunities

The Economic Development Strategy is based on the 
assets, business mix and emerging opportunities 
distinct to Ypsilanti Township.  The unique features 
of the Township - its location and quality of life - are 
important competitive advantages that need to be 
protected, nurtured, and promoted.  

While the top three employers in the Township 
are manufacturing or distribution companies with 
hundreds of employees, ninety-six percent of the 
businesses in Ypsilanti Township are small businesses 
with less than 50 employees.  These small businesses 
need an environment for investment to flourish.  

Meanwhile, the redevelopment of the Willow Run 
Factory into the Yankee Air Museum, slated to be a 
world-class destination and conference center, and 
the American Center for Mobility (ACM), a federally 
designated testing and product development facility for 
connected and automated vehicles, has changed the 
economic landscape for the Township.  Both facilities 
will bring visitors from around the nation.  ACM also 
plans to create a research campus adjacent to the 
facility.  

Ypsilanti Township plans to build on these assets, 
businesses and new investment opportunities.  

Market Demand

The strategy is sparked by market demand to support 
additional retail businesses and industrial enterprises 
in Ypsilanti Township.  Ford Lake and Interstate 94 
divide the Township into eastern and western retail 
trade areas, both of which can support more retail and 
commercial services businesses.  

On the industrial side, the vacancy rate of industrial 
building space in Ypsilanti Township is less than two 

Traditional Model of  
Economic Development

The traditional approach to economic 
development emphasized stimulating and 
partnering in the investment environment. 
This strategy presumes that the only way 
to foster economic development is through 
incentives. 

CREATING

PARTNERING STIMULATING

New Model of  
Economic Development

Current thinking is shifting towards creating 
an environment for investment through 
placemaking and place-based investment. 
This approach focuses on improving the 
community as an attractive place to invest 
time, talent and money.

CREATING

PARTNERING STIMULATING



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

     March 2018 ii

percent, consistent with trends in the metropolitan 
Detroit region.  However, the Township has 664 acres 
of vacant industrially zoned land.  With shifting demand 
from solely factory floor area to a mixture of office, 
manufacturing and warehousing under a single roof, 
the available industrial land in the Township will need 
strategic physical and aesthetic improvements.  

Vision, Principles and Strategies

The strategy also addresses structural weaknesses in the 
Township’s ability to create an investment environment 
– coordination, communication, and policies.  While a 
wealth of economic development agencies exist in 
Washtenaw County, the Township has not effectively 
tapped them.  Committing staff to collaborate across 
the web of resources as well as with neighboring 
communities is an essential implementation step.  

Investing in communications, external and internal, 
is also a key component of the strategy.  Within 
the Township, the administration will improve 
communications through newsletters and small 
business forums. Moreover, with the lack of a 
community newspaper and a changing digital media 
landscape, Township leadership recognizes that they 
need to actively influence the narrative about their 
community through marketing, branding, and social 
media.  

Finally, the Township has committed to updating its 
zoning ordinance and land development policies to 
provide a coherent land development process that 
protects the quality of life in Ypsilanti Township.  

The strategy also recognizes that the success of 
Township businesses is linked to the success of the 
three school districts serving Ypsilanti Township.  The 
public education system was noted in every community 
engagement interaction as a weakness.  While the 

school districts are using creative solutions to improve, 
their low test scores have been detriments to attracting 
housing developers, retail and other businesses.  

The Township is committed to supporting its 
public schools, creating workforce development 
opportunities, fostering partnerships and celebrating 
educational accomplishments, such as Washtenaw 
Intermediate High School, whose students achieved 
the 2nd highest average SAT scores amongst Michigan 
high schools in 2016.

The strategy lays out a Vison of Ypsilanti Township as an 
attractive environment in which to invest by:

• Promoting its unique assets; 

• Engaging talented and committed people; 

• Creating places which advance quality of life; 

• Investing in infrastructure, public streetscapes and 
cultural amenities; 

• Supporting regional collaboration; and 

• Forming innovative partnerships between public, 
private and educational/institutional sectors. 

The guiding principles to support the vision are: 

• Collaboration

• A diversified economic base

• A skilled and educated workforce

• High quality of life 

• A sense of place  

Each principle is backed by strategies ranging from 
policy changes to programs to new hires by the 
Township.  

Quality places 
retain & attract 

talent

Talented people 
like places with 
natural, social, 

creative, 
entrepreneurial, & 
intellectual capital

Talented people 
create jobs

Placemaking and Investment
A Model for Success



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

     March 2018 iii

Township Board
Brenda Stumbo, Supervisor

Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk

Larry Doe, Treasurer

Stan Eldridge, Trustee

Heather Jarrell Roe, Trustee

Monica Ross-Williams, Trustee

Jimmie Wilson Jr., Trustee

Consultant

Steering Committee
Jimmie Wilson, Ypsilanti Township Trustee, UAW

Brenda Stumbo, Ypsilanti Township Supervisor

Rick Davis, Century 21, Real Estate Agent

Billy Salamay, Budget Towing, Owner

Muddasar Tawakkul, Compliance Officer for Ford, 
Former Wayne County Assistant Economic Development Director

Scott Martin, Scio Township Utility Director

Jason Iacoangeli, Ypsilanti Township Planning Commission Chair

Mary Kerr, Washtenaw County Convention & Visitors Bureau President

Tom Kmet, Realtor, formerly with YCUA

Mark Salma, Brixmor Property Group

Brenda Meadows, Ypsilanti Community School Board Trustee,  
Global Tech Pre-school

Gretchen Kopmanis, Owner of Czech Box Bakery,  
University of Michigan IT Department

Hesta Randolph, Zion Temple Church, Ypsilanti Community Schools

Harry S. Grayson, Pastor at Zion Temple Church

Andrea White, Cuppy’s Restaurant, Owner

Kat Dickenson, The Red Lion (Apartments)



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

     March 2018 iv

Page left intentionally blank



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

     March 2018 v

Table of Contents
                   Page

Chapter 1   Creating an Environment for Investment       1
• Is Ypsilanti Township Ready?       2
• Recognizing the Changing Economy      2
• Traditional Model        2
• Investment Through Placemaking      2
• Creating an Investment Environment      3
• Community Keys for Success       4
• A New Way Forward        5

Chapter 2  Ypsilanti Township Assets       7
• Introduction         8
• Population         8
• Location         9
• Transportation        9
• Cultural and Recreational Assets      10
• Natural Features        12
• Willow Run Airport Redevelopment      13
• Employment         13
• Economic Development Partners      14

Chapter 3   Ypsilanti Township Business Climate      17
• Introduction         18
• Small Business is a Big Deal       18
• Embracing Entrepreneurs       20
• Retail Market        20
• Industrial Market        22
• Community Engagement       25

Chapter 4  Vision, Principles and Strategies       27
• Vision         28
• Guiding Principles        28
• Strategies         28

Chapter 5   Implementation Strategies and Responsibilities           31
• Introduction         32
• Leadership and Organizational Capacity     32
• Land Development Policies and Processes     33
• Image and Communications Enhancements     34
• Ypsilanti Township’s Business Climate      35
• Workforce Development and Education     36
• Physical Revitalization and Placemaking     37

Appendix           39



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

     March 2018 vi

Page left intentionally blank



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

1Chapter 1 - Creating an Environment for Investment

Chapter 1

Creating an Environment for Investment



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

2Chapter 1 - Creating an Environment for Investment

Is Ypsilanti Township Ready? 

The Township finds itself in a national, and even 
worldwide, competition to attract and retain 
knowledge economy workers and businesses. In the 
changing economy, the unique features of the Ypsilanti 
Township, its location and its quality of life, have 
become increasingly important competitive advantages 
that need to be protected, nurtured, and promoted.

Recognizing the Changing Economy 

The economy has been undergoing a significant 
transformation from industry and manufacturing to a 
knowledge economy based on advanced technology 
and the management of information. Communication 
technology, globalization, and the availability and 
manipulation of information have been evolving since 
the 1990’s. 

The key components of a knowledge economy place 
greater reliance on:

• Attracting and retaining talented people

• Creating great places with a high quality of life

• Attractive physical and cultural amenities

• Regional prosperity through collaboration

• Bold partnerships between the public and private 
sectors

Traditional Model

Traditional economic development has focused heavily 
on financial incentives, concluding that business will 
only be attracted to a place if there is a sufficient 
financial incentive.  Tax abatements have become 
the single most common tool for local government to 
attract business. While such indirect investment can 

stimulate private investment, the long term benefit is 
difficult to quantify.

A more aggressive approach is to directly invest 
public dollars in private activity through partnering.  
Direct investment puts government in the position 
of becoming a partner, in one form or another, in a 
private enterprise.  Specific direct investment activities 
typically include optioning and/or assembling land, 
providing low-cost loans, installing infrastructure and 
providing direct grants. While the return on initial 
investment may be felt sooner, the public partner also 
assumes a higher degree of risk.  

While indirect and direct investment work well in 
attracting certain types of businesses, there are other 
methods and strategies that are more effective in 
creating sustainable business development.  

Strategies which focus on attracting talent and making 
the Township an attractive place in which to invest will 
result in long-term, more sustainable growth. 

Investment Through Placemaking

Placemaking is an economic development tool that  
recognizes the inseparable relationship between quality 
places and investment.  In light of a knowledge-based 
economy, placemaking is a logical strategy that centers 
on improving a community’s appeal, desirability, and 
overall quality to drive economic prosperity.  

The quality of a place plays a much larger role in today’s 
economic decisions than previously. Quality places 
retain and attract skilled and talented people, who 
in turn retain and create jobs.  People choose to live, 
and ultimately invest, in places that offer community 
amenities, social and professional networks, resources 
and opportunities. 

Traditional Model of  
Economic Development

The traditional approach to economic 
development emphasized stimulating and 
partnering in the investment environment. 
This strategy presumes that the only way 
to foster economic development is through 
incentives. 

CREATING

PARTNERING STIMULATING

New Model of  
Economic Development

Current thinking is shifting towards creating 
an environment for investment through 
placemaking and place-based investment. 
This approach focuses on improving the 
community as an attractive place to invest 
time, talent and money.

CREATING

PARTNERING STIMULATING



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

3Chapter 1 - Creating an Environment for Investment

Placemaking involves coordination between local 
and state government, businesses, residents, and 
civic institutions to increase economic opportunity, 
improve the quality of public amenities, and increase 
the flow of investment into the community.  Significant 
development always builds from existing assets and 
points of strength. In order to create and rebuild 
place, local investment that reconnects the economy 
and community should be encouraged. Place-based 
community investment focuses on talent retention and 
attraction by creating quality communities, amenities 
and services, and an overall high quality of life.

Creating an Investment Environment

Local economic development is gradually transforming 
to an approach which better understands the new 
economy and capitalizes on investment decisions of 
entrepreneurs. The approach focuses on improving the 
investment environment.

The decision by businesses to invest in a community 
is heavily influenced by their perception of the 
community. Investments are based upon an assessment 
of the potential return and relative risk. The perception 
of a favorable investment environment can heavily 
influence investment decisions.

To create an economic development strategy that best 
responds to the changing economy, the first step is 
for the Township to view itself as an environment for 
investment. Why would someone want to invest in 
Ypsilanti Township? What assets, services and growth 
opportunities does Ypsilanti Township provide? An 
honest assessment and forward-looking strategies 
can accelerate the Township’s transformation into an 
environment for investment that is attractive, yet with 
reduced risk, for investors.  

Quality places 
retain & attract 

talent

Talented people 
like places with 
natural, social, 

creative, 
entrepreneurial, & 
intellectual capital

Talented people 
create jobs

Placemaking and Investment
A Model for Success



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

4Chapter 1 - Creating an Environment for Investment

The messages communicated by decision-makers also 
influence investors’ perceptions.   A strong and positive 
message of who we are and where we are going can be 
far more important than any type of incentive that can 
be offered. A placed-based investment strategy signals 
a stronger commitment to the community and does 
not reflect policy changes based on political or outside 
influences.  The buffer from influences in turn reflects a 
stable community, and reduces risk for investors. 

Community Keys for Success

Why are some communities are more successful than 
others? A number of important elements need to be in 
place for the Township to be poised for success.

Compelling Goals
Successful communities set compelling, clear, and 
accountable goals. These goals provide both a roadmap 
for action and goal posts for celebrating progress 
and success. Goals should be evaluated and updated 
annually.

Opportunity Focused
Successful communities both seek and recognize 
opportunities that will improve the community. The 
American Center for Mobility (ACM) is an example of an 
opportunity upon which the Township can capitalize.

Community Engagement
Successful communities engage the full potential 
of community talents, skills, and ideas to support 
community development goals. Effective community 
engagement requires a committment of political 
leaders, staff and funding.

Model for Success

Opportunity
Focused

Community
Engagement

Strong
Execution

Compelling
Goals

Township
Success

Staff
Support

Leadership

Funding

Strong Execution
For community improvement to occur, significant work 
has to be undertaken. Strong execution of the action 
plan ensures that, over time, goals are met and the 
community’s vision for a better present and future are 
realized.

Leadership
Nothing happens without leaders willing to help their 
community discover opportunities, grow a vision for 
the future, set goals, and sustain effort over time. 
Leaders stimulate others to think broadly, communicate 
a vision, and execute a plan.

Staff Support
Consistent supporting staff accelerates progress. While 
staff does not replace leaders and volunteers, it can 
increase effectiveness and efficiency of local economic 
development. Ypsilanti Township would benefit by 
having an economic development manager or director.

Funding
Little invested and little accomplished - so goes the 
saying. Community improvement takes dollars and 
appropriate funding to support staff, action plan 
implementation and other costs.



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

5Chapter 1 - Creating an Environment for Investment

A New Way Forward

The key to the future success in Ypsilanti Township is 
clear – better, high paying jobs. These jobs are created 
when existing businesses expand and new businesses 
are created.

The traditional approach to economic development 
placed a focus on seeking out and attracting the 
relocation of large companies. Can Ypsilanti Township 
risk its limited resources on a strategy that is so highly 
competitive with other communities?

A more successful approach is to capitalize on the 
exciting opportunities presented by such enterprises 
as the American Center for Mobility and Yankee Air 
Museum, focusing on cultivating and improving the 
foundation for existing companies that have growth 
potential, and attracting entrepreneurs who will form 
new companies. Companies with strong roots in the 
community will ultimately be the key to sustainably 
growing the local economy and creating more and 
higher paying jobs.

Through the adoption of an economic development 
strategy which focuses on creating an environment for 
investment, placemaking and place-based investment, 
Ypsilanti Township has significant opportunities to grow 
the local economy.  

The next chapter gives an overview of the assets 
of Ypsilanti Township including demographics and 
recreation assets.  A chapter describing the business 
climate in Ypsilanti follows.  The two final chapters of 
this document describe the Economic Development 
Strategy - the vision, principles and strategies and then 
implementation steps and responsibilities.  

KEY FINDINGS

The national and global economy has transformed from a 
manufacturing to knowlege based economy.

Traditional approaches to economic development have relied 
on financial incentives.

New approaches for economic development focuses on 
improving the local climate for investment and attracting talent.

Placemaking is an economic development tool that recognizes 
the relationship between quality places and the attraction of 
investment.

Effective economic development approaches are focusing more 
on creating an environment that is attractive to entrepreneurs 
and businesses.

Better, high paying jobs are the key to future success in Ypsilanti 
Township

 A successful economic development strategy will capitalize on 
emerging opportunities, improve the foundation for existing 
companies and attract entrepreneurs.  

An effective economic development strategy encourages 
creative collaborations between public, private, and institutional 
organizations and individuals.



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

6Chapter 1 - Creating an Environment for Investment

Page left intentionally blank



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

7Chapter 2 - Ypsilanti Township Assets

Chapter 2

Ypsilanti Township Assets



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

8Chapter 2 - Ypsilanti Township Assets

Introduction

Building better places is one of the strongest 
incentives for community investment. The Economic 
Development Strategy for Ypsilanti Township focuses 
on the community’s outstanding assets to support and 
catalyze economic growth. 

Assets are the foundation for building a successful 
economic development strategy. They may be 
located inside the municipality’s borders or in 
nearby communities. For example, the proximity of 
the Township to major educational and health care 
institutions outside of the Township’s borders, like 
Eastern Michigan University and St. Joseph Mercy 
Hospital is an asset.

The Asset Inventory Report in the Appendix identifies 
the social, economic, physical, cultural and natural 
assets of Ypsilanti Township. This chapter highlights 
several assets including population, location, cultural 
and recreational assets, natural features, economic 
development partners, the redevelopment of Willow 
Run and the small business base. 

Population

Ypsilanti Township is the second most populous 
community in Washtenaw County, next to Ann Arbor. 
The Township is highly diverse - 57% of its residents 
are Caucasian and 33% are African American. Other 
key characteristics are:

• Township Population:  54,613 persons (2015 
American Community Survey)

• Median Age:  33.7 years (2015 American 
Community Survey)

• Average Household Size:  2.49 persons (2010 
Census)

• Household Units (occupied): 22,071 units (2010 
Census)

What is a Community Asset?

A community asset (or community resource) is anything that improves the quality 
of community life. 

It can be a person
Residents can be empowered to realize and use their abilities to build and 
transform the community - the stay-at-home mom or dad who organizes a 
playgroup, the volunteer neighborhood leader, the firefighter who risks his life 
to keep the community safe. These are all community assets.

It can be a physical structure or place
A school, hospital, church, library, recreation center, social club are assets. It 
could be a town landmark or symbol. It might also be an unused building that 
could house a community hospice, or a second floor room ideal for community 
meetings. It might be a public place that already belongs to the community -- a 
park, a wetland, or other open space.

It can be a community service 
A service that makes life better for some or all community members - public 
transportation, early childhood education center, community recycling facilities 
or cultural organization.

It can be a business 
A business provides jobs and supports the local economy.

Everyone in the community are potential community assets. 
Everyone has some skills or talents, and everyone can provide knowledge about 
the community, connections to the people they know, and the kind of support 
that every effort needs - making phone calls, stuffing envelopes, giving people 
information, moving equipment or supplies - whatever needs doing. Everyone 
in the community can be a force for community improvement if only we knew 
what their assets were, and could put them to use.

Source: Community Tool Box, Center for Community Health and Development, University of 
Kansas.



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

9Chapter 2 - Ypsilanti Township Assets

• Educational Attainment Population 25 Years and 
over (2015 American Community Survey): 

o 39.5 % bachelor’s degree or higher

o 9.4 % associate’s degree 

o 19.5 % bachelor’s degree 

o 10.6% professional or graduate degree

Location 

Ypsilanti Charter Township is strategically located in 
eastern Washtenaw County. Thirty-one point eight 
(31.8) square miles in area, it is approximately 36 
miles from downtown Detroit. Interstate-94 traverses 
the Township in an east/west direction with three 
interchanges at Michigan Avenue, Huron Street, and 
Rawsonville Road. Both US-23 and I-275 provide 
excellent north-south access and are a short drive from 
all portions of the Township. In close proximity to Ann 
Arbor, Ypsilanti Township is centrally located within 
metropolitan Detroit and within a reasonable distance 
of several Midwestern population and economic hubs, 
shown on the map on this page:

• Downtown Detroit, Michigan (36 miles) 

• Windsor, Ontario (39 miles)

• Flint, Michigan (66 miles) 

• Ann Arbor, Michigan (12 miles)

• Toledo, Ohio (48 miles) 

• Lansing, Michigan (78 miles)

• Grand Rapids, Michigan (145 miles) 

• Cleveland, Ohio (165 miles)

• Toronto, Ontario (265 miles) 

• Chicago, Illinois (250 miles)

Transportation 

Ypsilanti Township is connected to the Ypsilanti/Ann 
Arbor area, the region of southeastern Michigan and 
an international network of highways and airports.  
The Township can be easily accessed by bus through 
the Ann Arbor Area Transportation Authority as well 
as by Interstate 94 via three highway interchanges.  
The Township’s close proximity to Willow Run Airport 
and Detroit Metro Airport provides access to world-
wide shipping and passenger air transportation. Both 
the airports are owned by Wayne County and are op-
erated by the Wayne County Airport Authority.

Detroit Metro Airport (DTW)

Located 15 minutes from Ypsilanti Township, the 
Detroit Metropolitan Airport (DTW) serves over 36  

million passengers a year making it the twelfth bus-
iest airport of its kind in the United States and the 
twentieth busiest in the world. DTW is the largest in-
ternational hub for Delta Airlines (5th largest airline 
carrier in the United States), and 2nd largest hub for 
Spirit Airlines. DTW’s 15 passenger airlines, including 6 
foreign flag airlines, serve 160 nonstop flight locations 
throughout the world. 

Willow Run Airport 

Willow Run Airport is located in both Ypsilanti Township 
and Van Buren Township. The airport serves freight, 
corporate and general aviation on its four runways. 
The airport handles over 200,000,000 pounds of cargo 

Ypsilanti Township Location & Midwestern Hubs

Ypsilanti Township Midwestern Hub



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

10Chapter 2 - Ypsilanti Township Assets

annually and is one of the nation’s largest airports for 
air freight flown by exclusively cargo aircraft. 

AAATA

The Ann Arbor Area Transportation Authority (TheR-
ide), a not-for-profit unit of government, operates 
the local public transit system for the greater Ann 
Arbor-Ypsilanti area. TheRide enables the area’s resi-
dents to reach their destinations at reasonable cost, 
and offers the region efficient, environmentally sound 
transportation alternatives. The AAATA’s expanded 
services through 2019 is shown on the Transportation  
Network Map on this page. 

Cultural and Recreational Assets

Ypsilanti Township has a wealth of cultural and 
recreational assets.  The Township’s location close 
to five colleges and universites - Eastern Michigan 
University, Univerity of Michigan, Concordia University, 
Cleary University and Washtenaw Community College 
- offers a wealth of cultural opportunites ranging from 
lectures to performances by internationally acclaimed 
artists.  The Township also provides within its borders 
numerous experiences at its library, community center 
and parks.  

Library

The Ypsilanti District Library-Whittaker has 60,000 
square feet with over 250,000 titles, and offers 
numerous programs to the community.

Community Center

Located at 2025 East Clark Road, the Community 
Center offers youth and adult sports and enrichment 
programs, pre-school programs, arts and crafts, family 
events, older adult programs, travel, and health and 
fitness classes. The facilities include an arts and crafts 
room, pre-school room, racquetball/wallyball courts, 



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

11Chapter 2 - Ypsilanti Township Assets

gymnasium, aerobic and dance studio, meeting/class 
rooms, and a senior center. There are several rooms 
available for the general public to rent. 

Ypsilanti Township Park System

The Ypsilanti Township Parks System consists of thirty 
parks and recreation facilities totaling over 900 acres, 
shown on the Community Assets Map. The parks range 
in size from 0.3 acres to 190 acres and provide areas for 
informal play, organized programs, or to simply enjoy 
nature. The larger community parks provide enhanced 
facilities including picnic shelters, boardwalks, paved 
and nature trails, interpretive signage, access to 
canoeing, kayaking and boating, fishing, and athletic 
fields/courts. 

The four largest parks, Ford Lake, Ford Heritage, 
Hewen’s Creek, and North Bay, protect large tracts 
of open space.  Ford Lake Park and North Bay Park 
provide unique waterfront access to Ford Lake.

Rolling Hills County Park

Rolling Hills is one of the most recreationally-diverse 
destinations in Washtenaw County including a water 
park, nature trails, fishing, picnics, playgrounds, disc 
golf, softball, horseshoes, sledding, and cross-country 
skiing. The 363-acre Washtenaw County Park offers 
year-round recreation.

Golf Courses

There are four golf courses located within Ypsilanti 
Township: Eagle Crest, Washtenaw Golf Club, Pine 
View, and Green Oaks.

Regional Recreational Opportunities

Centrally located in southeast Michigan, Ypsilan-
ti Township residents are able to enjoy many other 
county and state recreational parks and facilities. 



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

12Chapter 2 - Ypsilanti Township Assets

Natural Features

Ypsilanti Township contains significant natural  
features with an abundance of natural and cultural 
features including the river, lakes, creeks, wetlands, 
open fields, hedgerows, and woodlands which make 
an important contribution to the quality of life for  
the residents as well as the wildlife in the Township. 
The Huron River, a major waterway around which the 
community has developed, flows through the Town-
ship. The river provides opportunities for recreation 
and wildlife habitat, and connects people to significant 
natural places within the Township.

The Huron River passes through the Township from 
the northwest to the southeast. The segment of this 
river in Ypsilanti Township is a vital link in the overall 
watershed. The historic development of the City of Yp-
silanti and Ypsilanti Township was largely based upon 
the presence and qualities of this waterway.

Lakes are among the Township’s most valuable natural 
resources making up roughly 1,340 acres. Ford Lake is 
the largest and most significant lake in the Township. 
Scenic views of Ford Lake are key assets to the Town-
ship. These vistas can be seen from all sides of Ford 
Lake, but are most pronounced from the west end of 
the lake where the Eastern Michigan University Golf 
Course is located. 

A number of areas in the southern portion of the Town-
ship have views characteristic of agricultural commu-
nity. These include areas with views of farm fields and 
sections of roads lined by dense woodlands. Roadways 
that consist of segments lined with woodlands inter-
spersed by open fields provide a sequence of views 
characteristic of a cultural and rural landscape. 



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

13Chapter 2 - Ypsilanti Township Assets

Willow Run Airport Redevelopment

The former Willow Run Bomber Plant, home to the 
original “Rosie the Riveter”, is now a unique mixture 
of honoring the past with the future of transporta-
tion.  A portion of the site will be the future home of 
the National Museum of Aviation and Technology at 
Historic Willow Run, known as the Yankee Air Muse-
um.  Approximately 144,000 square feet of the original 
bomber plant be renovated to house the museum’s 
collection of more than 5,000 artifacts on aviation and 
space travel.  The new location will include a hangar so 
flyable aircraft, exhibits, restoration and educational 
programs are available at a single site.

On the remainder of the site, a technology park is 
developing, including the American Center for Mo-
bility (ACM). On 335 acres in Ypsilanti Township, ACM 
opened in December 2017 as a Federally-Approved 
testing and research facility for connected and auto-
mated vehicle technology.  This non-profit center in-
cludes a test track, garages, laboratories and offices 
for teams testing new technology in transportation.  
The test track has double overpasses, railroad cross-
ings, highway loops, and a tunnel, as well as urban, 
suburban and rural environments.  A technology park 
for associated research uses is planned adjacent to the 
testing facility. 

Employment
The education, health care and social services 
fields are the dominant types of businesses in 
Ypsilanti Township. Almost thirty-two percent 
of Ypsilanti Township employees work in 
education, health care, and social services.  
The top employers are: 

• Eby-Brown Co LLC (Distribution Center)

• General Dynamics Advanced Information 
(Manufacturing)

American Center for Mobility Concept Plan 



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

14Chapter 2 - Ypsilanti Township Assets

• Pollard Banknote, Ltd. (Manufacturing)

• Kroger (Retail)

• Ypsilanti Community Schools (Education)

Ninety-six (96%) percent of the 1,287 Township busi-
nesses have fewer than 50 employees. Most (63%) of 
the small businesses are between 1-4 employees. The 
high percentage of small businesses in the Township 
is a positive indicator for future job growth. The SBA 
reports that small firms accounted for nearly two-
thirds of the net new jobs created between 1993 
and 2013 and provide nearly half of all private sector 
employment. 

The highest job production by small businesses in 
Ypsilanti Township are in the following categories:

• Retail Trade (197 businesses/2,211 employees)

• Accomodations and Food Service  
(118 businesses/1,640 employees)

• Health Care and Social Assistance  
(108 businesses/1,331 employees)

• Manufacturing (44 businesses/1,289 employees)

Economic Development Partners
Ypsilanti Township has a wide variety of economic 
development partners.  Each group or program 
described below offers resources to foster an 
investment environment in the Township. As shown 
the graphic on the following page, the Township has 
a web of interrelated assets and partners. However, at 
this point, no one group orn individual is responsible 
for coordination between resources and cultivation of 
assets.  This lack of coordination is untapped potential 
for economic development work on behalf of Ypsilanti 
Township.   

Employment Category     Total Businesses                   % 
 1-4 Employees   810   62.94
 5-9 Employees   235   18.26
 10-19 Employees  127     9.87
 20-49 Employees    64     4.97
 50-99 Employees    28     2.18
 100-249 Employees    20     1.55
 250-499 Employees      2     0.16
 500-999 Employees      0     0.00
 1000+ Employees      0     0.00
    Total 1,287              100.00  
 

1000+ Employees

500-999 Employees

250-499 Employees

100-249 Employees

50-99 Employees 

20-49 Employees

10-19 Employees

5-9 Employees

1-4 Employees

63%
18%

10%

5% 2% 2% >.1%

Township Businesses by Number of Employees



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

15Chapter 2 - Ypsilanti Township Assets

SPARK
SPARK is an organization dedicated to the economic 
prosperity of the greater Ann Arbor region. SPARK 
uses their skills and knowledge to attract, develop, 
strengthen, and invest in larger “driving industries” to 
help our region thrive. Ann Arbor SPARK is committed 
to bringing together partners, like the Michigan 
Economic Development Corporation, Michigan Works, 
city and municipal partners, academic institutions, 
and others to support the growth of companies and 
the creation of jobs.

SPARK offers the Innovate Ypsi incentive program.  
The program provides grants, loans and other 
economic assistance to businesses that create jobs 
and investments in the City of Ypsilanti and Ypsilanti 
Township.  Performance based grants are available 
to eligible businesses that create jobs or make new 
investment in the Ypsilanti area.  The use of funds 
is flexible and can be used for a variety of expenses, 
including marketing, rehabilitation, machinery/
equipment and real estate.  

Local Development Finance Authority

The Local Development Finance Authority (LDFA) 
uses tax increment financing (TIF) to assist industrial 
development. The LDFA is a public corporate body 
created primarily to plan and finance the development 
and redevelopment of the designated facilities, 
agricultural processing facilities, and high technology 
activity. The Ypsilanti Township LDFA meets once per 
year, in December.

Michigan Small Business Development Center

The Michigan Small Business Development Center 
(SBDC) enhances Michigan’s economic wellbeing by 
providing counseling, training and research for new 
ventures, exising small businesses and advanced 
technology companies.

 Economic Development 
Agencies

Ann Arbor SPARK
Washtenaw County 

OECD

 Economic Development 
Agencies

Ann Arbor SPARK
Washtenaw County 

OECD

Workforce Development

Universities
Washtenaw Community 

College
Michigan Works!

Small Business Assistance

Entrepreneurship Center
Small Business Development Center

Ypsilanti Township Assets

Location
Transportation

Cultural & Recreation Assets
Natural Resources

Township Businesses 

96% Small Businesses
LDFA

Township Residents

Highly Diverse
2nd largest community in 

Washtenaw County

New Developments

ACM
Yankee Air Museum

Market

Retail Market Demand
Available Land for Industrial 

Redevelopment

Web of Township Assests & Partners

The satellite office of the SBDC serving Ypsilanti 
Township is housed at Washtenaw Community College. 
The office covers six counties and offers counseling 
and training to small businesses.

Washtenaw Community College Workforce 
Development

Washtenaw Community College (WCC) is a 2-year 
community college located in Ann Arbor with over 
12,000 students. WCC offers support services for 
businesses, working professionals, and job seekers in 
Washtenaw County. WCC provides numerous classes 
and certificates to prepare for specific industry work. 

The Entrepreneurship Center at WCC

The Entrepreneurship Center at WCC is a resource 
hub for entrepeneurs open to the public. The Center 
has meeting space, open co-working space, wi-fi 
and technology resources. Their staff offer one-
on-one appointments and host networking events, 
workshops, boot camps and pitch competitions.

Washtenaw County

The Washtenaw County Office of Community 
and Economic Development (OCED) delivers 
services in the areas of affordable housing, human 
services, economic development and community 



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

16Chapter 2 - Ypsilanti Township Assets

infrastructure. The Township and County have worked 
closely together on a number of initiatives including 
Reimagine Washtenaw, Brownfield Redevelopment 
and this Economic Development Strategy.

VantagePort

VantagePort is a public-private economic development 
agency supported by nearby communities, the Wayne 
County Airport Authority, and private sector leaders. 
VantagePort seeks to expand economic development 
focused upon the strategic position of Detroit 
Metropolitan and Willow Run airports.

The next chapter gives an overview of the business  
climate in Ypsilanti Township and the opportunities to 
capitalize on the Township’s assets.    



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

17Chapter 3 - Ypsilanti Township Business Climate

Chapter 3

Ypsilanti Township Business Climate



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

18Chapter 3 - Ypsilanti Township Business Climate

Introduction

The Economic Development Strategy for Ypsilanti 
Township is based on the unique attributes of the 
business climate within the Township.  As highlighted 
in the previous chapter, a unique asset to the Township 
is the number of small businesses.  This chapter digs 
further into the unique business climate of small 
business, the findings from retail and industrial 
market surveys, and the findings of the community 
engagement activities  - a survey, interviews and Real 
Estate Forum.    

Small Business is a Big Deal

The U.S. Small Business Administration (SBA) defines 
a small business as having 500 or fewer employees. 
However, in a practical sense, most small businesses 
have 50 or fewer employees. In Michigan, the 
overwhelming majority of businesses (98%) are small 
businesses. Furthermore, small businesses employ 
just over 50% Michigan’s work force. 

Ypsilanti Township exhibits very similar characteristics 
as the State. Ninety-six (96%) percent of Township 
businesses have fewer than 50 employees. Most 
(63%) of the small businesses in the Township have 
between 1-4 employees. The high percentage of small 
businesses in the Township is a positive indicator for 
future job growth. The SBA reports that small firms 
accounted for nearly two-thirds of the net new jobs 
created between 1993 and 2013 and provide nearly 
half of all private sector employment. 

Benefits of Small Business

The benefits of small business to the community can 
be significant.

• Sustainability - According to the SBA, nearly 
80% of small businesses started in 2014 are still 
in business. Businesses that are over 5 years old 
have over a 60% survival rate. This is one of the 
highest rates of sustainability in over a decade.

• Attracting Talent/Employing Locals - Home-grown 
businesses attract new talent to a community and  
also employ people from within the community. 
Small businesses tend to provide employment to 
people that often may not be attracted to or will 
be employed by larger companies.

• Flexibility - Small, entrepreneurial businesses are 
able to adapt to changes in the economic climate 
more rapidly. Small businesses survive due to 
a close relationship to their customer base, and 
therefore are able to adapt to changing customer 
needs.

• Community Loyalty - Small business owners are 
closely tied to the community where the business 
is located. Thus, they tend to be involved in and 
support community activities. Locally owned 
businesses contribute more to local charities and 
fundraisers, than do larger national counterparts.

• Innovation - Small businesses are the backbone of 
innovation. Small businesses create 16 times more 
patents than large businesses. In addition, “one of 
a kind” businesses create a distinctive character  
and appeal for the community.

Multiplier Effect

When dollars are spent on local business, local 
business tends to re-spend locally. The overall level of 
economic activity is increased, and jobs are created 
which increases spending in other local businesses. 
This is called the “multiplier effect”.

SMALL BUSINESS
KEY FINDINGS

Ninety-six percent of Township 
businesses have fewer than 50 
employees. 

The majority small businesses in the 
Township have between 1-4 employees.

Small businesses account for over half 
of new jobs created both nationwide 
and in Michigan.

Small businesses have a high rate 
of survival, are able to attract talent, 
are innovative and contribute to the 
community.

Small independent businesses invest 
48% of their revenues back into the 
communtiy, compared to 14% for chain 
retailers

If every existing Township business with 
less than 50 employees could hire an 
additional employee, over 1,200 jobs 
would be created. 



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

19Chapter 3 - Ypsilanti Township Business Climate

The multiplier effect is comprised of three elements-- 
the direct, indirect, and induced impacts: 

• Direct impact is spending done by a business 
in the local economy to operate the business, 
including inventory, utilities, equipment and pay 
to employees. 

• Indirect impact happens as dollars the local 
businesses spent at other area businesses re-
circulate. 

• Induced impact refers to the additional consumer 
spending that happens as employees, business 
owners and others spend their income in the local 
economy.

Various studies done throughout the country validate 
the “multiplier effect”. On average, 48% of each 
purchase at local independent businesses is re-
circulated locally compared to 14% of purchases at 
chain stores.

Cultivating the Garden

The local economic landscape is a “garden”, which 
needs to be cultivated and tended. Focusing on 
creating new and growing existing small business will 
result in the creation of jobs and new wealth in the 
Township. Relationships with top-tier employers does 
not need to be sacrificed by the Township focusing 
on small business. In fact, top-tier businesses can be 
instrumental in both advising and nurturing grass 
roots entrepreneurs.



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

20Chapter 3 - Ypsilanti Township Business Climate

Embracing Entrepreneurs

Communities that embrace and support entrepreneurs 
have a greater chance of success. There are three kinds 
of entrepreneurs that are present in every community:

• Business Entrepreneurs work in the for-profit 
world by creating services and products, new 
investment, jobs and tax base.

• Civic Entrepreneurs work for the betterment of 
their communities by creating and promoting 
projects and programs that allow a community to 
shine.

• Social Entrepreneurs support community 
programs and organizations that enrich peoples 
lives.

Business, civic and social entrepreneurs share these 
common traits:

• Opportunity Focused

• Visionary

• Build Teams for Success

• Innovative

• Flexible

• Resourceful 

Retail Market

Ypsilanti Township, with nearly 54,000 residents, is 
the second most populous community in Washtenaw 
County. The large population translates to significant 
spending power for retail goods and services.  
Unfortunately, a large amount of those dollars are 
spent outside the Township. There is significant 
opportunity to invest in retail “bricks-and-mortar”.

How an Entrepreneur Thinks!



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

21Chapter 3 - Ypsilanti Township Business Climate

Who are the spenders?
The two largest influences on retail markets are 
changing demographics and online shopping 
technology. The spending habits of Millenials, Gen 
Xers, and Baby Boomers are quite different. Because 
of available income and more leisure time, Boomers 
(53-73 years) spend more in retail markets than any 
other generations.

Social media is also having significant influence on 
younger shoppers.  Generations that have grown 
up with the internet have constant access to their 
mobile phones.  While not as heavily influenced by 
social media, even the Baby Boomer generation find 
Facebook and Pinterest influential in their decisions.

Millenials (18-32 years old) represent 23% of Town-
ship population:

• 44% of discretionary spending is dedicated to 
eating out

• 62% of Millenials don’t value strong brands
• Dedicated to health and wellness, devoting time 

and money to exercising and eating right

Gen Xer’s (33-52 years old) represent 28% of Town-
ship population:

• Despite smaller size, Gen X spends more than 
Millenials and Boomers on a per capita basis

• Gen X researches purchase decisions online more 
than any other age group

• Highest spending on kid’s and baby apparel

Baby Boomers (53-73 years old) represent 15% of 
Township population:

• Boomers spend $3.2 trillion each year, the largest 
of any generation

• Higher spending on big ticket items like cars, long 
vacations and housing

RETAIL MARKET
KEY FINDINGS

Spending patterns vary by generation. 
Boomers are the largest spenders due to 
the availability of disposable income.

Due to the size and location of Ford Lake 
and the influence I-94 has on circulation 
patterns, the Township has two distinct 
trade areas in the eastern and western 
portions.

Within both trade areas of the Township, 
there are a number of retail categories 
where spendable dollars are being 
“leaked” to retail areas outside the 
Township.

Within the western trade area, there are 
gaps in most retail categories, meaning 
that needs are not being met from 
businesses in the Township.

Within the eastern trade area represented 
by Michigan Ave/Ford Street, a similar 
pattern exists where most convenience 
and comparison shopping needs are not 
being met locally.

The American Center for Mobility, 
Yankee Air Museum and new activities 
which result from both of these major 
developments will generate greater 
demand for hotels, restaurants, 
entertainment and retail space.

• Spending more on healthcare than any previous 
generation

How is the retail market changing?
Due to changes in demographic characteristics and 
greater reliance on online commerce, traditional 
“bricks  and mortar” retail is experiencing radical 
changes. Most experts agree that there will always 
be a need for physical locations for retail and service 
businesses. However, retail operations will have 
a greater chance of success if they recognize the 
following:

• Retailers who promote product quality and 
sustainability will flourish.

• Unique in-store experiences will thrive.

• Smaller stores are in and larger stores are out. 
Specialty stores, not department stores will have 
greater chance of success.

• Personal service will be increasingly important to 
consumers.

• Understanding the customer base and generational 
trends will be a key to success.

What is the demand for retail? 
Carlisle Wortman (CWA) conducted a retail market 
analysis on behalf of the Township. A retail market 
analysis determines the “buying power” of the 
households within a given geographic area, known 
as a trade area.  The complete retail market analysis 
is found in the appendix of the report with highlights 
below.

Because of its size and the presence of Ford Lake and 
I-94, Ypsilanti Township has two distinct trade areas 
represented by the eastern and western portions 
of the Township. The eastern portion, focused in 
proximity to Ford Boulevard and E. Michigan Avenue, 



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

22Chapter 3 - Ypsilanti Township Business Climate

is more heavily influenced by retail activities occurring 
in Canton Township. The western portion near Huron 
Street and Whittaker Road, is pulled towards Pittsfield 
Township and Ann Arbor. What is common to both 
areas is that spendable dollars emanating from within 
the Township are being spent elsewhere.

In almost all retail categories, the market analysis 
found that the Township could support more retail, 
commercial and service businesses. 

Within the western portion of the Township, there is 
retail market potential for:

• Building material and supplies
• Lawn and garden supplies
• Groceries / speciality foods
• Beer, wine and liquor
• Shoes, jewelry, luggage and leather goods
• Special food services, bars and taverns

Within the eastern portion of the Township, there is 
retail market potential for:

• Furniture stores / home furnishings
• Building materials and supplies
• Lawn and garden supplies
• Groceries / speciality foods
• Beer, wine and liquor
• Shoes, jewerly, luggage and leather goods
• Books, periodicals and music
• Department / general merchandise
• Office supplies
• Speciality food service and restaurants

Industrial Market

The Township has a long and proud history of industry 
that was the cornerstone of the Arsenal of Democracy. 
The original Willow Run Bomber Plant developed  
during World War II is located in Ypsilanti Township.  

This plant was later owned by General Motors 
and operated by Powertrain to manufacture 
transmissions. Willow Run led to other post-war 
industrial development along the eastern edge of 
the Township surrounding the airport; which in turn 
created a demand for residential development to 
house industry workers.

Today, the Willow Run site has been acquired for the 
American Center for Mobility as a non-profit testing 
and product development facility for connected and 
automated vehicle technology. ACM will be an all-
seasons, all conditions testing facility which will be 
unique among similar facilities in the country.

Zoning

The Township has a significant amount of land zoned 
for industrial and industrial research office purposes. 
Most of these areas are located in the eastern portion 
of the Township. 

Building Space

While there is over 3,000,000 square feet of industrial 
building space in Ypsilanti Township and the immediate 
surrounding area, there is very little vacant building 
space. Costar data provided by CORE Partners, LLC 
reported the following availability of industrial space:

Existing Buildings: 116 buildings
Existing Square Feet: 3,462,021 square feet
Vacant Square Feet: 38,500 square feet
Availability Rate: 1.3%

Analysis of Township Industrial Areas

The map on the following page shows four areas of 
concentration of Industrial/Research Office land in 
the Township. Historically, most industrial land has 
been located in the eastern portion of the Township 
around Willow Run and Rawsonville Road. More 

INDUSTRIAL MARKET
KEY FINDINGS

The Township has over 2,400 acres zoned 
for Industrial or Research Office with 664 
acres vacant.

There is less than 2% of vacant industrial 
building space in the Township, consistent 
with trends in the metro region.

The demand is shifting towards flex space 
where office, manufacturing, research and 
development, and warehousing can be 
accomodated under one roof.

To meet increasing demand, available land 
in the Township will need physical and 
aesthetic improvements.



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

23Chapter 3 - Ypsilanti Township Business Climate

recent industrial and research office development 
has occurred along Huron Street and the Washtenaw 
Business Park.

Market Trends

The vacancy rates exhibited in the Ypsilanti Township 
market are indicative of the trend in the Detroit 
metropolitan area where vacancies are between 
3-4%. Reversing recession era conditions, over 4 
million square feet of new industrial space is under 
construction in the greater Detroit area. Ypsilanti 
Township, as shown on the map and table on this 
page, has vacant industrially zoned land. However, 
the Township will be at a better advantage to 
capitalize on opportunities if it tailors properties  
to the needs of a knowledge economy.  

In the current environment, there is high demand for 
industrial space and little supply. However, the type of 
space that is needed today is different than the typical 
industrial space that was prevalent 20 years ago. The 
economy is changing from industry and manufacturing 
to the knowledge based economy.Even today’s 
manufacturing is much more reliant on technology.

Businesses in the old economy evaluated the proximity 
to transportation networks, markets, and costs of 
doing business; made a decision to locate a facility, 
and utilized the workforce of the area. This approach 
was effective when the workforce generally did not 
require specialized expertise or education. 

The knowledge economy has shifted the focus 
with higher demand for a creative workforce with 
specialized expertise, education and experiences; 
therefore, the knowledge economy is driven by human 
capital, not raw materials.

As the transition to the knowledge economy continues 
to evolve, it is difficult to predict all of the impacts 
the transition will have on society, the economy, 

Category Total Acres Vacant % Vacant
IRO - Industrial Research Office 387.1 22.0 3.9
I-1 - Light Industrial 690.8 163.3 23.6
I-2 - General Industrial 859.9 363.5 42.2
I-3 - Industrial 16.9 5.8 34.3
IC - Industrial Commercial 456.6 109.7 24.0

Total 2,411.3 664.3 28.0

Acres of Industrially Zoned Land in Ypsilanti Township:  
Total & Vacant



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

24Chapter 3 - Ypsilanti Township Business Climate

and community planning. However, based on an 
examination of trends and changes taking place, the 
knowledge economy likely will impact community 
planning in the following ways:

• Decreasing demand for conventional industrial/
manufacturing space. The demand for industrial/
manufacturing space is expected to continue to 
decline in Michigan due to improved efficiencies 
from technology, global changes to the auto 
industry, decline of manufacturing in general, and 
the movement of manufacturing jobs to areas 
with lower labor costs.

• Decreasing demand for conventional office 
space. An increase in home-based businesses, 
telecommuting, alternative work schedules, 
job sharing, and decentralized corporate 
organizational structures will lead to a decreased 
demand for conventional office space. 

• Increasing demand for flexible space that 
accomodates a variety of uses. Wholesale and 
retail enterprises that conduct all, or a majority, 
of their business via e-commerce have specific 
building and use needs (office, retail, warehousing 
& shipping) that may be more compatible with 
light industrial, non-prime commercial, and/or 
office complex uses.

• Increasing demand for research and development 
space. A knowledge economy requires creativity 
and innovation to thrive. Collaboration between 
academic and private research and development 
activities will probably be required to sustain and 
promote it within the local community and region. 
The partnerships that have been forged to create 
the American Center for Mobility is an excellent 
example of collaboration between the private and 
academic sectors.

• Increasing demand for broadband access. Access 
to broadband is a required infrastructure for 
businesses and residences. 

• Increasing importance of community amenities 
and quality of life. Communities that wish 
to attract and retail knowledge workers and 
knowledge-based businesses will find themselves 
in a national, and even worldwide, competition 
for these entities. Such workers and businesses 
are typically more mobile than those of the past, 
and can theoretically locate in many potential 
areas. To attract and hold on to these persons and 
businesses, the unique features of the community 
and its quality of life become increasingly 
important competitive advantages that need to 
be protected, nurtured, and promoted.

• Increasing regional collaboration. Local, regional, 
national, and global economies are merging. 
The integration of local economies into a larger 
economic system creates opportunities to attract 
new, expanding, or relocating businesses. It also 
may provide wider markets for local enterprises. 
However, because many knowledge economy and 
technology based businesses can locate almost 
anywhere, competition for these businesses will 
likely stiffen. In order for communities to compete 
successfully on a global scale, they will need to 
cooperate as counties or regions.

New Opportunities

Given the demand for industrial/research technology 
space in the metropolitan region, Ypsilanti Township 
is well positioned to capitalize. However, many of 
the vacant sites in the Township will need physical 
and aesthetic improvements to be attractive 
for development.  Some improvements, such as 
landscaping or whiteboxing of former factory floor 
space, would be done by the property owner.  Others 
improvements, such as streetscapes, utility or road 
improvements, could be initiated by Ypsilanti Township 
through grants or partnerships.  The Township could 
also offer grants or loans for strategic improvements 
like the demolition of obsolete buildings or façade 
improvements.  

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT
KEY FINDINGS

The Township needs a clear vision.

Leadership from both public and 
private sectors is important.

Quality education and workforce 
development are needed. 

Ypsilanti Township’s identity is often 
confused with that of the City of 
Ypsilanti and Ann Arbor.  

The Township should become 
“development-ready”.

Access to business and economic 
development resources can be 
improved. 

The Township should build on both 
existing and emerging assets.

The American Center for Mobility will 
become a magnet for new economic 
activity.

Collaboration leads to success.



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

25Chapter 3 - Ypsilanti Township Business Climate

Community Engagement 

Community engagement consisted of regular meet-
ings with the Steering Committee, a survey of local 
business owners/managers, stakeholder interviews, 
and a Real Estate Forum.  A full report on the com-
munity engagement process is in the Appendix of this 
report.  A summary is below.  

In the survey and interviews, the same topics 
emerged. These shared insights greatly influenced 
the Township’s Economic Development Strategy:

• Vision.  Many participants did not have a clear 
idea of the Township’s Vision.  They needed to 
know answers to the folllowing questions: What 
does Ypsilanti Township want to be? Where is it 
going? What are key and tangible business goals?

• Leadership. Respondents shared how both civic/
public and private leadership is important for 
economic development. Leaders need to talk 
about Ypsilanti Township and its brighter future. 
A component of the Economic Development 
Strategy should address the role of leadership. 

• Better Communications. In almost every 
interaction, improved communication was 
mentioned as a way Ypsilanti Township could better 
foster economic development. Efforts should 
concentrate on improving interaction between 
Ypsilanti Township and citizens, including business 
people, with regular, informative communication.

• Education and Workforce Development. The 
struggling school districts in Ypsilanti Township 
were cited as a challenge numerous times.  
Their improvement is vital to attracting new 
residents and businesses and creating a qualified 
workforce.  Building on synergy with the school 

districts, economic development agencies in 
Washtenaw County and Ypsilanti Township should 
be a component of the Economic Development 
Strategy.

• Identity. The difference between the Township 
and the City of Ypsilanti or the City of Ann Arbor 
is unclear to people within and outside of the 
Washtenaw County region.  

Real Estate Forum

On November 30, 2017, Ypsilanti Township hosted a 
Real Estate Forum, where a panel of experts shared 
their observations and input on Ypsilanti Township 
assets, opportunities, and challenges.  After their 
presentations, questions were taken from those in 
attendance.  Key themes from the event were:

American Center for Mobility – ACM

• American Center for Mobility (ACM).  ACM 
will become a significant “gravity center” for 
Economic Development, creating new direct 
and indirect jobs.  ACM highlights the need for 
“new economy” talent and skill development.  
Also, ACM will generate a need for new bricks 
and mortar/buildings for technology companies, 
support companies, training/skill development, 
and possibly housing and retail/services.

• Work Force and Talent Development.  For 
Ypsilanti Township and the entire community to 
thrive, increased work force skills and training 
of citizens for current and new/emerging jobs is 
needed. Ypsilanti Township is in a good position to 
leverage this situation due its proximity to Eastern 
Michigan University and Washtenaw Community 
College’s various programs and certifications. 

• Quality of Life.  For current and prospective 
residents, employers/employees, and Economic 
Developers/Investors, Quality of Life features 
- such as a diverse population, educational 
opportunities, parks and green space, walking 
trails, and effective connections/transit between 
parts of the community – are sought out and 
recognized as valuable factors in professional and 
personal location decisions.

• Commercial Corridor Rejuvenation. Many 
participants noted the need to revitalize and re-
purpose several commercial corridors, specifically, 
the Michigan Avenue and Ecorse Road corridors. 
Also, new development should be focused on the 
Huron/Whittaker corridors.

• Economic Development Officer.  Participants 
suggested hiring an Economic Development officer 
to manage the strategy in all its dimensions.

• Zoning and Development Processes.  Particpants 
made a strong case for Ypsilanti Township to 
create clearer zoning rules and to administer these 
zoning and development rules effectively and in a 
timely manner.



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

26Chapter 3 - Ypsilanti Township Business Climate

• Food Innovation/Agricultural opportunities.  
Several participants mentioned the need for and 
power of enhancing area food growing capacity 
in Ypsilanti Township, both for the creation of 
fresh nearby food to support the “farm to table” 
movement. This effort will also create new jobs 
and support skill building opportunities for 
Ypsilanti Township citizens. 

• Collaboration.  Many panel members and 
participants stressed the need for deeper and 
more effective collaboration between public, 
private, and institutional sectors and their leaders 
in order to maximize community development 
and real estate opportunities.  

The next chapter lays out the vision, goals and 
strategies of the Economic Development Strategy.  
The final chapter delves deeper into implementa-
tion strategies and responsibilities.  



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

27Chapter  4 - Vision, Principles and Strategies

Chapter 4

Vision, Principles and Strategies



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

28Chapter  4 - Vision, Principles and Strategies

Vision

Ypsilanti Township desires and is dedicated to 
achieving the following vision:

Ypsilanti Township recognizes the key to its future 
success is through better, high paying employment 
opportunities created with the expansion of existing 
businesses and the attraction of new investment 
in the community. Ypsilanti Township will strive to 
become an attractive environment in which to invest 
by: 

• Promoting its unique assets 

• Engaging talented and committed people

• Creating places which advance quality of life

• Investing in infrastructure, public streetscapes 
and cultural amenities

• Supporting regional collaboration, and 

• Forming innovative partnerships between 
public, private and educational/institutional 
sectors.

Guiding Principles

The Township Economic Development Strategy is 
ambitious but also achievable. The following principles 
guide the execution of this Strategy:

A diversified economic base is more sustainable
For many years, most employment in Ypsilanti 
Township came from a manufacturing economy. 
Enterprises, such as the American Center for Mobility 
(ACM) offer opportunities for the Township to diversify 
its economy with more technology-based, retail and 
service businesses. A diversified economic base tends 
to be more recession proof and is more effective in 
attracting, retaining and growing small businesses.

Collaboration is the key
The strategy calls for partnerships with the private 
sector, educational institutions and other units of 
government. Regions that are successful rely upon 
collaboration.

An educated and skilled workforce is essential
Success in attracting and retaining businesses depends 
on the availability of skilled labor. In turn, a more highly 
trained workforce is able to fill higher paying jobs.

Economic development must be compatible 
with the Township’s quality of life 
Attracting and retaining good-paying jobs and tax-
generating capital investments remain the hallmarks 
of economic development, but not at the expense of 
the local environment and quality of life. Attraction 
and retention of jobs and capital investments while 
protecting the environment and safeguarding and 
enhancing quality of life are inherent in contemporary 
economic development thinking and practice.

A sense of place benefits economic development 
The character and vitality of the community are 
important factors in marketing the Township to 
prospective businesses. Ford Lake, the Huron River, 
Eagle Crest Golf Course and Resort as well as an 
outstanding park system are all assets to attracting 
both new businesses and their employees.

Strategies

Strategies are specific actions and commitments to 
implement the Vision. Taken together, these strategies 
form a “Web of Committment” to improving Ypsilanti 
Township as a wonderful investment opportunity. The 
priority of each strategy is determined on a day to day 
basis.   

Quality places 
retain & attract 

talent

Talented people 
like places with 
natural, social, 

creative, 
entrepreneurial, & 
intellectual capital

Talented people 
create jobs

PLACEMAKING AND INVESTMENT
A Model for Success



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

29Chapter  4 - Vision, Principles and Strategies

A. Leadership and Organizational Capacity:  
Strengthen and expand the ability and capacity 
of Ypsilanti Township to address and manage 
present and future community development 
opportunities. 

1. Commit fully to higher quality economic 
development outcomes 

2. Provide funding to support capacity 
improvements

3. Provide training programs for all elected 
officials and appointed staff members

4. Hire a permanent Economic Development 
Manager or Director

5. Build and maintain public engagement, 
feedback, and support mechanisms

6. Convert Steering Committee for Economic 
Development Strategy to the Township’s 
Economic Development Committee, 
meeting on a quarterly or monthly basis

B. Land Development Policies and Processes: 
Review and reform key policies and processes 
that drive and improve economic development.

1. Revise the Zoning Ordinance to be more 
user-friendly and effective in fostering 
redevelopment of key areas of the Township

2. Review and revise zoning categories 
for specific properties and areas that 
are primed for development and/or re-
development

3. Clarify and streamline development 
processes to create built-in predictability for 
builders and developers

4. Encourage the development of more flex 
space (office, research and development, 
warehousing) in Township

Township
Leadership &
Coordination

Couty and State Economic 
Development Agencies

Ann Arbor SPARK
Washtenaw County OECD

Vantage Port

Couty and State Economic 
Development Agencies

Ann Arbor SPARK
Washtenaw County OECD

Vantage Port
Workforce Development

Universities
Washtenaw Community 

College
Michigan Works!

K-12 School Districts

Small Business Assistance

Entrepreneurship Center
Small Business Development Center

Ypsilanti Township Assets

Location
Transportation

Cultural & Recreation Assets
Natural Resources

Township Businesses 

96% Small Businesses
LDFA

Township Residents

Highly Diverse
2nd largest community 
in Washtenaw County

New Developments

American Center for 
Mobility

Yankee Air Museum

Market

Retail Market Demand
Available Land for Industrial 

Redevelopment

Ypsilanti Township 
Coordination of Assets and Resources



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

30Chapter  4 - Vision, Principles and Strategies

C. Image and Communication Enhancements: 
Communicate Ypsilanti Township’s vision and 
economic development opportunities.

1. Tell Ypsilanti Township’s compelling story – 
past, present, and future

2. Build authenticity into Ypsilanti Township’s 
branding efforts

3. Determine the best methods of sharing and 
communicating the message, such as media 
partnerships

4. Broaden public participation and 
engagement in Ypsilanti Township’s future 
economic development strategies

D. Ypsilanti Township’s Business Climate:  
Undertake comprehensive coordinated actions 
to improve present and prospective business 
investments.

1. Establish robust business retention practices

2. Support small businesses and aspiring 
business entrepreneurs

3. Expand access to existing regional business 
resources (SBA, WCC, Entrepreneurship 
Center, SPARK, Washtenaw County, etc.)

4. Create organizational/networking 
opportunities such as sponsoring Annual 
Small Business Forums and encouraging 
Corridor-based organizations

5. Create a Township Business to Business 
marketing program

6. Establish a micro-loan program

E. Workforce Development and Education:         
Find effective ways to help Ypsilanti Township 
citizens and businesses develop their capacity 
to fully participate in today’s and tomorrow’s 
economy.

1. Connect people to enhancement programs

2. Compile a resource guide of workforce 
development opportunities, organizations 
and programs

3. Create a private fund to support access 
to training and certification programs for 
Ypsilanti Township residents

4. Expand partnerships with local schools 
through support of STEMM (Science, 
Technology, Engineering, Mathematics and 
Manufacturing) curriculum

5. Sponsor “job fairs” bringing employers and 
potential employees together

6. Share education success stories in 
the community, such as Washtenaw 
International High School

F. Physical Revitalization and Placemaking:      
Make strategic investments in key public 
infrastructure and gathering places.

1. Improve gateways into Ypsilanti Township

2. Enhance key commercial corridors, 
specifically Michigan Avenue, Ecorse Street,  
Huron/Whittaker and Washtenaw Avenue

3. Create new gathering places that are 
attractive to citizens and visitors

4. Begin beautification campaigns

5. Review excess Ypsilanti Township land 
parcels for their strategic long-term use or 
sale

6. Maintain parks and quality open space, 
including Ford Lake

The next chapter outlines implementation strategies 
and responsibilities. 



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

31Chapter 5 - Implementation Strategies and Responsibilities

Chapter 5

Implementation Strategies and Responsibilities



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

32Chapter 5 - Implementation Strategies and Responsibilities

Introduction

The Economic Development Strategy has six 
implementation strategies:

• Leadership and organizational capacity

• Land development policies and processes

• Image and communication enhancements

• Enhancing Ypsilanti Township’s businesss climate

• Workforce development and education

• Physical Revitalization and placemaking

Ypsilanti Township strives to implement these 
strategies on a daily basis, with measurable gains each 
year.  The following pages lay out actions, timeframes, 
responsibilities, measureas and metrics for each 
strategy.  

Leadership and Organizational 
Capacity

The Township is committed to maintaining and 
expanding its leadership and organizational capacity 
for economic development.  The hiring of an Economic 
Development Director is essential to expanding the 
Township’s capacity.  The responsibilities of that 
position should include:

Strategies and Actions Timeframe Responsibility Initial Actions, Measures & 
Metrics

Leadership and Organizational Capacity
Commit to higher quality 
economic development 
outcomes

Now, ongoing Township Board Township Board discussions and 
approvals

Provide funding to support 
economic development 
improvements

Now, as needed Township Board Establish funding, measure 
results

Provide training programs 
to Township officials

2018 Township Board, training 
partner

Develop training programs;  
survey of those trained

Hire permanent Economic 
Development Director

Now Township Board Define job and hire economic 
development person; evaluate 
efforts semi-annually

Build public engagement 
strategy

2018 Township Board,  
Township staff

Initiate concepts, plans; survey of 
Township residents on impact

Convert Steering 
Committee to ongoing 
Economic Development 
Committee

Now Township Board Define role, invite participants; 
add new members as needed

• Overall day-to-day leadership of Ypsilanti 
Township’s Economic Development activities

• Research and information

• Marketing and promotions

• Financing and incentive programs

• Site location services

• Market development

• Ombudsman and community engagement

• Technical assistance to businesses

• Strategic and long-range planning
• Workforce training



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

33Chapter 5 - Implementation Strategies and Responsibilities

Land Development Policies and 
Processes

The highly competitive global economy and changing 
technology requires the Township to develop a clear 
strategy to promote economic development. One key 
component of the strategy is to be prepared when 
opportunity knocks.

The State of Michigan sponsors the Redevelopment 
Ready Communities (RRC) program which promotes 
more effective practices leading to quality community 
development. RRC communities commit to improving 
their development readiness by agreeing to undergo 
a rigorous assessment and take steps to adopt best 
redevelopment practices.

There are several factors common to communities 
that are redevelopment ready:

• The presence of social capital (bonding, bridging 
and linking networks, community norms/trust) 
that helps the community come together to 
achieve common goals.

• Leadership is inclusive in its decision-making 
processes, allowing for the consideration of future 
generations, expression of new ideas, and support 
for the development of new leaders.

• A culture that celebrates and supports 
entrepreneurial enterprise.

• Baseline capacity including physical infrastructure 
such as roads, sewer and water and community 
services such as police and fire sufficient to 
support a community’s vision.

The actions listed in the implementation table on this 
page will help the Township be prepared for when 
opportunity knocks.  

Strategies and Actions Timeframe Responsibility Initial Actions, Measures & 
Metrics

Land Development Policies and Processes
Revise Zoning Ordinance Now, ongoing PC, Township Board, staff Continued effort; complete 

revison; evaluate improvements
Review, revise zoning on 
specific properties and/or 
areas

2018 PC, Township Board, staff Assemble list, draft changes; 
track projects on re-zoned lands

Streamline development 
review process

2018 PC, Township Board, staff Consider best practices 
elsewhere, integrate into 
Township process

Encourage development of 
flex spaces in Township

Now, ongoing Township Board, staff Engage development community; 
measure results



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

34Chapter 5 - Implementation Strategies and Responsibilities

Image and Communications 
Enhancements

Throughout the process of developing the Economic 
Development Strategy, improved communication  was 
cited as a way to  better foster and encourage econom-
ic development. The actions listed in the implemena-
tion table on this page will improve the interaction 
between Ypsilanti Township and citizens, including 
business people, with regular, informative communi-
cation.

Ypsilanti Township also recognizes that it is part of a 
larger community and region including the City of  
Ypsilanti, Ann Arbor, Washtenaw County and south-
eastern Michigan. With closures and curtailments of 
local newspapers and media outlets, the Township 
struggles to shape its identity.  The implementation 
table specifies actions by the Township to improve 
its communications effectiveness and reputation by  
taking a more active approach.  

Strategies and Actions Timeframe Responsibility Initial Actions, Measures & 
Metrics

Image and Communications Enhancements
Tell Township's story - past, 
present, future

2018 Staff, consultant Craft scope; hire consultant; pro-
duce convincing materials

Build Township's "brand" 2018 Staff, consultant Use UM-DAG process to initiate 
branding process

Determine the best way to 
use and spread the  
Ypsilanti Township “Brand”

2018 Staff, consultant Build on UM-DAG process; devel-
op best distribution process

Broaden Township's public 
engagment on Economic 
Development Strategy

2018 Township Board, staff, 
consultant

Engage Economic Development 
Committee, staff drafting; reach 
out to community



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

35Chapter 5 - Implementation Strategies and Responsibilities

Ypsilanti Township’s Business Climate

Ypsilanti Township has a unique and strong small 
business climate with over ninety percent of 
the Township’s businesses having less than fifty  
employees.  The implementation table on this page 
lists coordinated actions to improve present and  
prospective business investments in Ypsilanti  
Township.  

Strategies and Actions Timeframe Responsibility Initial Actions, Measures & 
Metrics

Ypsilanti Township’s Business Climate
Establish business  
retention practices

Later 2018 Economic Development 
Director

Prioritized company list; visits 
per quarter to Ypsilanti Township 
businesses.

Support small businesses & 
entrepreneurs

Later 2018 Economic Development 
Director

List of all companies; materials to 
all Ypsilanti Township businesses.

Expand access to area 
economic development 
organizations

Later 2018 Economic Development 
Director 

List of all programs; outreach to 
all Ypsilanti Township Businesses.

Create economic 
development networking 
opportunities

2019 Economic Development 
Director

Craft overall strategy; begin 
process and encourage contacts.

Create Township 
business-to-business 
marketing

2019 Economic Development 
Director; Spark

Craft overall strategy; measure 
connections quarterly and 
annually.

Establish Township 
economic development 
microloan program

2019 Economic Development 
Director; local partner

Study best practices and 
partners; measure loan  
originations, projects, and  
results.



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

36Chapter 5 - Implementation Strategies and Responsibilities

Workforce Development and 
Education

Quality workforce training and general education is 
central to realizing the vison for Ypsilanti Township.  
The implementation table on this page features effec-
tive ways for Township citizens and businesses to fully 
develop their capacity to participate in today’s and 
tomorrow’s economy.    

Strategies and Actions Timeframe Responsibility Initial Actions, Measures & 
Metrics

Workforce Development and Education
Connect Township persons 
to enhancement programs

2018-2019 Economic Development 
Director

Materials to all; number of 
residents engaged.

Compile resource guide of 
WF opps, orgs, programs

2018-2019 Economic Development 
Director

Produce Resource Guide; prepare 
updates as needed.

Create a private fund to 
support Township residents

2018-2019 Economic Development 
Director; local partner

Create and advertise/encourage 
fund; track originated loans.

Expand partnerships with 
local schools and WCC, 
EMU and U of M

2018-2019 Township Board, Economic 
Development Director; 
local partner

Establish partnerships; track and 
measure impacts.

Sponsor job fairs 2018-2019 Economic Development 
Director 

Hold job fairs; measure  
attendance, and track the  
number of jobs filled.

Share Township education 
success stories 

2018-2019 Economic Development 
Director; consultants

Prepare Ypsilanti Township sto-
ries; track appearances in local 
print and electronic media.



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

37Chapter 5 - Implementation Strategies and Responsibilities

Physical Revitalization and  
Placemaking

In the changing economy, Ypsilanti Township has 
committed to creating an environment for investment 
through physical revitalization and placemaking.  The 
actions in the implementation table on this page are 
strategic investments in key public infrastructure and 
gathering places to further economic development in 
the Township.

Strategies and Actions Timeframe Responsibility Initial Actions, Measures & Metrics
Physical Revitalization and Placemaking
Improve key gateways into 
Township

2018-2020 Township Staff, 
consultants

Prepare plans and implementation 
projects; evaluate completed projects

Enhance commercial 
corridors within Township

2019-2022 Township Staff, 
consultants

Prepare plans and implementation 
projects; evaluate completed projects

Create new gathering 
places within Township

2018-2022 Township Staff, 
consultants

Prepare plans and implementation 
projects; evaluate completed projects

Begin beautification 
campaigns

2019-2020 Township Staff, 
consultants

Develop plans and implement plans; 
evaluate results 

Explore incentives to 
improve appearance of 
existing business

2019 Economic Devel-
opment Director, 
Township Staff

Evaluate best practice incentive  
programs and select cost effective 
approach

Review excess Township 
land parcels for strategic 
use and/or possible sale

2018-2019 Township Staff, 
consultants

Evaluate, prioritize, and keep or 
package/sell properties

Maintain parks and quality 
open space

Now, ongoing Township Staff Survey, evaluate, prioritize, maintain, 
improve parks and open space



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

38Chapter 5 - Implementation Strategies and Responsibilities

Page left intentionally blank



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ASSET INVENTORY REPORT

39Technical Report No. 3     January 2018

Appendix

Part 1 - Asset Inventory Report

Part 2 - Retail Market Analysis

Part 3 - Industrial Market Analysis

Part 4 - Community Engagement Summary

Part 5 - Development Ready



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ASSET INVENTORY REPORT

40Technical Report No. 3     January 2018

Page left intentionally blank



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ASSET INVENTORY REPORT

41Technical Report No. 3     January 2018

Charter Township of Ypsilanti

Economic Development Strategy

Asset Inventory Report

Carlisle | Wortman
A S S O C I AT E S,  I N C.



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ASSET INVENTORY REPORT

42Technical Report No. 3     January 2018

Introduction

Building better places is one of the strongest incentives for community investment. 
The Economic Development Strategy for Ypsilanti Township focuses on the 
community’s outstanding assets upon which to capitalize.

Assets are the foundation for building a successful economic development strategy. 
They may be located inside the municipality’s borders or in nearby communities. 
For example, the proximity of the Township to major educational and health care 
institutions outside of the Township’s borders, like Eastern Michigan University and 
St. Joseph Mercy Hospital is an asset.

The Asset Inventory Report identifies the social, economic, physical, cultural and 
natural assets of Ypsilanti Township.

What is a Community Asset?

A community asset (or community resource) is anything that improves the quality 
of community life. 

• It can be a person - Residents can be empowered to realize and use their 
abilities to build and transform the community - the stay-at-home mom 
or dad who organizes a playgroup, the volunteer neighborhood leader, 
the firefighter who risks his life to keep the community safe. These are all 
community assets.

• It can be a physical structure or place - a school, hospital, church, library, 
recreation center, social club are assets. It could be a town landmark or 
symbol. It might also be an unused building that could house a community 
hospice, or a second floor room ideal for community meetings. It might be a 
public place that already belongs to the community -- a park, a wetland, or 
other open space.

• It can be a community service that makes life better for some or all 
community members - public transportation, early childhood education 
center, community recycling facilities or cultural organization.

• It can be a business that provides jobs and supports the local economy.

• Everyone in the community are potential community assets. Everyone 
has some skills or talents, and everyone can provide knowledge about the 
community, connections to the people they know, and the kind of support 
that every effort needs - making phone calls, stuffing envelopes, giving 
people information, moving equipment or supplies - whatever needs doing. 
Everyone in the community can be a force for community improvement if 
only we knew what their assets were, and could put them to use.

Source: Community Tool Box, Center for Community Health and Development, 
University of Kansas.



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ASSET INVENTORY REPORT

43Technical Report No. 3     January 2018

A. Location

Ypsilanti Charter Township is strategically located in eastern Washtenaw County. 
Thirty-one point eight (31.8) square miles in area, it is approximately 36 miles from 
downtown Detroit. Interstate-94 traverses the Township in an east/west direction 
with three interchanges at Michigan Avenue, Huron Street, and Rawsonville Road. 
Both US-23 and I-94 and I-275 provide excellent north-south access and are a short 
drive from all portions of the Township. In close proximity to Ann Arbor, Ypsilanti 
Township is centrally located within metropolitan Detroit and within a reasonable 
distance of several Midwestern population and economic hubs:

B.  Population

Ypsilanti Township the second most populous community in Washtenaw County 
next to Ann Arbor. The Township is highly diverse - 57% of its residents are Caucasian 
and 33% are African American. The other key characteristics are:

• Township Population:  54,613 persons (2015 American Community Survey)

• Median Age:  33.7 years (2015 American Community Survey)

• Average Household Size:  2.49 persons (2010 Census)

• Household Units (occupied): 22,071 units (2010 Census)

• Median Household Value (owner-occupied): $112,700 (2015 American 
Community Survey)

• Educational Attainment Population 25 Years and over (2015 American 
Community Survey): 

o 39.5 % bachelor’s degree or higher

o 9.4 % associate’s degree 

o 19.5 % bachelor’s degree 

o 10.6% professional or graduate degree

C.  Economy

Employment

The education, health care and social services fields are the dominant types of 
businesses in Ypsilanti Township.  Almost thirty-two percent of employed Ypsilanti 
Township residents work in education, health care, and social services. The next 
highest category of employment is retail trade, followed by manufacturing.  

The top employers are: 

• Eby-Brown Co LLC (Distribution Center)

• General Dynamics Advanced Information (Manufacturing)

• Pollard Banknote, Ltd. (Manufacturing)

• Kroger (Retail)

• Ypsilanti Community Schools (Education)

• Downtown Detroit, MI  
(36 miles) 

• Windsor, ON (39 miles)

• Flint, MI (66 miles) 

• Ann Arbor, MI (12 miles)

• Toledo, OH (48 miles) 

• Lansing, MI (78 miles)

• Grand Rapids, MI  
(145 miles) 

• Cleveland, OH (165 miles)

• Toronto, ON (265 miles) 

• Chicago, IL (250 miles)



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ASSET INVENTORY REPORT

44Technical Report No. 3     January 2018

Ninety-six (96%) percent of the 1,287 Township businesses have fewer than 50 
employees. Most (63%) of the small businesses are between 1-4 employees. The 
high percentage of small businesses in the Township is a positive indicator for future 
job growth. The SBA reports that small firms accounted for nearly two-thirds of the 
net new jobs created between 1993 and 2013 and provide nearly half of all private 
sector employment. 

The highest job production by small businesses in Ypsilanti Township are in the 
following categories:

• Retail Trade (197 businesses/2,211 employees)

• Accomodations and Food Service  
(118 businesses/1,640 employees)

• Health Care and Social Assistance  
(108 businesses/1,331 employees)

• Manufacturing (44 businesses/1,289 employees)

Recent Economic Activity

The following significant new development projects were approved in 2017:

• American Center for Mobility (ACM) – ACM is a testing and product 
development facility for connected and automated vehicles. ACM has 
attracted over $100 million in investments including Ford, Toyota and Hyundai 
as recent major partners. ACM will be a magnet for auto technology based 
businesses and employment

• VMAX – 30,00 square-foot industrial research and warehousing facility

• Hampton Inn –  88 room, 4-story hotel

• Majestic Lakes Planned Development – Mixed housing development consisting 
of 233 dwelling units

• Penske Truck Service – 12,000 square foot truck maintenance for Penske 
private fleet

Property Tax Values

After several years of decline during the period of recession, taxable values are 
again on the increase. Ypsilanti Township is a top contributor to property tax values 
in the County:

• 4th largest base of residential tax value in the County

• 5th largest base of industrial tax value in County

• 3rd largest base of commercial tax value in County

• 4th largest base of all total real and personal tax value

Economic Development Partners

SPARK

SPARK is an organization dedicated to the economic prosperity of the greater 
Ann Arbor region. SPARK uses their skills and knowledge to attract, develop, 
strengthen, and invest in driving industries to help our region thrive.

Ann Arbor SPARK is committed to bringing together partners, like the Michigan 
Economic Development Corporation, Michigan Works, city and municipal 
partners, academic institutions, and others to support the growth of companies 
and the creation of jobs.

1000+ Employees

500-999 Employees

250-499 Employees

100-249 Employees

50-99 Employees 

20-49 Employees

10-19 Employees

5-9 Employees

1-4 Employees

63%
18%

10%

5% 2% 2% >.1%

Ypsilanti Township Businesses by Number of Employees



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ASSET INVENTORY REPORT

45Technical Report No. 3     January 2018

Innovate Ypsi Incentive Program

Offered by SPARK, the Innovate Ypsi incentive program provides grants, loans 
and other economic assistance to businesses that create jobs and investments 
in the City of Ypsilanti and Ypsilanti Township.  Performance based grants are 
available to eligible businesses that create jobs or make new investment in the 
Ypsilanti area.  The use of funds is flexible and can be used for a variety of 
expenses, including marketing, rehabilitation, machinery, and real estate.  

Local Development Finance Authority

The Local Development Finance Authority (LDFA) uses tax increment financing 
(TIF) to assist industrial development. The LDFA is a public corporate body 
created primarily to plan and finance the development and redevelopment of 
the designated facilities, agricultural processing facilities, and high technology 
activity. The Ypsilanti Township LDFA meets once per year, in December.

Michigan Small Business Development Center

The Michigan Small Business Development Center (SBDC) enhances Michigan’s 
economic wellbeing by providing counseling, training and research for new 
ventures, exising small businesses and advanced technology companies.

The satellite office of the SBDC serving Ypsilanti Township is housed at 
Washtenaw Community College. The office covers six counties and offers 
counseling and training to small businesses.

Michigan Works! - Washtenaw County

The Michigan Works! System is a statewide workforce development system with 
a location in the City of Ypsilanti that services residents in Washtenaw County. 
Michigan Works! offers counseling services, workshops, and other resources to 
employers and job seekers, as well as employment training programs for youth.

Washtenaw Community College Workforce Development

Washtenaw Community College (WCC) is a 2-year community college located in 
Ann Arbor. WCC offers support services for businesses, working professionals, 
and job seekers in Washtenaw County. WCC provides classes and certificates to 
prepare for specific industry work. 

The Entrepreneurship Center at WCC

The Entrepreneurship Center at WCC is a resource hub for entrepeneurs open 
to the public. The Center has meeting space, open co-working space, wi-fi and 
technology resources. Their staff offer one-on-one appointments and host 
networking events, workshops, boot camps and pitch competitions.

Washtenaw County

The Washtenaw County Office of Community and Economic Development 
(OCED) delivers services in the areas of affordable housing, human services, 
economic development and community infrastructure. The Township and 
County have worked closely together on a number of initiatives including 
Reimagine Washtenaw, Brownfield Redevelopment and the Economic 
Development Strategy.

VantagePort

VantagePort is a public-private economic development agency supported by 
communities, the airport authority, and private sector leaders. VantagePort 
seeks to expand economic development focused upon the strategic positive of 
Detroit Metropolitan and Willow Run airports.

D. Cultural & Recreational Assets

Library

The Ypsilanti District Library-Whittaker is located at 5577 Whittaker Road. The 
Whittaker Road facility, designed by David Milling and Associates, was opened in 
January of 2002. The facility has 60,000 square feet with over 250,000 titles.

Park System

The Ypsilanti Township Parks System consists of thirty parks and recreation facilities 
totaling over 900 acres, shown on the Community Assets Map. The parks range 
in size from 0.3 acres to 190 acres and provide areas for informal play, organized 
programs, or to simply enjoy nature. The larger community parks provide enhanced 
facilities including picnic shelters, boardwalks, paved and nature trails, interpretive 
signage, access to canoeing, kayaking and boating, fishing, and athletic fields/courts. 

Ypsilanti Township has 14 neighborhood parks and playlots. Many of the 
neighborhood parks have recently been renovated and include new park and play 



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ASSET INVENTORY REPORT

46Technical Report No. 3     January 2018

equipment. Neighborhood parks and playlots are usually connected to neighborhood 
by sidewalks or bicycle paths.

Eight of the Township parks are located on Ford Lake and are part of the Ford Lake 
Park System.   Those include Big Island Park, Ford Lake Park, Huron River Park, 
Lakeside Park, Loonfeather Point Park, North Hydro Park, South Hydro Park and 
North Bay Park. 

The four largest parks, Ford Lake, Ford Heritage, Hewen’s Creek, and North Bay, 
protect large tracts of open space.  Ford Lake Park and North Bay Park provide 
unique waterfront access to Ford Lake.

Rolling Hills

Rolling Hills is one of the most recreationally-diverse destinations in Washtenaw 
County including a water park, nature trails, fishing, picnics, playgrounds, disc golf, 
softball, horseshoes, sledding, and cross-country skiing. The 363-acre Washtenaw 
County Park offers year-round recreation.

Golf Courses

There are four golf courses located within Ypsilanti Township: Eagle Crest, Washtenaw 
Golf Club, Pine View, and Green Oaks.

Ypsilanti Township operates Green Oaks, an 18-hole golf course.  It is located on the 
north side of Clark Road across from Community Center Park.  The facility is over 
30 years old.  It offers open golf lessons and hosts outings, tournaments and league 
rounds.  

Washtenaw Golf Club is a traditional country club style course with narrow tree 
lined fairways and well guarded greens. Opened in 1899, Washtenaw Golf Club is 
the third oldest golf course in Michigan. 

Eagle Crest Golf Club features an 18-hole championship golf course and a three-
tiered practice driving range with a view of Ford Lake. Owned by Eastern Michigan 
University, Eagle Crest is the home course for the Men’s and Women’s Golf Teams 
and is also open to the public. The course has locker rooms, a golf shop and a PGA 
Teaching Academy on the property along with its state-of-the-art practice facility 
and a short game area.



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ASSET INVENTORY REPORT

47Technical Report No. 3     January 2018

Pine View Golf Course opened in 1989 offers both an 18-hole Championship Course 
and a 9-hole Executive Course. 

Community Center

Located at 2025 East Clark Road, the Community Center offers youth and adult 
sports and enrichment programs, pre-school programs, arts and crafts, family 
events, older adult programs, travel, and health and fitness classes. The facilities 
include an arts and crafts room, pre-school room, racquetball/wallyball courts, 
gymnasium, aerobic and dance studio, meeting/class rooms, and a senior center. 
There are several rooms available for the general public to rent. 

Regional Recreational Opportunities

Centrally located in southeast Michigan, Ypsilanti Township residents are able to 
enjoy many county and state recreational parks and facilities. 

E. Transportation

Ypsilanti Township is connected to the Ypsilanti/Ann Arbor area, the region of 
southeastern Michigan and an international network of highways and airports.  The 
Township can be easily accessed by bus through the Ann Arbor Area Transportation 
Authority as well as by Interstate 94 via three highway interchanges.  The Town-
ship’s close proximity to Willow Run Airport and Detroit Metro Airport provides 
access to worldwide shipping and passenger air transportation. 

AAATA

The Ann Arbor Area Transportation Authority (TheRide), a not-for-profit unit of gov-
ernment, operates the local public transit system for the greater Ann Arbor-Ypsilanti 
area. TheRide enables the area’s residents to reach their destinations at reasonable 
cost, and offers the region efficient, environmentally sound transportation alterna-
tives. 

On May 6, 2014, Ypsilanti Township voted to increase property taxes by 0.7-mills 
to pay for new and improved public transit services. The millage for AAATA’s pub-
lic transportation improvement plan will generate a total of $4.3 million for new 
and expanded services annually through 2019. The proposal will fulfill residents’ 
requests for enhanced services, including expanded Dial-A-Ride services for seniors 



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ASSET INVENTORY REPORT

48Technical Report No. 3     January 2018

and people with disabilities, more direct service through redesigned routes, extend-
ed hours on weekdays and nights, extended weekend service on fixed routes (ear-
lier start times, much later end times), improved bus stops, and increased service 
frequency on many routes. 

Detroit Metro Airport (DTW)
Located 15 minutes from Ypsilanti Township, the Detroit Metropolitan Airport 
(DTW) serves over 36 million passengers a year making it the twelfth busiest airport 
of its kind in the United States and the twentieth busiest in the world. DTW is the 
largest international hub for Delta Airlines (5th largest airline carrier in the United 
States), and 2nd largest hub for Spirit Airlines. DTW’s 15 passenger airlines, includ-
ing 6 foreign flag airlines, serve 160 nonstop flight locations throughout the world. 

Willow Run Airport 

Willow Run Airport is located in both Ypsilanti Township and Van Buren Township.  
The airport serves freight, corporate and general aviation on its four runways. The 
airport is owned by Wayne County and is operated by the Wayne County Airport 
Authority.   The airport handles over 200,000,000 pounds of cargo annually and is 
one of the nation’s largest airports for air freight flown by exclusively cargo aircraft.

F. Public Utilities 

A majority of the Township is provided public water and public sanitary sewer ser-
vices through the Ypsilanti Community Utility Authority (YCUA), while the remaining 
properties rely upon on-site well and septic systems. 

YCUA originated in 1974 from an alliance between the City of Ypsilanti and the 
Township. YCUA was originally a regional utility to provide wastewater treatment to 
the two communities and later expanded to include sewer and water distribution 
systems. Over time, the system has expanded its services to other communities. 
The Authority is governed by a five-member Commission, comprised of two City of 
Ypsilanti and three Ypsilanti Township representatives. Day-to-day operations are 
overseen by the YCUA director, with the Board of Directors responsible for estab-
lishing policy and approving bond requests and proposed rate changes.

Water Systems

YCUA is a regional distributor of water for communities in both Washtenaw and 
Wayne Counties including the City of Ypsilanti, and the Townships of Ypsilanti,  

Augusta, Superior, Pittsfield, Canton, York, and Van Buren. The original source of 
public water within the YCUA district is provided by the Detroit Water and Sewerage 
Department (DWSD) and is treated at two different plants, the Southwest Water 
Treatment Plant, located in Detroit, and the Springwells Water Treatment Plant in 
Dearborn. Water intake occurs at these plants and is treated prior to distribution to 
the YCUA facility for redistribution to its customers. The water distribution service 
area covers all of Ypsilanti Township. The service area is divided into three pressure 
districts to provide adequate minimum and maximum pressures for all areas. 

Sanitary Sewer

YCUA provides wastewater services to the entire boundaries of City of Ypsilanti 
and Ypsilanti Township and to portions of Augusta, Pittsfield, Sumpter and Superior 
Townships. In addition, YCUA provides service to the Western Townships Utility Au-
thority, or WTUA, which serves Canton, Plymouth, and Northville Townships.

The Township, together with the City of Ypsilanti, contracts with YCUA to handle 
approximately 50% of the total available capacity (or 14.45 million gallons per day).  
The system is centered within Ypsilanti Township and includes a series of pump sta-
tions, interceptors, and trunk sewers.

The YCUA Wastewater Treatment Facility began operating in 1982 at its site on State 
Road near Willow Run Airport. The capacity of the wastewater treatment plant al-
lows for 51.3 million gallons of wastewater per day. It is currently operating within 
its expanded capacity at 22.3 million gallons per day, or 44% of total capacity. The 
2006 expansion was for the planned for the future growth of the service areas un-
til 2025. Additional future development will require substantial upgrades including 
but not limited to extension of service lines, additional capacity and increasing the 
width size of distribution lines.

Electrical Power

DTE Energy provides electrical power service to Ypsilanti Township and the major-
ity of the metro Detroit region and southeastern Michigan. The Township requires 
electrical lines in new subdivisions to be placed underground in order to preserve 
view sheds throughout the Township.

Due to a number of previously documented deficiencies within the eletrical dis-
tribution network, DTE has taken measures to upgrade the system including the 
installation of a substation along Whittaker Road. 



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ASSET INVENTORY REPORT

49Technical Report No. 3     January 2018

G. Education

Ypsilanti Township is served by three school districts:  Ypsilanti Community Schools, 
Lincoln Consolidated Schools and Van Buren Public Schools. Ann Arbor Public 
Schools is a school of choice district, offering seats to students from Ypsilanti Town-
ship. The Township is also located in close proximity to four universities and a com-
munity college. 

Primary and Secondary Schools

Lincoln Consolidated Schools

The Lincoln School District encompasses the majority of the southern portion 
of the Township, while all of the facilities are located within Augusta Township. 
The campus includes 4 elementary schools, a middle school and a high school. 
The district also owns the Bessie Hoffman building located in Sumpter Town-
ship. 

Ypsilanti Community School District

On July 1, 2013, the Ypsilanti Public School District merged and the Willow Run 
School District to become the Ypsilanti Community School District. The merger 
necessary as both districts continued to find themselves with declining student 
populations and increasing debt. With the merger, the district opened the 2013 
school year with an estimated 4,800 students. Ypsilanti Community Schools has 
based its approach on project-based learning, small learning communities, In-
ternational Baccalaureate curriculum and a variety of teaching methods.

Van Buren School District

This district is located within the eastern portion of the Township and enrolls 
just over 5,100 students. The district recently constructed a new high school 
facility within Van Buren Township. 

Consortium, Charter and Private Schools

The Ypsilanti community is also home to Washtenaw International High School 
(WiHi), a county-wide magnet high school using the International Baccalaureate Di-
ploma Program.  Ypsilanti Community Schools and Lincoln Consolidated Schools are 

part of the consortium of school districts sponsoring the high school.  In 2016, WiHi 
students had the second highest average SAT scores in the state of Michigan.  

Numerous private schools in Washtenaw and Wayne Counties are available to Yp-
silanti Township residents.  The Township is also served by a number of charter 
schools.  

Higher Education

Eastern Michigan University

Founded in 1849, Eastern Michigan University (EMU) is a comprehensive, 
co-educational public university. Currently, EMU comprises seven colleges and 
schools. The university’s site is composed of an academic and athletic campus 
spread across 800 acres, with over 120 buildings. EMU has a total enrollment 
of more than 23,000 students. EMU is located in the City of Ypsilanti, near its 
northern border with Ypsilanti Township.

University of Michigan

The University of Michigan is a public research university in Ann Arbor, founded 
in 1817.  The university campus includes more than 584 major buildings with a 
combined area of more than 780 acres spread out over a Central Campus and 
North Campus in nearby Ann Arbor, two regional campuses in Flint and Dear-
born, and a Center in Detroit.

Concordia University

Concordia University Ann Arbor (CUAA) is a private, liberal arts university in Ann 
Arbor, Michigan. Affiliated with the Lutheran Church-Missouri Synod (LCMS), 
CUAA entered into a unique alliance with Concordia University Wisconsin (CUW) 
in July 2013. CUW broadens its reach into a new geographical area, while CUAA 
strengthens its enrollment, marketing, and administrative support to continue 
providing LCMS higher education to students in the Great Lakes region. The 
187-acre campus is on the banks of the Huron River, within a 10-minute drive 
to Ypsilanti Township.



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ASSET INVENTORY REPORT

50Technical Report No. 3     January 2018

Cleary University

Based in Livingston County, Cleary University also has an education center lo-
cated in Ann Arbor. Founded in 1883, Cleary’s curriculum focuses on business 
education and offers an MBA degree program.

Washtenaw Community College

Washtenaw Community College offers more than 100 programs and 1,500 cred-
it and non-credit classes providing a wealth of educational opportunities. Cur-
rently, WCC has an annual enrollment of 23,000 credit and 8,000 non-credit 
students. The main campus is located in Superior Township, just across Ypsilanti 
Township’s northern border.  WCC is a valuable partner in economic develop-
ment by providing customized workforce training, SDBC assistance and resourc-
es through the Entrepreneurship Center.

H. Healthcare

Saint Joseph

Saint Joseph Mercy Health System (SJMHS) is a health care organization with seven 
hospitals serving southeast Michigan. The residency training program in Ypsilanti 
specializes in obstetrics and gynecology. St. Joseph Mercy Ann Arbor is a 537-bed 
teaching hospital located on a 340 acre campus in Superior Township, just over the 
northern border of Ypsilanti Township. St. Joseph Mercy Hospital has been named 
as a Top 100 Hospital and is at the forefront of many clinical specialty areas.

Michigan Medicine

Michigan Medicine is the wholly owned academic medical center of the Univer-
sity of Michigan in Ann Arbor. It includes the U-M Medical School, with its facul-
ty group practice and many research laboratories; the U-M hospitals and health 
centers, which include University Hospital, C.S. Mott Children’s Hospital, Von Voi-
gtlander Women’s Hospital, as well as approximately 40 health centers and home 
care services across southeast Michigan; the clinical programs of the U-M School 
of Nursing; and the activities of the Michigan Health Corporation, through which 
U-M partners with other medical centers and hospitals to provide specialized care 
throughout Michigan.

I. Public Safety

Police

Police Services are provided by the Washtenaw County Sheriff’s Office under a 
contract with the Charter Township of Ypsilanti. The Township contracts for 35 Po-
lice Service Units (PSU) which consist of 35 sheriff’s deputies, 5 sergeants and 1 
lieutenant. In addition to uniformed patrol services, the police contract supports 
a Community Action Team (CAT) that investigates violent crimes, a Neighborhood 
Enforcement Team focused on neighborhood based issues, a traffic specialist, and a 
specially trained detective who operates a computer forensics lab provided by Yp-
silanti Township at its police facility. The investigation of major crimes also receives 
support from the Detective Bureau and other collaborative support units. 

Fire

The Charter Township of Ypsilanti Fire Department provides service from three 
stations to approximately 53,000 residents, covering an area of approximately 32 
square miles. The department is currently staffed by 27 career personnel including 
the Fire Chief, Fire Marshal, 3 Captains, 3 Lieutenants, and 19 Fire Fighters. The 
department responds to fire, emergency medical, hazardous material, and other 
emergencies. The Fire Chief and Fire Marshal are on call, 24 hours a day, 365 days a 
year for incident response.

J. Willow Run Redevelopment

The former Willow Run Bomber Plant, home to the original “Rosie the Riveter”, is 
now a unique mixture of honoring the past with the future of transportation.  A 
portion of the site will be the future home of the National Museum of Aviation and 
Technology at Historic Willow Run, known as the Yankee Air Museum.  Approxi-
mately 144,000 square feet of the original bomber plant be renovated to house 
the museum’s collection of more than 5,000 artifacts on aviation and space travel.  
The new location will include a hangar so flyable aircraft, exhibits, restoration and 
educational programs are on a single site.

On the remainder of the site, a technology park is developing, including the Ameri-
can Center for Mobility (ACM).  On 335 acres in Ypsilanti Township, ACM opened in 
December 2017 as a testing and research facility for connected and automated ve-
hicle technology.  This non-profit center includes a test track, garages, laboratories 



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ASSET INVENTORY REPORT

51Technical Report No. 3     January 2018

and offices for teams testing new technology in transportation.  The test track has 
double overpasses, railroad crossings, highway loops, and a tunnel, as well as ur-
ban, suburban and rural environments.  A technology park for associated research 
uses is planned adjacent to the testing facility.   

K. Natural Features

Ypsilanti Township contains significant natural features with an abundance of nat-
ural and cultural features including the river, lakes, creeks, wetlands, open fields, 
hedgerows, and woodlands which make an important contribution to the quali-
ty of human and animal life in the Township. The Huron River, a major waterway 
around which the community has developed, flows through the Township. The river 
provides opportunities for recreation and habitat, and connects people and places 
within the Township.

Huron River

The Huron River passes through the Township from the northwest to the southeast. 
This river, which has its headwaters in Oakland County, flows through Livingston 
County, Ann Arbor, then traverses Ypsilanti Township heading eastward through 
Wayne County to eventually discharge into Lake Erie. The segment of this river in 
Ypsilanti Township is a vital link in the overall system. The historic development of 
the City of Ypsilanti and Ypsilanti Township was largely based upon the presence of 
this waterway.

Lakes

Lakes are among the Township’s most valuable natural resources making up roughly 
1,340 acres. Ford Lake is the largest and most significant lake in the Township. This 
man-made lake was formed by the damming of the Huron River by the Ford Motor 
Company as part of a hydro-electric power facility. Today, Ford Lake provides recre-
ational opportunities such as boating, fishing and swimming. 

There are other smaller lakes south of Ford Lake. Many of these are old gravel pits 
now filled with water. While generally not large enough for boating, the smaller 
lakes provide other recreational, scenic and ecological benefits.

Key Vistas

Scenic views of Ford Lake are key assets to the Township. Views can be seen from all 
sides of Ford Lake, but are most pronounced from the west end of the lake where 
the Easern Michigan University Golf Course is located. A boardwalk and a series of 
islands in North Bay Park takes people around the western portion of the lake and 
a raised platform provides an elevated view of Eastern Michigan University Golf 
Course and Ford Lake.

There are a number of areas in the southern portion of the Township which have 
views characteristic of a rural community. These include areas with views of farm 
fields and sections of roads lined by dense woodlands. Roadways that consist of 
segments lined with woodlands interspersed by open fields provide a sequence of 
views characteristic of a cultural and rural landscape. 



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - ASSET INVENTORY REPORT

52Technical Report No. 3     January 2018

Page left intentionally blank



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - THE ENVIRONMENT FOR RETAIL INVESTMENT

53Technical Report No. 1     July, 2017

Charter Township of Ypsilanti

Economic Development Strategy

Retail Market Analysis

Carlisle | Wortman
A S S O C I AT E S,  I N C.



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - THE ENVIRONMENT FOR RETAIL INVESTMENT

54Technical Report No. 1     July, 2017

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

In the formulation of an Economic Development Strategy, a key component of a community’s success is the retail market. The purpose of this study is to assess the retail 
market potential of the Township, especially in light of the latest trends in retailing.

• Determining the potential for new retail space is a function of household spending in a given geographic trade area.

• Within a 15-minute drive time, there is a range of 220,000 – 250,000 people and 87,000 – 100,000 households.

• For many retail product categories, there are significant dollars spent outside the trade area by households living within the trade area. This means there is a significant 
“leakage” of dollars from the trade area resulting in a retail gap.

• Throughout the Township, there is a strong demand for convenience goods and services (5-minute drive time) particularly in the following categories:

o Furniture/home furnishings

o Electronics and appliances

o Building materials, garden equipment and supply stores

o Food and beverage stores

o Clothing and accessories

o Sporting goods, hobby, books and music

o General merchandise

o Restaurants

• Within the Township, there is also a demand for comparison shopping (15-minute drive time) for goods such as:

o Home furnishings

o Building materials, garden equipment and supply stores

o Food and beverage stores

o Shoes, jewelry, luggage and leather goods stores

o Miscellaneous store retailers (i.e. florists, specialty items)

o Office supplies, stationary and gift stores

o Food services and drinking establishments

• Retail trends indicate that: 

o Stores with a unique appeal focusing on customer service will be successful

o Smaller, rather than large store formats are also a trend

o Retailers who understand their customer base and generational trends will have a greater potential of success



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - THE ENVIRONMENT FOR RETAIL INVESTMENT

55Technical Report No. 1     July, 2017

INTRODUCTION

Retail market analysis identifies the market potential of a given geographic area. The benefits of conducting a retail market analysis include the following:

• To help existing businesses better understand their trade area, and improve sales.

• To explore business development opportunities; and

• To demonstrate the economic importance of business areas within the Township.

The market analysis starts with the identification of a relevant trade area from which patrons of Township businesses originate. The demographics and business statistics of 
the trade area are identified and the potential “buying power” of households within the trade area are analyzed.  With this information, retail sector “gaps” and “surpluses” 
are identified for each major business category.  A gap is where money from the trade area is not spent in the trade area. In other words, consumers who live within the 
trade area are spending their dollars outside the trade area. In some cases, there is a surplus of dollars being spent within the trade area. A surplus exists when local 
businesses are capturing the local market and possibly attracting non-local shoppers as well. Finally, where a gap exists and dollars are being spent elsewhere, there is 
potential for additional retail space to be supported within the trade area. The supportable square footage is a function of dollars that are “leaked” elsewhere divided by 
typical sales per square foot data.



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - THE ENVIRONMENT FOR RETAIL INVESTMENT

56Technical Report No. 1     July, 2017

TRADE AREA

 A trade area is the geographic area from which a community generates the majority of its customers. Factors influencing a trade area include the following:

• Population Characteristics. Population and income drive the market.

• Competing Business Districts.  Typically there is a point within a trade area where customers are drawn to a competing center.

• Mix of Businesses.  A critical mass of businesses pulls customers from a further distance than a more limited mix of businesses. Success breeds success.

• Destination Attractions. A significant destination business or community attraction can expand the trade area – drawing customers from a long distance. 

• Traffic Patterns. Each area has distinct traffic patterns strongly impacted by its network of streets and highways.

Trade areas are typically stated in terms of “drive-time” to a particular destination. Thus, a trade area will not likely coincide with community boundaries. Trade areas 
service two types of shopping: convenience trade areas and destination/comparison trade areas. Typically, a shorter drive time of 5 minutes will service a convenience 
market. A longer drive time of 15 minutes serves a destination/comparison market. These two types of markets are defined as follows:

• A convenience trade area is based on the purchase of products and services needed on a regular basis, such as gasoline, groceries, and hair care. Because these 
purchases are relatively frequent, people usually find it more convenient to buy these products and services from businesses located close to their home or workplace. 
A grocery store’s trade area can often be used to represent a community’s convenience trade area. Thus, the drive-time is relatively short.

• A destination/comparison trade area is based on the purchase of “major” products and services, such as appliances or furniture, or of products and services that are 
distinctive and unique. A destination/comparison trade area will draw from a greater distance.

The diverse geography of the Township creates some challenges in a single trade area. Both the location of Ford Lake and I-94 present obstacles to typical drive times. For 
purposes of this analysis, trade areas are designated for the eastern and western portions of the Township to provide relative comparisons of the market potential within 
these portions of the Township. Together, they form a more clear picture of the market potential which exists for the Township. Figures 1 and 2 on the following pages 
illustrate the 5-minute drive time and the 15-minute drive time for each respective trade area.



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - THE ENVIRONMENT FOR RETAIL INVESTMENT

57Technical Report No. 1     July, 2017

Figure 1. S. Huron:  5-Minute and 15-Minute Drive Times



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - THE ENVIRONMENT FOR RETAIL INVESTMENT

58Technical Report No. 1     July, 2017

Figure 2. Michigan Ave:  5-Minute and 15-Minute Drive Times



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - THE ENVIRONMENT FOR RETAIL INVESTMENT

59Technical Report No. 1     July, 2017

RETAIL MARKET ANALYSIS

Determining the amount and types of businesses which may be supported by a trade area is a function of population and household spending, represented as median 
disposable household income. Median disposable income is the amount of money households have to spend and save after taxes are paid. In essence, retail market anal-
ysis is an exercise to determine the “buying power” of the population in a particular geographic area.

In analyzing Ypsilanti Township, drive-time scenarios of 5 minutes represents a more localized population, whereas 15 minutes represents a significantly greater popula-
tion, and therefore buying power, than that which exists within just the Township boundaries. For example, within a 15-minute drive-time, the population is 4-5 times the 
Township population.

In the Township’s case, 5-minute drive times from Huron/Whitaker and Michigan Avenue/Ford St. are distinctly different. However, 15 minute drive times represent 
similar trade areas. Under a 15-minute drive-time scenarios, median household income levels are higher than within the Township. Higher incomes translate into greater 
buying power.

Table 1 below illustrates all of the background demographics relevant to retail market analysis. For comparison’s sake, demographic statistics are provided for the entire 
area within the Township boundaries.

Table 1. Background Demographics (2016 Estimated) per Township, 5-Minute Drive Time, and 15-Minute Drive Time

2016 Est. Data Township
5-Minute 

Drive Time
15-Minute 
Drive Time

5-Minute 
Drive Time

15-Minute 
Drive Time

Huron/Whittaker Michigan Ave/Ford St.
Population 53,863 16,261 248,958 26,317 219,590
Number of Households 21,473 6,292 100,555 10,628 87,006
Median Disposable Household 
Income ($)

40,652 37,583 46,937 34,067 47,433



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - THE ENVIRONMENT FOR RETAIL INVESTMENT

60Technical Report No. 1     July, 2017

Gap/Surplus Analysis

 
Retail sector gap or “leakage” analysis compares existing levels of retail sales within 
a defined trade area to the potential retail sales based on the number and demo-
graphic characteristics of households within the area. Essentially, it is a measure of 
local spending power and a determination of where those dollars are spent.

Conducting a gap analysis is a useful indicator of the following:

• Indicating  how  well  the  retail  needs  of local residents are being met
• Uncovering unmet demands and possible opportunities
• Understanding the strengths and weaknesses of the local retail sector
• Measuring the difference between actual and potential retail sales

A retail gap or leakage means that residents are spending more for products than 
local businesses capture. Retail sales leakage suggests that there may be an unmet 
demand in the trade area and that the community can support additional store 
space for that type of business.
In most cases, if consumers are spending more dollars than local businesses cap-
ture, it means dollars are being exported to another market area. However, retail 
leakage does not always translate into opportunity. For example, there could be a 
strong competitor in a neighboring community that dominates the market for that 
type of product or store.
A retail surplus means that the community’s trade area is capturing the local market 
and, in all likelihood, attracting non-local shoppers. A retail surplus does not neces-
sarily mean that the community cannot support additional business. Many commu-
nities have developed strong clusters of stores that have broad geographic appeal. 
Examples of these types of retailers include: sporting goods stores, home furnishing 
stores, restaurants, and other specialty operations that become destination retail-
ers and draw customers from outside the trade area.
Examining the quantitative aspects (Leakage/Surplus) is only part of the evaluation 
of community’s retail opportunities. Before any conclusions can be drawn about po-
tential business expansion or recruitment opportunities, however, more qualitative 
considerations must be analyzed in context of other market factors.

In Ypsilanti Township, there are both gaps or “leakage” and surpluses in the market 
represented within each trade area. In most cases, there are more retail gaps than 
there are surpluses, as illustrated in Tables 2 and 3.

Within the western trade area represented by Huron/Whittaker, there are few retail 
categories where there is a surplus within a 5-minute drive time, meaning that many 
convenience needs are not being satisfied. A similar pattern exists in a 15-minute 
drive-time, where there are also significant gaps in the retail market. The retail gaps 
recognized by the respective drive-times are illustrated in Table 2. 
 
Within the eastern trade area represented by Michigan Ave/Ford Street, a similar 
pattern exists where most convenience and comparison shopping needs are not 
being met locally. The following retail gaps are recognized by the respective drive 
times are listed below and illustrated in Table 3.

The market potential with both trade areas appears to be influenced by retail ac-
tivities occurring outside the Township; Pittsfield Township and Ann Arbor to the 
west and Canton Township to the east. Despite the fact that some of the market 
potential is siphoned off in these directions, there is both existing and future market 
potential. Among the more significant retail deficiencies in the Huron/Whittaker 
area are: restaurants and other food services; building materials and garden supply 
stores; department and general merchandise stores; furniture, home furnishings, 
electronics and appliances, and clothing, shoes and accessories.

The American Center for Mobility, Yankee Air Museum and new activities which 
result from both of these major developments will generate greater demand for 
hotels, restaurants, entertainment and retail space.

 
 



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - THE ENVIRONMENT FOR RETAIL INVESTMENT

61Technical Report No. 1     July, 2017

Table 2. Gap/Surplus Analysis Summary @ Western Trade Area/Huron & Whittaker

Retail Category
5-Minute Drive Time 15-Minute Drive Time

Gap/ Leakage Surplus Gap/ Leakage Surplus
Furniture Stores / Home Furnishings Stores √ √
Electronics and Appliance Stores √ √
Building Materials and Supplies Dealers √ √
Lawn and Garden Equipment and Supplies Stores √ √
Grocery Stores √ √
Specialty Food Stores √ √
Beer, Wine and Liquor Stores √ √
Health and Personal Care Stores √ √
Clothing Stores √ √
Shoe Stores √ √
Jewelry, Luggage and Leather Goods Stores √ √
Book, Periodical and Music Stores √ √
Department Stores / General Merchandise Stores √ √
Florists √ √
Office Supplies, Stationary and Gift Stores √ √
Special Food Services √ √
Drinking Places (Alcoholic Beverages) √ √
Restaurants / Other Eating Places √ √



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - THE ENVIRONMENT FOR RETAIL INVESTMENT

62Technical Report No. 1     July, 2017

Table 3. Gap/Surplus Analysis Summary @ Eastern Trade Area/ Ford & Michigan

Retail Category
5-Minute Drive Time 15-Minute Drive Time

Gap/ Leakage Surplus Gap/ Leakage Surplus
Furniture Stores / Home Furnishings Stores √ √
Electronics and Appliance Stores √ √
Building Materials and Supplies Dealers √ √
Lawn and Garden Equipment and Supplies Stores √ √
Grocery Stores √ √
Specialty Food Stores √ √
Beer, Wine and Liquor Stores √ √
Health and Personal Care Stores √ √
Clothing Stores √ √
Shoe Stores √ √
Jewelry, Luggage and Leather Goods Stores √ √
Book, Periodical and Music Stores √ √
Department Stores / General Merchandise Stores √ √
Florists √ √
Office Supplies, Stationary and Gift Stores √ √
Special Food Services √ √
Drinking Places (Alcoholic Beverages) √ √
Restaurants / Other Eating Places √ √



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - THE ENVIRONMENT FOR RETAIL INVESTMENT

63Technical Report No. 1     July, 2017

Supportable Floor Area

The gap analysis reveals that there are retail categories which represent opportunities for additional floor area devoted to retail use. The amount of building area which can 
be supported is a function of typical sales per square foot applied to the total amount of dollars being spent elsewhere. The sales per square foot data used in this analysis 
comes from both industry data, as well as market studies done for other communities in proximity to the Township.

Within the trade area represented by a 15-minute drive time, the following additional building area devoted to the respective retail categories could potentially be support-
ed.  Definitions of each retail group are provided in the Appendix.

Table 4. Supportable Floor Area per Retail Category @ Huron and Whittaker

Retail Category Retail Gap Sales per 
Square Foot

Supportable 
Floor Area

Home Furnishing $2,776,391 $272 10,207 s.f.
Special Food Services/ Drinking Establishment $15,444,603 $331 46,660 s.f.
Building Materials/Garden Supplies $79,537,774 $255 311,912 s.f.
Food and Beverage Stores, including Grocery Stores $129,029,258 $420 307,212 s.f.
Shoes, Jewelry, Luggage and Leather Goods $28,472,965 $308 92,444 s.f.
Miscellaneous Retail $17,822,596 $272 65,524 s.f.



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - THE ENVIRONMENT FOR RETAIL INVESTMENT

64Technical Report No. 1     July, 2017

Table 5. Supportable Floor Area per Retail Category @ Ford and Michigan

Retail Category Retail Gap Sales per  
Square Foot

Supportable  
Floor Area

Furniture and Home Furnishings $20,019,857 $272 73,602 s.f.
Building Material/Garden Supplies $59,621,152 $255 233,808 s.f.
Food and Beverage Stores, including Grocery Stores $123,820,489 $420 294,810 s.f.
Shoes, Jewelry, Luggage and Leather Goods $22,484,025 $308 73,016 s.f.
Sporting Goods, Hobby, Books and Music Stores $9,713,012 $272 35,709 s.f.
Miscellaneous Retail Stores $35,398,945 $272 130,143 s.f.
Restaurants/Special Food Service $26,710,815 $331 80,697 s.f.



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - THE ENVIRONMENT FOR RETAIL INVESTMENT

65Technical Report No. 1     July, 2017

RETAIL TRENDS

If there is anything predictable about retail markets it is that they are in a constant state of change. The dynamic environment in which retail markets must nagivate is 
largely based on two factors: changing demographic characteristics and the empowerment of technology to shop online. Both of these factors have a profound influence 
on whether retail businesses will be successful in any given community.

Demographic characteristics of various age groups strongly influence both how they shop and their spending priorities. The spending habits of Millenials, Gen-Xers and 
Baby Boomers have a differing  effect on  retail spending in the manner summarized in Table 6.
 

Table 6 Generational Influence on Retailing

Millenials 
(18-32 years old)

Gen X 
(33-52 years old)

Baby Boomers 
(53-73 years old)

Size U.S. 92 million (40%) 61 million (27%) 77 million (33%)
Twp. 12,621 (35%) 15,141 (42%) 8,262 (23%)

Spending 
Characteristics

• 44% of discretionary spend-
ing comes from eating out.

• 62% of Millenials don’t 
value strong brands.

• Dedicated to health and 
wellness, devoting time and 
money to exercising and 
eating right.

• Despite smaller size, Gen X 
spends more than Millen-
ials and Boomers on a per 
capita basis.

• Gen X researches purchase 
decisions online more than 
any other age group.

• Highest spending on kid’s 
and baby apparel.

• Boomers spend $3.2 trillion 
each year, the largest of any 
generation.

• Higher spending on big 
ticket items like cars, long 
vacations and housing.

• Spending more on health-
care than any previous 
generation.

Source: Kate Coburn, HR&A Advisors, Inc., Presentation at 2017 National Planning Conference.



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - THE ENVIRONMENT FOR RETAIL INVESTMENT

66Technical Report No. 1     July, 2017

Based on changes in demographic characteristics and with greater reliance on online shopping, “bricks and mortar” retail is experiencing radical changes. The dynamics of 
the market place is forcing retailers to adapt. Retail experts agree that bricks and mortar stores will always have a place. Most, if not all, personal services are delivered at 
a physical location. Even Amazon is building stores to feature products which are difficult to sell online, such as food and appliances. The recent acquisition of Whole Foods 
amplifies the future relationship between online sales and bricks and mortar stores.
 

Table 7 Retail Market Trends

Then Now Implication
Single-Purpose Shopping Centers Mixed-Use Development Reconfiguration of Properties/Partnerships
Department Store Anchors Key Anchor Closures Repositioning & Re-tenanting
Suburbs as Shopping Destinations Urban Main Street Experiences Changes in Store Sizes & Formats
Homogeneous Demographics Diverse Demographics Localized, Targeted Tenants
Brick & Mortar E-Commerce Focus on Experiential Retail 
Traditional Media Advertising Social Media Multimedia Strategy
 
Source: Kate Coburn, HR&A Advisors Inc., Presentation at 2017 National Planning Conference.



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - THE ENVIRONMENT FOR RETAIL INVESTMENT

67Technical Report No. 1     July, 2017

In summary, while online shopping is convenient, there will be a need for physical locations for many goods and services in the forseeable future. However, retail operations 
will be more successful if they recognize the following:

• Retailers who promote product quality and sustainability will flourish.
• Unique in-store experiences will thrive.
• Smaller stores are in and larger stores are out. Specialty stores, not department stores will have greater chance of success.
• Personal service will be increasing important to consumers.
• Understanding the customer base and generational trends will be a key to success. 

CONCLUSIONS
 
The retail gap and supportable floor area analysis reveals a need for stores specializing in furniture/home furnishings and electronics and appliances. There is also a large 
demand for restaurants/specialty food services, health and personal care and department/general merchandise stores. A much lesser demand is exhibited for specialty 
food stores, liquor stores, jewelry, luggage and leather goods stores, florists, and office supplies, stationary and gifts.



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - THE ENVIRONMENT FOR RETAIL INVESTMENT

68Technical Report No. 1     July, 2017

APPENDIX



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - THE ENVIRONMENT FOR RETAIL INVESTMENT

69Technical Report No. 1     July, 2017

DEFINITIONS

Definitions of the retail sectors used in this study are derived from the North American Industry Classification System (NAICS).  This system is the standard used by Federal 
statistical agencies in classifying business establishments for the purpose of collecting, analyzing, and publishing statistical data related to the U.S. business economy.

FURNITURE AND HOME FURNISHINGS STORES
Industries in the Furniture and home Furnishings Stores subsector retail new furniture and home furnishings from fixed point-of-sale locations.  Establishments in this sub-
sector usually operate from showrooms and have substantial areas for the presentation of their products.  Many offer interior decorating services in addition to the sale of 
products.

ELECTRONICS AND APPLIANCE STORES
Industries in the Electronics and Appliance Stores subsector retail new electronics and appliances from point-of-sale locations. Establishments in this subsector often op-
erate from locations that have special provisions for floor displays requiring special electrical capacity to accommodate the proper demonstration of the products. The 
staff includes sales personnel knowledgeable in the characteristics and warranties of the line of goods retailed and may also include trained repair persons to handle the 
maintenance and repair of the electronic equipment and appliances. The classifications within this subsector are made principally on the type of product and knowledge 
required to operate each type of store.

BUILDING MATERIAL AND SUPPLIES DEALERS
This industry group comprises establishments primarily engaged in retailing new building materials and supplies.

LAWN AND GARDEN EQUIPMENT AND SUPPLIES STORES
This industry group comprises establishments primarily engaged in retailing new lawn and garden equipment and supplies.

GROCERY STORES
This industry group comprises establishments primarily engaged in retailing a general line of food products.

SPECIALTY FOOD STORES
This industry group comprises establishments primarily engaged in retailing specialized lines of food.

BEER, WINE AND LIQUOR STORES
This industry comprises establishments primarily engaged in retailing packaged alcoholic beverages, such as ale, beer, wine, and liquor.

HEALTH AND PERSONAL CARE STORES
This industry comprises establishments known as pharmacies and drug stores engaged in retailing prescription or nonprescription drugs and medicines.

CLOTHING STORES
This industry group comprises establishments primarily engaged in retailing new clothing.



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - THE ENVIRONMENT FOR RETAIL INVESTMENT

70Technical Report No. 1     July, 2017

SHOE STORES
This industry comprises establishments primarily engaged in retailing all types of new footwear (except hosiery and specialty sports footwear, such as golf shoes, bowling 
shoes, and spiked shoes). Establishments primarily engaged in retailing new tennis shoes or sneakers are included in this industry.

JEWELRY, LUGGAGE AND LEATHER GOOD STORES
This industry group comprises establishments primarily engaged in retailing new jewelry (except costume jewelry); new sterling and plated silverware; new watches and 
clocks; and new luggage with or without a general line of new leather goods and accessories, such as hats, gloves, handbags, ties, and belts.

BOOK, PERIODICAL AND MUSIC STORES
This industry comprises establishments primarily engaged in retailing new books, newspapers, magazines, and other periodicals. It also comprises establishments primarily 
engaged in retailing new musical instruments, sheet music, and related supplies; or retailing these new products in combination with musical instrument repair, rental, or 
music instruction.

DEPARTMENT STORES / GENERAL MERCHANDISE
This industry comprises establishments known as department stores that have separate departments for general lines of new merchandise, such as apparel, jewelry, home 
furnishings, and toys, with no one merchandise line predominating. Department stores may sell perishable groceries, such as fresh fruits, vegetables, and dairy products, 
but such sales are insignificant. Department stores may have separate customer checkout areas in each department, central customer checkout areas, or both.  

General Merchandise establishments are primarily engaged in retailing new goods in general merchandise stores (except department stores). These establishments retail 
a general line of new merchandise, such as apparel, automotive parts, dry goods, hardware, groceries, housewares, and home furnishings, with no one merchandise line 
predominating. Establishments known as warehouse clubs, superstores, or supercenters are included in this industry.

FLORISTS
This industry comprises establishments known as florists primarily engaged in retailing cut flowers, floral arrangements, and potted plants purchased from others. These 
establishments usually prepare the arrangements they sell.

OFFICE SUPPLIES, STATIONARY AND GIFT STORES
This industry group comprises establishments primarily engaged in retailing new office supplies, stationery, gifts, novelty merchandise, and souvenirs.

USED MERCHANDISE STORES
This industry comprises establishments primarily engaged in retailing used merchandise, antiques, and secondhand goods (except motor vehicles, such as automobiles, RVs, 
motorcycles, and boats; motor vehicle parts; tires; and mobile homes).

SPECIAL FOOD SERVICES
This industry group comprises establishments primarily engaged in providing food services at one or more of the following locations: (1) the customer’s location; (2) a loca-
tion designated by the customer; or (3) from motorized vehicles or non-motorized carts.

DRINKING PLACES (ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES)
This industry comprises establishments known as bars, taverns, nightclubs, or drinking places primarily engaged in preparing and serving alcoholic beverages for immediate 
consumption. These establishments may also provide limited food services.



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - THE ENVIRONMENT FOR RETAIL INVESTMENT

71Technical Report No. 1     July, 2017

RESTAURANTS / OTHER EATING PLACES
This industry comprises establishments primarily engaged in one of the following: (1) providing food services to patrons who order and are served while seated (i.e., waiter/
waitress service) and pay after eating; (2) providing food services to patrons who generally order or select items (e.g., at a counter, in a buffet line) and pay before eating; 
or (3) preparing and/or serving a specialty snack (e.g., ice cream, frozen yogurt, cookies) and/or nonalcoholic beverages (e.g., coffee, juices, sodas) for consumption on or 
near the premises.



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - THE ENVIRONMENT FOR RETAIL INVESTMENT

72Technical Report No. 1     July, 2017



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - THE ENVIRONMENT FOR RETAIL INVESTMENT

73Technical Report No. 1     July, 2017



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - THE ENVIRONMENT FOR RETAIL INVESTMENT

74Technical Report No. 1     July, 2017



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - THE ENVIRONMENT FOR RETAIL INVESTMENT

75Technical Report No. 1     July, 2017



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - THE ENVIRONMENT FOR RETAIL INVESTMENT

76Technical Report No. 1     July, 2017



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - THE ENVIRONMENT FOR RETAIL INVESTMENT

77Technical Report No. 1     July, 2017



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - THE ENVIRONMENT FOR RETAIL INVESTMENT

78Technical Report No. 1     July, 2017



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - THE ENVIRONMENT FOR RETAIL INVESTMENT

79Technical Report No. 1     July, 2017



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - THE ENVIRONMENT FOR RETAIL INVESTMENT

80Technical Report No. 1     July, 2017

Page left intentionally blank



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - INDUSTRIAL MARKET ANALYSIS

81Technical Report No. 2     November, 2017

Charter Township of Ypsilanti

Economic Development Strategy

Industrial Market Analysis

Carlisle | Wortman
A S S O C I AT E S,  I N C.



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - INDUSTRIAL MARKET ANALYSIS

82Technical Report No. 2     November, 2017

INTRODUCTION

The Township has a long and proud history of 
industry that was the cornerstone of the Arsenal of 
Democracy. The original Willow Run Bomber Plant 
developed during World War II is located in Ypsilanti 
Township. This plant was later owned by General 
Motors and operated by Powertrain to manufacture 
transmissions. Willow Run led to other post war 
industrial development along the eastern edge of 
the Township surrounding the airport; which in turn 
created a demand for residential development to 
house industry workers.

Today, the Willow Run site has been acquired for the 
American Center for Mobility as a non-profit testing 
and product development facility for connected and 
automated vehicle technology. ACM will be an all-
seasons, all conditions testing facility which will be 
unique among similar facilities in the country.

EXISTING CONDITIONS

Zoning Area

The Township has a significant amount of land zoned 
for industrial and industrial research office purposes. 
Most of these areas are located in the eastern portion 
of the Township. 

Zoning categories devoted to industrial and industrial 
research office use are depicted in Figures 1, 2 and 
3. The area devoted to each category along vacant 
acreage are as follows:

Category Total Acres Vacant % Vacant
IRO - Industrial Research Office 387.1 22.0 3.9
I-1 - Light Industrial 690.8 163.3 23.6
I-2 - General Industrial 859.9 363.5 42.2
I-3 - Industrial 16.9 5.8 34.3
IC - Industrial Commercial 456.6 109.7 24.0

Total 2,411.3 acres 664.3 28.0

Across all categories of industrial and research office zoned property, twenty-eight (28) percent is vacant.

The largest amount of vacant industrial land is located in the eastern portion of the Township. North and South 
of I-94 along Rawsonville Road are some larger intact parcels zoned I-2 General Industrial. In the vicinity of the 
American Center for Mobility and Willow Run Airports are also larger parcels zoned both I-2 General Industrial 
and I-C Industrial and Commercial.

There is less vacant land zoned for industrial use on the western side of the Township. Several larger parcels 
exist along Michigan Avenue and along James Hart and Joe Hill, west of Huron St.

Building Space

While there is over 3,000,000 square feet of industrial building space in Ypsilanti Township and the immediate 
surrounding area, there is very little vacant building space. Costar data provided by CORE Partners, LLC reports 
the following regarding the availability of industrial space:

Existing Buildings 116
Existing Square Feet 3,462,021
Vacant Square Feet 38,500
Availability Rate 1.3%

Analysis of Township Industrial Areas

Figure 3 illustrates that there are four areas of concentration of Industrial/Research Office land in the Township. 
Historically, most industrial land has been located in the eastern portion of the Township focused around Willow 
Run and Rawsonville Road. More recent industrial and research office development has occurred along Huron 
Street and the Washtenaw Business Park.



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - INDUSTRIAL MARKET ANALYSIS

83Technical Report No. 2     November, 2017

Comparison of Old and New Economies

Key Features of the Old Economies Key Features of the New Economy
Industrial sector (manufacturing) focus Sector diversity is desired and clustering of related 

sectors is targeted
Fossil fuel dependent manufacturing. Attracting com-
panies was the key as people followed the jobs

Communications dependent

Attracting companies was the key as people followed 
jobs

Attracting educated people is the key as talented, 
well-educated people choose location first, then look 
for a job

Location mattered Quality places with a high quality of life matter more
Environmental considerations were of lesser impor-
tance

Clean, green environment and proximity to open 
space and quality recreational opportunities are 
critical

Cheap place to do business was the key Being a place rich in talent and ideas is the key
A high-quality physical environment was a luxury that 
stood in the way of attracting cost-conscious busi-
nesses

Physical and cultural amenities are key in attracting 
knowlege workers

Regions won because they held a fixed competitive 
advantage in some resource or skill

Regions prosper if organizations and individuals have 
the ability to learn and adapt

Economic development was government-led Only bold partnerships among businesses, govern-
ment, and the non-profit sector can bring about 
change

utilized the workforce of the area. This approach was 
effective when the workforce generally did not require 
specialized expertise or education. 

The knowledge economy has shifted the focus 
with higher demand for a creative workforce with 
specialized expertise, education and experiences; 
therefore, the knowledge economy is driven by human 
capital, not raw materials.

Much of today’s workforce are attracted to 
communities, or places, with an outstanding quality 
of life. These high quality of life places offer diverse 
educational, recreational, cultural, and entertainment 
opportunities. Key features of the knowledge economy, 
or new economy, are compared to the old industrial 
economy below.As the transition to the knowledge 
economy continues to evolve it is difficult to predict all 
of the impacts the transition will have on society, the 
economy, and community planning. However, based 
on an examination of trends and changes taking place, 
the knowledge economy likely will impact community 
planning in the following ways:

• Decreasing demand for conventional industrial/
manufacturing space. The demand for industrial/
manufacturing space is expected to continue to 
decline in Michigan due to improved efficiencies 
from technology, global changes to the auto 
industry, decline of manufacturing in general, and 
the movement of manufacturing jobs to areas 
with lower labor costs.

• Decreasing demand for conventional office 
space. An increase in home-based businesses, 
telecommuting, alternative work schedules, 
job sharing, and decentralized corporate 
organizational structures will lead to a decreased 
demand for conventional office space. 

MARKET TRENDS

The vacancy rates exhibited in the Ypsilanti Township 
market are indicative of the trend in the Detroit 
metropolitan area where vacancies are between three 
(3) and four (4) percent. Michigan’s industrial economy 
is improving along with the market for new industrial 
space. Reversing recession era conditions, over 4 
million square feet of new industrial space is under 
contruction. 

In the current environment, there is high demand for 
industrial space and little supply. However, the type of 

space that is needed today is different than the typical 
industrial space that was prevalent 20 years ago.

Over the last two decades a major economic shift 
is occurring in the United States, and particularly 
Michigan. The economy is changing from industry 
and manufacturing to the knowledge based economy.
Even today’s manufacturing is much more reliant on 
technology.

Businesses in the old economy evaluated the proximity 
to transportation networks, markets, and costs of 
doing business; made a decision to locate a facility, and 



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - INDUSTRIAL MARKET ANALYSIS

84Technical Report No. 2     November, 2017

• Increasing demand for flexible space that 
accomodates a variety of uses. Wholesale and 
retail enterprises that conduct all, or a majority, 
of their business via e-commerce have specific 
building and use needs (office, retail, warehousing 
& shipping) that may be more compatible with 
light industrial, non-prime commercial, and/or 
office complex uses.

• Increasing demand for research and development 
space. A knowledge economy requires creativity 
and innovation to thrive. Collaboration between 
academic and private research and development 
activities will probably be required to sustain and 
promote it within the local community and region. 
The partnerships that have been forged to create 
the American Center for Mobility is an excellent 
example of collaboration between the private and 
academic sectors.

• Increasing demand for broadband access. Access 
to broadband is a required infrastructure for 
businesses and residences. 

• Increasing importance of community amenities 
and quality of life. Communities that wish 
to attract and retail knowledge workers and 
knowledge-based businesses will find themselves 
in a national, and even worldwide, competition 
for these entities. Such workers and businesses 
are typically more mobile than those of the past, 
and can theoretically locate in many potential 
areas. To attract and hold on to these assets, the 
unique features of the community and its quality 
of life become increasingly important competitive 
advantages that need to be protected, nurtured, 
and promoted.

• Increasing regional collaboration. Local, regional, 
national, and global economies are merging. 
The integration of local economies into a larger 
economic system creates opportunities to attract 
new, expanding, or relocating businesses. It also 
may provide wider markets for local enterprises. 
However, because many knowledge economy and 
technology based businesses can locate almost 
anywhere, competition for these businesses will 
likely stiffen. In order for communities to compete 
successfully on a global scale, they will need to 
cooperate as counties or regions.

Good-paying work today and tomor-
row looks much different than good-paying 
work in the past. Trying to turn the clock 
back to recreate the economy of the past 
has not worked. 

Trying to turn the clock back won’t succeed 
in the future, either. The changes in the na-
ture of work are driven by powerful forces, 
primarily smarter and smarter machines 
increasingly able to do more and more of 
the work that humans have traditionally 
done. There’s also globalization, changing 
consumer preferences, and changes in how 
employers contract for work. This requires 
state policies that are aligned with -- rather 
than resisting -- the new realities of work.

Source: A Path to Good-paying Careers for all  
Michiganders, Michigan Future, Inc., Sept. 2017



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - INDUSTRIAL MARKET ANALYSIS

85Technical Report No. 2     November, 2017

Ford Lake

§̈¦94

£¤12

American Center for
Mobility/

Renaissance Zone/
Historic Willow Run

¬«1¬«10

¬«7

¬«2

¬«4

¬«5

¬«11

¬«9
¬«20

¬«3

¬«6

¬«25

¬«21

¬«22

¬«26

¬«23

¬«12

¬«24

IRO Industrial Research Office
I-1 Light Industrial
I-2 General Industrial
I-3 Industrial
I-C Industrial and Commercial
Water

Ypsilanti Township,
Washtenaw County

INDUSTRIAL/ 
RESEARCH OFFICE 
ZONING

0 0.80.4 Miles

P
IT

T
S

F
IE

L
D

 T
O

W
N

SH
IP

P
IT

T
S

F
IE

L
D

 T
O

W
N

SH
IP

S U P E R I O R  T OWNSHIPS U P E R I O R  T OWNSHIP

V
A

N
 B

U
R

E
N

 T
O

W
N

SH
IP

V
A

N
 B

U
R

E
N

 T
O

W
N

SH
IP

A U G U S T A  T OWNSHIPA U G U S T A  T OWNSHIP

C I T Y  OFC I T Y  OF
Y P S I L ANTIY P S I L ANTI

Source: Ypsilanti Township, Washtenaw County
Prepared by Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc.

November 14th, 2017 

- 387.1 Acres 

- 690.8 Acres

- 859.9 Acres

- 16.9 Acres

- 456.6 Acres

Categories

Figure 1



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - INDUSTRIAL MARKET ANALYSIS

86Technical Report No. 2     November, 2017

Ford Lake

Bemis

Textile

Merri tt

Clark

Martz

Grove

M
un

ge
r

Holmes

El
lis

Tyler

Michigan

Fo
rd

Ecorse

Ra
w

so
nv

ill
e

W
hi

tt
ak

er

Bu
nt

on

Hew
itt

St
on

y 
Cr

ee
k

Go
lfs

id
e

W
ia

rd

Huron River

N
as

h

M
cK

ea
n

Forest

Hi
tc

hi
ng

ha
m

Pa
rk

woo
d

Cross

Davis

Packard

Ellsworth

O
hi

o

Hu
ro

n

Ja
y

Br
id

ge

Cl
ub

vi
ew

Burns

Ri
dg

e

Lakeview

Airport

Ha
rr

is

Russell

Hu
ll

Mott

Ed
is

on

Service

Ri
ve

r

Morgan

M
cG

re
go

r

Al
le

nWashtenaw

Gr
an

d

Lilly

Harry

Dover

Ca
ry

Sw
ee

t

De
so

to

Ba
gl

ey

Oak

Roxbury

Le
vo

na

M
cC

ar
tn

ey

Merrill
Ho

ga
n

Indigo

O
re

go
n

Valley

Hi
llc

re
st

US 1
2

La
m

ay

Ev
el

yn

Po
pl

ar

Foley

Fo
x

Pi
ne

vi
ew

Thornhill

M
ap

le
la

w
n

Congress

Id
e

Je
ro

m
e

M
id

w
ay

Wendell

Ruth

Bi
g 

Pi
ne

De
an

Harding

Trillium

Midvale

Lo
ri

Sm
ith

Gl
en

w
oo

d

Pr
os

pe
ct

Warwick

Ga
ul

t

Ka
ns

as

Essex

Be
rw

ic
k

McKinley

William
O

ak
la

w
n

Joe Hall

Elder

Coolidge

Va
il

Juneau

Andrea

Le
st

er

Ha
ye

s

James L Hart

Eu
ge

ne

Tu
tt

le
 H

ill

Hunter

Morris

Je
ff

Share

Lakecrest

Taft

Rachel

Ca
ld

er

N
at

al
ie

Snow

De
vo

ns
hi

re

Georgina

Ri
ce

Cr
ee

kw
ay

Bo
yn

e

Kirk

Baytree

Hawthorne

Ho
lli

s

Redleaf

Ro
se

w
oo

d Gr
ee

nl
aw

n

Le
fo

rg
e

Draper

Em
er

so
n

W
at

so
n

Colony

Parkland

W
oo

dl
aw

n

Stream
w

ood

W
allace

As
pe

n

Jones

Maplewood

Fairhills

Ly
nn

e

Fa
ll R

ive
r

Bo
rg

st
ro

m

Woodland

Se
av

er

Sp
en

ce
r

Buick

Northlawn

Southlawn

Jeffery

Lo
ch

m
oo

r

Ru
e 

D
ea

uv
ill

e

M
ia

m
i

Ru
e 

W
ill

et
te

George

Pa
sa

de
na

Canyon

M
ansfield

Farm
Do

rs
et

Valleyview

Iv
an

ho
e

Ch
ev

ro
le

t

Hi
gh

 R
id

ge

James

Moll ie

Wismer

Duncan

M
sp

le
vi

ew

Br
ad

le
y

Da
ko

ta

Be
ve

rly

Jonquil

Shirley

W
oo

dg
le

n

Ea
gl

e

Ga
tt

eg
no

Ra
m

bl
ing

N
ew

 M
ea

do
w

Janet

W
el

lin
gt

on

En
ch

an
te

d

Lo
on

Sp
y 

G
la

ss

Bl
ue

 Ja
y

M
oe

lle
r

Ec
ors

e S
er

vic
e D

riv
e

Knowles

Carlton

Creek Bend

Ho
m

es
te

ad

Gr
ee

ns
id

e

Bluewater
W

in
g

O
ut

er

De
xt

er

David

La
ke

w
ay

Su
ns

et

M
ar

y 
Ca

th
er

in
e

Fa
irf

ie
ld

Greene Farm

Du
bi

e

Lathers O
na

nd
ag

o

Blossom

Colchester

Oakridge

Bailey

Ze
ph

yr

W
ilson

Bud

M
ichael

Bo
m

be
r

Be
rg

en

Huntington

Prairie

Eastlawn

Br
oo

ks
id

e

Ei
le

en

Gi
ll

Arro
yo

M
oh

aw
k

Dorothy

Dora
l

Clarita

O
ut

er
 L

an
e

Conway

Pioneer

Sk
yw

ay

Briarbrook

Ca
di

lla
c

Gr
ee

nf
ie

ld

Lexington

Am
rh

ei
n

Victor

Henley

Pi
ne

w
oo

d

Ca
m

pb
el

l

Eagle Tr
ace

Sh
ire

Firw
ood

Amaranth

Br
ow

ni
ng

Pa
m

el
a

Appleridge

Kensington

Hunt

W
 US 12/S W

iard

Ch
er

ry
w

oo
d

Creeksi
de

Ce
nt

en
ni

al

Da
w

n

M
ea

do
w

la
rk

De
er

 T
ra

ck

Shelly

Co
pp

er
 C

re
ek

Be
rk

le
y

Ro
ya

l T
ro

on

Lynn

Seneca

M
cC

ar
th

y

Co
le

m
an

Osw
eg

o

N Wiard/Tyler

Aveline

Marcus

Ambassador

Woodruff

Paint Creek

Harm
on

Meadowview

Ro
se

da
le

W
oo

da
le

Verna

M
ui

rf
ie

ld

Tamarack

Em
er

ic
k

W
ha

rt
on

Hideaway

Applew
ood

Pr
in

ce
to

n

Re
d 

Bi
rd

Ke
nn

ed
y

Crest

W
illo

wbrid
ge

N
an

cy

Crestwood

Ke
w

an
ee

Warner

Auburndale

Byron

Fe
ld

in
g

Tw
in

 T
ow

er
s

Falmouth

Glory

M
au

lb
et

sc
h

Bo
st

on

Ga
te

s

Mallard

Re
dw

oo
d

Elm
hurst

Sequoia

Whittier

Oakhurst

Endicott

State

Pebblestone

Pleasant

Mesa

Ramblewood

Du
po

nt

Candlewood

St
ud

eb
ak

er

O
ak

br
oo

k

N
 W

iard/E U
S 12

Br
oo

k

Todd

W
 U

S 
12

/W
ill

ow
 R

un

Belle M
eade

Faircrest

Kn
ol

lw
oo

d

Willow Run/W US 12

New
bu

ry

Burdock

Raintree

Ju
st

in

Crit
tendon

M
is

si
on

 H
ill

s

Go
lfv

ie
w

Cypress Point

Brinker

Tr
ot

te
r P

ar
k

Mazin

Richmond

Glacier Pointe

W US 12

M
ea

do
w

 L
an

e

Ypsi

Re
ge

nt

Springwater

E US 12

Pa
tr

ic
k

Breckenridge

Su
pe

rio
r

Meadowlane

Ca
rr

ia
ge

Melvin

Heatheridge

Da
yt

on
a

Av
is

Willow Creek

M
ar

ge
ry

E US 12/Willow Run

Ro
bi

nd
al

e

Delaware

Ottawa

Jo
hn

so
n

Landsdowne

W
inte

rfi
eld

Pl
ai

nv
ie

w

Commonwealth

Starling

Laurel

In
di

an
 W

el
ls

M
on

tr
ea

l Ca
yu

ga

W
ill

ow
 R

un
/E

 U
S 

12

Young

Maplehurst

Olds

Laverne

E US 12/S W
iard

Airport/S Wiard

Tr
em

on
t

Hudson

Sc
hu

ss
 C

ro
ss

in
g

Roanoake

Whitman

Ga
il

Frank D
aniels

Blackmore

Maus

He
ar

th
si

de

Su
m

m
er

da
le

Brooklyn

Am
berly

Ringneck

Daisey

Peachcrest

So
ut

h 
Se

rv
ic

e

Ha
m

pt
on

Ed
en

M
ar

ga
rit

a

U
ta

h

Pa
r V

ie
w

Hu
bb

ar
d

Nu
ra

M
er

id
ia

n

Lu
pi

n

Se
a 

M
ist

Debby

Bu
rb

an
k

Grayfield

Ca
rv

er
Sunnyglen

In
di

an

Madrona

Ravinewood
Ca

ro
l

Co
tta

ge

M
ar

sh
 C

re
ek

Ga
rd

en

Lakew
ood

Senate

Maple

Shawn

Dodge

Brooktree

La
po

rt
e

Broadm
oor

Pe
ab

od
y

De
vo

n

Peyton

Houston

Breezewood

To
w

n

Vista Way

Rowley

Hickory Ridge

Highland

M
ar

lo
w

Red Oak

Wentworth

S W
iard/N W

iard

O
ut

er
 L

an
e

Tyler

M
oh

aw
k

Em
erick

Br
oo

k

Iv
an

ho
e

Ty
ler

Morris

Michigan

Pa
sa

de
na

Clark

Hawthorne

Clark

M
ansfield

State

De
so

to

Ka
ns

as

Ra
w

so
nv

ill
e

Em
er

ic
k

Pa
sa

de
na

M
cC

ar
tn

ey

Tu
tt

le
 H

ill
Ha

rr
is

George

Huron River

Parkwood

W
at

so
n

Service

W
ia

rd

US 1
2

W
iard

Em
er

so
n

Morgan

M
cG

re
go

r

M
ia

m
i

M
cC

ar
tn

ey

M
ansfield

W
ia

rd

Iv
an

ho
e

W
oo

da
le

Swallow

Ec
or

se

Twin Lakes

Mill

Elloit

De
er

 C
re

ek

Ardis

Sh
ad

y 
Kn

ol
l

M
cK

ea
n

Linda

Julie

Es
ta

te
s

Fo
re

st

State

Ware

Northern

Br
am

bl
e

Ri
ch

ar
ds

Fawn

Do
ns

Minion

He
m

lo
ck

W
at

so
n

Ri
ck

Ai
rp

or
t I

nd
us

tr
ia

l

Bull Run

To
w

ns
hi

p 
Ha

ll

Bedford

Ta
dd

i

La
 P

al
om

a

Se
nat

e

Terrace

W
ra

y

Ce
da

rb
en

d

W
oodview

Michigan

Ru
ss

el
l

Whistling

Belmont

Bo
m

be
r

Ap
pl

e 
Hi

ll

Da
yt

on
a

Joe Hall

Pa
rk

 E
st

at
es

Ford Lake Park

Re
dw

oo
d

W
ill

ow
 R

un
 A

irp
or

t

Division

Coolidge

Prescott

Ro
se

w
oo

d

Haven

Clark Service Drive

Aq
ua

Pa
rk

Lagoon

Lakeview

Reba

Woburn

Bellers

Ca
m

pb
el

l

Alston

Pa
ig

e

Park Ridge

Backacres

Pen

La
dy

 A
m

he
rs

t

Da
ns

ta
rr

Bayview

Rossback

W
hi

te
w

in
g

Gr
ee

nb
rie

r

Benjamin

W
ia

rd

Chatfield

Hilltop

Brookwood

Br
ow

ni
ng

Bynan

Village

Meadow Woods

Montrose

Fairway

Robert

Tahoe

As
hl

ey

Riley

Concord

Cl
iff

s

Ainsley

Island

Chestnut

Swan Lake

Gouchnour

Hydramatic

Ivan

Cu
rr

an
t

Sw
eet W

ater

Sw
al

lo
w

s

Bosuns

La
ur

el
 B

ay

Cr
os

s O
ve

r

Ty
ro

ne

Stevens

W
ild

w
oo

d

Nature View

Tyler

Golden Pheasant

Gates

Buck Crossing

M
axine  Com

m
on

Swans  Rill

Joan

Ringneck

Gable

Pa
rk

w
oo

d

Civic Center

Co
lu

m
bi

a

En
gi

ne
er

in
g

Shamrock Hill

La
ke

Co
lo

ny
 P

ar
k

Blackmore

Cindy

Old Michigan

Sheldon

Eastlawn

M
ai

n

Hu
ro

n 
Ri

ve
r

Cargo

Sh
ul

a 
Vi

st
a

Tim
be

r

West

E Ecorse/W
 Ecorse

La
ke

 In
 T

he
 W

oo
ds

M
edford

Plantain

Cygnet

Co
bb

Ardith

Aveline

W
oo

da
le

International

Th
or

nr
id

ge

Skyway

Spinnaker

Elm
w

ood

Ch
ar

lo
tt

e

Bo
b

Turney

W
oo

dc
re

ek

Country View

Geraldine

Or
eg

on

Ap
pl

er
id

ge
Carter

Mary Common

St
ew

ar
t

Roundtree

East

Lake side

Wingate

Eastwood

Stadium
 View

Chateau Vert

Oak Knoll

W
hi

sp
er

in
g

Villa

Harbour Cove

Rivendell

Woburn

Ivan

Robert

Isl
an

d

M
ai

n

Gera
ldine

Cli
ffs W

in
ga

te

West

Fo
rd

 La
ke

 P
ar

k

Joan

W
ia

rd

Swallows

Fawn

Vi
lla

Chateau Vert

Roundtree

Fo
rd

 La
ke

 P
ar

k

Lake side

Ro
un

dt
re

e

Swan Lake

M
ai

n

Ro
un

dt
re

e

Ringneck

Park Estates

State

Hydramatic

Lagoon

Colony Park

Roundtree

Bo
b

Vi
lla

ge

Hyd
ram

at
ic

Stevens

Ro
un

dt
re

e

Stevens

Senate

La
ke

Bo
su

ns

Stevens

Ro
be

rt

Te
rr

ac
e

Michigan

Vi
lla

W
es

t

Elm
w

ood

Timber

Clark Service Drive

Village

Timber

La
ke

Concord

Division

Roundtree

Swan Lake

International

Stevens

Carter

Riley

Pe
n

Golde n Pheasant

Sp
in

na
ke

r

La
ke

Hilltop

International

Pa
rk

 E
st

at
es

Stevens

Colony Park

M
edford

Wildwood

Riley

Hilltop

Isl
an

d

Fa
irw

ay

Ec
or

se

Villa Villa

Ju lie

Sh
ul

a 
Vi

st
a

Bynan

Wildwood

Plantain

Spinnaker

Village

Te
rr

ac
eInternational

W
ia

rd

Lake

Pen

Hy
dr

am
at

ic

Swan Lake

Lake  In The Woods

Lagoon

Sh
el

do
n

Tyrone

Stevens

Golde n Pheasant

Vi
lla

ge

Woodcreek

La
ke

Lake view

Ringneck

By
na

n

Cliffs

Cliffs

Timber

Hydramatic

Montrose

Joan

Pe
n

Elmwood

Stevens

Timber

Ru
ss

el
l

Jo
an

VACANT 
INDUSTRIAL/RESEARCH OFFICE
PROPERTIES 

Ypsilanti Township
Carlisle/Wortman Associates

November 14, 2017

0 3,0001,500 Feet

IRO Industrial Research Office - 22.0 Acres

I-1 Light Industrial - 163.3 Acres

I-2 General Industrial - 363.5 Acres

I-3 Industrial - 5.8 Acres

I-C Industrial and Commercial - 109.7 Acres

Water

C i t y  ofC i t y  of

Y p s i l antiY p s i l anti

S u p e r i o r  TownshipS u p e r i o r  Township

A u g u s t a  TownshipA u g u s t a  Township

P
i
t
t
s

f
i
e

ld
 T

o
w

n
s
h

ip
P

i
t
t
s

f
i
e

ld
 T

o
w

n
s
h

ip

A u g u s t a  TownshipA u g u s t a  Township

V
a

n
 
B

u
r

e
n

 
T

o
w

n
s
h

ip
V

a
n

 
B

u
r

e
n

 
T

o
w

n
s
h

ip

Ypsilanti Township,
Washtenaw County

Categories 

Figure 2



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - INDUSTRIAL MARKET ANALYSIS

87Technical Report No. 2     November, 2017

Ford Lake

§̈¦94

£¤12

American Center for
Mobility/

Renaissance Zone/
Historic Willow Run

1
2

3

4

La
ke

Villa

Indigo

Ringneck

Su
m

m
it

Rivendell

Ar
lin

gt
on

Oak Knoll

St
ad

iu
m

Vi
ew

Bo
b

Roundtree

Bedford

Pa
rk

Es
ta

te
s

Carter

Eastwood

St
ew

ar
t

Harbour
Cove

Roundtre
e

El
m

w
oo

d

M
ap

le
la

w
n

Isl
an

d

Geraldine

Spinnaker

Ap
pl

er
id

ge

Sc
ho

on
er

Co
ve

Ro
be

rt

Skyway

Av
el

in
e

Bosuns

Chestnut

Joan

Cindy

Country

View

Ch
ar

lo
tte

Gable

Anchor

Bay

Cliffs

Fawn

Stevens

Vi
lla

Ty
ro

ne

Vi
lla

Nature
View

Tahoe

Co
lo

ny
Pa

rk

Ainsley

Hu
ro

n
Ri

ve
r

Reba

By
na

n

Roundtree

Ford Lake Park

Hilltop

Julie

Alston

Golden Pheasant

Sh
el

do
n

Concord

Bellers

Isl
an

d

Shamrock Hill

La
ke

 In
 T

he
 W

oo
ds

St
ev

en
s

W
ra

y

Haven

Clark Service Drive

Buck

Crossing

Chatfield

Woburn

Rossback

ChateauVert

Benjamin

Villa

Ca
m

pb
el

l

Backacres

Senate

Da
yt

on
a

Brookwood

Aqua

Co
lu

m
bi

a

Park
Ridge

Prescott

Te
rr

ac
e

Ap
pl

e
Hi

ll

Linda

Belmont

Stevens

Bynan

Bull Run

Hilltop

Ri
ch

ar
ds

Ce
da

rb
en

d

FordLakePark

St
ev

en
s

La
 P

al
om

a

International

Lakeside

Es
ta

te
s

International

Sh
ad

y 
Kn

ol
l

De
er

 C
re

ek

Twin Lakes

Swallow

M
ap

le
la

w
n

Co
lch

es
te

r

Cl
ub

vi
ew

Creekway

Le
fo

rg
e

Mazin

Wendell

Ca
ro

l

M
ar

ge
ry

Rowley

Fa
ll R

ive
r

N
an

cy

Es
se

x

Lilly

Nu
ra

Burdock

Sequoia

Vista Way

Ea
gl

e

St
on

y 
Cr

ee
k

Starling

Shawn

Ed
is

on

Glacier
Pointe

Mott

Oakbrook

Da
ise

y

Ju
st

in

Jones

Dover

Su
pe

rio
r

Canyon

Bo
yn

e

Hi
gh

 R
id

ge

St
re

am
wo

od

Re
d 

Bi
rd

Lo
on

Be
rw

ic
k

Co
tt

on
w

oo
d

Sofia

Parkland

Richmond

Packard

M
ic

ha
el

En
ch

an
te

d

Congress

Martz

Iv
an

ho
e

Squirrel

BlueJay

Se
a

Mist

Br
id

ge

Indigo

Grove

Am
rh

ei
n

Sh
ul

a 
Vi

st
a

M
ea

do
w

La
ne

Po
pl

ar

Ringneck

As
pe

n

Briarbrook

Warwick

Brentwood

M
ar

lo
w

Baytree

Roxbury

N
at

al
ie

Northlawn

Oakcrest

Hickory
Ridge

La
ke

w
ay

Peyton

Valleyview

Hideaway

N
ew

 M
ea

do
w

Valley

Woodruff

MeadowlaneLo
ch

m
oo

r

G
re

en
sid

e

W
illo

wbrid
ge

Midvale

Cr
ee

ks
id

e

Ra
w

so
nv

ill
e

Th
or

nh
ill

Durham

Breckenridge

Southlawn

Eastlawn

Farm

Pleasant

Oakridge

Ho
ga

n

Bonita

Tamarack

Meadowview

Colony

Hereford

O
ys

te
r B

ay

Pr
os

pe
ct

Burns

Pa
m

ela

Washtenaw

Lexington

G
ol

fs
id

e

La
ke

cr
es

t

W
al

la
ce

Forest

Reflection

Ambassador

De
xt

er

Senate

Ed
en

Ca
rr

ia
ge

Ri
ce

Ea
gle

 Tr
ac

e

Re
ge

nt

Henley

Lu
pi

n

Be
rg

en

El
m

hu
rs

t

Verna

Ro
se

da
le

Ke
w

an
ee

In
di

an

Pi
ne

vi
ew

Fa
irh

ill
s

El
lis

Rue Vendome

Ca
rv

er

Raintree

M
un

ge
r

Ri
dg

e

Berm
uda Dunes

Hu
nt

in
gt

on

Ch
er

ry
w

oo
d

Clark

Bosto
n

Su
m

m
er

da
le

Creek
Bend

Skyway

M
oh

aw
k

M
ia

m
i

Mallard

Sp
y

G
la

ss W
el

lin
gt

on

Go
lfv

iew

Jonquil

Hu
bb

ar
d

M
er

id
ia

n

Paint Creek

Pa
r

Vi
ew

Ca
re

n

Textile

Am
be

rly

Mesa

Ha
m

pt
on

M
ar

sh
 C

re
ek

Ri
ve

r

Br
oo

k

Trillium

Rachel

Glory

Tr
em

on
t

Hi
llc

re
st

Mapledale

Be
rk

le
y

Grayfield

Bi
g 

Pi
ne

Br
ad

le
y

Br
oo

ks
id

e

Da
yt

on
a

Ba
gl

ey

Fi
rw

oo
d

Michigan

Bud

Ho
m

es
te

ad

Da
w

n

Draper

Du
po

nt

Oakhurst

Warner

He
w

itt

Tu
tt

le
 H

ill

Fairc
rest

Whittier

Endicott

Byron

Pl
ai

nv
iew

So
ut

h
Se

rv
ic

e

Merritt

Ne
w

bu
ry

Av
el

in
e

Greene Farm

W
in

te
rfi

eld

G
re

en
fie

ld

Holmes

Amaranth

De
er

Tr
ac

k

Ki
rk

El
de

r

Prairie

Ta
ft

W
ils

on

Va
il

Springwater

W
in

g

M
an

sf
ie

ldMerrill

Ellsworth

Harding

Carlton

M
ui

rfi
el

d

Bemis

McKinley

Ca
ry

Tw
in

To
w

er
s

Su
ns

et

Pioneer

Tr
ot

te
r

Pa
rk

Ru
e

W
ill

et
te

Kensington

Morgan

Hi
tc

hi
ng

ha
m

Sw
ee

t

Woodland

Whittaker

Bu
nt

on

Huron River

IRO Industrial Research Office
I-1 Light Industrial
I-2 General Industrial
I-3 Industrial
I-C Industrial and Commercial
Water

Ypsilanti Township,
Washtenaw County

INDUSTRIAL/ 
RESEARCH OFFICE
ZONING ANALYSIS

0 0.850.425 Miles

P
IT

T
S

F
IE

L
D

 T
O

W
N

SH
IP

P
IT

T
S

F
IE

L
D

 T
O

W
N

SH
IP

S U P E R I O R  T OWNSHIPS U P E R I O R  T OWNSHIP

V
A

N
 B

U
R

E
N

 T
O

W
N

SH
IP

V
A

N
 B

U
R

E
N

 T
O

W
N

SH
IP

A U G U S T A  T OWNSHIPA U G U S T A  T OWNSHIP

C I T Y  OFC I T Y  OF
Y P S I L ANTIY P S I L ANTI

Source: Ypsilanti Township, Washtenaw County
Prepared by Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc.

November 14th, 2017

Areas

1. West Michigan Avenue 
2. Huron Street 
3. ACM/ Ecorse/ Michigan Avenue 
4. Rawsonville Road

- 387.1 Acres 

- 690.8 Acres

- 859.9 Acres

- 16.9 Acres

- 456.6 Acres

Categories 

Figure 3



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - INDUSTRIAL MARKET ANALYSIS

88Technical Report No. 2     November, 2017

Page left intentionally blank



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY

89Technical Bulletin No. 6     November 30, 2017

Charter Township of Ypsilanti

Economic Development Strategy

Community Engagement Summary

Carlisle | Wortman
A S S O C I AT E S,  I N C.



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY

90Technical Bulletin No. 6     November 30, 2017

INTRODUCTION

The Economic Development Strategy for Ypsilanti 
Township is based on the unique attributes of the 
businesses within the Township.  A series of interviews, 
a survey of local business managers and owners , and 
a panel of real estate and business experts provided 
insight into the challenges and opportunities for 
economic development in Ypsilanti Township.  

Shared Insights

In the survey and interviews, the same topics 
emerged. These shared insights offer guidance for 
areas that should be part of the Township’s Economic 
Development Strategy.

Vision – Many participants did not have a clear idea 
of the Township’s vision.  They needed to know what 
does Ypsilanti Township want to be? Where is it going? 
What are key and tangible business goals?

Leadership – Respondents shared how both civic/
public and private leadership is important for economic 
development. Leaders need to talk about Ypsilanti 
Township and its brighter future. A component of the 
Economic Development Strategy should address the 
role of leadership. 

Better Communications – In almost every interaction, 
improved communication was mentioned as a way 
Ypsilanti Township could better foster economic 
development. Efforts should concentrate on improving 
interaction between Ypsilanti Township and citizens, 
including business people, with regular, informative 
communication.

Education and Workforce Development – The 
struggling school districts in Ypsilanti Township 
were cited as a challenge numerous times.  Their 
improvement is vital to attracting new residents and 
businesses and creating a qualified workforce.  Synergy 
with the school districts, economic development 
agencies in Washtenaw County and Ypsilanti Township 
should be a component of the Economic Development 
Strategy.

Identity – The difference between the Township and 
the City of Ypsilanti or the City of Ann Arbor is unclear 
to people within and outside of the Washtenaw 
County region.  

WHO CONTRIBUTED?

20 survey respondents - Business Owners 
or Managers who work or live in Ypsilanti 

Township

11 interviews – Business owners,  
elected officials, real estate developers, 
school officials, economic development 

professionals

6 panelists - Developers, bankers, business 
executives and economic development 

professionals



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY

91Technical Bulletin No. 6     November 30, 2017

LOCAL BUSINESS SURVEY

An on-line survey was posted in September and October 
2017.  Of the 20 responding owners or managers, 15 
businesses were located in the Township, with the 
remainder in the City of Ypsilanti.  All of the businesses 
had less than 20 employees with most having less 
than ten.  They ranged in types of business from retail 
to services to restaurants and small bakeries.  While 
the sample size is by no means representative, the 
responses do offer insight as to why businesses locate 
in the Township and how the Township can assist 
them.  The findings described below are taken from 
only the businesses located in the Township, unless 
noted otherwise. 

The survey asked why businesses were located in 
Ypsilanti Township, what their top three challenges 
were and what the benefits of doing business in the 
Township were.  Respondents were also asked what 
business opportunities they would like to pursue and 
what the Township could do to help.  

The businesses located in Ypsilanti Township said their 
location was for one of three general reasons:

• The business owners lived there or the business 
started in the Township

• Their business catered to the residential 
neighborhoods in the Township or managed 
residential property in the Township

• The convenience of the location

In terms of challenges, the Ypsilanti Township 
business owners and managers mentioned a range 
of issues.  However, over half of the respondents 
listed both growth and marketing as challenges. The 
five businesses located in the City of Ypsilanti offered 
different challenges, namely safety and crime.  

The benefits of being located in Ypsilanti Township 
included the great location, wonderful community 
and accessibility, both in terms of transportation and 
affordability.  A number of respondents mentioned 
the level of services provided by the Township, 
especially to residents, as a benefit. The city-based 
businesses stated different reasons for their location, 
such as Eastern Michigan University and the variety of 
restaurants.

The Township businesses responded that they were 
looking for a variety of business opportunities from 
remaining a cottage business, to expansion to retiring 
or selling their business.  When asked they would like 
the Township to do to help businesses, the respondents 
offered a variety of ideas (see text box on this page) 
dealing with incentives, regulations, education and 
communication.   

IDEAS FOR THE TOWNSHIP FROM 
SURVEY RESPONDENTS

• Provide grants for the little businesses
• An incentive, possibly a tax break, to buy 

and open a new shop
• Share a list of possible buyers 
• Improve street, road, and Township  

signs
• To be visionaries of getting more  

businesses to locate here and to buy  
local products and services.

• Publicize more opportunities 
• Less stringent rules for build-outs 

and quicker issuing of certificates of  
occupancy

• Offer information on how to grow a 
small business

• Supply resources for help in expansion
• Offer better access and offer information 

to the world that we are here! 

Not all responses to this question on 
the survey  have  been  included.  Those 
mentioning specific businesses or locations 
were not mentioned.   



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY

92Technical Bulletin No. 6     November 30, 2017

INTERVIEWS

Eleven interviews were held in September through 
November of 2017.  Those interviewed included 
local business owners and managers, elected 
officials, Ypsilanti Community Schools administrators, 
and economic development professionals at 
Ann Arbor SPARK and Washtenaw Community 
College.  Collectively, these interviews suggest 
that the Economic Development Strategy should 
focus on policy, planning, zoning changes, staffing 
enhancements, daily economic development practices 
and demonstrated actions, leading to results.  Specific 
actions and suggestions are described below.

Encouragement and Support Business 

Those interviewed generally maintained a positive 
attitude about business, and what Ypsilanti Township 
can do to help. They suggested the following actions:

1. Talk about and support existing and prospective 
Ypsilanti Township businesses

2. Identify and encourage new business ideas, 
entrepreneurs, businesses

3. Create “new tools” – clarify rules/regulations; 
establish a business ombudsperson; consider 
funds/incentives; assist schools with intern 
programs for high school students; host business 
“fairs” and workshops; encourage young persons 
with business ideas and establish business “corridor 
keepers” to assist with code enforcement. 

4. Support business-friendly organizations and 
activities such as: Small Business Development 
Center; SPARK/SPARK East; Innovate Ypsi; 
Washtenaw Community College (WCC) especially 
its many accreditation programs and the 
Entrepreneurship Center; etc. 

Get Redevelopment-Ready

Many interviewed spoke about the difficulties 
gathering information about properties in Ypsilanti 
Township and going through development review 
procedures.  Others suggested the Township 
should gather key Information and develop plans to 
transform under-utilized properties into viable, job-
producing business locations.   The steps to becoming 
Redevelopment Ready would be:

1. Gather property information, Township vision, 
zoning, Master Plan goals, infrastructure,  utilities 
and development potential needs to be provided 
for available properties such as: 

a. Key public parcels owned by Ypsilanti Township

b. Private parcels  

c. Commercial/business corridors

2. Build support with real estate brokers/realtors to 
market the above properties.

3. Update the zoning ordinance and other policies 
and procedures to make development reviews 
smoother and more easily understood. 

Improve access to Business/Economic Development 
Resources

Many of those interviewed who work for economic 
development entities were eager to share their 
resources with businesses in the Township but lacked 
relationships with either businesses or someone in 
Township Hall.  The following groups offered services 
or inclusion in their programs:

1. Entrepreneurship Center at Washtenaw 
Community College

a. “Pitch Ypsi” – funds for start-up 
entrepreneurs

2. Small Business Development Center at 
Washtenaw Community College

3. Ann Arbor Area Chamber of Commerce

4. SPARK:

a. SPARK East Incubator

b. “Innovate Ypsi” funding for capital projects

c. SmartZone 15-year renewal and additional 
funding for Ypsilanti Township and the City of 
Ypsilanti

5. Washtenaw County – Office of Economic and 
Community Development

6. Michigan Economic Development Corporation 
(MEDC)

7. Washtenaw Community College (certificates and 
accreditation programs)

8. Aerotropolis (VantagePort) – Metro and Willow 
Run Airports

Build on current and emerging Ypsilanti Township 
Assets

Those interviewed felt it was vital for the Township 
leadership to understand the Township’s assets and 
to then advertise them.  The assets mentioned during 
interviews were:



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY

93Technical Bulletin No. 6     November 30, 2017

1. American Center for Mobility & Willow Run – The 
new autonomous automobile testing facility and 
the redevelopment of the Yankee Air Museum are 
significant and unique regional assets upon which 
the Township can build.

2. Business Corridors – The business corridors in 
the Township are effective but contain many 
underutilized parcels. The vacancies offer room 
for growth with the opportunity to showcase new 
development in the Township. Michigan Avenue is 
a prime example of a key commercial corridor ripe 
for redevelopment.

3. Ford Lake & Open Spaces – The Township has 
prime property on Ford Lake as well as other 
compelling green and open spaces, such as parks 
and farms.  These properties should be recognized 
and leveraged as community assets.  

4. Strong Residential Neighborhoods – The 
Township is known for its neighborhoods, with 
strong senses of identity. The Township’s stable 
and growing residential population is an asset to 
attract businesses and is also a source of new and 
growing entrepreneurs. 

5. Stable Township Leadership – The leadership 
of the Township is known as approachable and 
stable.  Leadership reliability and accessibility are 
assets that should be marketed in the retention 
and recruitment of businesses.  

REAL ESTATE FORUM

On November 30, 2017, Ypsilanti Township hosted a 
Real Estate Forum, where a panel of experts shared 
their observations and input on Ypsilanti Township 
assets, opportunities, and challenges.  After their 
presentations, questions were taken from those in 
attendance.  

Key themes from the event were:

American Center for Mobility – ACM

• ACM will become a significant “gravity center” for 
Economic Development

• ACM will create significant new direct and indirect 
jobs

• The ACM highlights the need for “new economy” 
talent and skill development

• The ACM will generate a need for new bricks 
and mortar/buildings for technology companies, 
support companies, training/skill development, 
and possibly housing and retail/services.

Work Force and Talent Development

For Ypsilanti Township and the entire community 
to thrive, increased work force skills and training of 
citizens for current and new/emerging jobs is needed. 
Ypsilanti Township is in a good position to leverage 
this situation due its proximity to Eastern Michigan 
University and Washtenaw Community College’s 
various programs and certifications. WCC is also the 
home to the Entrepreneurship Center and the Small 
Business Development Center.

PANELISTS FOR 
REAL ESTATE FORUM

Luke Bonner, CEO 
Bonner Advisory Group

Soraya Kim, Chief Innovation Officer
American Center for Mobility

Bill Milliken, President
Milliken Realty Company

Manny Kianicky, Vice-President
S.R. Jacobson Companies

Patrick Tamblyn, Vice-President
Bank of Ann Arbor

Muddasar Tawakkul, Compliance and 
Privacy Manager
FordDirect



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY

94Technical Bulletin No. 6     November 30, 2017

Quality of Life – Qualities and Features

The importance of Quality of Life was mentioned 
by many participants. For current and prospective 
residents, employers/employees, and Economic 
Developers/Investors, Quality of Life features - such 
as a diverse population, educational opportunities, 
parks and green space, walking trails, and effective 
connections/transit between parts of the community 
– are sought out and recognized as valuable factors in 
professional and personal location decisions.

Commercial Corridor Rejuvenation

Many participants noted the need to revitalize and 
re-purpose several commercial corridors, specifically, 
the Michigan Avenue and Ecorse Road corridors. Also, 
new development should be focused on the Huron/
Whittaker corridors.

Economic Development Strategy Implementation – 
initial steps

• Hire an Economic Development officer to manage 
the Economic Development Strategy – in all its 
dimensions.

• Also, there was a strong case made for Ypsilanti 
Township to create clearer zoning rules and to 
administer these zoning and development rules 
effectively and in a timely manner.

Food Innovation/Agricultural opportunities

Several participants mentioned the need for and power 
of enhancing area food growing capacity in Ypsilanti 
Township, both for the creation of fresh nearby food 
to support the “farm to table” movement. This effort 
will also create new jobs and support skill building 
opportunities for Ypsilanti Township citizens. 

Collaboration

Many panel members and participants stressed the 
need for deeper and more effective collaboration 
between public, private, and institutional sectors 
and their leaders in order to maximize community 
development and real estate opportunities.  

Miscellaneous

• High construction costs are slowing development.  
While there may be a demand for a certain type 
of development, developers and builders need a 
higher price point than previously in order to have 
a fiscally responsible project.  

• The Defense Manufacturing Assistance Program, 
administered by the University of Michigan, has 
awarded a grant to Ypsilanti Township to develop 
a PlaceMaking plan for Michigan Avenue and 
Ecorse Road.

• Better communication from Township government 
is needed.



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - WHAT IT MEANS TO BE DEVELOPMENT READY

95Technical Bulletin No. 5     November, 2017

Charter Township of Ypsilanti

Economic Development Strategy

What It Means to be Development Ready

Carlisle | Wortman
A S S O C I AT E S,  I N C.



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - WHAT IT MEANS TO BE DEVELOPMENT READY

96Technical Bulletin No. 5     November, 2017

Economic development does not happen by chance. 
Private investment in a community occurs as a result of 
a deliberate decision making process. 

The highly competitive global economy and changing 
technology requires the Township to develop a clear 
strategy to promote economic development. One key 
component of the strategy is to be prepared when 
opportunity knocks.

The State of Michigan sponsors the Redevelopment 
Ready Communities (RRC) program which promotes 
more effective practices leading to quality community 
development. RRC communities commit to improving 
their development readiness by agreeing to undergo 
a rigorous assessment and take steps to adopt best 
practices.

There are several factors common to communities that 
are redevelopment ready:

• The presence of social capital (bonding, bridging 
and linking networks, community norms/trust) that 
helps the community come together to achieve 
common goals.

• Leadership is inclusive in its decision-making 
processes, allowing for the consideration of future 
generations, expression of new ideas, and support 
for the development of new leaders.

• A culture that celebrates and supports 
entrepreneurial enterprise.

• Baseline capacity including physical infrastructure 
such as roads, sewer and water and community 
services such as police and fire sufficient to support 
a community’s vision.

What is Redevelopment Readiness?

The Michigan Redevelopment Ready Communities (RRC) Program is a 
state-wide certification program that supports communities to become 
development ready and competitive in today’s economy. It encourages 
communities to adopt innovative redevelopment strategies and efficient 
proceses which build confidence among businesses and developers. 
Through the RRC program, local municipalities receive assistance 
in establishing a solid foundation for development to occur in their 
communities - making them more attractive for investments that create 
places where people want to live, work and play.

EMBRACING ENTREPRENEURS

Communities that embrace and support entrepreneurs 
have a greater chance of success. There are three kinds 
of entrepreneurs that are present in every community:

• Business Entrepreneurs work in the for-profit 
world by creating services and products, new 
investment, jobs and tax base.

• Civic Entrepreneurs work for the betterment of 
their communities by creating and promoting 
projects and programs that allow a community to 
shine.

• Social Entrepreneurs support community 
programs and organizations that enrich peoples 
lives.

Business, civic and social entrepreneurs share these 
common traits:

• Opportunity Focused

• Visionary

• Build Teams for Success

• Innovative

• Flexible

• Resourceful



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - WHAT IT MEANS TO BE DEVELOPMENT READY

97Technical Bulletin No. 5     November, 2017

COMMUNITY KEYS FOR SUCCESS

Why are some communities are more successful than 
others? There are a number of important elements 
that need to be in place for the Township to be 
development ready and poised for success.

Compelling Goals

Successful communities set compelling, clear, and 
accountable goals. These goals provide both a 
roadmap for action and goal posts for celebrating 
progress and success. Goals should be evaluated and 
updated annually.

Opportunity Focused

Successful communities both seek and recognize 
opportunities that will improve the community. The 
American Center for Mobility (ACM) is an example 
of an opportunity upon which the Township can 
capitalize.

Community Engagement

Successful communities engage the full potential 
of community talents, skills, and ideas to support 
community development goals. Effective community 
engagement requires a committment of both staff and 
funding.

Strong Execution

For community improvement to occur, significant 
work has to be undertaken. Strong execution of the 
action plan ensures that, over time, goals are met and 
the community’s vision for a better present and future 
are realized.

Leadership

Nothing happens without leaders willing to help 
their community discover opportunities, grow a 
vision for the future, set goals, and sustain effort 
over time. Leaders stimulate others to think broadly, 
communicate a vision, and execute a plan.

Staff Support

Consistent supporting staff accelerates progress. 
While staff does not replace leaders and volunteers, 
it can increase effectiveness and efficiency of local 
economic development. The Township would benefit 
by having an economic development coordinator.

Funding

Little invested and little accomplished - so goes the 
saying. Community improvement takes dollars and 
appropriate funding to support staff, action plan 
implementation and other costs.

Model for Success

Opportunity
Focused

Community
Engagement

Strong
Execution

Compelling
Goals

Township
Success

Staff
Support

Leadership

Funding



YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP - WHAT IT MEANS TO BE DEVELOPMENT READY

98Technical Bulletin No. 5     November, 2017

REDEVELOPMENT READY 
COMMUNITIES BEST PRACTICES

The Redevelopment Ready Communities program 
promotes a series of best practices which lead to 
certification as a redevelopment ready community. 
Whether Ypsilanti Township pursues RRC certification 
or not, implementation of RRC best practices will assist 
the Township with an effective economic development 
strategy.

There are six standards of RRC best practices:

• Standard 1: Community Vision and Education 
- Focused and consistent public involvement 
in crafting a vision will build support for 
redevelopment opportunities. Public support 
starts with informing the community of the 
need for and benefits of redevelopment. The 
Township has initiated this effort by creating a 
Steering Committee to assist with the Economic 
Development Strategy.

• Standard 2: Continuing Education for Public 
Officials - Keeping both appointed and elected 
officials informed and educated about processes, 
tools and incentives leads to better decision-
making. Establishing a training plan for Township 
officials will help ensure that the necessary skill 
sets are in place to attract and retain economic 
activity.

• Standard 3: Tools for Redevelopment - Starting and 
maintaining an effective economic development 
strategies requires using all available “tools in 
the toolbox”. Being open to use all available tools 
demonstrates the Township’s committment to 
work with the private sector on projects that have 
long-term benefit to the Township. For example, 
taking advantage of the County’s Brownfield 
Redevelopment Authority can stimulate projects 
which may otherwise not be accomplished.

• Standard 4: Development Regulations - Zoning 
and other regulatory mechanisms should be 
predictable and not be an obstacle to projects 
which fit the Township’s vision. The Township has 
made a committment to a comprehensive review 
of the Zoning Ordinance. 

• Standard 5: Marketing of Redevelopment Sites- 
Information about specific sites available for 
potential projects should be readily available 
to developers. Information should include 
ownership, location, zoning, availability of utilities 
and environmental data. A database of Township 
owned property has been compiled as part of the 
Economic Development Strategy.

• Standard 6: Redevelopment Plan Review 
Process - Development review processes can 
be streamlined without sacrificing community 
standards. The review and revision of review 
processes coincide with revision of development 
regulations so that the entire approval process 
is more predictable. As indicated, the Township 
is currently in the process of reviewing its zoning 
regulations.



 

Richard K. Carlisle, President    Douglas J. Lewan, Executive Vice President    John L. Enos, Principal 
   David Scurto, Principal   Benjamin R. Carlisle, Principal   Sally M. Elmiger, Principal    Craig Strong, Principal    R. Donald Wortman, Principal   

Laura K. Kreps, Associate     Paul Montagno, Associate 

 
TO:  Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk, Ypsilanti Charter Township 
  Lisa Stanfield, Deputy Clerk, Ypsilanti Charter Township 
 
FROM: Megan A. Masson-Minock, AICP  

DATE: May 4, 2018 
 
RE: Request for E. Michigan Avenue & Ecorse Road PlaceMaking Plan to be on May 15, 

2018 Township Board Agenda 
 
We are requesting for the review and approval of the E. Michigan Avenue and Ecorse Road 
PlaceMaking Plan to be on the agenda for the Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board of Trustees 
meeting on May 15, 2018.  The development of this plan has been funded by a grant to the 
Charter Township of Ypsilanti by the University of Michigan-Economic Growth Institute through 
the Defense Manufacturing Assistance Program, which was awarded in December 2017 and ends 
at the May 31, 2018.  Due to time constraints of the grant, this plan could not be adopted process 
prescribed by the Michigan Planning Enabling Act.  This plan would then be similar to the recently 
developed Economic Development Strategy, which can be used as a guiding document but does 
not have the same legal weight in land use decisions as the Master Plan.  However, the Township 
could choose to adopt this plan as an amendment to the Township Master Plan at a later date. 
 
Attached is a draft of the plan.  The draft has been reviewed and recommended by the Planning 
Commission and approved for Township Board review by the Task Force, which included yourself 
and Trustee Stan Eldridge.   
 
We hope to be on the agenda for the Township Board on May 15th!  Please let me know if you 
have any questions!   
 
Sincerely, 

 



Ypsilanti Township Placemaking Plan
DRAFT: May 2018



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

This page is intentionally left blank.



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

TABLE OF CONTENTS • 3

1.  Corridor Vision ………………………………………. 5
Context ………………………………………………………………. 5

One Word Results ………………………………………………….. 6

Anchors and Barriers …………………………………………….... 6

Vision Statement …………………………………………………... 6

Engagement …………………………………………………..…….. 8

2.  Strategy Summary …........………………………... 9
Five Immediate Actions ……………………………………………. 9

Economic Development …………………………………………... 10

Land Use Redevelopment ………………………………………... 11

Placemaking ………………………………………...……………... 12

3.  Existing Conditions ………………………………... 15
Introduction …………………………………………...………….... 15

Zoning …………………………………………...…………....……. 16

Land Use …………………………………………...…………....… 18

Environmental Conditions ………………………………………... 19

Market …………………………………………...…………....……. 20

4.  Strategies ………………………………...…………. 25
Business Support …………………………………………...……. 25

Land Use Redevelopment ……………………………………….. 26

Placemaking ………………………………………..……………... 38

Implementation……………………………………..……………... 43

Table of Contents



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

TOWNSHIP BOARD 
Brenda Stumbo, Supervisor 
Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk 
Larry Doe, Treasurer 
Stan Eldridge, Trustee 
Heather Jarrell Roe, Trustee 
Monica Ross-Williams, Trustee 
Jimmie Wilson Jr., Trustee

PLANNING COMMISSION 
Jason Iaconangeli (Chair)  
Sally Richie (Vice Chair)  
Laurence Krieg (Secretary)  
Stan Eldridge  
Gloria Peterson  
Bill Sinkule 
Muddasar Tawakkul

TOWNSHIP STAFF 
Mike Radzik, Director of Office of 
Community Standards 

Charlotte Wilson, Planning and 
Development Coordinator

TASK FORCE 
Karen Lovejoy Roe 
Stan Eldridge 
Duane Williams
Laura Spear 
Marlene Radzik 
Charlotte Wilson 
Mike Marocco 
Khadija Wallace 
Angela Barbash 
Beth Ernat 
Sally Richie 
Andrea White 
Rachel Arnold

PARTNER 
University of Michigan –  
Economic Growth Institute 

CONSULTANT TEAM 
CWA 
Ben Carlisle, Megan Masson-Minock,  
Tyler Lasser

Acknowledgements
PARTNERSHIPS AND FUNDING

Redevelopment of E. Michigan Avenue and Ecorse Road 
will only be possible through partnerships, both with public 
and private organizations. Partnerships with organizations 
that depend upon local stakeholders for leadership can 
be leveraged to attract new investment, strengthen the 
existing business climate, and access funding opportunities. 
The following partnerships were an integral part of the 
development of this Plan: 

• Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT)

• Washtenaw County

• City of Ypsilanti 

• Washtenaw Area Transportation Study

Funding for the Plan was provided to the Charter Township 
of Ypsilanti by the University of Michigan-Economic 
Growth Institute through the Defense Manufacturing 
Assistance Program (DMAP).  DMAP is a program that 
assists communities and businesses that have been impacted 
by fluctuations in defense contracts to thrive and prosper. It 
helps communities and businesses that have been affected 
by the drawdown in defense spending to enhance local 
economies, maintain jobs, diversify, and innovate.   DMAP is 
funded by the Department of Defense’s Office of Economic 
Adjustment, under the Defense Industry Adjustment 
Program.

Ypsilanti 

WAYNE COUNTYWASHTENAW
COUNTY

US
-2

3

Washtenaw Ave.
Ann Arbor

Pitts�eld

I-94

Michigan Ave.

Michigan Ave.

US-1
2

St
on

y C
re

ek
 

Textile

Ra
w

so
nv

ille
 R

d.

Pr
os

pe
ct

Ypsilanti 
Township 

Augusta

Fo
rd

Ecorse Rd.

Holmes

Context Map
Ypsilanti Township, 
Washtenaw County

Washtenaw County

Ypsilanti Township

Ypsilanti Township, Washtenaw County

Source: SEMCOG, MiGDL, Ypsilanti Township

         Carlisle/Wortman Associates

April 20, 2018



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

THE IMPORTANCE OF PLACE
Now more than ever, the quality of a place attracts redevelopment and investment. Vibrant, 
dynamic areas, backed by progressive approaches to placemaking, attract redevelopment 
and investment, which fuels economic growth. However, building quality places requires an 
investment in area planning and amenities. The investment and transformation is an ongoing, 
dynamic process that consistently engages key stakeholders. Quality places have a clear 
competitive advantage – immediately today, and in the years ahead.  

Successful corridors have common principles including implementing the communities’ long-
term vision, offering a variety of quality land uses, delivering a diverse and connected network 
of transportation options, and providing safe community destinations. With these common 
principles in mind, this plan the strategically important corridors of E. Michigan Avennue and 
Ecorse Road focuses on land use and zoning, connectivity and circulation, and urban design, 
placemaking, and beautification.  

CONTEXT
E. Michigan Avenue and Ecorse Road are strategically important corridors for Ypsilanti 
Township.  Both serve as entrances to the Township from US 12 and the City of Ypsilanti.  
Situated in the northeast corner of the township, the two corridors are under the jurisdiction 
of the Michigan Department Of Transportation (MDOT). 

Michigan Avenue is the portion of the US Highway 12 (US-12) in Michigan. US-12 is an east–
west US Highway that runs from Aberdeen, Washington, to Detroit, Michigan. In Michigan, 
US-12 is a 210-mile long tate trunkline highway and Pure Michigan Byway that runs between 
the cities of New Buffalo and Detroit. In Ypsilanti Township, Michigan Avenue is a 3-mile 
commercial arterial that connects the City of Ypsilanti with Van Buren Township.   

Corridor VisionBELOW:
Location

CORRIDOR VISION • 5

Ypsilanti 

WAYNE COUNTYWASHTENAW
COUNTY

U
S-

23

Washtenaw Ave.
Ann Arbor

Pitts�eld

I-94

Michigan Ave.

Michigan Ave.

US-
12

St
on

y 
Cr

ee
k 

Textile

Ra
w

so
nv

ill
e 

Rd
.

Pr
os

pe
ct

Ypsilanti 
Township 

Augusta

Fo
rd

Ecorse Rd.

Holmes

Context Map
Ypsilanti Township, 
Washtenaw County

Washtenaw County

Ypsilanti Township

Ypsilanti Township, Washtenaw County

Source: SEMCOG, MiGDL, Ypsilanti Township

         Carlisle/Wortman Associates

April 20, 2018

Ypsilanti 

WAYNE COUNTYWASHTENAW
COUNTY

US
-2

3

Washtenaw Ave.
Ann Arbor

Pitts�eld

I-94

Michigan Ave.

Michigan Ave.

US-1
2

St
on

y C
re

ek
 

Textile

Ra
w

so
nv

ille
 R

d.

Pr
os

pe
ct

Ypsilanti 
Township 

Augusta

Fo
rd

Ecorse Rd.

Holmes

Context Map
Ypsilanti Township, 
Washtenaw County

Washtenaw County

Ypsilanti Township

Ypsilanti Township, Washtenaw County

Source: SEMCOG, MiGDL, Ypsilanti Township

         Carlisle/Wortman Associates

April 20, 2018

Ypsilanti 

WAYNE COUNTYWASHTENAW
COUNTY

U
S-

23

Washtenaw Ave.
Ann Arbor

Pitts�eld

I-94

Michigan Ave.

Michigan Ave.

US-
12

St
on

y C
re

ek
 

Textile

Ra
w

so
nv

ill
e 

Rd
.

Pr
os

pe
ct

Ypsilanti 
Township 

Augusta

Fo
rd

Ecorse Rd.

Holmes

Context Map
Ypsilanti Township, 
Washtenaw County

Washtenaw County

Ypsilanti Township

Ypsilanti Township, Washtenaw County

Source: SEMCOG, MiGDL, Ypsilanti Township

         Carlisle/Wortman Associates

April 20, 2018



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

Ecorse Road is the portion of M-17 that runs through Ypsilanti Township.  M-17 is a 6 
mile-long state trunkline highway that connects the Ypsilanti Township with Ann Arbor 
through the City of Ypsilanti.  In Ypsilanti Township, Ecorse Road is 1.5 miles long, serves 
as primary neighborhood commercial corridor for adjacent residential neighborhoods and 
is a connection to Interstate 94 via US-12.   

ONE WORD RESULTS
The Task Force and corridor stakeholders were asked to provide one word to describe the 
corridors today and one word to describe what they wish the corridors will be in ten years.  
The results are shown in the word clouds on this page.  

ANCHORS AND BARRIERS
 The Existing Conditions Map on the opposite page shows the anchors and barriers 
identified by the consultant team, the Task Force and corridor stakeholders.  E. Michigan 
Avenue has a variety of anchors from major employers like Eby Brown and DTE to 
shopping gathering spots like Kroger.  The anchors on Ecorse were more typical for a 
neighborhood corridor including Calvary Baptist Church, Cuppys Best Restaurant and Ice 
Cream Time.  

The corridors have barriers that limit mobility and safety. E. Michigan Avenue is physically 
cut off from surrounding areas by the railroad to the south the the Ford Boulevard overpass.  
Both corridors have poor lighting, sidewalks and crossings.  

The one word results and the anchors and barriers analysis helped to craft the vision for the 
corridors at the top of this page.  

CORRIDOR VISION • 6

USE ONE WORD TO DESCRIBE THE 
CORRIDOR NOW

USE ONE WORD TO DESCRIBE THE 
CORRIDOR IN TEN YEARS

VISION STATEMENT
Through quality development, business incubation, creation of anchors, beautification 
and safety improvements, and reinvestment, E. Michigan Avenue and Ecorse Road will 
become a choice location for businesses, visitors and residents.



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

Ypsilanti Township, Washtenaw County

Source: SEMCOG, MiGDL, Ypsilanti Township

         Carlisle/Wortman Associates

Feet650 1,3000

Existing Conditions
E. Michigan Avenue

Ypsilanti Township, 
Washtenaw County

Anchors

Barriers

Sidewalk Improvement 
Opportunities

Key Redevelopment Sites

Signi�cant Tree Canopy

Types of Uses:

Automotive Industrial

Retail/O�ce

Retail/O�ce/Light Industrial

Neighborhood Commercial

Bus Routes 43, 42, 68

Bus Routes 68, 44

Neighborhood Commercial

Ypsilanti Township, Washtenaw County

Source: SEMCOG, MiGDL, Ypsilanti Township

         Carlisle/Wortman Associates

December 22, 2017

Feet650 1,3000

Van Buren Tow
nship

Willow Run Airport

American Center for Mobility

DTE

Pe
ns

ke
 T

ru
ck

s

Eb
y-

Br
ow

n

Kr
og

er

Calvary Baptist 
Church

Forest School Cuppy’s Resturant

Existing Conditions
Ypsilanti Township, 
Washtenaw County

Anchors

Barriers

Sidewalk Improvement 
Opportunities

Key Redevelopment Sites

Types of Uses:

Ypsilanti Township, Washtenaw County

Source: 

         Carlisle/Wortman Associates

December 22, 2017

Van Buren Tow
nship

City of Ypsilanti 

Superior Township

Holmes Rd.

E. Forest Ave.

E. Cross St.

N
. H

ar
ris

 R
d.

Willow Run Airport

American Center for Mobility

US-
12S.

 Fo
rd

 R
d.

E. Michigan Ave.

Ecorse Rd.

Amtrack Rail

Bi
ll’

s 
Dr

iv
e 

In

W
ia

rd
 R

oa
d

43 42 68

4468

43

43

43
43

43

43

43

43

43

43

43

43

43

4268

DTE

Pe
ns

ke
 T

ru
ck

s

Eb
y-

Br
ow

n

Kr
og

er

Calvary Baptist 
Church

Forest School Cuppy’s Resturant

Washtenaw County
Anchors

Barriers

Sidewalk Improvement 
Opportunities

Key Redevelopment Sites

Types of Uses:

Automotive Industrial

Neighborhood Commercial

Ypsilanti Township, Washtenaw County

Source: SEMCOG, MiGDL, Ypsilanti Township

         Carlisle/Wortman Associates

December 22, 2017

Van Buren Tow
nship

City of Ypsilanti 

Holmes Rd.

E. Forest Ave.

E. Cross St.

N
. H

ar
ris

 R
d.

Willow Run Airport

American Center for Mobility

Hawthorne Ave.

Parkwood Ave.

Maplewood Ave.

Davis St.

Ro
se

w
oo

d 
Av

e.

Gl
en

w
oo

d 
Av

e.

Gr
ee

nl
aw

n 
St

.

W
oo

dl
aw

n 
Av

e.

O
ak

la
w

n 
Av

e.

Pi
ne

w
oo

d 
Av

e.

W
ha

rt
on

 A
ve

.

Ke
nn

ed
y A

ve
.

Du
bi

e A
ve

.

H
ay

es
 S

t.

Ka
ns

as
 A

ve
.

Gi
ll S

t.

US-
12

W
ia

rd
 R

oa
d

S.
 Fo

rd
 R

d.

E. Michigan Ave.

Ecorse Rd.

Amtrack Rail

Carry Dairy

Ice Cream 
Time

44

44

44

44

44
44

44 44

44
44

68

68

CORRIDOR VISION • 7

Existing Conditions Map



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

ENGAGEMENT
Throughout the 6-month plan development process, community engagement was an 
underlying activity. A task force met regularly, guiding the process. A Design Workshop was 
held to gather input from the wider community.  

Task Force

The Michigan Avenue/Ecorse Road Planning Task Force played a key role in the 
development of the plan. Members of the task force included business owners from both 
corridors, residents, representatives of the Washtenaw County Sherriff’s office, City of 
Ypsilanti staff, Ypsilanti Township staff, Planning Commissioners and Township Board 
members.  The Task Force guided the process and built consensus around a comprehensive 
strategy for the future of both corridors.  Specifically, the Task Force: 

• Reviewed corridor analysis and existing conditions.

• Assisted in gathering community input. 

•  Worked with the Planning Team to develop the corridor vision(s), review  
draft text, graphics, and maps of the plan, and assist in the development of an 
implementation strategy.  

•  Have committed to serve as ongoing champions of the plan during the planning 
process and, more importantly, plan implementation.

Design Workshop

The planning process include a two-day design workshop.  The workshop featured an 
open studio at Calvary Baptist Church on Ecorse Road with hands- on activities as well 
as opportunities to talk one-on-one with consultants. Two public meetings were part of 
the workshop as well.  Overall, over 20 individuals participated including local business 
owners, residents, property owners, City of Ypsilanti and Ypsilanti Township staff, and 
elected and appointed officials from Ypsilanti Township.  

How can we make 
Ecorse Road &  
East Michigan Avenue 
great? greater?  
the greatest?

Design Workshop for 
Ecorse Road &  
East Michigan Avenue 

Please join us and share your 

opinions about what needs to 

happen to make Ecorse Road 

and East Michigan Avenue great 

places to live, shop & work!

* For all Calvary Baptist Church Classroom 211 events,  
please park in the church parking lot between the church and the gymnasium.  
There is an entrance to the church adjacent to this parking lot

WHEN & WHEREWHAT
Thursday, March 8
10:00 a.m. – 3:00 p.m.
Open Studio – Calvary Baptist Church,  
Classroom #211

7:00 p.m. – 9:00 p.m.
Community Meeting – Ypsilanti Township  
Community Center (2025 E Clark Rd)

Friday, March 9
10:00 a.m. – Noon
Open Studio – Calvary Baptist Church,  
Classroom #211

3:00 p.m. – 4:00 p.m.
Task Force Meeting – Calvary Baptist Church, 
Classroom #211

If you have questions or can not attend but want to offer your thoughts please email tlasser@cwaplan.com

BELOW: 
Flyer for Design Workshop

CORRIDOR VISION • 8



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

This Plan is built around strategies to transform E. Michigan Avenue and Ecorse Road into 
a vibrant corridors with quality development, businesses incubation, anchors, beautification 
and safety improvements, and reinvestment. To maintain the momentum of this planning 
process and garner support from the stakeholders, local partners, and investors, the 
following early action projects are projects that the Township can pursue within the first 
year of implementation. 

Strategy SummaryBELOW: 
Top: E. Michigan Avenue Road Diet Illustration
Bottom:  Ecorse Road Diet Illustration

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY • 9

FIVE IMMEDIATE ACTIONS
1. Develop zoning strategies for E. Michigan Avenue and Ecorse Road (page 26)

2. Begin an Ecorse Road and E. Michigan Avenue Business Association (page 25)

3. Fill in sidewalk gaps and improve lighting in both corridors   (page 42)

4. Start road diet process with MDOT for both corridors (page 39)

5. Work with Washtenaw County to conduct Phase 1 Environmental Assessment 
for all township owned parcels along both corridors (page 29)



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

Though two distinct corridors, E. Michigan Avenue and Ecorse Road share common 
geographies, issues, and opportunities. Shared implementation strategies can be applied to 
each corridor.  This section describes shared strategies in economic development, land use 
redevelopment, and placemaking, while noting where implementation may vary due to the 
unique circumstances in each corridor. 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

Business Associations 

The creation of an Ecorse/E. Michigan Business Association provides an opportunity for 
business owners and managers to share information and resources, leverage opportunities, 
organize events and programs, and market the corridors for business and development.  
Business associations in other areas have sparked the interest of prospective businesses and 
encouraged development along corridors.  

Directory 

A business directory is a key marketing tool to support local businesses, by putting 
information about individual businesses in an easily accessible place.  A directory for Ecorse 
and/or E. Michigan Avenue could be developed by a business association or another entity, 
such as Ypsilanti Township.  The business directory should be posted in a common place 
such as the Ypsilanti Township website or an Ecorse/E. Michigan Business Association 
website and be updated annually.  

Programming

Programming can bring a community together as well as attract visitors from surrounding 
communities.  Events such as art fairs, seasonal events, farmers markets and car shows have 
made positive impacts on many municipalities by promoting both local businesses as well 
as tourism. Both corridors have opportunities to host unique programming with a regional 
draw. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY • 10

BELOW: 
The Orphan Car Show is an example of programming that 
brought visitors to Depot Town in the City of Ypsilanti.

1

2

3

4



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

LAND USE REDEVELOPMENT 

Zoning 

In order to create stable and more vibrant corridors, effective zoning practices need to 
be adopted to set the stage for development.  Zoning should not be a regulatory tool to 
stifle the private market but rather an effective means to stimulate and incentivize new 
investment. Mirroring the future land use plan, multiple sections of both corridors will 
require unique zoning strategies to ensure existing undesirable land uses can be contained, 
desired uses can be stimulated and zoning dimensional requirements allow a 21-century 
building on every parcel in both corridors.   

Brownfield Sites

Throughout both corridors, there are a number of contaminated sites or brownfields.  
Brownfields are complicated to redevelop but also are eligible for public money to assist 
with redevelopment and remediation.  Remediation and redevelopment of brownfield sites 
along E. Michigan Avenue and Ecorse Road would improve and clean up dirty sites, open 
up large parcels for redevelopment and increase economic opportunities.

Key Redevelopment Properties

There are an  abundance of vacant parcels on both corridors, all of which are opportunities 
for redevelopment. However, the redevelopment of a few key sites on both corridors could 
make a large impact. These key parcels are privately and publicly owned. These properties 
should be targeted for redevelopment.  Locations and plans for key redevelopment parcels 
in both corridors are described in upcoming sections. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY • 11

BELOW: 
Key Redevelopment Properties
Top: Northern block on Ecorse between Rosewood & Pinewood 
Bottom: 953 E. Michigan Avenue

+/- 4.4 
ACRES

+/- 6.8 
ACRES



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

PLACEMAKING 

Road Diet

Creating safe and inclusive roadways is crucial to creating a sense of 
place. By narrowing roads and allocating excess space for other uses, a 
road diet creates a safer environment for both drivers and pedestrians.  
A road diet, also called a lane reduction, is a reconfiguration which 
typically reduces the number of travel lanes to create space for other 
street elements such as bicycle lanes, a center left-turn lane, medians or 
curbside parking. Often, road diets do not actually narrow the physical 
width of a roadway footprint, but rearrange how space is used curb to 
curb.

Undertaking a comprehensive road diet plan along E. Michigan Avenue 
as well as Ecorse Road will set the stage for corridor redevelopment, and 
speed reduction. The narrowing from a five-lane road to three-lane road 
will permit space for improvements or construction of sidewalks, bike 
lanes, parking lanes, or dedicated bus lanes.   

Additionally, improved and additional crosswalks can be constructed 
as part of the road diet along both corridors. Decreasing the width of 
the road and creating additional destinations to cross, as well as adding 
pedestrian crosswalk lights, will improve pedestrian safety. Both 
corridors will require a separate road diet tailored to each’s unique right-
of-way.  

Gateways

Gateways and wayfinding are physical elements that create an important 
sense of place within a community. Gateways, such as signs or public 
art, should be erected at the entrance of the Township at both ends of 
E. Michigan Avenue and Ecorse Roads, advertising the arrival into the 
Township. Essential locations for gateways include the intersections 
of  E. Michigan Avenue and Ridge Road, Ecorse and Ford Boulevard as 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY • 12

BELOW: 
Top:  Ecorse Road Current Conditions
Bottom:  Ecorse Road Diet Illustration



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

well as the intersection of Ecorse and E. Michigan Avenue. Additionally, in collaboration 
with the City of Ypsilanti and Destination Ann Arbor (the convention visitor’s bureau), the 
Township has created signs that display directions to various destinations, also referred 
to as wayfinding signage. Additional approved wayfinding signage should be added to the 
streetscape of both corridors. 

Lighting

Lighting plays an essential role when it comes to safety for drivers, as well as pedestrians 
and cyclists. Both Ecorse as well as East Michigan Avenue should have additional 
streetlights installed for increased visibility.  Lighting recommendations for each corridor 
detailed later in the plan were determined by the type of land use and whether people drive, 
walk, bike or some combination thereof to each portion of the corridors. 

Sidewalks

Safe, accessible, and well-maintained sidewalks are a fundamental investment for corridors. 
First, they are where people walk, whether it is from their car or from their home, to access 
everything on the corridor.  Second, sidewalks connect places on the corridors.  Studies 
have shown that well-maintained sidewalks that connect places enhance general public 
health.  Third, as public spaces, they are the front steps to the corridor. However, there are 
large gaps in the sidewalk system on both corridors.  In both corridors, sidewalks should be 
added to connect the existing gaps or repair unsafe sidewalks. 

Public Spaces / Public Art

Another strategy to create a unique location is to repurpose open space. Some park options 
for the corridors pocket parks, public plaza, or linear parks. The future parks and recreation 
opportunities will be dependent on location and ownership of parcels.  

Public art includes murals, statues, graffiti walls, fountains and sculptures. The public art 
often becomes a landmark or the central point of a gathering space.  Opportunities exist on 
both corridors to enhance buildings, create unique places or provide landmarks with public 
art. In recommendations for each corridor, potential locations for public art are provided.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY • 13

BELOW: 
Ecorse Road Public Space Illustrations



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY • 14

This page is intentionally left blank.



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

INTRODUCTION
The following section describes the existing conditions in the E. Michigan Avenue and 
Ecorse Road Corridors. The current zoning and land use, as well as the environmental 
conditions are described. An in-depth analysis of the retail market is provided as well with 
opportunities identified for each corridor. 

Existing Conditions

BELOW: 
Existing Conditions Map

EXISTING CONDITIONS • 15

Ypsilanti Township, Washtenaw County

Source: SEMCOG, MiGDL, Ypsilanti Township

         Carlisle/Wortman Associates

Feet650 1,3000

Existing Conditions
E. Michigan Avenue

Ypsilanti Township, 
Washtenaw County

Anchors

Barriers

Sidewalk Improvement 
Opportunities

Key Redevelopment Sites

Signi�cant Tree Canopy

Types of Uses:

Automotive Industrial

Retail/O�ce

Retail/O�ce/Light Industrial

Neighborhood Commercial

Bus Routes 43, 42, 68

Bus Routes 68, 44

Neighborhood Commercial

Ypsilanti Township, Washtenaw County

Source: SEMCOG, MiGDL, Ypsilanti Township

         Carlisle/Wortman Associates

December 22, 2017

Feet650 1,3000

Van Buren Tow
nship

Willow Run Airport

American Center for Mobility

DTE

Pe
ns

ke
 T

ru
ck

s

Eb
y-

Br
ow

n

Kr
og

er

Calvary Baptist 
Church

Forest School Cuppy’s Resturant

Existing Conditions
Ypsilanti Township, 
Washtenaw County

Anchors

Barriers

Sidewalk Improvement 
Opportunities

Key Redevelopment Sites

Types of Uses:

Ypsilanti Township, Washtenaw County

Source: 

         Carlisle/Wortman Associates

December 22, 2017

Van Buren Tow
nship

City of Ypsilanti 

Superior Township

Holmes Rd.

E. Forest Ave.

E. Cross St.

N
. H

ar
ris

 R
d.

Willow Run Airport

American Center for Mobility

US-
12S.

 Fo
rd

 R
d.

E. Michigan Ave.

Ecorse Rd.

Amtrack Rail

Bi
ll’

s 
Dr

iv
e 

In

W
ia

rd
 R

oa
d

43 42 68

4468

43

43

43
43

43

43

43

43

43

43

43

43

43

4268

DTE

Pe
ns

ke
 T

ru
ck

s

Eb
y-

Br
ow

n

Kr
og

er

Calvary Baptist 
Church

Forest School Cuppy’s Resturant

Washtenaw County
Anchors

Barriers

Sidewalk Improvement 
Opportunities

Key Redevelopment Sites

Types of Uses:

Automotive Industrial

Neighborhood Commercial

Ypsilanti Township, Washtenaw County

Source: SEMCOG, MiGDL, Ypsilanti Township

         Carlisle/Wortman Associates

December 22, 2017

Van Buren Tow
nship

City of Ypsilanti 

Holmes Rd.

E. Forest Ave.

E. Cross St.

N
. H

ar
ris

 R
d.

Willow Run Airport

American Center for Mobility

Hawthorne Ave.

Parkwood Ave.

Maplewood Ave.

Davis St.

Ro
se

w
oo

d 
Av

e.

Gl
en

w
oo

d 
Av

e.

Gr
ee

nl
aw

n 
St

.

W
oo

dl
aw

n 
Av

e.

O
ak

la
w

n 
Av

e.

Pi
ne

w
oo

d 
Av

e.

W
ha

rt
on

 A
ve

.

Ke
nn

ed
y A

ve
.

Du
bi

e A
ve

.

H
ay

es
 S

t.

Ka
ns

as
 A

ve
.

Gi
ll S

t.

US-
12

W
ia

rd
 R

oa
d

S.
 Fo

rd
 R

d.

E. Michigan Ave.

Ecorse Rd.

Amtrack Rail

Carry Dairy

Ice Cream 
Time

44

44

44

44

44
44

44 44

44
44

68

68



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

ZONING
The western end of E. Michigan Avenue and almost all of Ecorse Road is lined  
with B-3 General Business zoning. The B-3 zoning district is designed to provide for 
automobile oriented diversified business type uses. 

The eastern end of E. Michigan Avenue includes some mix of I-1 Light Industrial and I-2 
General Industrial zoning.  A number of these parcels on the south side of E. Michigan 
Avenue have B-3 zoning on the road frontage with a portion of the property abutting the 
railroad tracks zoned I-1. The split zoning has prevented redevelopment of some of these 
parcels.  The I-1 zoning district is designed to provide for lower intensity uses such as 
wholesale activities, warehouses, and light industrial operations. The I-2 zoning district 
permits for more intensive industrial activities including manufacturing, assembling and 
fabrication. 

Ecorse Road is mostly zoned B-3 zoning with some Office Service (O-S) and Single-Family 
Residential (R-5) Zoning.  The B-3 Zoning District requires a twenty foot front yard 
setback and a twenty foot rear yard setback.  Many of the lots on Ecorse are shallow, many 
less that 120 feet deep.  The front and rear yard setbacks for new buildings require over one-
third of these lots to be open space, limiting their redevelopment potential. 

EXISTING CONDITIONS • 16

BELOW: 
The vacant property on Ecorse Road outlined in yellow 
below is less than 100 feet deep and zoned B-3.



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

§̈¦94

Zoning
R-1 One-Family Residential
R-2 One-Family Residential
R-3 One-Family Residential
R-4 One-Family Residential
R-5 One-Family Residential
RM-2 Multiple-Family Residential
RM-3 Multiple-Family Residential
RM-4 Multiple-Family Residential
RM-5 Townhouse
MHP Mobile Home Park
OS-1 Office Service
B-1 Local Business
B-2 Community Business
B-3 General business
TC-1 Town Center
TC-3 Town Center
IRO Industrial Research Office
I-1 Light Industrial
I-2 General Industrial
I-3 Industrial
I-C Industrial and Commercial
P-1 Vehicular Parking
PD Planned Development

Ypsilanti Township,
Washtenaw County

ZONING

0 0.450.225 Miles

S U P E R I O R  T OWNSHIPS U P E R I O R  T OWNSHIP

V
A

N
 B

U
R

E
N

 T
O

W
N

SH
IP

V
A

N
 B

U
R

E
N

 T
O

W
N

SH
IP

C
IT

Y
 O

F
 Y

P
S

IL
AN

TI
C

IT
Y

 O
F

 Y
P

S
IL

AN
TI

Source: Ypsilanti Township, Washtenaw County
Prepared by Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc.

EXISTING CONDITIONS • 17

Zoning Map



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

LAND USE
Though the zoning on the corridors is fairly consistent with primarily B-3, I-1, and I-2 zoning, the land use greatly varies. The western end of E. Michigan 
Avenue includes a mix of commercial, light industrial, single-family residential, and vacant property.  The eastern end of E. Michigan Avenue is primary 
light industrial, salvage yards, and vacant property. There are scattered mix of retail uses in this section of the corridor. There is no established pattern to 
land use along E. Michigan Avenue.  

Ecorse Road has historically operated as a neighborhood commercial and service corridor, serving the neighborhoods of West Willow and Gault Village. 
Currently the corridor is primarily retail, including eateries, gas stations, and personal service uses. However, there are a few non-retail anchors such as 
Calvary Baptist Church and Forest School. A few parcels on the corridor are single-family residential. 

Existing Land Use
Ypsilanti Township, 
Washtenaw County

Housing:
Single Family House
Attached Condo
Multiple-Family Housing
Mobile Home Park

O�ce/Industrial:
Commercial
O�ce
Industrial
Medical
Institutional
Transportation, 
Communication, Utility

Community Service:
Parking
Vacant Land
Parks, Recreation, and Open 
Space

Ypsilanti Township, Washtenaw County

Source: SEMCOG, MiGDL, Ypsilanti Township

         Carlisle/Wortman Associates

December 22, 2017

Feet650 1,3000

Van Buren Tow
nship

C
ity of Ypsilanti 

Superior Township

US-
12

W
ia

rd
 R

oa
d

S.
 Fo

rd
 R

d.

E. Michigan Ave.

Ecorse Rd.

Amtrack Rail

Holmes Rd.

E. Forest Ave.

E. Cross St.

N
. H

ar
ris

 R
d.

Willow Run Airport

American Center for Mobility

Hawthorne Ave.

Parkwood Ave.

Maplewood Ave.

Davis St.

Ro
se

w
oo

d 
Av

e.

G
le

nw
oo

d 
Av

e.

G
re

en
la

w
n 

St
.

W
oo

dl
aw

n 
Av

e.

O
ak

la
w

n 
Av

e.

Pi
ne

w
oo

d 
Av

e.

W
ha

rt
on

 A
ve

.

Ke
nn

ed
y A

ve
.

D
ub

ie
 A

ve
.

H
ay

es
 S

t.

Ka
ns

as
 A

ve
.

G
ill 

St
.

EXISTING CONDITIONS • 18



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

EXISTING CONDITIONS • 19

ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS
Due to the historical industrial and auto-oriented commercial nature of the corridors, both 
corridors include numerous potential brownfield sites. On Michigan Avenue, 23 parcels 
have a Baseline Environmental Assessment, are a participant in the Michigan Department 
of Environmental Quality (MDEQ ) Hazardous Waste Program, or both. On Ecorse, nine 
parcels meet one of those criteria. 

Potential 
Brown�eld Sites
Ypsilanti Township, 
Washtenaw County

MDEQ Hazardous Waste 
Program Participant/BEA

MDEQ Hazardous Waste 
Program Participant

Baseline Environmental 
Assessment

Ypsilanti Township, Washtenaw County 

Source: SEMCOG, MiGDL, Ypsilanti Township

         Carlisle/Wortman Associates 

Feet650 1,3000

Van Buren Tow
nship

City of Ypsilanti 

Superior Township

US-
12

W
ia

rd
 R

oa
d

S.
 Fo

rd
 R

d.

E. Michigan Ave.

Ecorse Rd.

Amtrack Rail

Holmes Rd.

E. Forest Ave.

E. Cross St.

N.
 H

ar
ris

 R
d.

Willow Run Airport

American Center for Mobility

Hawthorne Ave.

Parkwood Ave.

Maplewood Ave.

Davis St.

Ro
se

w
oo

d 
Av

e.

Gl
en

w
oo

d 
Av

e.

Gr
ee

nl
aw

n 
St

.

W
oo

dl
aw

n 
Av

e.

O
ak

la
w

n 
Av

e.

Pi
ne

w
oo

d 
Av

e.

W
ha

rto
n 

Av
e.

Ke
nn

ed
y A

ve
.

Du
bi

e A
ve

.

Ha
ye

s S
t.

Ka
ns

as
 A

ve
.

Gi
ll S

t.

MDEQ Hazardous Waste Program Participant:
Sites that have disposed or are in the process of disposing 
identi�ed hazardous waste under the jurisdiction of the Michigan 
Department of Environmental Quality (MEDQ).

Baseline Environmental Assessment:
Sites that have conducted a Baseline Environmental Assessment (BEA). A BEA is 
an evaluation of environmental conditions for a piece of property or facility, 
focusing on whether hazardous substances have contaminated that property.



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

EXISTING CONDITIONS • 20

MARKET
The market study for this planning process focused on retail opportunities. The 
opportunities identified for each corridor were selected because they will not only help local 
residents, but also strengthen Ecorse and E. Michigan Avenue as destinations, bringing 
money into the community.

Retail Gap 

Retail potential is determined by analyzing supply and demand through a Retail Gap 
Analysis.  It shows the retail potential and retail sales for different business classifications. 
The gap analysis illustrates differences between supply and demand within each category 
(the black values indicating a surplus in supply, and the positive blue value revealing a retail 
gap, meaning local demand is greater than supply). 

In order to analyze the market conditions for Ecorse Road and E. Michigan Avenue, a trade 
area analysis was conducted for the following geographic areas: 

• Ecorse Road Local Trade Area: 5-minute drive time shown in red and 10-minute drive 
time in green

• E. Michigan Avenue Mid-region Trade Area: 5-minute drive time shown in red, 
10-minute drive time in green and 20-minute drive time in purple

The Local Trade Area represents the primary locations where residents will seek to 
purchase a majority of their daily needs. The larger Regional Trade Area represents a 
broader market of consumers that may choose either Michigan Avenue as a location 
to shop, eat, or work, or for which residents will seek to purchase goods at competing 
locations. 

The variables that factor into a business deciding on a location vary by site and by the types 
of business (and even between specific companies selling similar products). The purpose of 
market analysis for this corridor study was to identify the types of businesses that may seek 
a locations along these corridors, and are appropriate for the community. Commercial users 
considering these locations may conduct their own market evaluations for specific sites. The 
market analysis can help identify what uses are a good fit for either corridor and identify a 
process for attracting those uses.

BELOW: 
Top:  Ecorse Road Trade Area
Bottom:  Michigan Avenue Trade Area 

Custom Map

Source: ©2017 Esri.

January 05, 2018

©2018 Esri Page 1 of 1

Custom Map

Source: ©2017 Esri

January 05, 2018

©2018 Esri Page 1 of 1



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

EXISTING CONDITIONS • 21

There are two ways to look at retail attraction: opportunity gaps and community strengths. 
The first method is to determine retail opportunity gaps - the types of retail stores in which 
local demand exceeds supply.  The second method is to build on area strengths – those 
instances in which customers are coming into the trade areas to purchase goods and supply 
exceeds local demand.

Ecorse Road Opportunities
Since Ecorse Road is a neighborhood commercial 
area, a 5-minute drive-time trade area was evaluated.  
That trade area captures south of 94 to the south, 
north of Michigan Avenue to the north, portions of 
the City of Ypsilanti to the west and the West Willow 
neighborhood and the American Center for Mobility 
area to the east. Based upon this trade area, dollars 
are leaving the Ecorse Road in the following retail 
categories: Food and Beverage Stores and General 
Merchandise.  

General merchandise represents the highest 
opportunity category with 30 million dollars leaving 
the trade area annually. General merchandise or 
a small grocery store or convenience store has 
a tremendous opportunity on Ecorse. Future 
development opportunities should target these uses.  

Demographics: Ecorse Road

5 minute Drive Time (2017) 10 minute Drive Time (2017) Township (2010)

Population 21,187 83,980 56, 362

Households 9,330 34,497 21,432

Renter 42.90% 40.40% 60.10%

Owner 46.30% 49.00% 39.70%

Median Household Income $41,086 $47,350 $47, 820

Median Household Value $97,222 $134,433 $148,900

Race 59.8% White
31.4% Black

56.6% White
31.7% Black

66.1% White
25.3% Black

Education

21.6% HS Graduate
29.2% Some College, no 
degree
8.1% Associates Degree
17.6% Bachelors
8.19% Graduate

18.3% HS Graduate
26.2% Some College, no 
degree
9.0% Associates Degree
20.9% Bachelors
12.7% Graduate

23.7% HS Graduate
24.2% Some 
College, no degree
8.4% Associates 
Degree
19% Bachelors
11.9% Graduate

Employment,  
Industry

59.5% Services
13.6% Retail
9.1% Manufacturing
4.8% Finance/ 
Insurance/ 
Real Estate
4.3% Transportation/Utilities
3.3% Construction

56.1% Services
12.4% Retail
12.3% Manufacturing
5.1% Finance/ 
Insurance/ 
Real Estate
4.3% Transportation/Utilities
3.5% Construction

Business Summary: Ecorse Road

5 minute Drive Time (2017) 10 minute Drive Time (2017)

Total Businesses 800 1,961

Total Employees 7,075 29,605



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

EXISTING CONDITIONS • 22

Ecorse Road 10-Minute Drive Time Retail Gap Analysis
Industry Group Demand Supply Gap Leakage/Surplus Factor
Motor Vehicle & Parts Dealers $ 202,035,277 $ 154,062,492 $ 47,972,785 13.5
Funiture & Home Furnishing Stores $ 32,106,485 $ 7,680,931 $ 24,425,554 61.4
Electronics & Applicance Stores $ 31,517,715 $ 9,500,855 $ 22,016,860 53.7
Bldg Materials, Garden Equip, & Supply Stores $ 62,374,053 $ 70,318,946 $ -7,944,893 -6.0
Food & Beverage Stores $ 172,588,242 $ 130,422,565 $ 42,165,677 13.9
Health & Personal Care Stores $ 66,985,726 $ 69,560,161 $ -2,574,435 -1.9
Gasoline Stores $ 111,107,816 $ 76,765,188 $ 34,342,628 18.3
Clothing & Clothing Acceossoris Store $ 51,371,769 $ 20,645,663 $ 30,726,106 42.7
Sporting Goods, Hobby, Book & Music Stores $ 26,525,644 $ 22,805,037 $ 3,720,607 7.5

General Merchandise Stores $ 151,344,392 $ 178,391,589 $ -27,047,197 -8.2

Miscellaneous Store Retailers $ 34,701,667 $ 17,816,976 $ 168,84,691 32.1
Nonstore Retailers $ 17,173,663 $ 2,147,122 $ 15,026,541 77.8

Food Services & Drinking Places $ 103,816,710 $ 93,698,020 $ 10,118,690 5.1

Supply (retail sales) estimates sales to consumers by 
establishments. Sales to businesses are excluded. Demand 
(retail potential) estimates the expected amount spent by 
consumers at retail establishments. Supply and demand 
estimates are in current dollars. The Leakage/Surplus Factor 
presents a snapshot of retail opportunity. This is a measure of 
the relationship between supply and demand that ranges from 
+100 (total leakage) to -100 (total surplus). A positive value 
represents ‘leakage’ of retail opportunity outside the trade area. 
A negative value represents a surplus of retail sales, a market 
where customers are drawn in from outside the trade area. The 
Retail Gap represents the difference between Retail Potential 
and Retail Sales. Source: ESRI



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

EXISTING CONDITIONS • 23

E. Michigan Avenue Opportunities
E. Michigan Avenue serves more of a regional commercial area, so 
a 10-minute drive-time trade area was evaluated. The 10-minute 
trade area encompasses I-94 to the south, Geddes Road to the 
north, and the City of Ypsilanti to the west and a portion of 
Belleville to the east. Based upon this trade area, dollars are leaving 
the E. Michigan Avenue in retail categories such as Food and 
Beverage Stores and Gas Stations. Both food and beverage stores 
and gas stations represent the highest opportunity category with 
over 65 million dollars combined leaving the trade area annually. 
Future development opportunities could target these uses if it fits 
with the vision for the corridor.  

Demographics: Michigan Avenue

5 minute 
 Drive Time 
(2017)

10 minute  
Drive Time 
(2017)

20 minute  
Drive Time  
(2017)

Township 
 (2010)

Population 19,182 69,120 415,245 53.362

Households 8,054 28,045 164,072 21,432

Renter 45% 56.7% 61.9% 60.10%

Owner 55% 43.3% 38.1% 39.70%

Median  
Household 
Income

$39,667 $48,134 $61,801 $47, 820

Median 
 Household 
Value

$93,810 $172,152 $221,203 $148,900

Race 62% White
28.2% Black

56.9% White
30.6% Black

67.9% White
16.4% Black

66.1% White
25.3% Black

Education

23.3%  
HS Graduate 
30% Some  
College, no 
degree 
7.3% Associates 
Degree
15.1% Bachelors
7.1% Graduate

19.2%  
HS Graduate
25.2% Some  
College, no  
degree
8.0% Associates 
Degree
20.8% Bachelors
13.6% Graduate

16.8% 
HS Graduate
20.6% Some 
College, no 
degree
8.3% Associates 
Degree
23.9% Bachelors
20.6% Graduate

23.7% HS 
Graduate
24.2% Some 
College, no 
degree
8.4% Associates 
Degree
19% Bachelors
11.9% Graduate

Employment,  
Sector

50.7% White  
Collar
26% Services
23.2% Blue 
Collar

58.6% White 
Collar
22.3% Services
19.1% Blue 
Collar

65.8% White 
Collar
17.2% Services
17% Blue 
Collar

Business Summary: Michigan Avenue

5 minute Drive 
Time (2017)

10 minute Drive 
Time (2017)

10 minute Drive 
Time (2017)

Total Businesses 756 1,860 12,950

Total Employees 8,088 28,897 227,844



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

EXISTING CONDITIONS • 24

Michigan Avenue 20-Minute Drive Time Retail Gap Analysis
Industry Group Demand Supply Gap Leakage/Surplus Factor
Motor Vehicle & Parts Dealers $ 1,248,486,882 $ 870,402,922 $ 378,083,960 17.8
Funiture & Home Furnishing Stores $ 202.142,539 $ 211,555,271 $ -9,412,732 -2.3
Electronics & Applicance Stores $ 197,129,170 $ 212,431,987 $ -15,302,817 -3.7
Bldg Materials, Garden Equip, & Supply Stores $ 409,627,568 $ 271,946,855 $ 137,680,713 20.2
Food & Beverage Stores $ 1,059,202,801 $ 877,030,357 $ 182,172,444 9.4
Health & Personal Care Stores $ 417,252,544 $ 522,121,793 $ -104,869,249 -11.2
Gasoline Stores $ 672,037,654 $ 540,286,907 $ 131,750,747 10.9
Clothing & Clothing Acceossoris Store $ 324,479,137 $ 203,829,644 $ 120,649,493 22.8
Sporting Goods, Hobby, Book & Music Stores $ 165,732,963 $ 186,860,026 $ -21,127,063 -6.0

General Merchandise Stores $ 937,778,995 $ 1,230,763,989 $ -292,954,994 -13.5

Miscellaneous Store Retailers $ 215,365,472 $ 179,825,059 $ 35,540,413 9.0
Nonstore Retailers $ 108,744,338 $ 52,953,047 $ 55,791,291 34.5

Food Services & Drinking Places $ 648,743,387 $ 684,765,194 $ -36,021,807 -2.7

Supply (retail sales) estimates sales to consumers by establishments. 
Sales to businesses are excluded. Demand (retail potential) estimates the 
expected amount spent by consumers at retail establishments. Supply 
and demand estimates are in current dollars. The Leakage/Surplus 
Factor presents a snapshot of retail opportunity. This is a measure of the 
relationship between supply and demand that ranges from +100 (total 
leakage) to -100 (total surplus). A positive value represents ‘leakage’ of 
retail opportunity outside the trade area. A negative value represents 
a surplus of retail sales, a market where customers are drawn in from 
outside the trade area. The Retail Gap represents the difference between 
Retail Potential and Retail Sales. Source: ESRI



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

STRATEGIES • 25

This section details strategies and actions for business support, land use redevelopment  
and placemaking in the Ecorse and E. Michigan Avenue corridors.  An implementation 
table with responsibilities, funding sources, details and a priority ranking for each action  
is included.  

Business Support

Strategy: Work with Ecorse and E. Michigan businesses to provide 
business support. 

Action 1: Create an Ecorse and E. Michigan Business Association 

Organizing as a business association will allow small businesses and entrepreneurs along 
the corridors to leverage resources, provide an opportunity for the business owners to 
connect with one another as well as the public, and better assist in maintaining an open 

channel of communication with Township officials to assist 
in ongoing needs. The Business Association could assist in 
programing and special events, façade improvements, business 
to business support, and public improvements. Formation of the 
association should be started by a key core of existing businesses 
in partnership with the Township. 

Action 2: Create a Business Directory 

A business directory and map of business locations, in print 
and web formats,  helps connect buyers and sellers of goods and 
services.  The business directory  and map should be readily 
available on the township website, and in print at the  local 
businesses.

Strategies

BELOW: 
Example of Business Directory



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

Business Support
Action 3: Create Programming

Programming can bring a community together as well as attract others from surrounding 
communities. A newly formed Ecorse and E. Michigan Business Association should be 
the main supporter and organizer of programming.  Programmed events such as art fairs, 
seasonal events, farmers markets and car shows have made positive impacts on many 
municipalities by promoting both local businesses as well as tourism. Both corridors have 
opportunities to provide unique programming.

Land Use Redevelopment

Strategy 1: Implement a New Zoning Strategy 

Action 1:  Amend the zoning to mirror the future land use plan.

Ecorse and E. Michigan Avenue will require unique zoning strategies to best ensure 
existing undesirable land uses can be contained and desired uses can be stimulated. 
Current zoning permits a number of uses and development that does not reflect the desired 
development. To promote redevelopment and stimulate reinvestment along the corridor, 
the zoning should be amended to provide flexibility to create a system of development 
incentives that entice transformative development. The development flexibility must 
provide a benefit to the developer and the community.  

The proposed zoning strategies for E. Michigan Avenue include the following: 

• E. Michigan Avenue from Ecorse Road to June Street should be zoned for a mix of uses 
including commercial, office, multiple-family, and research. The mixed use zoning will 
provide opportunities to create a greater variety of desired residential and commercial 
in an area with potential for greater walkability. 

• On the south side of E. Michigan Avenue from June Street to Rawsonville Road,  
the zoning should be geared toward research to light industrial uses due to the existing 
land use pattern and large lots.  However, industrial uses should be limited to clean uses 
that do not require outside storage.  Many of the existing land uses should be contained, 

STRATEGIES • 26

Land Use Category
Zoning Ordinance 

District
Single Family Residential R-4, R-5

Mixed Use Residential R-5, RM-3, RM-5, OS-1, B-2, B-3

Mixed Use including Research OS-1, B-2, B-3, IRO

Neighborhood Mixed Use RM-5, B-1, B-2

Research/Industrial IRO, I-1

Research OS-1, IRO

Commercial B-2, B-3

Zoning Table



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

STRATEGIES • 27

BELOW: 
Future Land Use Map



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

not allowed to expand and become non-conforming uses.  Over time, these properties 
would hopefully be redeveloped in conformance with the future land use plan.

•  The zoning on the north side of E. Michigan Avenue from June Street to Dons Drive 
should permit a variety of uses, focused on research uses.

• The north side of E. Michigan Avenue from Dons Drive to Holmes Road should be 
zoned to permit a variety of uses, mainly focused on commercial uses.

• On the north side of E. Michigan Avenue from Ridge Road to Rawsonville, the zoning 
should be updated to permit a variety of uses, primarily mixed use including residential. 

The zoning in the Ecorse Road corridor should be changed to a mixed use district.  That 
district should have the following:

• Neighborhood business uses such as food stores, personal service providers, gas 
stations and restaurants should be allowed.

• Residential uses ranging from single-family homes to townhouses should be allowed.

•  Institutional uses such as schools, theaters, churches and social clubs should be 
allowed to remain on the corridor.

•  Intensive automobile retail uses such as repair shops and vehicle sales should not be 
allowed to expand.

•  The setbacks for the district should be tailored to allow 21-century building to be 
constructed on the shallow lots along the corridor.

Action 2: Through zoning, make undesirable land uses on E. Michigan Avenue 
non-conforming and do not permit additional adverse uses. 

The transformation of E. Michigan Avenue will not happen without some changes to 
the existing land use fabric of the corridor.  As such, the implementation of the zoning 

BELOW: 
Limit exisiting salvage yards on E. Michigan Avenue to 
present locations shown in yellow outline.

STRATEGIES • 28



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

STRATEGIES • 29

What is a Phase 1  
Environmental Assessment? 

It is an investigation to determine if there are any 
conditions that are indicative of releases of petroleum 
or hazardous materials or chemicals at the site, now or 
in the past. These conditions are collectively known as 
“REC” or recognized environmental conditions. A Phase 
I is meant to identify REC at the subject property, either 
at present or which may have been present in the past.

Areas of investigation include:

•   Review of historical records of the property, including 
historical aerial photographs,  
fire insurance mapping and historical  
topographic mapping.

•  Review of readily available government environmental 
records of the property.

• Interviews with current and past  
property occupants 

• Site inspection

What’s not included in a Phase I ESA?

A Phase I is limited to a visual inspection along with 
a documentation review only. There is normally no 
sampling or testing during a Phase I.  Should issues  
arise, a Phase II would be conducted. 

strategies noted above will make some existing uses non-conforming.  Making some uses 
non-conforming will both contain their ability to expand but also not allow the creation 
of new adverse uses. The intent is for these sites to eventually be redeveloped in a manner 
consistent with the future land use plan. 

Strategy 2: Address Brownfield Sites

Action 1:  Complete Phase 1 Environmental Assessments of all  
Township owned parcels.

The Township should work with Washtenaw County to complete Phase 1 Environmental 
Assessments of all Township owned parcels along the corridors (see maps on pages 30-31).  

Action 2:  Complete Phase 1 Environmental Assessments for select  
privately owned parcels.

The Township should work with select property owners to assist them in completing 
a Phase 1 Environmental Assessment.  Property owners should be selected that are 
committed to the development and/or redevelopment of their property. 



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

STRATEGIES • 30

Ecorse

Davis

Ha
rr

is

Russell

Fo
rd

Tyler

G
le

nw
oo

dO
ak

la
w

n

Ha
ye

s

Parkwood Ka
ns

as

Hawthorne

Rosew
ood
G

re
en

la
w

n

W
oo

dl
aw

n

O
re

go
n

Maplewood

US 1
2

Duncan

Da
ko

ta
Do

rs
etDu

bi
e

G
ill

De
vo

ns
hi

re

Pi
ne

w
oo

d

W
ha

rt
on

Ke
nn

ed
y

Crestwood

Auburndale

Re
dw

oo
d

Ottawa

G
at

es

M
on

tr
ea

l

Laverne

Em
erick

Maus

Debby

Ecorse Access

Parkwood

Davis

Ka
ns

as

Hawthorne

Tyler

Tyl
er

US 1
2

Em
er

ic
k

Minion

Ru
ss

el
l

Tyler

Gates

Ne
va

da

Ru
ss

el
l

Ypsilanti Township, Washtenaw County
Carlisle/Wortman Associates

April 4th,  2018¯

Township Owned Parcels 
Ecorse RoadTownship Owned Parcels

Clark

Holmes

Michigan

Fo
rd

Ecorse

Forest

Cross

Ri
dg

e

Ha
rr

is

Al
le

n

G
ra

nd

Sw
ee

t

OakBa
gl

ey La
m

ay

O
hi

o

Je
ro

m
e

M
id

w
ay

Wendell

Hunter

Wiard

Ho
lli

s
Redleaf

Pa
rk

woo
d

Ly
nn

e

Fa
ll R

ive
r

Sp
en

ce
r

Ru
e 

D
ea

uv
ill

e

Pa
sa

de
na

Ru
e 

W
ill

et
te

O
re

go
n

Ra
m

bli
ng

O
ut

er

Bud

Bailey

Blossom

M
ia

m
i

Lexington

Hunt

Ca
m

pb
el

l

Br
ow

ni
ng

Da
w

n

Ra
w

so
nv

ill
e

Appleridge

Ce
nt

en
ni

al

De
vo

ns
hi

re

Woodruff

Iv
an

ho
e

Byron

Em
er

so
n

Todd

Ka
ns

as

Candlewood

W
 U

S 
12

/W
ill

ow
 R

un

W
illow

 Run/W
 US 12

Ypsi

Avis

W US 12

E US 12

Delaware

W
 U

S 1
2/

S W
iar

d

Johnson

E US 12/Willow Run

La
ur

el

June

N W
iar

d/
E U

S 1
2

Whitman

Peachcrest

U
ta

h

Lakew
ood

La
po

rt
e

Pe
ab

od
y

Broadm
oor

George

Rowley

Ha
rr

is

W
ia

rd

Ecorse

Ec
or

se

Es
ta

te
s

Fo
re

st

Ware

Northern

Br
am

bl
e

Ri
ch

ar
ds

Do
ns

Ta
dd

i

Michigan

Ai
rp

or
t I

nd
us

tr
ia

l

Pa
rk

 E
st

at
es

Re
dw

oo
d

Division

Prescott

Ro
se

w
oo

d

Haven

Clark Service Drive

Pa
rk

Ca
m

pb
el

l

Ru
ss

el
l

Gr
ee

nb
rie

r

W
ia

rd

Br
ow

ni
ng

Montrose

Riley

Hydramatic

W
ild

w
oo

d

Ta
ng

el
w

oo
d

Pa
rk

w
oo

d

En
gi

ne
er

in
g

Cindy

Old Michigan

M
ai

n

West

Fa
ct

or
y E

nt
ra

nc
e

Turney

W
oo

dc
re

ek

Or
eg

on

Ea
st

Ea
st

W
es

t

Michigan

Ec
or

se

M
on

tr
os

e

Clark Service Drive

Division

Ea
st

M
ai

n

W
es

t

Hydramatic

East

Clark Service Drive

W
est

W
oo

dc
re

ek

Hydramatic

West

W
oo

dc
re

ek

Prescott

Clark Service Drive

East

Park Estates

W
ia

rd

Montrose

Riley

Pa
rk

 E
st

at
es

Hy
dr

am
at

ic

West

Ru
ss

el
l

Pa
rk

w
oo

d

Riley

Ypsilanti Township, Washtenaw County
Carlisle/Wortman Associates

April 4th,  2018¯

Township Owned Parcels 
E. Michigan Avenue 

Township Owned Parcels



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

Ecorse

Davis

Ha
rr

is

Russell

Fo
rd

Tyler

G
le

nw
oo

dO
ak

la
w

n

Ha
ye

s

Parkwood Ka
ns

as

Hawthorne

Rosew
ood

G
re

en
la

w
n

W
oo

dl
aw

n

O
re

go
n

Maplewood

US 1
2

Duncan

Da
ko

ta
Do

rs
etDu

bi
e

G
ill

De
vo

ns
hi

re

Pi
ne

w
oo

d

W
ha

rt
on

Ke
nn

ed
y

Crestwood

Auburndale

Re
dw

oo
d

Ottawa

G
at

es

M
on

tr
ea

l

Laverne

Em
erick

Maus

Debby

Ecorse Access

Parkwood

Davis

Ka
ns

as

Hawthorne

Tyler

Tyl
er

US 1
2

Em
er

ic
k

Minion

Ru
ss

el
l

Tyler

Gates

Ne
va

da

Ru
ss

el
l

Ypsilanti Township, Washtenaw County
Carlisle/Wortman Associates

April 4th,  2018¯

Township Owned Parcels 
Ecorse RoadTownship Owned Parcels

Clark

Holmes

Michigan

Fo
rd

Ecorse

Forest

Cross

Ri
dg

e

Ha
rr

is

Al
le

n

G
ra

nd

Sw
ee

t

OakBa
gl

ey La
m

ay

O
hi

o

Je
ro

m
e

M
id

w
ay

Wendell

Hunter

Wiard

Ho
lli

s

Redleaf

Pa
rk

woo
d

Ly
nn

e

Fa
ll R

ive
r

Sp
en

ce
r

Ru
e 

D
ea

uv
ill

e

Pa
sa

de
na

Ru
e 

W
ill

et
te

O
re

go
n

Ra
m

bli
ng

O
ut

er

Bud

Bailey

Blossom

M
ia

m
i

Lexington

Hunt

Ca
m

pb
el

l

Br
ow

ni
ng

Da
w

n

Ra
w

so
nv

ill
e

Appleridge

Ce
nt

en
ni

al

De
vo

ns
hi

re

Woodruff

Iv
an

ho
e

Byron

Em
er

so
n

Todd

Ka
ns

as

Candlewood

W
 U

S 
12

/W
ill

ow
 R

un

W
illow

 Run/W
 US 12

Ypsi

Avis

W US 12

E US 12

Delaware

W
 U

S 1
2/

S W
iar

d

Johnson

E US 12/Willow Run

La
ur

el

June

N W
iar

d/
E U

S 1
2

Whitman

Peachcrest

U
ta

h

Lakew
ood

La
po

rt
e

Pe
ab

od
y

Broadm
oor

George

Rowley

Ha
rr

is

W
ia

rd

Ecorse

Ec
or

se

Es
ta

te
s

Fo
re

st

Ware

Northern

Br
am

bl
e

Ri
ch

ar
ds

Do
ns

Ta
dd

i

Michigan

Ai
rp

or
t I

nd
us

tr
ia

l

Pa
rk

 E
st

at
es

Re
dw

oo
d

Division

Prescott

Ro
se

w
oo

d

Haven

Clark Service Drive

Pa
rk

Ca
m

pb
el

l

Ru
ss

el
l

Gr
ee

nb
rie

r

W
ia

rd

Br
ow

ni
ng

Montrose

Riley

Hydramatic

W
ild

w
oo

d

Ta
ng

el
w

oo
d

Pa
rk

w
oo

d

En
gi

ne
er

in
g

Cindy

Old Michigan

M
ai

n

West

Fa
ct

or
y E

nt
ra

nc
e

Turney

W
oo

dc
re

ek

Or
eg

on

Ea
st

Ea
st

W
es

t

Michigan

Ec
or

se

M
on

tr
os

e

Clark Service Drive

Division

Ea
st

M
ai

n

W
es

t

Hydramatic

East

Clark Service Drive

W
est

W
oo

dc
re

ek

Hydramatic

West

W
oo

dc
re

ek

Prescott

Clark Service Drive

East

Park Estates

W
ia

rd

Montrose

Riley

Pa
rk

 E
st

at
es

Hy
dr

am
at

ic

West
Ru

ss
el

l

Pa
rk

w
oo

d

Riley

Ypsilanti Township, Washtenaw County
Carlisle/Wortman Associates

April 4th,  2018¯

Township Owned Parcels 
E. Michigan Avenue 

Township Owned Parcels

STRATEGIES • 31



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

Strategy 3: Focus on key redevelopment properties 

There are multiple vacant parcels in both corridors that should be targeted for 
redevelopment due to their large size and prime location in the corridor. 

Action 1:  Develop the Township-owned parcel at Crimson and  
E. Michigan Avenue. 

Development of this parcel could include a mix of uses including commercial or multiple 
family adjacent to Michigan Avenue and single family or townhome development in the 
back portion of the property.  

STRATEGIES • 32

BELOW: 
E. Michgan Redevelopment Illustration Redevelopment Site

Michigan Avenue
Ypsilanti Township

Conventional Lot (132’ x 40’)

Townhouse Lot (78’ x 40’)

Mixed Use Development

Mixed Use Parking

Passive Land or Park

Planted buer

Ypsilanti Township, Washtenaw County

Source: SEMCOG, MiGDL, Ypsilanti Township

         Carlisle/Wortman Associates

March 30, 2018

0 130 Feet

E. Michigan Ave.

Cam
bell Ave.

George Place



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

STRATEGIES • 33

Action 2:  Work with property owners to target select vacant 
parcels for redevelopment. 

The Township should work with property owners such as the vacant parcels 
such as 953 E. Michigan Avenue, at the northwest end of the corridor, 
to develop these sites to be with the future land use plan.  Strategically 
developing these parcels creates an opportunity to transform the corridor 
into a more vibrant community.

Action 3:  The Township should partner with Cavalry Baptist 
Church, the owner of 1255 Ecorse, and the Township 
parcel to develop these sites comprehensively. 

Combined these parcels total almost six acres of developable land.  
Developing this  area in partnership will permit a comprehensive 
development that could transform the Ecorse corridor.  Uses could 
include commercial, multiple family, residential, and public open space.  

BELOW: 
Illustration of community plaza



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

Illustration of 6-acre redevelopment

STRATEGIES • 34



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

STRATEGIES • 35



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

 
Illustration of community plaza

STRATEGIES • 36



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

STRATEGIES • 37

Townhouse illustration on 1255 Ecorse



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

Placemaking

Strategy 1: Implement Placemaking Strategies to beautify corridor 
and spur economic development. 

Action 1: Create Public Art

The term “public art” may conjure images of historic bronze statues of a soldier on 
horseback in a park. Today, public art can take a wide range of forms, sizes, and scales—and 
can be temporary or permanent. Public art can include murals, sculpture, memorials, or 
even performances and festivals.  To enhance the aesthetic of the corridor, public art should 
be added to public spaces and to the existing infrastructure.  Examples of potential public 
art along the corridor could include a mural on the Ford Boulevard Bridge or a sculpture at 
the Township owned site on Ecorse.    

Action 2: Add Gateway Features

Signs that announce the entrance and exit into the township should be added to the 
corridors. These signs should be added to intersections such as Ecorse Road and US-12, E. 
Michigan Avenue and Ridge Road, as well as the intersection of Ecorse and E. Michigan 
Avenue. Gateway features could be incorporated as part of public art.  

Action 3: Add Wayfinding Signage

The Township in partnership with the City of Ypsilanti has adopted wayfinding signage.  
Two wayfinding signs should be added to the E. Michigan Avenue: one east of Ford 
Boulevard and one west of Ford Boulevard.  One wayfinding sign should be added along 
Ecorse Road. 

STRATEGIES • 38

BELOW: 
Wayfinding Signage



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

Strategy 2: Implement road improvements to reduce vehicle speed 
and make corridor function better for vehicles, pedestrians, and 
bicyclists. 

Action 1: Work with MDOT to implement a Road Diet 

The current layout of Ecorse and E. Michigan Avenue includes two travel lanes in each 
direction and a center turn lane. This wide streetscape causes vehicles to drive at high 
speeds, which causes various safety complications for both cars and pedestrians. To most 
efficiently make a safer place on both Ecorse and E. Michigan Avenue corridor for vehicles 
and pedestrians, a road diet should be implemented. 

E. Michigan Avenue has a right-of-way (ROW) between 100 to over 120-feet in width. After 
a road diet, the new E. Michigan Avenue would include one travel lane in each direction, a 
center turn lane, a bike lane/drop off and pick up/curbside bus on the south side, and a drop 
off and pick/curbside bus on the north side. 

Ecorse Road has a ROW 80-feet in width.  After a road diet, the new Ecorse Road would 
include one travel lane in each direction, a center turn lane, bike lane in each direction, and 
a dedicated bus lane in each direction.

Action 2: Improve and provide additional street lights 

Lighting along the corridor is very limited, which has caused a variety of safety issues. 
Providing additional street lights along the corridor will improve visibility for pedestrians 
and vehicles. Quantity as well as variety of lights on the streetscape will be dependent on 
the location along the corridor.  

STRATEGIES • 39

BELOW: 
Example of improved crosswalk



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

STRATEGIES • 40



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

STRATEGIES • 41



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

BELOW: 
New sidewalk along E. Michigan Avenue

STRATEGIES • 42

Different areas of the corridors warrant different types of additional lighting:

•  E. Michigan Avenue west of Ford Boulevard and all of Ecorse Road: The streetscape 
west of Ford Boulevard., should include pedestrian scaled lights that are no taller than 
20 foot for visibility on sidewalks.  This will improve safety and appearance of an area 
that provides more foot traffic than the rest of the corridor.   

•  E. Michigan Avenue east of Ford Boulevard: With limited foot traffic east of Ford 
Boulevard., due to the large lot sizes and primarily industrial land use, vehicle scale 
lights will be the primary focus for this region of the corridor. This will provide better 
visibility on the road for vehicles, bikes and crossing pedestrians.  

Action 3:  Fill in sidewalk gaps 

The inconsistent sidewalks along Ecorse and E. Michigan Avenue makes it difficult 
for pedestrians to access desired locations along the corridor.   In order to enhance 
connectivity throughout the corridor, the Township should work with MDOT and 
property owners to fill in gaps on the sidewalks along Ecorse and E. Michigan Avenue.    

Action 4:  Improve midblock crossing on E. Michigan Avenue

There is an existing midblock crossing just east of Wiard Road.  The crossing is not effective 
in part due to the location, its lack of signage, its signalization is too small, and the slow 
activation of the signal. The Township should work with MDOT to relocate the crossing 
to a more usable location.  As part of the relocation, the crossing should be improved with 
better signage, enlarged mass arms over the corridor, and more effective signalization.   

The following pages have an implementation table for the actions outlined above.  



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

STRATEGIES • 43

IMPLEMENTATION
Category Strategy Action Responsibility Funding Source Page # Years

Business 
Support

Work with Ecorse and E. 
Michigan businesses to 
provide business support

Create an Ecorse and E. Michigan  
Business Association Econ. Dev. Staff General Fund 25 1-2

Create a Business Directory
Econ. Dev. Staff &  
National Business 
League

General Fund 25 3-5

Create Programming

Econ. Dev. Staff & 
Business Association 
& National Business 
League

Destination Ann 
Arbor

26 5-10

Land Use

Implement a New  
Zoning Strategy

Amend the zoning on Ecorse and E.  
Michigan Avenue to mirror the future  
land use plan

Planning Commission 
& Twp. Board

Office of Community 
Standards Budget

26 1-2

On E. Michigan Avenue, through zoning, 
make undesirable land non-conforming and 
do not permit additional adverse uses

Planning Commission 
& Twp. Board

Office of Community 
Standards Budget

28 1-2

Address Brownfield Sites

Complete Phase 1 environmental assessments 
of all Township owned parcels

Wash. Co. Office of 
Community  
Standards & Econ. Dev. 
Staff

Washtenaw. County  
Brownfield Authority 29 1-2

Complete Phase 1 environmental assessments 
for select privately owned parcels

Wash. Co. Office of 
Community  
Standards & Econ. Dev. 
Staff

Opportunity Zone 29 1-2

Key  
redevelopment  
properties

Develop the Township-owned parcel at  
Crimson and Michigan Avenue

Econ. Dev. Staff Opportunity Zone 32 5-10

Partner with Calvary Baptist Church, the 
owner of 1255 Ecorse, and the Township  
parcel to develop these sites comprehensively

Econ. Dev. Staff Opportunity Zone 33 3-5

Work with property owners to target select 
vacant parcels for redevelopment

Econ. Dev. Staff Opportunity Zone 33 5-10



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

STRATEGIES • 44

IMPLEMENTATION
Category Strategy Action Responsibility Funding Source Page # Years

Placemaking

Implement placemaking 
strategies to beautify  
corridor and spur  
economic development

Create Public Art Twp, Schools,  
Business Assoc.

Arts Council & 
Foundations 38 5-10

Add Gateway Features Twp Opportunity Zone 38 3-5

Add Wayfinding Signage Twp, City & Destina-
tion Ann Arbor

Destination Ann 
Arbor 38 1-2

Implement road  

improvements to reduce  

vehicle speed and make 

corridor function for  

vehicles, pedestrians, and 

bicyclists

Work with MDOT to implement a Road Diet 

for Michigan Avenue
Planning Staff &  
Consultants General Fund 39 5-10

Improve and provide additional street lights Office of Community 
Standards General Fund 39 1-2

Fill in sidewalk gaps Office of Community 
Standards

Community Develop-
ment Block Grant 42 1-2

Improve midblock crossing

Twp Planning Staff & 
Consultants &  
Michigan Department 
of Transportation

State & Federal 
Grants 42 5-10



E. MICHIGAN AVENUE & ECORSE ROAD CORRIDOR PLAN

STRATEGIES • 45

This page is intentionally left blank.



 
 
 

 

May 7, 2018 
 
 
Ms. Brenda Stumbo 
Township Supervisor 
Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
7200 S. Huron River Drive 
Ypsilanti, MI 48197 
 
 
RE: Ford Boulevard Fire Station Parking Lot Improvements 
 Proposal for Construction Services 
 
 
Dear Ms. Stumbo: 
 
OHM Advisors is pleased to submit this proposal for construction services for the Ford Boulevard Fire Station Parking 
Lot Improvements project in the Charter Township of Ypsilanti. 
 
PROJECT UNDERSTANDING 
 
 
The construction services will be a collaborative effort with G2 Consulting Group (G2).  OHM Advisors will be 
responsible for the construction services including administration of the contract and construction engineering, 
observation, and staking and layout.  G2 will be responsible for the material testing, compaction testing and mix design 
review.   
 
SCOPE 
 
Construction Layout 
OHM will provide construction survey layout services for the placement of the new parking lot including curb and 
gutter, and the two (2) drive approaches off of Ford Boulevard.  Prior to demolition, a survey crew will visit the site to 
witness the existing elevations of the parking lot and provide stakes for the proposed work.  This will include initial 
placement of the stakes and if removed by the contractor, one (1) additional staking.  Note that this project is phased so 
we anticipate several different trips to stake each phase. 
 
Construction Observation 
OHM Advisors will provide full time on-site construction observation services for all paving activities.  For this 
proposal, we anticipate 4 weeks of full time inspection (about 6-7 days per phase) and then only part time inspection to 
address punchlist work.  This also includes supervision of inspection and coordination time prior to the project and as 
noted, part time inspection at the end of the project.  If the contractor requires more time than this for the major items 
of work, additional fees may be required.  Coordinating materials testing services will also be included under 
construction observation.  Part time observation will be performed for various restoration activities (e.g. landscape, 
lawns, striping, etc.).   
 
Construction Administration 
OHM Advisors will provide necessary contract administration services for the project.  Contract administration services 
will include the following for the Township: 
 



Ms. Brenda Stumbo 
May 7, 2018  
Page 2 of 3 

 

 

� Assisting the Owner in reviewing and processing periodic payment estimates for the contractor. 
� Assisting with the preparation of change orders and a final balancing change order. 
� Performing preliminary and final reviews of the completed project and preparing substantial completion 

certificates, along with the preparation of punch lists and confirmation of the resolution for punch list items 
� Supplying the Owner with a project record, including inspection reports, sketches and all other pertinent 

information after the completion of the project. 
� Other necessary correspondence such as notice to proceed and notice of award correspondence and assisting 

with the execution of the contract.   
 
Construction Engineering 
OHM Advisors will provide construction engineering services for this project.  Construction engineering services will 
include but are not limited to: 
 

� Consulting with and advising the Owner or its designated representative during construction 
� Reviewing shop drawings and material certification provided by the contractor 
� Attending one (1) preconstruction meeting 
� Coordination with the WCRC on paving work in the Ford Blvd ROW. 
� Answering requests for information (RFIs) from the contractor 
� Resolving construction conflicts (i.e. mismarked utilities, interpretation of the contract documents, etc.) 
� Providing bulletin information to the contractor and/or subcontractors as well as performing any potential 

value engineering services 
� Evaluating design changes 

 
FEE 
OHM Advisors proposes to provide the above outlined professional services on an hourly – not to exceed basis, in 
accordance with our 2018 Rate Schedule.  Invoices will be sent monthly as work is performed. 
 
Construction Layout   $6,500 
Construction Observation   $19,800 
Contract Administration   $4,500 
Construction Engineering   $4,900 
G2 Services (Materials Testing)  $14,200 
TOTAL    $49,900 (Hourly not to exceed) 
 
DELIVERABLES 
A final pay estimate and final acceptance letter will be issued upon project completion as well as copies of the IDRs 
(with sketches) for record information. 
 
ACCEPTANCE  
 
If this proposal is acceptable to you, a signature on the enclosed copy of this letter and initials on the contract terms and 
conditions will serve as our authorization to proceed.   
 
Thank you for giving us the opportunity to present this proposal to you.  We look forward to working with you 
throughout this project. 
 
 
 
  



Ms. Brenda Stumbo 
May 7, 2018  
Page 3 of 3 

 

 

OHM ADVISORS   Charter Township of Ypsilanti   
CONSULTANT   CLIENT  
 
 
  (Signature)       
 
Matthew D. Parks, P.E.  (Name) Ms. Brenda Stumbo    
 
Principal in Charge  (Title) Township Supervisor    
 
  (Date)       
 
    
 
                (Signature)       
 

             (Name)  Ms. Karen Lovejoy Roe    
 
                   (Title)  Township Clerk     
  

              (Date)        
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



April 13, 2018

Ms. Brenda Stumbo
Township Supervisor
Charter Township of Ypsilanti
7200 S. Huron River Drive
Ypsilanti, MI 48197

RE: Grove St. Pathway Extension – Budget Amendment Request
Originally Approved on March 21, 2018

Dear Ms. Stumbo:

The Grove St. Pathway Extension originally consisted of constructing a 10-foot wide pathway along the frontage 
of Rawsonville Elementary School terminating at 3326 Grove Street, as well as a 6-foot wide sidewalk connection 
to the school. The two original segments are a combined length of approximately 1,300 feet.

The Township has requested OHM to include the removal and replacement of an additional segment of pathway 
from Bridge Road to Rawsonville Elementary School along the south side of Grove Street (approximately 2,050 
feet). This brings the total length of the pathway construction and rehabilitation being designed up to 3,350 feet. 
Please refer to the attachment for a map of the project.

The initial proposal of this project did not include the reconstruction of this additional section. Since OHM is 
preparing bid documents for the original sections, it was thought that combining all sections into one project 
would be more efficient and cost effective. Although the design tasks will remain the same, there is a significant 
amount of additional work to be done with the expansion of the project. Tasks 1-3 from the original proposal are 
requested to be amended as outlined below. Task 4 (Bidding) remains unchanged.

In order to complete the construction and rehabilitation treatments to the additional pathway segment, we are 
requesting a budget amendment not to exceed the amount of $10,680.00. The reconstruction of the existing 
pathway west of Rawsonville Elementary School adds approximately twenty (20) stations (2,050 feet) to the 
project. This will add around 2-3 additional sheets to the plan set. OHM also had to gather additional TOPO and 
prepare permits in accordance with the WCRC to include this additional section. The table below illustrates the 
additional time required to remove and replace the existing 1,300 feet of pathway in comparison to the original 
time required.

Task Additional Effort

Task 1: Design Survey/ROW Identification 30 hours

Task 2: Engineering Drawing Design 55 hours

Task 3: Specifications and Final Bid Package Assembly 10 hours

Task 4: Bidding N/A



Brenda Stumbo – Grove St. Pathway Budget Amendment Request
April 13, 2018
Page 2 of 2

This will amend the previously approved budget from $17,705.00 to $28,385.00. The table below illustrates how 
the amendment will contribute to each task necessary.

Original Amended Budget

Task 1: Design Survey/ROW Identification $3,750.00 $7,190.00

Task 2: Engineering Drawing Design $6,650.00 $12,770.00

Task 3: Specifications and Final Bid Package Assembly $4,805.00 $5,925.00

Task 4: Bidding $2,500.00 $2,500.00

Total $17,705.00 $28,385.00

We appreciate the opportunity to work with the Township on this project and we believe this pathway extension 
and reconstruction will positively impact Rawsonville Elementary School and the surrounding neighborhoods.

If you have any questions or comments, please don’t hesitate to contact me at (734) 522-6711 or at 
matt.parks@ohm-advisors.com. 

Sincerely,
OHM Advisors

__________________________________
Matthew D. Parks, P.E.

Encl: Project Map

cc: Karen Lovejoy-Roe, Charter Township of Ypsilanti
Lisa Garrett, Charter Township of Ypsilanti
Larry Doe, Charter Township of Ypsilanti
Jessica Howard, OHM Advisors
Aaron Berkholz, OHM Advisors

P:\0000_0100\0098180020_Grove_St_Pathway_Extension\PM\Proposal\Grove St Pathway Extension_Budget Amendment 
Request_2018-4-13.docx

mailto:matt.parks@ohm-advisors.com


sserdar
Image



EMERICK STREET 
PAVEMENT REMOVAL AND RESURFACING PROJECT 

BETWEEN GROVE AND I-94 SERVICE DRIVE 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN 

THE CITY OF YPSILANTI, CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
& 

THE BOARD OF COUNTY ROAD COMMISSIONERS OF THE COUNTY 
OF WASHTENAW 

 
 
 

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into this _____ day of __________, 2018 by and 
between the City of Ypsilanti (herein referred to as the “City’), a Michigan Municipal corporation, 
with offices located at One South Huron Street, Ypsilanti, MI, 48197; Charter Township of 
Ypsilanti (herein referred to as the “Township”) a Michigan Municipal corporation with offices 
located at 7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti, MI 48197 and the Board of County Road 
Commissioners of the County of Washtenaw (herein referred to as the “Road Commission”), a 
Michigan Municipal corporation, with offices located at 555 N. Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48103. 
 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 
 

Emerick Street, a minor street as defined by Public Act 51 of 1951, is located within Section 15 of 
the Charter Township of Ypsilanti, and is under the jurisdiction of the City. 
 
Due to the deteriorated condition of the existing pavement and need for curb and gutter repairs on 
Emerick Street between Grove Road and I-94 Service Drive, the City and the Township have 
concluded that Emerick Street should have the pavement removed and repaved using local funds 
at an estimated cost of $110,000 utilizing the Road Commissions local low bid Contractor Cadillac 
Asphalt, and complete the work in 2018 (herein referred to as the “Project”) with the attached cost 
estimate. 
 
The City and the Township agrees to split the cost of the improvement 50/50 or an estimated 
$55,000 each which will be each paid to the Road Commission within 30 days of receiving such 
invoice for the Project.  Upon the completion of the Project, the final accounting will then 
determine each parties final cost of the Project.                                                                                                            
 
In addition, the City agrees to repay the previous outstanding invoice on the River Street project 
from 2011 in the amount of $9,061.12 (attachment is included) within 30 days after all parties have 
executed this Agreement.   
 
NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is 
acknowledged, the parties agree as follows: 



  
ARTICLE 1 

MISCELLANEOUS 

 

(2.1) The City shall issue the Road Commission and/or its Contractor any and all permits 
necessary to develop and advertise the construction bid documents, and to construct the 
Project. 

(2.2) The Agreement shall be binding on and inure to the benefit to the parties hereto, their 
 respective successors, and assigns when fully executed by an authorized representative of 
 each party. 

(2.3) The Agreement may not be modified, replaced, amended, or terminated without the prior 
 written consent of the parties to this Agreement. 

(2.4) This Agreement shall be governed by and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the 
 State of Michigan. In case any one or more of the provisions contained in this 
 Agreement shall for any reason be held invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in any respect, 
 that invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other provisions of the 
 this Agreement, and this Agreement shall be construed as if the invalid, illegal, or 
 unenforceable provisions had never been contained within the body of this Agreement. 

(2.5) This Agreement may be executed in multiple counter-parts, each of which shall be 
 deemed an original, but all of which shall constituted one Agreement.  In addition, 
 facsimile signatures shall have the same force and effect as an original signature. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed the Agreement by affixing the 
signatures below effective as of the date set in the caption. 

 



EMERICK STREET IMPROVEMENT 

 

AGREEMENT SUMMARY 

 

Emerick Street Road Improvement $110,000.00 
 
City of Ypsilanti Share 50% $55,000.00 
  
Charter Township of Ypsilanti Share 50% $55,000.00 
 
Total Project Cost $110,000.00 
   
 
FOR THE CITY OF YPSILANTI: 
 
 
 
_______________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Amanda Edmonds, Its Mayor Witness 
 
 
_______________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Darwin McClary, Its City Manager Witness 
 
 
 
FOR THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI: 
 
 
 
_______________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Brenda Stumbo, Its Supervisor Witness 
 
 
_______________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Karen Lovejoy Roe, Its Clerk Witness 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



BOARD OF COUNTY ROAD COMMISSIONERS OF THE COUNTY OF WASHTENAW  
 
 
 
_______________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Doug Fuller, Its Chair Witness 
 
 
_______________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Roy D. Townsend P.E., Its Managing Director Witness 

 



2018 HMA RESURFACING PROGRAM

CADILLAC COST

ROAD NAME: EMERICK ST
SEGMENT: GROVE RD TO I-94 SOUTH SERVICE DR
LENGTH: 850'
WIDTH: 30'
SYD: 2850
SCOPE: MILL 4" HMA, REPAIR CURB, PLACE 4" HMA

APPROX.
ITEM QUANTITY
DESCRIBTION & UNITS UNIUNIT PRICE BID AMOUNT

HMA, LVSP-TOP 315.00 tons 65.91$         20,761.65$        

HMA, LVSP-LEVELING 360.00 tons 65.11$         23,439.60$        

HMA, LVSP-WEDGING 90.00 tons 92.46$         8,321.40$          

COLD MILLING HMA SURFACE, 1,000 to 4,999 2850.00 syd 2.70$           7,695.00$          

TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION SIGNS 128.00 sft 1.25$           160.00$             
    (furnish & operate)

TYPE III, BARRICADES (furnish & operate) 6.00 ea 25.00$         150.00$             

TYPE II, GRABBER CONES (furnish & operate) 25.00 ea 10.00$         250.00$             

DR. STRUCTURE COVER, ADJ, CASE I 7.00 ea 525.00$       3,675.00$          

DR. STRUCTURE COVER 800.00 lbs 0.25$           200.00$             

CURB AND GUTTER, REM 350.00 lft 13.00$         4,550.00$          

SIDEWALK, REM 35.00 syd 15.00$         525.00$             

CURB AND GUTTER, CONC, MODIFIED 350.00 lft 30.00$         10,500.00$        

DETECTABLE WARNING SURFACE 10.00 lft 35.00$         350.00$             

SIDEWALK RAMP, ADA, MODIFIED 15.00 sft 7.25$           108.75$             

SIDEWALK, CONC., 4 INCH 125.00 sft 5.25$           656.25$             

PAVT MRKG, WATERBORNE, 4 INCH, YELLOW 1700.00 lft 0.09$           153.00$             

PAVT MRKG, WATERBORNE, 2ND APPLICATION,
    4 INCH, YELLOW 1700.00 lft 0.07$           119.00$             

PAVT MRKG, OVLY COLD PLASTIC, CONTINENTAL, X-WALK 180.00 lft 5.00$           900.00$             

PAVT MRKG, OVLY COLD PLASTIC, 24 INCH, STOP BAR 15.00 lft 9.00$           135.00$             

WCRC RESTORATION 1.00 ea 10,700.35$  10,700.35$        

WCRC SUPERVISION 90.00 hrs 185.00$       16,650.00$        

TOTAL BID 110,000.00$      

MJB 4-10-18



14-B DISTRICT COURT
7200 SOUTH HURON RIVER DRIVE
YPSILANTI, MICHIGAN 48197-7099

CRIMINAL/TRAFFIC (734) 483-1333
CIVIL (734) 483-5300
FAX (734) 483-3630

HON. CHARLES POPE MARK W. NELSON
DISTRICT COURT JUDGE MAGISTRATE

To: Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk

From: Mark Nelson, Magistrate / Court Administrator

Re: Request to renew RANT software annual license fee of $1,100.00 and increase budget line
236.136.000.819.006 by $1,100.00

Date: May 7, 2018

The 14B District Court is requesting approval for a one year renewal of the attached RANT
software license. This is an assessment tool used by the Court’s probation department and for the
adult drug court grant participants. The assessment software makes a determination based on client
interviewing of risk and needs as far as intensity of supervision and services needed by an
individual. These assessments are conducted both on initial entry into the program and on a
continuing basis (generally quarterly) to determine changes in needs assessment. This type of
assessment tool is required for continued consideration for future grant funding for the Court’s
drug court program.

You will note that there are a number of services in addition to the base license on the contract.
We are requesting funding only for $1,100.00 for the license itself. The original license was paid
for from a former grant in partnership with the University of Michigan. We are no longer
operating under that grant and therefore need to pay for the license ourselves.

Attached is the Hosted Software Service Agreement Amendment. If any additional information is
needed, please do not hesitate to contact me.



 
 
 

HOSTED SOFTWARE SERVICE AGREEMENT AMENDMENT 

This Software Service Agreement Amendment (the “Amendment”) is made as of 3/25/18 (the “Effective Date”) by 
and between Public Health Management Corporation, with offices at 1500 Market Street, LM 500, Philadelphia, PA 
19102 (“PHMC”) and 14B District Court with offices at 7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti, MI 48197, its agents, 
employees and contractors, collectively (“Licensee”), each a “Party” and collectively the “Parties”. The Amendment 
hereby changes to the Software License Agreement (“Agreement”) terms under which PHMC will provide 
Licensee with access to and use of certain Software offering(s) identified in Exhibit A (“Software Terms-of-Use”), 
(each a "Software Service" and collectively, the "Software Service").  

Please be advised that Treatment Research Institute ("TRI") has conveyed substantially all of its assets to Public 
Health Management Corporation, a Pennsylvania non-profit corporation ("PHMC"), pursuant to the terms of an 
Asset Transfer Agreement between TRI and PHMC dated May 24th, 2017 (the "Transfer Agreement"). Upon the 
closing of the sale transaction (the "Closing"), TRI assigned to PHMC all of TRI's rights in and under the 
Agreement entered into between TRI and 14B District Court (the "CLIENT"), and PHMC will assume all of TRI's 
rights and obligations under the Agreement arising from and after the Closing. The Closing occurred on June 29th, 
2017. 

This Amendment, together with the Base Agreement and all Exhibits attached hereto, forms a binding contract 
between Licensee and PHMC. In addition, Licensee agrees that unless explicitly stated otherwise, any updates or 
Enhancements to the Software Service(s) that are made available to Licensee, and/or any new Software Service(s) 
subsequently purchased by Licensee under an Amendment will be subject to this Amendment. 

In consideration of the mutual obligations contained in this Amendment, and intending to be legally bound, the 
Parties agree as follows: 

 

1. EXTENSION OF LICENSE TERM  

 

1.1. Provided that Licensee shall not then be in default under this Agreement, the Term of this Agreement 
shall be automatically extended for an additional one (1) year term and shall automatically extend at the 
end of the term for one (1) or more one (1) year periods (each a “Renewal Term”) , upon the same terms 
and conditions as contained in the Base Agreement unless amended herein.  

1.2. Licensee may, at least thirty (60) days before the end of a Term, inform PHMC that Licensee does not 
intend to renew, or wishes to cancel the Amendment. 

1.2.1. PHMC may modify the prices or fees for Services for each Renewal Term upon thirty (30) days’ 
notice to Licensee; provided, however, if Licensee does not agree to accept the new pricing, 
Licensee may terminate the affected Amendment without penalty within thirty (30) days of the 
date of such notice. Any continued use of the Software thirty (30) days after notice date shall be 
deemed acceptance of the new pricing. 

1.3. Missed cancellation period: PHMC accepts no responsibility for late cancellations or cancellation 
requests not received due to printer or fax failure, download failure due to (and not limited to) 
disconnection from the Internet, power failure, heavy Internet traffic, instructions not received due to an 
incorrect customer information, illness, a cancellation request sent to a wrong email address or a 
company other than PHMC, computer failure, or hardware error. It is your responsibility to ensure that 
cancellation requests are received by PHMC within ninety (90) days of the Start Date, or at any other 
time. 

2. ENHANCEMENTS 

2.1. Changes or Enhancements requested by Licensee.  Licensee may from time to time request, in writing 
and in sufficient detail, functionality enhancement(s) to the Software.  PHMC agrees to use reasonable 
efforts to develop these Enhancements subject to a negotiated and executed development amendment 
including a statement of work (Exhibit B: Service Enhancement - Statement of Work). 

 

 



 
 
 

 

2.1.1. Licensee will provide an internally approved written modification(s) request in sufficient detail 
to enable PHMC to provide a reasonable estimate of time and cost to program the requested 
modification(s).  If, during the course of programming the modifications, the cost to complete 
the modification(s) is projected to exceed the written estimate by ten percent (10%) or more, 
PHMC will notify Licensee in writing of the potential cost overrun.  Prior to completing the 
modification(s) the Parties will agree, in writing to amend the cost estimate to the revised 
amount. 

2.1.2. Any unauthorized changes, additions or modifications made to the Software by Licensee shall 
void any warranty under this Amendment.  

3. DATA 

3.1. Security. PHMC shall maintain commercially reasonable administrative, physical and technical 
safeguards for the protection, confidentiality and integrity of Licensee Data.  

3.1.1. No Virus Warranty. PHMC warrants that the Software will be free of viruses, Trojan horses, 
worms, spyware, or other such malicious code ("Malicious Code") 

3.1.2. Any Malicious Code contained in Licensee-uploaded attachments or otherwise originating from 
Licensee or its Users is not covered by any PHMC warranty.  Any services required from 
PHMC to remediate issues caused by Licensee data will be billed at current PHMC rates 
documented in Schedule A- “Licensing and Maintenance Fees”. 

3.2. Software Ownership. Licensee acknowledges and agrees that, as between Licensee and PHMC, all rights, 
titles and interests in the Software and any part or derivation thereof, including, without limitation, all 
rights to patent, copyright, trademark, trade name and trade secrets and all other intellectual property 
rights therein and thereto, and all copies thereof, in whatever form, including any written Documentation 
and all other material describing such Software, shall at all times remain solely with PHMC.  

3.3. Data Ownership. All data entered and stored in the Software database by Licensee is the property of 
Licensee.  Licensee understands and grants PHMC access to data collected by Licensee for the purpose 
of making any necessary system modifications, to provide technical support, generate descriptive reports, 
and to manage and maintain a repository of de-identified data that can be used to evaluate programs and 
policies.  PHMC agrees to take all reasonable efforts to safeguard the data and protect the identity of 
persons entered into the database. PHMC agrees to comply with all state and federal statutes and 
regulations and contractual conditions with regard to the protection of client confidentiality. 

3.4. Documentation. All executable programs, and all programming Documentation relating thereto, 
including specifications developed by PHMC under any SOW, shall be the property of PHMC provided, 
however, PHMC grants Licensee the limited right to use such programs and Documentation in 
accordance with this Amendment.  PHMC may use without restriction any and all ideas, concepts, 
methods, know-how, or techniques related to the programming and processing of data discovered or 
developed by PHMC during the performance of Professional Services under any SOW.  

3.5. All Rights Reserved. All rights not expressly granted to Licensee are hereby reserved to PHMC.  
Licensee agrees and acknowledges that the Software is valuable, confidential and intellectual property 
belonging solely to PHMC, and that Licensee has not purchased or been sold or granted any interest in 
the Software except as expressly provided herein. 

3.6. Intellectual Property. Neither Party is granted any right or interest to the logos, copyrights, trademarks, 
marks, trade names or trade secrets (the “Intellectual Property”) of the other Party. Neither Party may use 
the other Party’s Intellectual Property without the express written consent of such Party. 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 
 

 

4. NOTICES 

4.1. Addresses / Addressees. All notices, requests, demands and other communications required or permitted 
to be made hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed duly given if hand delivered against a 
signed receipt therefor, or sent by nationally recognized overnight delivery service, postage prepaid, in 
each case addressed to the Party entitled to receive the same at the address specified below: 

4.1.1. If notice to PHMC, then to: 

 
Administrative Representative: 
Contracts Manager 
Public Health Management Corporation 
Centre Square East 
1500 Market Street, LM500 
Philadelphia, PA  19102 
contracts@phmc.org 

Client Services Representative: 
Meghan Love 
Public Health Management Corporation 
Centre Square East 
1500 Market Street, LM500 
Philadelphia, PA  19102 
mlove@phmc.org 
215-399-0990 

 
4.1.2. If notice to Licensee, then to: 

 
_________________________ 
_________________________ 
_________________________ 
_________________________ 
 
 

4.2. Altering Addresses / Addressees.  Any Party may alter the address to which communications are to be 
sent by giving notice of such change of address in conformity with the provisions of this Section 
providing for the giving of notice. 

 

The Amendment will become effective upon execution of Amendment by both Parties and receipt by PHMC of 
the initial annual License Fee payment, whereupon all of the terms and provisions of this Amendment shall 
become binding upon Licensee and PHMC. 

 

PUBLIC HEALTH MANAGEMENT 
CORPORATION 
  

 

14B DISTRICT COURT 
 
 

 

Signed:   Signed:  

By:   By:  

Title:   Title:  

Date:   Date:  

mailto:contracts@phmc.org
mailto:mlove@phmc.org


 

SOFTWARE LICENSE AND SERVICES AGREEMENT 
("AGREEMENT") 

SCHEDULE A 

 
 
 

LICENSING AND DEVELOPMENT FEES 
Streamlined RANT  
 
Treatment Research Solutions at  
Public Health Management Corporation 
(PHMC) 
 

Contact:  
Meghan Love 

Product Director 
Treatment Research Solutions @ 

Public Health Management Corporation 
1500 Market Street 

Centre Square, East Tower, 15th fl.  
Philadelphia, PA 19102 

mlove@tri.phmc.org 
(215) 399-0990  

EIN # 23-7221025 
  

LICENSING  
Product Name Version No. of Servers Permitted Users Fees 

  

Streamlined RANT  1 1 up to 5 $1,100 per year, per 
court 

      up to 25 $2,750 per year, per 
court 

 

MAINTENANCE & SUPPORT    

 
 

Service Name Service Details Fees 
  

Networking Subscription RANT/DUI-RANT Instrument Access 
Provided for Users within Individual Courts $350 per court 

Initial Training 1 Session – Remote Training $750 

Additional Training Sessions Per Session – Remote Training ROLE Rates Apply 

  

Remote Support (Phone/Email) Mon - Fri 8:30am – 5pm EST Included in Annual Fee 

Remote Support (Phone/Email) All Other Times Network Admin Rates Apply 

On-Site Support Requires Separate SOW TBD in conjunction with 
SOW 

  

mailto:mlove@tri.phmc.org


 

SOFTWARE LICENSE AND SERVICES AGREEMENT 
("AGREEMENT") 

SCHEDULE A 

 
 
 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICE RATES 
Any additional services shall require the acceptance and authorization of a formal Statement of Work (SOW) by 
Licensee in advance of the commencement of any labor.  Should additional services be required, those services will 
also be billed at the following hourly rates: 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

ROLE RATE 

Application Lead $125 /hr. 

Integration Lead/DBA $125 /hr. 

IT Project Manager $110 /hr. 

Billing Team Lead $104 /hr. 

Network Admin $105 /hr. 



14-B DISTRICT COURT
7200 SOUTH HURON RIVER DRIVE
YPSILANTI, MICHIGAN 48197-7099

CRIMINAL/TRAFFIC (734) 483-1333
CIVIL (734) 483-5300
FAX (734) 483-3630

HON. CHARLES POPE MARK W. NELSON
DISTRICT COURT JUDGE MAGISTRATE

To: Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk

From: Mark Nelson, Magistrate / Court Administrator

Re: Request to renew and approve a fees addendum to Memorandum of Agreement
between Court Innovations Inc. and State Court Administrative Office. Payment of
additional monthly subscription cost of $405.00 and set up fee of $1500.00 from
236.136.000.819.006. And budget amendment increasing line item 236.136.000.819.006
$3930 to pay for the setup fee and 6 months of service for the balance of 2018.

Date: May 7, 2018

The 14B District Court is requesting approval of a second addendum to Memorandum of
Agreement between Court Innovations Inc. and State Court Administrative Office.
Payment of additional monthly subscription cost of $405.00 and a setup fee of $1500.00.
Pursuant to the attached Memorandum of Understanding between the 14B District Court
and Court Innovations Incorporated Second addendum.

This addendum does three things. Frist is it adds an online ability to pay module. This
module will allow people who owe fines and costs to the Court to make an online request
for a payment plan. Prior to considering such a request the person must provide financial
information including employment, assets and expenditures. From this information the
Court can make a determination as to whether a payment plan is appropriate and a
monthly amount to be paid. The program will then send payment reminders via email or
text depending on the preference selected. This will simplify the customer experience
and make payment more efficient for Defendants and the Court.

The second item is a driving while license suspended tool. This allows a defendant with
a suspended license to go to one website to determine what steps they need to take to
regain eligibility for a driver’s license after a suspension. In most cases the defendant is
suspended in multiple court and cannot simply take care of their obligations with us or
the Secretary of State. Currently in these types of cases court hearings are adjourned
multiple times while the defendant works on getting their license un-suspended. Using
this tool, the defendant can take care of other suspensions and then notify the court or the
prosecutor that they have completed the process before a follow up court date is set. This
will make the process more efficient for court staff as well. Rather than scheduling and
accessing a file multiple times this will reduce appearances in court so that process is not
repeated. From a customer service point of view, the defendant is taking less time from
work or otherwise having to travel to court to address these matters.



The third application is an on-line warrant review platform. This allows defendants with
warrants for failing to appear to contact the court and request a new court date without
having to come into court. This again provides dual benefit to the public and to the
Court. For the public it allows resolution of a bench warrant without having to take time
from work or arrange transportation to the court. For the Court it allows a resolution
without any staff time that is involved in an individual’s appearance at the court. This
option is not going to resolve every matter. There will be a number of instances where
appearance will be required to resolve a bench warrant. But if someone has a bench
warrant on a fail to appear for a payment review because they could not get time off from
work, then this is easily resolved by contacting the court through this online tool.
Currently the only way to address these issues is either by personal appearance at the
Court or mailing a letter to the Court. These both involve a number of steps of staff
involvement that can be eliminated by making the request on line. The final advantage is
that for each warrant resolved online, that is one less arrest and overnight lodging in the
jail for a relatively minor issue such as a missed court date on payment of fines.

In addition to the monthly fees, there is a onetime set up fee of $1500.00. By doing the
three modules at the same time we will be saving $1200 on set up fees. If we were to
purchase each module separately the setup fee would be $900.00 per module.

This system will be available 24 hours a day, so the public can address these issues
without time off from work, or traveling to the court. The public will be able to complete
this transaction in a manner of minutes at a time of their choosing.

This system has been implemented by other district courts and the Washtenaw County
Sheriff’s department is familiar with and support the process.

Attached is addendum. If any additional information is needed, please do not hesitate to
contact me.



1 
 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 
BETWEEN 

THE 14B DISTRICT COURT AND COURT INNOVATIONS INCORPORATED 
Second Addendum 

  
Addendum to the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) entered into by and between the 14B District 
Court (14B), and Court Innovations Incorporated (Cii) effective March 31, 2016 
 
 
The parties agree that Court Innovations will make available Matterhorn Ability to Pay (aka: Past Due), 
DWLS and Warrant Resolutions solutions to 14B. 
 
The parties additionally agree to add the following language to the FEES section of the MOU: 
 

• Ability to Pay - The subscription fee each month shall be and additional $135 monthly and 
cover all Ability to Pay requests and shall be invoiced beginning June 1, 2018 or upon launch of 
the Ability to Pay solution to the public (whichever comes first). 

• DWLS - The subscription fee each month shall be and additional $135 monthly and cover all 
DWLS requests and shall be invoiced beginning June 1, 2018 or upon launch of the DWLS 
solution to the public (whichever comes first). 

• Warrant Resolution - The subscription fee each month shall be and additional $135 monthly 
and cover all Warrant resolution requests and shall be invoiced beginning June 1, 2018 or upon 
launch of the warrant solution to the public (whichever comes first). 

 
As clarification, the total additional monthly subscription costs as referenced above shall be $405 

 
• A one-time setup fee for Matterhorn Ability to Pay of $1,500 shall be invoiced upon signature 

of agreement. 
 

• Current subscription fees shall stay in effect per the MOU for Traffic Requests. 
 

 
 
Signed: 
     ____________________________                 ______________________________ 
     
     ____________________________                 Mary Jo Cartwright 
 
     ____________________________                                    Chief Executive Officer 
14B District                   Court Innovations Inc.  
Date___________________________               Date________________________  



1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

TO:  Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board of Trustees 
 
FROM:       Wayne Dudley, Public Service Superintendent  
 
DATE:  05/08/2018 
 
RE:      Recommend Approval of Estimate Proposal of Innovative Environmental 

Solutions for Soil Testing of Fuel System removal at Civic Center; $11,950.00 
 
Last fall the board approved a project that would install a new fuel management system at 
Ford Lake Park and the Community Center. Also part of that project was the removal of the 
existing tanks at the Civic Center that were De-commissioned around 2008-2010.  
 
With that project was listed some TBD items that only could be determined at the time of 
removal – all had to do with soil testing and contamination. 
 
The onsite testing did in fact find some soil contamination at the fueling station where the 
pumps & island were; none close to the tanks or piping to the tanks.  
 
This estimate is only for the continued testing & report as to the needed remediation for the 
contaminated soils 
 
Please see attached report, estimate & mapping of locations already tested. 
 
This contractor is already been on site, knows the job layout, and has an opening in their 
schedule Thursday May 17th for the bore testing. I request to forego the finance policy and 
approve this estimate for $11,950.00. Please note that this is just for the testing and report for 
remediation, not the actual removal of the soil. 
 
It would also require a budget amendment. 
 
I will be avail for any questions. 
 
 
Respectfully,  
Wayne Dudley  
Public Service Superintendent  
 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
Residential Services Division 

 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive 
Ypsilanti, MI  48197 

Phone:  (734) 484.0073 
Fax:  (734)544.3501 

 
www.ytown.org 

  

Supervisor 
BRENDA L. STUMBO 

Clerk 
KAREN LOVEJOY ROE 

Treasurer 
LARRY J. DOE 

Trustees 
STAN ELDRIDGE 
HEATHER ROE 
MONICA ROSS-

WILLIAMS 
JIMMIE WILSON, JR. 

http://www.ytown.org/


















wdudley
Line

wdudley
Typewritten Text
Pump & Island

wdudley
Rectangle

wdudley
Rectangle

wdudley
Polygonal Line

wdudley
Polygonal Line

wdudley
Typewritten Text
Tanks



wdudley
Polygonal Line

wdudley
Typewritten Text
Tanks

wdudley
Polygonal Line

wdudley
Typewritten Text
Pumps & Island

wdudley
Typewritten Text
Map showing testing done at catch basins& sanitary leads; zero ppm reported



 2018 YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP THIRD AGREEMENT 
 
THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into this _____ day of _______, 2018, 
by and between the Township Board of Ypsilanti Township, Washtenaw 
County, parties of the first part and the Board of Washtenaw County Road 
Commissioners, parties of the second part. 
 
WHEREAS, the parties of the first part desire that certain improvements 
be made upon the local roads in the Township of Ypsilanti, and   
 
WHEREAS, proper authority is provided to the parties of the agreement 
under the provisions in Act 51 of Public Acts of 1951 as amended, 
 
IT IS NOW THEREFORE AGREED, the parties of the second part will accomplish 
the improvements as specified herein, all in accordance with the 
standards of the parties of the second part. 
 
It is further understood that the Charter Township of Ypsilanti will be 
a named insured on the Washtenaw County Road Commission’s coverages for 
liability for the activities described above.  The Road Commission will 
submit a certificate of insurance evidencing such coverages to the 
Township Clerk prior to implementation of services under the contract. 
Each party to this contract shall be responsible for the acts and 
omissions of its employees and agents. 
 
1. Lakecrest Drive & Lakecrest Court: 

Work to include cold milling of existing HMA pavement, 
placement of 3” HMA resurfacing, structure adjustments, ADA 
sidewalk ramp upgrades, and project restoration 
Estimated project cost: $  216,800 
 

2. Hawthorne Avenue, Harris Road to Parkwood Avenue: 
Work to include cold milling of existing HMA pavement, 
placement of 2” HMA resurfacing, structure adjustments, ADA 
sidewalk ramp upgrades, and project restoration 
Estimated project cost: $   69,300 

 
3. Parkwood Avenue, Harris Road to Glenwood Avenue: 

Work to include cold milling of existing HMA pavement, 
placement of 2” HMA resurfacing, structure adjustments, ADA 
sidewalk ramp upgrades, and project restoration 
Estimated project cost: $   84,300 

 
4. Gates Avenue, US-12 to Tyler Road: 

Work to include cold milling of existing HMA pavement, 
placement of 2” HMA resurfacing, structure adjustments, ADA 
sidewalk ramp upgrades, and project restoration 
Estimated project cost: $   48,400 

  



2018 Ypsilanti Township Third Agreement 
Page Two 
 
 
 

5. Tyler Road, Dorsett Avenue westerly to end of road: 
Work to include cold milling of existing HMA pavement, 
placement of 2” HMA resurfacing, structure adjustments, ADA 
sidewalk ramp upgrades, and project restoration 
Estimated project cost: $   78,200 
 

6. The Pines Subdivision: 
Work to include cold milling of existing HMA pavement, 
placement of 2.5” HMA resurfacing, structure adjustments, ADA 
sidewalk ramp upgrades, and project restoration.  Roads include 
S. Mohawk Avenue, S. Miami Avenue, S. Ivanhoe Avenue and James 
Avenue. 
Estimated project cost: $  491,500 

 
 

AGREEMENT SUMMARY 
 
 
2018 LOCAL ROAD PROGRAM 

Lakecrest Drive & Lakecrest Court $  216,800.00 
Hawthorne Avenue $   69,300.00 
Parkwood Avenue $   84,300.00 
Gates Avenue $   48,400.00 
Tyler Road $   78,200.00 
The Pines Subdivision $  491,500.00 
Subtotal $  988,500.00 
 
Less 2017 Conventional Matching Funds: $   14,072.40 
Less 2018 Conventional Matching Funds: $  223,898.40 
Less 2019 Conventional Matching Funds: $  166,968.00 
 

 
ESTIMATED AMOUNT TO BE PAID BY YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP 
UNDER THIS AGREEMENT DURING 2018: $  583,561.20 
 
FOR YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP: 
 
 
 
___________________________________     _______________________________  
Brenda L. Stumbo, Supervisor      Witness 
  



2018 Ypsilanti Township Third Agreement 
Page Two 
 
 
 
___________________________________     _______________________________  
Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk       Witness 
 
 
FOR WASHTENAW COUNTY ROAD COMMISSION: 
 
 
 
___________________________________     _______________________________ 
Douglas E. Fuller, Chair       Witness 
 
 
 
___________________________________     _______________________________ 
Roy D. Townsend, Managing Director     Witness 



[Space Above This Line Is For Recording Information]

EASEMENT AGREEMENT

THIS EASEMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is entered into as of the ____ day of 
_____________, 2018 (the “Effective Date”), by Charter Township of Ypsilanti, a Michigan 
municipal corporation, whose address is 7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti, Michigan 48197 
(referred to herein as “Grantor”),  Willow Run Arsenal of Democracy Landholdings Limited 
Partnership, a Michigan limited partnership, whose address is 3948 Hunters Ridge Drive #4, 
Lansing, Michigan 48911(referred to herein as “Grantee”), and American Center for Mobility, a 
Michigan non-profit corporation, whose address is 801 Kirk Profit Drive, Ypsilanti, MI 48198, 
but only as expressly provided herein (“ACM” and collectively, the “Parties” and each, without 
distinction, a “Party”).

RECITALS:

A. Grantor is the fee simple owner of that certain parcel of land located in the 
Township of Ypsilanti, County of Washtenaw, State of Michigan, identified by Tax Parcel No. 
K-11-12-400-002 with property address at 2936 Airport Drive as more particularly described on 
the attached Exhibit A (“Grantor’s Parcel”).  The water basin commonly known as Tyler Pond 
is located upon Grantor’s Parcel.

B. Grantee is the fee simple owner of that certain parcel of land, situated in the 
Township of Ypsilanti, County of Washtenaw, State of Michigan and in the Township of Van 
Buren, County of Wayne, State of Michigan, as more particularly described on the attached 
Exhibit B (“Grantee’s Parcel”).  Grantee’s Parcel is separated from Grantor’s Parcel by the 
public road known as Airport Drive.

C. On November 4, 2016, Grantee entered into that certain Ground Lease with ACM 
(“WRAD Ground Lease”), which ground lease enables ACM to use Grantee’s Parcel to 
construct and operate an automated and connected vehicle research, education, testing, 
standards-convening, product development validation and self-certification facility (the 
“Facility”).  



D. Grantee desires perpetual easements for an outlet or outlets to Tyler Pond over, 
across and under a portion of Grantor’s Parcel to allow for construction, operation, maintenance 
and use of storm water sewer pipe infrastructure improvements, which improvements shall be 
owned and operated by ACM, to benefit Grantee’s Parcel as part of ACM’s overall storm water 
management system (the “Easements”). 

NOW THEREFORE, for the consideration stated in Section 1 below, the receipt and 
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, Grantor conveys these Easements to Grantee 
subject to the following terms and conditions:

AGREEMENT

1. Consideration.  For and in consideration of the sum of One Dollar ($1), Grantor 
hereby conveys the Easements to Grantee for the purposes in Section 2 below.

2. Purposes of Permanent Easements.  Grantor hereby grants to Grantee, its 
ground lessees, tenants, agents, successors and assigns, including ACM, the following permanent 
easements over, above, across and below the Easement Areas (as defined below): 

Two permanenet easements for storm water sewer pipe, and storm water sewer 
outlet to Tyler Pond, for the installation, construction, operation, maintenance, 
repair, and replacement of private storm water sewer utility lines and  storm water 
sewer outlet to Tyler Pond (the “Storm Water Sewer Utility Lines”).

3. Location of Easements.  The “Easement Areas” shall be the areas more 
particularly depicted by sketch and described in the attached Exhibit C.   The width of the 
Easement Areas shall be twenty (20) feet in width, being ten (10) feet on each side of the 
centerline of the storm water sewer pipeline and outlet as constructed.

4. Temporary Construction/Maintenance Easement. To the extent Grantee or its 
ground lessees, tenants, agents, successors or assigns, including ACM, must perform any 
construction, maintenance and/or repair activities within the Easement Areas, Grantee, its ground 
lessees, tenants, agents, successors and assigns, including ACM, shall have the right of ingress to 
and egress from the Easement Areas through and across Grantor’s Parcel.  

5. ACM: Third Party Beneficiary.  The Parties acknowledge and agree that ACM, 
and its successors and assigns, shall be a third party beneficiary of this Agreement with respect 
to the Easements as long as the WRAD Ground Lease remains in effect.  Upon termination or 
expiration of the WRAD Ground Lease, ACM shall cease to have any rights, obligations or 
liability under this Agreement; provided, however, that any indemnification liability of ACM 
under Section 6 arising by reason of any act or omission of ACM prior to termination or 
expiration of the Ground Lease shall survive until expiration of the applicable statute of 
limitations.  Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, nothing in this Agreement, 
expressed or implied, shall confer upon any person or entity, other than the Parties hereto and 
their successors and assigns, any rights or remedies under or by reason of this Agreement.

6. Default.  If any Party shall default in the performance of an obligation of such 
Party (such Party being herein called a “Defaulting Party”), any other Party (the 



“Nondefaulting Party”), in addition to all other remedies it may have at law or in equity, after 
twenty (20) days’ prior written notice to the Defaulting Party and any first mortgagee (provided 
that such first mortgagee has given written notice to all Parties of its right to be notified and the 
address for notification), shall have the right to perform such obligation on behalf of the 
Defaulting Party.  In such event, the Defaulting Party shall promptly (but in any event within 
sixty (60) days after demand and receipt of proof of payment of such costs) reimburse the 
Nondefaulting Party the actual, necessary and reasonable cost thereof.  Notwithstanding anything 
contained herein to the contrary, the Easements established by this Agreement shall not terminate 
as a result of any default under this Agreement.

7. No Dedication.  Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed to 
constitute a gift or dedication of the Easements contained within this Agreement to the general 
public or for any public use or purpose whatsoever.

8. Successors.  The Easements shall run with the land and bind and benefit, 
respectively, Grantor’s and Grantee’s successors and assigns, and Grantee’s ground lessees, 
tenants, and agents thereof, in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

9. Modification of Agreement.  This Agreement may only be amended (in whole or 
in part) by a written agreement between Grantor and Grantee, and, to the extent of its interest, 
ACM.  Any and all amendments shall be duly recorded in the Offices of the Register of Deeds of 
Wayne County, Michigan and of Washtenaw County, Michigan. 

10. Construction.  The Parties hereto acknowledge that each Party and its counsel 
have reviewed and revised this Agreement and that the normal rule of construction to the effect 
that any ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting party shall not be employed in the 
interpretation of this Agreement (including the exhibits) or any amendments thereto, and the 
same shall be construed neither for nor against any Party, but shall be a reasonable interpretation 
in accordance with the plain meaning of its terms and the intent of the parties. 

11. Notices.  All notices and other communications required or permitted to be given 
hereunder shall be in writing and shall be mailed by certified or registered mail, postage prepaid, 
or by a nationally recognized overnight carrier, addressed to the Parties as follows:

If to GRANTOR:

Charter Township of Ypsilanti
7200 S. Huron River Dr.
Ypsilanti, Michigan 48197
Attn: ___________________

And a Copy  to:

Ypsilanti Community Utilities Authority
2777 State Road
Ypsilanti, Michigan 48198-9112
Attn: _____________________ 

If to GRANTEE:
Willow Run Arsenal of Democracy 
Landholdings Limited Partnership
c/o Willow Run Land Management Services,
General Partner

And a Copy to:
Miller, Canfield, Paddock and Stone, P.L.C.
One Michigan Avenue, Suite 900
Lansing, MI 43933
Attn: G. Alan Wallace



3948 Hunters Ridge Drive #4
Lansing, MI 48911-1136
Attn: Charles A. Fiedler, President
Email: cfiedler@sentinellawgroup.net

Tel: 517.483.4905
Email: wallace@millercanfield.com 

If to ACM: 
American Center for Mobility
201 S. Division Street, Suite 430
Ann Arbor, MI  48104
Attn:  John Maddox, President & CEO
Office:  734.763.6243
Email:  maddoxjm@umich.edu

And a Copy  to:
Honigman Miller Schwartz and Cohn LLP
315 E. Eisenhower Parkway, Suite 100
Ann Arbor, MI  48108
Attn:  David N. Parsigian
Tel:  734.418.4200
Email:  dparsigian@honigman.com

Any Party may change its contact information by sending notice of such change to the other 
Parties.

12. Headings.  The headings of the paragraphs contained herein are intended for 
reference purposes only and shall not be used to interpret the agreements contained herein or the 
rights granted hereby.

13. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, 
each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute but one and 
the same instrument.

14. Attorneys’ Fees.  In the event that any Party hereto brings an action or 
proceeding for a declaration of its rights under this Agreement, for injunctive relief, or for an 
alleged breach or default of this Agreement, or any other action arising out of this Agreement, 
the prevailing party in any such action shall be entitled to an award of reasonable attorneys’ fees 
and any court costs incurred in such action or proceeding, in addition to any other damages or 
relief awarded.

15. Miscellaneous.

(a) This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the 
State of Michigan.

(b) Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to make the Parties’ partners 
or joint venturers or make any Party liable for the debts or obligations of another Party.

(c) This Agreement sets forth all of the covenants, promises, agreements, 
conditions and understandings among the Parties hereto concerning the Easements.  All 
recitals and all Exhibits attached to this Agreement are by this reference incorporated 
herein and made a part hereof.

(d) No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be effective 
unless it is in writing and signed by the Party against whom it is asserted; and, any such 



written waiver shall only be applicable to the specific instance to which it relates and 
shall not be deemed to be a continuing and permanent waiver, unless specifically so 
stated.

(e) This Agreement is exempt from Michigan, Wayne County and Washtenaw 
County transfer taxes pursuant to MCL § 207.526(a) and MCL § 207.505(a).

(f) Each party to this Agreement represents and warrants that the undersigned 
signatory has the proper and necessary corporate authority to execute this Agreement and 
to bind his or her respective entity to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

The Parties hereto have executed this instrument the day and year first above written.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank; Signatures appear on following pages]



Signature page to Easement Agreement

Approved as to form by the Charter 
Township of Ypsilanti general counsel:

By: 
General Counsel, Charter Township of 
Ypsilanti

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF 
YPSILANTI, a Michigan municipal 
corporation

By 
Name:  Brenda L. Stumbo
Title:  Township Supervisor

And by: __________________________
Name: Karen Lovejoy Roe
Title:  Township Clerk 

STATE OF MICHIGAN )
) ss:

COUNTY OF WASHTENAW )

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me in Washtenaw County, Michigan 
this ____ day of _________, 2018, by Brenda L. Stumbo, Township Supervisor, and Karen 
Lovejoy Roe, Township Clerk, for the Charter Township of Ypsilanti, a Michigan municipal 
corporation.

Notary’s signature:  
Notary’s Name: 
Notary Public, State of Michigan
County of 
My commission expires: 
Acting in _______________, County

(Signatures continue on following page)



Signature page to Easement Agreement

WILLOW RUN ARSENAL OF 
DEMOCRACY LANDHOLDINGS 
LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, a Michigan 
limited partnership

By: Willow Run Land Management Services
Its: General Partner

By 
Charles A. Fiedler
Its President

STATE OF MICHIGAN )
) ss:

COUNTY OF ____________)

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me in _________________ County, State of 
Michigan this ____ day of _________, 2018, by Charles A. Fiedler, the President of Willow Run 
Land Management Services, the General Partner of Willow Run Arsenal of Democracy 
Landholdings Limited Partnership, on behalf of the limited partnership.

Notary’s signature:  
Notary’s Name: 
Notary Public, State of Michigan
County of 
My commission expires: 
Acting in _______________, County

(Signatures continue on following page)



[Signature page to Easement Agreement] 

AMERICAN CENTER FOR MOBILITY,  
a Michigan nonprofit corporation

By 
John Maddox
Its President and Chief Executive 
Officer

STATE OF MICHIGAN )
) ss:

COUNTY OF ____________)

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before in _________________ County, State of 
Michigan this ____ day of _________, 2018, by John Maddox, the President and Chief 
Executive Officer of American Center for Mobility, a Michigan nonprofit corporation, on behalf 
of the corporation.

Notary’s signature:  
Notary’s Name: 
Notary Public, State of Michigan
County of 
My commission expires: 
Acting in _______________, County

DRAFTED BY AND WHEN RECORDED MAIL TO:
Miller Canfield Paddock and Stone, PLC
Attn: Reshma Sambare
One Michigan Avenue, Suite 900
Lansing, MI 43933
Tel: (517) 483-4937



LIST OF EXHIBITS TO BE ATTACHED:

Exhibit A Legal Description of Grantor’s Parcel

Exhibit B Legal Description of Grantee’s Parcel

Exhibit C Legal Description/Depiction of Easement Areas



EXHIBIT A TO EASEMENT AGREEMENT

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF GRANTOR’S PARCEL

Real property situated in Ypsilanti Township, Washtenaw County, State of Michigan, described 
as follows:

YP#12-11 COM AT SE COR OF SEC, TH S 87 DEG  46' 05" W 650 FT IN S LINE OF SEC 

FOR A PL OF BEG, TH S 87 DEG 46' 05" WEST 285.33 FT, TH N 1 DEG 16' 17" W 60.01 

FT, TH N 61 DEG 16' 45" E 232.01 FT TO CENTER OF WILLOW RUN CREEK, TH N 4 

DEG 51' 50" E 188.68 FT, TH N 45 DEG 40' 10" W 181.74 FT, TH N 82 DEG 54' 10" W 

250.92 FT, TH S 83 DEG 10' 55" WEST 185.31 FT, TH N 74 DEG 06' 15" W 157.0 FT, TH N 

86 DEG 11' 10" W 300.66 FT, TH N 42 DEG 09' 05" W 284.61 FT, TH N 16 DEG 47' 55" W 

276.81 FT, TH N 44 DEG 03' 10" W 171.14 FT, TH N 54 DEG 59' 50" W 411.42 FT, TH N 66 

DEG 19' 45" W 159.41 FT, TH N 49 DEG 51' W 325.75 FT, TH N 51 DEG 59' 20” W 181.27 

FT, TH N 48 DEG 18' W 140.67 FT, TH LEAVING CENTER OF WILLOW RUN CREEK, TH 

N 29 DEG 09' 07” W 224.42 FT, TH EAST 122.46 FT, TH S 56 DEG 33' 55” EAST 1888.63 

FT, TH SELY 464.60 FT IN THE ARC OF A CIRC CURVE TO THE LEFT OF 3306.76 FT 

RADIUS THRU A CENT ANGLE OF 8 DEG 03', TH S 64 DEG 36' 55” E 587.00 FT, TH SLY 

663.63 FT IN THE ARC OF A CIRCULAR CURVE TO THE RIGHT OF 260.81 FT RADIUS 

THRU A CENT ANGLE OF 146 DEG 28' 12” THE CHORD BEARS S 8 DEG 37' 11” W 

499.44 FT, TH S 2 DEG 13' 55” E 43.63 FT TO THE PL OF BEG, BEING A PART OF THE S 

1/2 SEC 12 T3S-R7E 22.15 AC. EXCEPTING THAT PART DEED TO THE WCRC EXHIBIT 

"A" L. 24321 P. 511. CONTAINING 0.801 ACRES.

Address Reference:  2936 Airport Drive, Ypsilanti, Michigan 48198
Tax Parcel Number:     K-11-12-400-0002



EXHIBIT B TO EASEMENT AGREEMENT

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF GRANTEE’S PARCEL

Real property situated in the County of Wayne, Township of Van Buren, State of Michigan, 
described as follows:
PARCEL 1: (83-025-99-0002-701)
THAT PART OF NORTHWEST 1/4 OF SECTION 7, TOWN 3 SOUTH, RANGE 8 EAST, 
VAN BUREN TOWNSHIP, WAYNE COUNTY, MICHIGAN, DESCRIBED AS: 
BEGINNING AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SECTION 7 AND PROCEEDING 
SOUTH 01 DEGREE 25 MINUTES 10 SECONDS WEST ALONG THE WEST SECTION 
LINE 799.13 FEET; THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 57 MINUTES 40 SECONDS EAST 
193.19 FEET; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 02 MINUTES 20 SECONDS WEST 275.00 
FEET; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 57 MINUTES 40 SECONDS WEST 153.16 FEET; 
THENCE NORTH 01 DEGREE 25 MINUTES 10 SECONDS EAST 525.40 FEET; THENCE 
SOUTH 87 DEGREES 34 MINUTES 10 SECONDS WEST ALONG THE NORTH SECTION 
LINE 33.07 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

EXCEPT:
PART OF THE NORTHWEST 1/4 OF SECTION 7, TOWN 3 SOUTH, RANGE 8 EAST, VAN 
BUREN TOWNSHIP, WAYNE COUNTY, MICHIGAN AND BEING MORE 
PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: COMMENCING AT THE NORTHEAST 
CORNER OF SECTION 12, TOWN 3 SOUTH, RANGE 7 EAST, YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP, 
WASHTENAW COUNTY, MICHIGAN; RUNNING THENCE SOUTH 01 DEGREE 27 
MINUTES 26 SECONDS WEST ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID SECTION 12, A 
DISTANCE OF 33.00 FEET TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SECTION 7, TOWN 3 
SOUTH, RANGE 8 EAST, VAN BUREN TOWNSHIP, WAYNE COUNTY, MICHIGAN; 
THENCE NORTH 87 DEGREES 37 MINUTES 30 SECONDS EAST, ALONG THE NORTH 
LINE OF SAID SECTION 7, A DISTANCE OF 33.07 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE SOUTH 
01 DEGREE 27 MINUTES 26 SECONDS WEST A DISTANCE OF 525.40 FEET TO THE 
POINT OF BEGINNING OF THE PARCEL OF LAND HEREIN BEING DESCRIBED; 
PROCEEDING THENCE FROM SAID POINT OF BEGINNING NORTH 89 DEGREES 59 
MINUTES 56 SECONDS EAST A DISTANCE OF 153.16 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE 
SOUTH 00 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 04 SECONDS WEST A DISTANCE OF 275.00 FEET 
TO A POINT; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 59 MINUTES 56 SECONDS WEST A 
DISTANCE OF 193.17 FEET TO A POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF SAID SECTION 7; 
THENCE NORTH 01 DEGREE 27 MINUTES 26 SECONDS EAST ALONG THE WEST 
LINE OF SAID SECTION 7, A DISTANCE OF 275.10 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE SOUTH 
89 DEGREES 58 MINUTES 35 SECONDS EAST A DISTANCE OF 33.01 FEET TO THE 
POINT OF BEGINNING.

PARCEL 2: (83-025-99-0003-702)
PART OF THE WEST 1/2 OF SECTION 7, TOWN 3 SOUTH, RANGE 8 EAST, VAN 
BUREN TOWNSHIP, WAYNE COUNTY, MICHIGAN, DESCRIBED AS: BEGINNING AT 
THE WEST 1/4 CORNER OF SECTION 7; THENCE NORTH 01 DEGREE 27 MINUTES 26 
SECONDS EAST 855.18 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 24 DEGREES 17 MINUTES 05 



SECONDS EAST 238.53 FEET; THENCE DUE SOUTH 768.31 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 41 
DEGREES 23 MINUTES 40 SECONDS WEST 181.57 FEET; THENCE NORTH 00 
DEGREES 02 MINUTES 43 SECONDS EAST 267.04 FEET TO THE PLACE OF 
BEGINNING.

ALSO:

PART OF THE NORTHWEST 1/4 OF SECTION 7, TOWN 3 SOUTH, RANGE 8 EAST, VAN 
BUREN TOWNSHIP, WAYNE COUNTY, MICHIGAN AND BEING MORE 
PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: COMMENCING AT THE NORTHEAST 
CORNER OF SECTION 12, TOWN 3 SOUTH, RANGE 7 EAST, YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP, 
WASHTENAW COUNTY, MICHIGAN; RUNNING THENCE SOUTH 01 DEGREE 27 
MINUTES 26 SECONDS WEST ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID SECTION 12, A 
DISTANCE OF 33.00 FEET TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SECTION 7, TOWN 3 
SOUTH, RANGE 8 EAST, VAN BUREN TOWNSHIP, WAYNE COUNTY, MICHIGAN; 
THENCE NORTH 87 DEGREES 37 MINUTES 30 SECONDS EAST ALONG THE NORTH 
LINE OF SAID SECTION 7, A DISTANCE OF 33.07 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE SOUTH 
01 DEGREE 27 MINUTES 26 SECONDS WEST A DISTANCE OF 525.40 FEET TO A 
POINT; THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 59 MINUTES 56 SECONDS EAST A DISTANCE 
OF 153.16 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 04 SECONDS 
WEST A DISTANCE OF 275.00 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 59 
MINUTES 56 SECONDS WEST, ACROSS THE LINE COMMON TO SAID SECTIONS 7 
AND 12 AND INTO SAID SECTION 12, A DISTANCE OF 425.10 FEET TO A POINT; 
THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 35 SECONDS WEST A DISTANCE OF 
534.67 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE SOUTH 24 DEGREES 17 MINUTES 05 SECONDS 
EAST A DISTANCE OF 287.53 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 58 
MINUTES 35 SECONDS EAST A DISTANCE OF 93.51 FEET TO A POINT ON THE WEST 
LINE OF SAID SECTION 7, SAID POINT BEING THE POINT OF BEGINNING OF THE 
PARCEL OF LAND HEREIN BEING DESCRIBED; PROCEEDING THENCE FROM SAID 
POINT OF BEGINNING SOUTH 89 DEGREES 58 MINUTES 35 SECONDS EAST A 
DISTANCE OF 93.07 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE SOUTH A DISTANCE OF 413.48 FEET 
TO A POINT; THENCE NORTH 24 DEGREES 17 MINUTES 05 SECONDS WEST A 
DISTANCE OF 238.46 FEET TO A POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF SAID SECTION 7; 
THENCE NORTH 01 DEGREE 27 MINUTES 26 SECONDS EAST ALONG THE WEST 
LINE OF SAID SECTION 7, A DISTANCE OF 196.22 FEET TO THE POINT OF 
BEGINNING.

EXCEPT THAT PART OF THE FOLLOWING DESCRIPTION LYING WITHIN ABOVE 
PARCEL 2:
PART OF THE WEST 1/2 OF SECTION 7, TOWN 3 SOUTH, RANGE 8 EAST, VAN 
BUREN TOWNSHIP, WAYNE COUNTY, MICHIGAN AND BEING MORE 
PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: BEGINNING AT THE WEST 1/4 CORNER 
OF SECTION 7, TOWN 3 SOUTH, RANGE 8 EAST, VAN BUREN TOWNSHIP, WAYNE 
COUNTY, MICHIGAN AND PROCEEDING THENCE FROM SAID POINT OF 
BEGINNING NORTH 01 DEGREE 27 MINUTES 26 SECONDS EAST, ALONG THE WEST 
LINE OF SAID SECTION 7, A DISTANCE OF 477.35 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE SOUTH 



89 DEGREES 58 MINUTES 00 SECONDS EAST A DISTANCE OF 107.72 FEET TO A 
POINT; THENCE DUE SOUTH A DISTANCE OF 829.09 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE 
SOUTH 89 DEGREES 42 MINUTES 46 SECONDS WEST A DISTANCE OF 120.09 FEET 
TO A POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF SAID SECTION 7; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 
02 MINUTES 43 SECONDS EAST A DISTANCE OF 352.56 FEET TO THE POINT OF 
BEGINNING. 

Real property situated in the County of Washtenaw, Township of Ypsilanti, State of Michigan, 
described as follows:

PARCEL 3: (K-11-12-100-006)
PART OF SEC 12 AND AND SE 1/4 OF SEC 1, T3S, R7E, YPSILANTI TWP, WASHTENAW CO, 
MI, DESC AS BEG AT NE COR SEC 12, TH S 01-27-26 W 557.02 FT, ALG E LI SD SEC; TH N 89-
58-35 W 994.29 FT; TH S 00-01-25 W 892.33 FT; TH S 44-58-35 E 253.84 FT; TH S 89-58-35 E 787.98 
FT; TH S 01-27-26 W 574.39 FT, ALG E LI SD SEC 12; TH N 89-58-00 W 565.84 FT; S 00-02-00 E 
224.85 FT; TH S 45-02-00 W 69.30 FT; TH N 89-58-00 W 442.50 FT; TH S 00-02-00 W 418.67 FT; TH 
E 38.38 FT; TH S 00-08-45 W 241.25 FT; TH S 77-57-35 W 4.93 FT; TH S 00-03-01 W 1102.74 FT; TH 
ALG ARC OF CURVE, CONCAVE TO THE NE, RAD 334.72 FT ARC DIST 295.12 FT CHD S 25-12-
33 E 285.66 FT; TH N 64-36-55 W 204.04FT; TH ALG THE ARC OF A CURVE, CONCAVE TO THE 
NE, RAD 3233.20 FT ARC DIST 454.26 FT CHD N 60-35-25 W 453.89 FT; TH N 56-33-55 W 1484.43 
FT; TH ALG ARC OF CURVE, CONCAVE TO THE NE, RAD 3739.90 FT ARC DIST 130.30 FT 
CHD N 55-34-02 W 130.29 FT; TH N 54-34-09 W 359.48 FT; TH N 89-55-54 W 905.78 FT; TH N 00-
03-30 W 28.13 FT; TH N 75-21-04 W 751.41 FT; TH N 34-14-31 W 264.14 FT; TH N 17-41-20 W 
42.89 FT; TH S 43-54-37 E 4.23 FT; TH N 07-38-28 E 76.94 FT; TH N 00-17-13 W 116.77 FT; TH N 
16-30-35 E 91.37 FT; TH N 70-10-04 E 76.60 FT; TH S 89-59-08 E 132.93 FT; TH N 74-57-39 E 103.97 
FT; TH N 62-44-44 E 117.99 FT; TH N 56-19-26 E 63.37 FT; TH S 81-47-24 E 95.70 FT; TH S 41-29-
39 E 127.51 FT; TH S 20-59-39 E 62.61 FT; TH S 32-49-49 W 51.48 FT; TH S 11-53-00 E 98.90 FT; 
TH S 24-51-44 E 167.55 FT; TH S 26-55-41 E 107.14 FT; TH S 52-06-00 E 67.16 FT; TH S 73-01-57 E 
106.85 FT; TH N 89-36-14 E 79.13 FT; TH N 71-50-27 E 44.80 FT; TH N 31-22-45 E 28.47 FT; TH N 
01-45-03 E 109.79 FT; TH N 09-38-11 W 83.57 FT; TH N 51-10-30 W 83.14 FT; TH N 35-44-20 W 
153.06 FT; TH N 44-45-42 W 23.25 FT; TH N 17-35-43 W 218.61 FT; TH N 16-24-34 W 80.48 FT; TH 
N 33-34-36 W 80.53 FT; TH N 20-43-09 W 80.28 FT; TH N 02-37-46 E 88.24 FT; TH N 16-05-51 W 
94.03 FT; TH N 10-35-29 W 115.58 FT; TH N 25-11-25 W 44.91 FT; TH N 11-32-30 W 65.19 FT; TH 
N 13-43-37 E 67.50 FT; TH N 60-18-26 E 70.74 FT; TH N 89-01-39 E 43.05 FT; TH N 60-36-22 E 
39.60 FT; TH N 75-28-45 E 118.86 FT; TH N 40-42-55 E 43.95 FT; TH N 69-36-11 E 46.74 FT; TH N 
20-37-49 E 90.38 FT, TO PT ON WLY LI OF RR R/W 100 FT WD; TH  S 04-36-50 E 125.71 FT, ALG 
SD RR R/W LI; TH N 69-34-21 E 69.21 FT; TH N 69-33-20 E 34.73 FT TO A PT ON ELY LI OF SD 
RR R/W; TH N 04-36-50 W 328.62 FT, ALG ELY LI OF SD RR R/W; TH ALG THE ARC OF A 
CURVE, CONCAVE TO THE WEST, RAD 1462.69 FT ARC DIST 419.53 FT CHD N 12-49-50 W 
418.09 FT, ALG ELY LI OF SD RR R/W; TH N 20-55-15 W 284.08 FT, ALG ELY LI OF SD RR R/W; 
TH FOLLOWING COURSES AND DIST ALG SLY LI ECORSE ROAD (M-17/US-12 BY-PASS), 
ALG THE ARC OF A CURVE CONCAVE TO THE SOUTH, RAD 3967.56 FT ARC DIST 669.08 FT, 
CHD N 73-52-13 E 668.29 FT; TH N 78-42-05 E 325.43 FT; TH ALG THE ARC OF A CURVE 
CONCAVE TO THE SW RAD 618.70 FT ARC DIST 845.04 FT CHD S 62-04-00 E 780.87 FT; TH S 
22-10-00 W 200.92 FT; TH N 61-05-34 E 290.02 FT; TH N 61-03-56 E 55.20 FT; TH N 00-01-50 W 
170.15 FT; TH N 89-57-30E 180.74 FT; TH S 00-02-30 E 70.42 FT; TH N 61-07-04 E 275.27 FT; TH 
ALG THE ARC OF A CURVE CONCAVE TO THE SE RAD 2185.04 FT ARC DIST 177.67 FT CHD 
N 14-11-51 E 177.62 FT; TH ALG THE ARC OF A CURVE CONCAVE TO THE SE RAD 469.38 FT 



ARC DIST 509.49 FT CHD N 47-37-21 E 484.84 FT; TH N 78-43-06 E 1050.35 FT; TH ALG THE 
ARC OF A CURVE CONCAVE TO THE S RAD 2161.92 FT ARC DIST 178.46 FT CHD N 81-04-59 E 
178.41 FT; TH S 45-13-15 E 196.15 FT, TO THE E LI OF SD SEC 1; TH S 03-46-45 W 319.00 FT, 
ALG E LI OF SD SEC 1 TO POB. 

PARCEL 4: (K-11-12-200-003)
PART OF NORTHWEST 1/4 OF SECTION 12, TOWN 3 SOUTH, RANGE 7 EAST, 
YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP, WASHTENAW COUNTY, MICHIGAN, DESCRIBED AS 
COMMENCING AT A POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF SECTION 12, DISTANT SOUTH 00 
DEGREES 27 MINUTES 23 SECONDS WEST 966.09 FEET, AS MEASURED ALONG SAID 
SECTION LINE, FROM THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID SECTION; PROCEEDING 
THENCE FROM SAID POINT OF BEGINNING ALONG SOUTHERLY LINE ECORSE 
ROAD (M-17/US-12 BY-PASS) ALONG THE ARC OF A CURVE CONCAVE TO THE 
SOUTHEAST RADIUS 3967.56 FEET ARC DISTANT 1235.00 FEET CHORD NORTH 58 
DEGREES 39 MINUTES 51 SECONDS EAST 1230.02 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 20 
DEGREES 55 MINUTES 15 SECONDS EAST 50.00 FEET ALONG WESTERLY LINE OF 
RAILROAD R/W 100 FEET WIDE; THENCE SOUTH 53 DEGREES 48 MINUTES 59 
SECONDS WEST 71.30 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 08 DEGREES 34 MINUTES 55 SECONDS 
EAST 83.90 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 07 DEGREES 04 MINUTES 52 SECONDS WEST 
137.67 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 11 DEGREES 57 MINUTES 20 SECONDS E 101.65 FEET; 
THENCE SOUTH 01 DEGREE 33 MINUTES 01 SECONDS EAST 127.84 FEET; THENCE 
SOUTH 02 DEGREES 01 MINUTES 48 SECONDS WEST 73.23 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 05 
DEGREES 10 MINUTES 51 SECONDS WEST 98.66 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 02 DEGREES 
06 MINUTES 41 SECONDS WEST 153.11 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 50 DEGREES 19 
MINUTES 07 SECONDS WEST 74.99 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 64 DEGREES 54 MINUTES 
53 SECONDS WEST 87.17 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 78 DEGREES 29 MINUTES 01 
SECONDS WEST 90.60 FEET; THENCE NORTH 62 DEGREES 36 MINUTES 10 SECONDS 
WEST 144.02 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 79 DEGREES 41 MINUTES 35 SECONDS WEST 
135.41 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 76 DEGREES 01 MINUTE 50 SECONDS WEST 96.30 
FEET; THENCE SOUTH 21 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 09 SECONDS WEST 47.96 FEET; 
THENCE SOUTH 56 DEGREES 54 MINUTES 29 SECONDS EAST 63.20 FEET; THENCE 
NORTH 85 DEGREES 30 MINUTES 36 SECONDS EAST 89.47 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 74 
DEGREES 40 MINUTES 08 SECONDS EAST 93.32 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 46 DEGREES 
01 MINUTE 17 SECONDS EAST 92.21 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 04 DEGREES 37 
MINUTES 27 SECONDS WEST 113.77 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 04 DEGREES 57 
MINUTES 08 SECONDS EAST 92.83 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 44 DEGREES 23 MINUTES 
10 SECONDS EAST 61.99 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 42 MINUTES 15 
SECONDS WEST 85.68 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 17 DEGREES 03 MINUTES 22 SECONDS 
WEST 54.40 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 17 DEGREES 21 MINUTES 29 SECONDS WEST 
68.54 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 58 DEGREES 55 MINUTES 04 SECONDS WEST 55.22 
FEET; THENCE SOUTH 35 DEGREES 03 MINUTES 54 SECONDS WEST 92.30 FEET; 
THENCE SOUTH 70 DEGREES 49 MINUTES 58 SECONDS WEST 75.01 FEET; THENCE 
SOUTH 74 DEGREES 32 MINUTES 42 SECONDS WEST 91.61 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 69 
DEGREES 02 MINUTES 34 SECONDS WEST 86.16 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88 DEGREES 
37 MINUTES 01 SECONDS WEST 78.27 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 83 DEGREES 46 
MINUTES 45 SECONDS WEST 104.57 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 58 DEGREES 22 



MINUTES 14 SECONDS WEST 58.17 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 52 DEGREES 53 MINUTES 
19 SECONDS WEST 87.86 FEET TO POINT ON EASTERLY LINE WILLOW RUN 
EXPRESSWAY; THENCE NORTH 17 DEGREES 41 MINUTES 20 SECONDS WEST 281.68 
FEET ALONG EASTERLY LINE OF SAID WILLOW RUN EXPRESSWAY TO POINT ON 
WEST LINE SECTION 12; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 27 MINUTES 23 SECONDS 
EAST 927.30 FEET ALONG WEST LINE SECTION 12 AND SAID EASTERLY LINE OF 
SAID WILLOW RUN EXPRESSWAY TO POINT OF BEGINNING.

31229820.4\155460-00001



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
 

OFFICE OF COMMUNITY STANDARDS 
 

Building Safety | Planning & Zoning | Code Enforcement | Police Services 
 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive    Ypsilanti, MI  48197    (734) 485-4393 

 

To:  Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk 
 

From:  Michael Radzik, OCS Director 
 

Re: Request to authorize legal action to abate public nuisances at 1138 Levona St, 
1252 Woodglen Ave, 7058 Hogan Dr, and 835 George Pl/665 N Miami Ave in 
the amount of $40,000 budgeted in 101-950.000-801.023 

 

Date:  May 15, 2018 
 
The Office of Community Standards is seeking authorization to proceed with legal action in 
Washtenaw County Circuit Court to abate public nuisances that exists at: 
 
1138 Levona 
This single family home in the Gault Village neighborhood is owned by Ore Creek Development 
of Milford, MI following mortgage foreclosure on September 28, 2017.  The house was 
inspected using an administrative warrant on April 5, 2018 after its owner failed to register 
pursuant to the vacant building ordinance.  The building was condemned and secured following 
the inspection, which revealed a host of code violations rendering it unsafe and unsanitary. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive    Ypsilanti, MI  48197    (734) 485-4393   ytown.org 

1252 Woodglen Ave 
This single family home in the West Willow neighborhood is owned by Woodrow and Anne Ford 
of Ypsilanti.  On March 16, 2018, OCS staff received a referral from the Washtenaw County 
Sheriff’s Office indicated the front door had been kicked in and the house was vacant and 
standing open.  OCS staff were unable to contact the owners, determined that utilities had 
been disconnected, and secured the house.  On April 19, 2018, the house was inspected using 
an administrative warrant since the owners left it vacant and did not respond to enforcement 
letters.  The house was found to contain household items as if the owners had just walked 
away.  Numerous code violations were cited and the certificate of occupancy was revoked. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7058 Hogan Dr 
This single family home in the Streamwood subdivision is owned by Angela Tarach who is 
believed to be deceased since 2015.  The house was reported to be vacant in November, 2017, 
and OCS staff determined that utilities had been disconnected.  OCS staff spoke with several 
current and former family members, none of whom claimed responsibility to maintain the 
property.  On January 8, 2018, the house was inspected using an administrative warrant and 
the water pipes and fixtures inside the house were found to be frozen and damaged.  On 
February 27, 2018, a property maintenance company registered the house as a vacant building, 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive    Ypsilanti, MI  48197    (734) 485-4393   ytown.org 

yet has not followed up to abate code violations and unsanitary conditions.  In addition, several 
neighbors have repeatedly called police and OCS reporting audible sirens from smoke detectors 
inside the house constantly disturb them.  The maintenance company, Safeguard Properties, 
has failed to abate the ongoing nuisance or code violations. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
835 George Place & 665 N Miami Ave 
These two multifamily rental complexes are owned by Kathleen Cerda of Novi, MI, and are 
currently under enforcement pursuant to provisions of the rental certification program.  The 
complex at 833-839 George Place consists of four buildings and 20 units; the complex at 665 N 
Miami Ave consists of one building and 12 units.  The owner has been fairly cooperative with 
the N Miami Ave complex, and very uncooperative with the George Place complex.  After 
repeated attempts to guide the owner through the certification process, after repeated 
cancellations, after repeated meetings with staff both in the field and in the office, and after 
several meetings with me, we have been unable to certify these apartment units and buildings.  
Also, the owner is verbally abusive toward staff; specifically engaging in lengthy argumentative 
debate each time an inspection is scheduled, each time an inspection is attempted to be 
completed in the field, and each time she meets with staff to complain about having to comply 
with ordinance requirements.  We have reached a point where legal action is necessary to 
certify these dwelling units for the benefit of their occupants and to protect our employees 
from abusive treatment.  This case has been administratively authorized and filed.  It is pending 
a show cause hearing scheduled for June 13, 2018. 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive    Ypsilanti, MI  48197    (734) 485-4393   ytown.org 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
I respectfully request authorization from the Board of Trustees to initiate civil litigation to abate 
the public nuisances described here to restore and safeguard the health and safety of the 
community.  Please contact me with questions or concerns. 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
 

OFFICE OF COMMUNITY STANDARDS 
 

Building Safety  Planning & Zoning  Ordinance Enforcement  Police Services 
 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive    Ypsilanti, MI  48197    (734) 485-4393 

 

 
To:  Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk 
 

From:  Michael Radzik, OCS Director 
 

Re: Request to authorize and sign two contracts with the Washtenaw County 
Sheriff’s Office to facilitate collaborative sharing of School Resource Officers 
for the summer months with the Lincoln Consolidated Schools and the Ypsilanti 
Community Schools; funding is budgeted in Law Enforcement account 266-
301.000-831.008 for $45,701. 

 

Copy: McLain & Winters; Lt. Michael Marocco 
 

Date:  May 15, 2018 
 
For the past nine years, Ypsilanti Township has collaborated with local school districts that 
employ a School Resource Officer (SRO) through the Washtenaw County Sheriff’s Office.  The 
SRO’s are assigned to the school districts during the academic school year, while the Township 
picks them up during the summer months.  The additional deputies are assigned within the 
existing patrol force structure in order to facilitate youth engagement programs, as well as 
proactive neighborhood enforcement in anticipation of higher service demands during the 
summer. 
 
This year, we have budgeted to pick up the school resource officer from the Lincoln 
Consolidated School district for the period of June 17, 2018 through July 14, 2018 at a cost of 
$12,324; and from the Ypsilanti Community School district for the period of June 17, 2018 
through September 1, 2018 at a cost of $33,377. 
 
The costs are based on the 2018 Police Service Unit annual cost of $160,650 prorated for the 
length of each contract. 
 
Thank you for your consideration and continued support of police services. 



AGREEMENT TO ASSIGN THE LINCOLN CONSILIDATED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

CONTRACTUAL DEPUTY TO YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP FOR THE TIME PERIOD 

OF JUNE 17, 2018 THROUGH JULY 14, 2018 
 
 
 AGREEMENT is made this 7th day of May 2018 by YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP, a Michigan 
municipal corporation located at 7200 S. Huron River Drive, Ypsilanti, Michigan, (“Township”), the 
LINCOLN CONSOLIDATED SCHOOL DISTRICT, located at 8970 Whittaker Road, Ypsilanti, 
Michigan (“School”), the COUNTY OF WASHTENAW, a municipal corporation, with offices 
located in the County Administration Building, 220 North Main Street, Ann Arbor, Michigan 
(“County”) and the WASHTENAW COUNTY SHERIFF’s OFFICE located at 2201 Hogback Road, 
Ann Arbor, Michigan (“Sheriff”) 
 
 WHEREAS, the Township and the School currently contract with the County and the 
Sheriff to provide contractual police services in their respective jurisdictions and;  
 
 WHEREAS, the deputy assigned to the School is primarily used during the standard 
school year of August through early June; and  
 
 WHEREAS,Ypsilanti Township and the School have discussed and agreed upon a 
sharing arrangement, whereby the deputy assigned to the School will work for the Township from 
June 17, 2018 through July 14, 2018 with the Township being financially responsible for that 
deputy for the time that he/she works for the Township; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the School deputy will be reassigned to the Township and given 
assignments as agreed upon by the Township and Sheriff, thereby enhancing police services in 
the Township during the summer months. 
 

WHEREAS, the parties now desire to memorialize this Agreement to writing.  
 
 NOW THEREFORE, the parties agree as follows: 
 

ARTICLE I – Assignment of Contractual Deputy 
 
 The parties agree that beginning on June 17, 2018 and concluding on July 14, 2018, the 
contractual deputy assigned to Lincoln Consolidated School District will be reassigned to the 
Ypsilanti Township.  Upon expiration, the deputy will be reassigned back to the Lincoln 
Consolidated School District. 
  

ARTICLE II - TERM 
 
 This contract shall begin on June 17, 2018 and continue through July 14, 2018.       
 

ARTICLE III –PAYMENT FOR REASSIGNED DEPUTY 
 
 During the term of this Agreement, the parties agree that the Township shall be 
responsible to pay the County for the price of the reassigned deputy at the rates established and 
agreed upon in the police service contract currently in effect between the County, Township and 
Sheriff, which Agreement is incorporated by reference into this Agreement.  Using these rates, 
the price of the reassigned deputy for the term of this contract shall be $12323.92 payable by the 
Township as follows:  June invoice--$6161.96; July invoice--$6161.96. 

 
  



ARTICLE IV- CHANGES IN SCOPE OR SCHEDULE OR SERVICES  
 
 Changes mutually agreed upon by the parties will be incorporated into this Agreement by 
written amendments signed by all parties. 

 
ARTICLE V - EXTENT OF CONTRACT 

 
 The terms of this document represents the entire agreement between the parties on the 
reassignment of the School contractual deputy to the Township for the term described in this 
Agreement and supersedes all prior representations, negotiations or agreementswhether written 
or oral on this matter. 
 
 
YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP    WASHTENAW COUNTY 
 
 
By:_____________________________  By:______________________________ 
     Brenda Stumbo  (DATE)            Gregory Dill  (DATE) 
     Supervisor          County Administrator 
 
 
 
By: _____________________________   
     Karen Lovejoy Roe  (DATE)   
     Clerk     
 
 
WASHTENAW COUNTY SHERIFF”S OFFICE LINCOLN CONSOLIDATED SCHOOLS 
 
 
 
By: ______________________________ By: ________________________________ 
     Jerry Clayton         Sean McNatt     
     Sheriff          Superintendent 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM:    ATTESTED TO: 
 
 
By: ____________________________  By:______________________________ 
      Curtis N. Hedger          Lawrence Kestenbaum (DATE) 
      Office of Corporation Counsel        County Clerk/Register 



AGREEMENT TO ASSIGN THE YPSILANTI COMMUNITY SCHOOL DISTRICT 

CONTRACTUAL DEPUTY TO YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP FOR THE TIME PERIOD 

OF JUNE 17, 2018 THROUGH SEPTEMBER 1, 2018 
 
 
 AGREEMENT is made this 7 May 2018 by YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP, a Michigan 
municipal corporation located at 7200 S. Huron River Dr, Ypsilanti, Michigan, (“Township”), the 
YPSILANTI COMMUNITY SCHOOL DISTRICT, located at 1885 Packard Road, Ypsilanti, 
Michigan (“School”), the COUNTY OF WASHTENAW, a municipal corporation, with offices 
located in the County Administration Building, 220 North Main Street, Ann Arbor, Michigan 
(“County”) and the WASHTENAW COUNTY SHERIFF’s OFFICE located at 2201 Hogback Road, 
Ann Arbor, Michigan (“Sheriff”) 
 
 WHEREAS, the Township and the School currently contract with the County and the 
Sheriff to provide contractual police services in their respective jurisdictions and;  
 
 WHEREAS, the deputy assigned to the School is primarily used during the standard 
school year of August through early June; and  
 
 WHEREAS, Ypsilanti Township and the School have discussed and agreed upon a 
sharing arrangement, whereby the deputy assigned to the School will work for the Township from 
June 17, 2018 through September 1, 2018 with the Township being financially responsible for 
that deputy for the time that he/she works for the Township; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the School deputy will be reassigned to the Township and given 
assignments as agreed upon by the Township and Sheriff, thereby enhancing police services in 
the Township during the summer months. 
 

WHEREAS, the parties now desire to memorialize this Agreement to writing.  
 
 NOW THEREFORE, the parties agree as follows: 
 

ARTICLE I – Assignment of Contractual Deputy 
 
 The parties agree that beginning on June 17, 2018 and concluding on September 1, 
2018, the contractual deputy assigned to Ypsilanti Public School District will be reassigned to the 
Ypsilanti Township.  Upon expiration, the deputy will be reassigned back to the Ypsilanti Public 
School District. 
      

ARTICLE II - TERM 
 
 This contract shall begin on June 17, 2018 and continue through September 1, 2018.       
 

ARTICLE III – PAYMENT FOR REASSIGNED DEPUTY 
 
 During the term of this Agreement, the parties agree that the Township shall be 
responsible to pay the County for the price of the reassigned deputy at the rates established and 
agreed upon in the police service contract currently in effect between the County, Township and 
Sheriff, which Agreement is incorporated by reference into this Agreement.  Using these rates, 
the price of the reassigned deputy for the term of this contract shall be $33377.10, payable by the 
Township as follows:  June invoice--$6161.96; July invoice--$13,387.50; and August invoice 
(including September 1st)--$13827.64. 

 
 

  



ARTICLE IV- CHANGES IN SCOPE OR SCHEDULE OR SERVICES  
 
 Changes mutually agreed upon by the parties will be incorporated into this Agreement by 
written amendments signed by all parties. 

 
ARTICLE V - EXTENT OF CONTRACT 

 
 The terms of this document represents the entire agreement between the parties on the 
reassignment of the School contractual deputy to the Township for the term described in this 
Agreement and supersedes all prior representations, negotiations or agreements whether written 
or oral on this matter. 
 
 
YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP    WASHTENAW COUNTY 
 
 
By:_____________________________  By:______________________________ 
     Brenda Stumbo   (DATE)       Gregory Dill  (DATE) 
     Supervisor          County Administrator 
 
 
By: _____________________________   
     Karen Lovejoy Roe   (DATE)     
     Clerk      
 
 
WASHTENAW COUNTY SHERIFF”S OFFICE YPSILANTI COMMUNITY SCHOOLS 
 
 
 
By: ______________________________ By: _______________________________ 
     Jerry Clayton         Benjamin Edmondson (Date)  
     Sheriff          Superintendent 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM:    ATTESTED TO: 
 
 
By: ____________________________  By:______________________________ 
      Curtis N. Hedger         Lawrence Kestenbaum (DATE) 
      Office of Corporation Counsel       County Clerk/Register 



 
 2018 YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP AGREEMENT 
 FOLEY AVENUE CDBG LOCAL ROAD PROJECT 
 
THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into this _____ day of _______, 2018, 
by and between the Township Board of Ypsilanti Township, Washtenaw 
County, parties of the first part and the Board of Washtenaw County 
Road Commissioners, parties of the second part. 
 
WHEREAS, the parties of the first part desire that certain improvements 
be made upon the local roads in the Township of Ypsilanti, and   
 
WHEREAS, proper authority is provided to the parties of the agreement 
under the provisions in Act 51 of Public Acts of 1951 as amended, 
 
IT IS NOW THEREFORE AGREED, the parties of the second part will 
accomplish the improvements as specified herein, all in accordance with 
the standards of the parties of the second part. 
 
It is further understood that the Charter Township of Ypsilanti will be 
a named insured on the Washtenaw County Road Commission’s coverages for 
liability for the activities described above.  The Road Commission will 
submit a certificate of insurance evidencing such coverages to the 
Township Clerk prior to implementation of services under the contract. 
Each party to this contract shall be responsible for the acts and 
omissions of its employees and agents. 
 
1. Foley Avenue, between Harris Road and Andrea Avenue: 

Work to include milling the existing pavement, structure 
adjustments, ADA sidewalk ramps, and the placement of a 3” 
HMA resurfacing with associated project restoration.  This is 
a proposed Community Development Block Grant project 
administered through the Washtenaw County Office of Community 
& Economic Development and subject to the terms and 
conditions of that program.  The estimated cost is subject to 
competitive bidding. 
Estimated cost: $ 211,700.00 

 
 
 

AGREEMENT SUMMARY 
 
 
2018 LOCAL ROAD CDBG PROGRAM 

Foley Avenue $ 211,700.00 
 
ESTIMATED AMOUNT TO BE PAID BY YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP 
UNDER THIS AGREEMENT DURING 2018: $ 211,700.00 
  



2018 Ypsilanti Township Agreement 
Foley Avenue CDBG Local Road Project 
Page Two 
 
 
 
FOR YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP: 
 
 
 
___________________________________     _______________________________  
Brenda L. Stumbo, Supervisor      Witness 
 
 
 
___________________________________     _______________________________  
Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk       Witness 
 
 
FOR WASHTENAW COUNTY ROAD COMMISSION: 
 
 
 
___________________________________     _______________________________ 
Douglas E. Fuller, Chair       Witness 
 
 
 
___________________________________     _______________________________ 
Roy D. Townsend, Managing Director     Witness 



 

Rev. 09/12 

MASTER AGREEMENT FOR MUNICIPAL STREET LIGHTING  

This Master Agreement For Municipal Street Lighting (“Master Agreement”) is made 

between The Detroit Edison Company (“Company”) and  the Charter Township of Ypsilanti 

(“Customer”) as of May 7, 2018.   

RECITALS 

A. Customer may, from time to time, request the Company to furnish, install, 

operate and/or maintain street lighting equipment for Customer.  

B. Company may provide such services, subject to the terms of this Master 

Agreement. 

Therefore, in consideration of the foregoing, Company and Customer hereby agree as 

follows: 

AGREEMENT 

1. Master Agreement. This Master Agreement sets forth the basic terms and 

conditions under which Company may furnish, install, operate and/or maintain street lighting 

equipment for Customer.  Upon the Parties agreement as to the terms of a specific street 

lighting transaction, the parties shall execute and deliver a Purchase Agreement in the form of 

the attached Exhibit A (a “Purchase Agreement”).  In the event of an inconsistency between this 

Agreement and any Purchase Agreement, the terms of the Purchase Agreement shall control.  

2. Rules Governing Installation of Equipment and Electric Service.  Installation of 

street light facilities and the extension of electric service to serve those facilities are subject to 

the provisions of the Company’s Rate Book for Electric Service (the “Tariff”), Rule C 6.1, 

Extension of Service (or any other successor provision), as approved by the The Michigan 

Public Service Commission (“MPSC”) from time to time.  

3. Contribution in Aid of Construction. In connection with each Purchase Agreement 

and in accordance with the applicable Orders of the MPSC, Customer shall pay to Company a 

contribution in aid of construction (“CIAC”) for the cost of installing Equipment (“as defined in the 

applicable Purchase Agreement”) and recovery of costs associated with the removal of existing 

equipment, if any.  The amount of the CIAC (the “CIAC Amount”) shall be an amount equal to 

the total construction cost (including all labor, materials and overhead charges), less an amount 

equal to three years revenue expected from such new equipment. The CIAC Amount will be as 

set forth on the applicable Purchase Agreement. The CIAC Amount does not include charges 

for any additional cost or expense for unforeseen underground objects, or unusual conditions 

encountered in the construction and installation of Equipment.  If Company encounters any such 

unforeseen or unusual conditions, which would increase the CIAC Amount, it will suspend the 

construction and installation of Equipment and give notice of such conditions to the Customer.  

The Customer will either pay additional costs or modify the work to be performed. If the work is 

modified, the CIAC Amount will be adjusted to account for such modification.  Upon any such 



Master Agreement – Page 2 

 

suspension and/or subsequent modification of the work, the schedule for completion of the work 

shall also be appropriately modified. 

4. Payment of CIAC Amount. Customer shall pay the CIAC Amount to Company as 

set forth in the applicable Purchase Agreement. Failure to pay the CIAC Amount when due shall 

relieve Company of its obligations to perform the work required herein until the CIAC Amount is 

paid.  

5.  Modifications. Subject to written permission of the respective municipality, after 

installation of the Equipment, any cost for additional modifications, relocations or removals will 

be the responsibility of the requesting party. 

6. Maintenance, Replacement and Removal of Equipment. In accordance with the 

applicable Orders of the MPSC, under the Municipal Street Lighting Rate (as defined below), 

Company shall provide the necessary maintenance of the Equipment, including such 

replacement material and equipment as may be necessary. Customer may not remove any 

Equipment without the prior written consent of Company.  

7. Street Lighting Service Rate.  

a. Upon the installation of the Equipment, the Company will provide street 

lighting service to Customer under Option 1 of the Municipal Street Lighting Rate set forth in the 

Tariff, as approved by the MPSC from time to time, the terms of which are incorporated herein 

by reference. 

b. The provision of street lighting service is also governed by rules for 

electric service established in MPSC Case Number U-6400. The Street Lighting Rate is subject 

to change from time to time by orders issued by the MPSC.  

8. Contract Term. This Agreement shall commence upon execution and terminate 

on the later of (a) five (5) years from the date hereof or(b) the date on which the final Purchase 

Agreement entered into under this Master Agreement is terminated.  Upon expiration of the 

initial term, this Agreement shall continue on a month-to-month basis until terminated by mutual 

written consent of the parties or by either party with thirty (30) days prior written notice to the 

other party. 

9. Design Responsibility for Street Light Installation. The Company installs 

municipal street lighting installations following Illuminating Engineering Society of North America 

(“IESNA”) recommended practices.  If the Customer submits its own street lighting design for 

the street light installation or if the street lighting installation requested by Customer does not 

meet the IESNA recommended practices, Customer acknowledges the Company is not 

responsible for lighting design standards. 

10. New Subdivisions. Company agrees to install street lights in new subdivisions 

when subdivision occupancy reaches a minimum of 80%. If Customer wishes to have 

installation occur prior to 80% occupancy, then Customer acknowledges it will be financially 



Master Agreement – Page 3 

 

responsible for all damages (knockdowns, etc.) and requests for modifications (movements due 

to modified curb cuts from original design, etc.). 

11. Force Majeure. The obligation of Company to perform this Agreement shall be 

suspended or excused to the extent such performance is prevented or delayed because of acts 

beyond Company’s reasonable control, including without limitation acts of God, fires, adverse 

weather conditions (including severe storms and blizzards), malicious mischief, strikes and 

other labor disturbances, compliance with any directives of any government authority, including 

but not limited to obtaining permits, and force majeure events affecting suppliers or 

subcontractors. 

12. Subcontractors. Company may sub-contract in whole or in part its obligations 

under this Agreement to install the Equipment and any replacement Equipment. 

13. Waiver; Limitation of Liability. To the maximum extent allowed by law, Customer 

hereby waives, releases and fully discharges Company from and against any and all claims, 

causes of action, rights, liabilities or damages whatsoever, including attorney’s fees, arising out 

of the installation of the Equipment and/or any replacement Equipment, including claims for 

bodily injury or death and property damage, unless such matter is caused by or arises as a 

result of the sole negligence of Company and/or its subcontractors.  Company shall not be liable 

under this Agreement for any special, incidental or consequential damages, including loss of 

business or profits, whether based upon breach of warranty, breach of contract, negligence, 

strict liability, tort or any other legal theory, and whether or not Company has been advised of 

the possibility of such damages.  In no event will Company’s liability to Customer for any and all 

claims related to or arising out of this Agreement exceed the CIAC Amount set forth in the 

Purchase Order to which the claim relates. 

14. Notices. All notices required by the Agreement shall be in writing.  Such notices 

shall be sent to Company at The Detroit Edison Company, Community Lighting Group, 8001 

Haggerty Rd, Belleville, MI 48111 and to Customer at the address set forth on the applicable 

Purchase Agreement.  Notice shall be deemed given hereunder upon personal delivery to the 

addresses set forth above or, if properly addressed, on the date sent by certified mail, return 

receipt requested, or the date such notice is placed in the custody of a nationally recognized 

overnight delivery service.  A party may change its address for notices by giving notice of such 

change of address in the manner set forth herein. 

15. Representations and Warranties. Company and Customer each represent and 

warrant that: (a) it has full corporate or public, as applicable, power and authority to execute and 

deliver this Agreement and to carry out the actions required of it by this Agreement; (b) the 

execution and delivery of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby have been 

duly and validly authorized by all necessary corporate or public, as applicable, action required 

on the part of such party; and (c) this Agreement constitutes a legal, valid, and binding 

agreement of such party.  

16. Miscellaneous.  



Master Agreement – Page 4 

 

a. This Agreement is the entire agreement of the parties concerning the 

subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings. Any 

amendment or modification to this Agreement must be in writing and signed by both parties.  

b. Customer may not assign its rights or obligations under this Agreement 

without the prior written consent of Company. This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall 

inure to the benefit of the parties’ respective successors and permitted assigns. This Agreement 

is made solely for the benefit of Company, Customer and their respective successors and 

permitted assigns and no other party shall have any rights to enforce or rely upon this 

Agreement. 

c. A waiver of any provision of this Agreement must be made in writing and 

signed by the party against whom the waiver is enforced. Failure of any party to strictly enforce 

the terms of this Agreement shall not be deemed a waiver of such party’s rights hereunder.  

d. The section headings contained in this Agreement are for convenience 

only and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation thereof.  

e. This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the 

State of Michigan, without regard to any conflicts of law principles. The parties agree that any 

action with respect to this Agreement shall be brought in the courts of the State of Michigan and 

each party hereby submits itself to the exclusive jurisdiction of such courts. 

f. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of 

which shall be deemed an original but all of which together will constitute one and the same 

instrument. 

g. The invalidity of any provision of this Agreement shall not invalidate the 

remaining provisions of the Agreement.  

******************* 

Company and Customer have executed this Purchase Agreement as of the date first 
written above.  

Company:  

The Detroit Edison Company 

By: ________________________________ 

Name: _____________________________ 

Title:_______________________________ 

Customer:  

Charter Township of Ypsilanti 

By: ________________________________ 

Name: _____________________________ 

Title:_______________________________ 

 

u27495
Sign Here



Exhibit A to Master Agreement 

Rev. 09/12 

Purchase Agreement 

This Purchase Agreement (this “Agreement”) is dated as of May 7, 2018 between The 
Detroit Edison Company (“Company”) and the Charter Township of Ypsilanti (“Customer”).  

This Agreement is a “Purchase Agreement” as referenced in the Master Agreement for 
Municipal Street Lighting dated May 7, 2018 (the “Master Agreement”) between Company and 
Customer. All of the terms of the Master Agreement are incorporated herein by reference. In the 
event of an inconsistency between this Agreement and the Master Agreement, the terms of this 
Agreement shall control.  

Customer requests the Company to furnish, install, operate and maintain street lighting 
equipment as set forth below:  

1. DTE Work Order 
Number:  

49598377 

If this is a conversion or replacement, indicate the Work Order Number 
for current installed equipment: N/A 

2. Location where 
Equipment will be 
installed:  

Various Locations, as more fully described on the map attached 
hereto as Attachment 1.  

 

3. Total number of lights 
to be installed:  

105 

4. Description of 
Equipment to be installed 
(the “Equipment”):  

Convert (15) 400w MH Special Order Material Mongoose fixtures 
to 296w LED Special Order Material Mongoose fixtures. Convert 
(58) 100w HPS Granvilles with gold trim and Lunar optics to 39w 
LED retrofit kit and new glass. These (58) locations will not have 
the gold bands or lunar optics. Convert (32) 100w HPS 
Granvilles to 39w LED retrofit kit. 
 

5. Estimated  Total 
Annual Lamp Charges 

$30,693.90 

6. Computation of 
Contribution in aid of 
Construction (“CIAC 
Amount”) 

Total estimated construction cost, including 
labor, materials, and overhead: 

$61,079.60 

Credit for 3 years of lamp charges:  N/A 

CIAC Amount (cost minus revenue) $61,079.60 

7. Payment of CIAC 
Amount:  

Due promptly upon execution of this Agreement 

8. Term of Agreement 5 years. Upon expiration of the initial term, this Agreement shall 
continue on a month-to-month basis until terminated by mutual 
written consent of the parties or by either party with thirty (30) 
days prior written notice to the other party. 

9. Does the requested 
Customer lighting design 
meet IESNA 
recommended practices? 

(Check One)                                 YES      NO   

If “No”, Customer must sign below and acknowledge that the 
lighting design does not meet IESNA recommended practices 

__________________________ 


10. Customer Address for 
Notices:  

Charter Township of Ypsilanti 

7200 S. Huron River Dr 

Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

Attn: Karen Lovejoy Roe 

u27495
Sign Here



 

Purchase Agreement – Page 2 

 

11.  Special Order Material Terms:  

All or a portion of the Equipment consists of special order material: (check one) YES    NO       

If “Yes” is checked, Customer and Company agree to the following additional terms.  

A. Customer acknowledges that all or a portion of the Equipment is special order 
materials (“SOM”) and not Company’s standard stock. Customer will purchase and stock 
replacement SOM and spare parts. When replacement equipment or spare parts are installed 
from Customer’s inventory, the Company will credit Customer in the amount of the then current 
material cost of Company standard street lighting equipment.  

B. Customer will maintain an initial inventory of at least 1 posts and 1 Mongoose 
296w LED luminaires and any other materials agreed to by Company and Customer, and will 
replenish the stock as the same are drawn from inventory.  Costs of initial inventory are included 
in this Agreement. The Customer agrees to work with the Company to adjust inventory levels 
from time to time to correspond to actual replacement material needs.  If Customer fails to 
maintain the required inventory, Company, after 30 days’ notice to Customer, may (but is not 
required to) order replacement SOM and Customer will reimburse Company for such costs.  
Customer‘s acknowledges that failure to maintain required inventory could result in extended 
outages due to SOM lead times. 

 
C. The inventory will be stored at 7200 S. Huron River Dr. Ypsilanti, MI 48197. 

Access to the Customers inventory site must be provided between the hours of 9:00 am to 4:00 
pm, Monday through Friday with the exceptions of federal Holidays.  Customer shall name an 
authorized representative to contact regarding inventory: levels, access, usage, transactions, 
and provide the following contact information to the Company:  

Name: ____Wayne Dudley__________ Title:     Public Services Superintendent 

Phone Number:__734-544-3514_____ Email: __wdudley@ytown.org__________ 

The Customer will notify the Company of any changes in the Authorized Customer 
Representative. The Customer must comply with SOM manufacturer’s recommended inventory 
storage guidelines and practices.  Damaged SOM will not be installed by the Company.    

D. In the event that SOM is damaged by a third party, the Company may (but is not 
required to) pursue a damage claim against such third party for collection of all labor and stock 
replacement value associated with the damage claim. Company will promptly notify Customer 
as to whether Company will pursue such claim.  

E. In the event that SOM becomes obsolete or no longer manufactured, the 
Customer will be allowed to select new alternate SOM that is compatible with the Company’s 
existing infrastructure. 

F.      Should the Customer experience excessive LED equipment failures, not 
supported by LED manufacturer warrantees, the Company will replace the LED 
equipment with other Company supported Solid State or High Intensity Discharge 
luminaires at the Company’s discretion. The full cost to complete these replacements 
to standard street lighting equipment will be the responsibility of the Customer. 

 



 

Purchase Agreement – Page 3 

 

12. Experimental Emerging Lighting Technology (“EELT”) Terms:  

All or a portion of the Equipment consists of EELT: (check one) YES    NO       

If “Yes” is checked, Customer and Company agree to the following additional terms.  

 

A. The annual billing lamp charges for the EELT equipment has been calculated by the 
Company are based upon the estimated energy and maintenance cost expected with the 
Customer’s specific pilot project EELT equipment. .  

B. Upon the approval of any future MPSC Option I tariff for EELT street lighting equipment, 
the approved rate schedules will automatically apply for service continuation to the Customer 
under Option 1 Municipal Street Lighting Rate, as approved by the MPSC.   The terms of this 
paragraph B replace in its entirety Section 7 of the Master Agreement with respect to any EELT 
equipment purchased under this Agreement. 

************************ 

Company and Customer have executed this Purchase Agreement as of the date first 
written above.  

Company:  

The Detroit Edison Company 

By: ________________________________ 

Name: _____________________________ 

Title:_______________________________ 

Customer:  

Charter Township of Ypsilanti 

By: ________________________________ 

Name: _____________________________ 

Title:_______________________________ 

 

u27495
Sign Here



 

Purchase Agreement – Page 4 

 

Attachment 1 to Purchase Agreement 

Map of Location 

 

[To be attached] 

 

 



!(

!(

!(

!(

!(!(

!(!(

!(!(

!(!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(!(!(

!(

!(!(!(

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

" "
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

""

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"
"

"

" "

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

" "

"

" "

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

""

""

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

""

"
"

"

" " "

"

"

"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"
"

"

" "

"

" " "

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"
"

"

"

" "

"

"

"
"

"

" "

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"
"

" "

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

" "
"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

" " "

"

"

" "
" "

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"
"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

""

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

""

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"
" "

"

""

"

"

"
"

"
" "

" "

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"
"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

""

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

" ""
"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"
"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

" "

"

"

"

"
"

"

" "

"

"

"

"
"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

" "

"
"

"
"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

" "
"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

""

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
" "

"

"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"
"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

""

"

" "

"

"

"

" "

"

" "
"

" "

" "

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"

"
"

"

" "

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"
"
"

"

"

"

"

"
"

" "
"

"

"

""

"

"
"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

" "
"

"

" "

"

""

" "

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

" "

" ""

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"
"

"

"

"

"""

"

"

" "

"

"

""

"

"

""

"

"

" "
"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

" "

" "

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

""

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

""

"

" "

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

""

"

"

"
"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"
" "

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

" "

"
"

"

""

"

"

"
"

"

" "

""

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

""

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

" "

"

""

" "

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"
"

"

"
" "

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"
"

"

"

"
"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

" "

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"

""

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

" "
"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"
" "

"

"

"
" "

" "

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
" "

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"

"
" "

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

" "

"

"
"

" " "
"

"

"

"

" "

"
"

"
"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"
" "

"

"

"
" "

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

" "

" "

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

" "
"
"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

" "

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"" "
"

""

"

"

"

" "

"

"

" "

"

"
"

" "

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

" " "

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

" "

" "
"

" " ""

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

" " "

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

" "

""

"

" "

"
"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"
"

"

"
"

"

" "

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

" "

"
" "

" "

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

" "

" " "

"

"

"
"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

""

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"
"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

" "

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

" "

"" "

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

""

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

" "

"

"
"

"

"

"

" "

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"
"

" "
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"
"

"

"
"
"

""

"

"
" "

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

" "

" "

"

"

"

"
"

"

"
"

"

"

" "

"

"

""

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"
" "

"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"

"

"

"

""

"

"

" "

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

""

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

""

"

"

"

"

""

"
"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"
"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

""

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

" "
"

"

"
"

"

"
"

"

"

"

" "

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"

"
"

"
"

"" "

"

"
"

!
!

!
!

! !

!

!
!

!

!
! !

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
! ! !

!

!

!
!

! !

!
! !

!

! !

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

! !

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
! !

!
!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

! !
!

!

! ! ! !

!

!

!
!

!

! !
!

!

!
!

!
!

!
! !

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !
! !

!
!

! !

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

! !
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
! ! !

!

!
! ! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

! !

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !
!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

! !
!

!
!

!

!
!

!
! !

!

!
!
!

!

!
!

! !
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

! !

!
!

! !

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

! !

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
! !

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!
!

!

!

!

!
! !

!

!
! !

!

!

!
!

! !

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

! !
!

!

! ! !
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

! !

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!
! !

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

! !

!

!

!
!

!
! !

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

! !

!
!

! !

! !

!
! !

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
! !

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

! !

! !
!

!
!

!

!
! ! ! !

!

!

! !
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

! ! !

211-262

184-266

181-254

208-260

193-258

202-264

190-266

193-250

196-256

199-268

199-260

190-264

211-260

205-272

199-256

202-274

196-252

190-258

202-268

196-258

208-266

202-252

208-276

187-268 205-268

205-270

190-256

202-254

193-264

187-272

190-244

202-270

193-256

181-276 199-276

187-256

193-254

193-248

190-262 202-262

184-268

196-274

199-270

208-278

205-260

190-268

199-252

199-266

202-248

205-276

181-270

205-248

193-252

214-260

211-274

184-256

199-264

202-278

208-262

205-266

208-258

181-272 202-272

199-254

184-272

184-270

199-258

196-266

205-250

193-246

202-258

196-246

202-256

181-266

208-256

205-274

196-254

199-272

202-276

202-266

196-248

202-250196-250

205-262

205-264

181-256

181-262

199-278

211-276

199-274 208-274

196-276

181-268

208-264

205-252

187-270

Sources: Esri, HERE, DeLorme, USGS, Intermap, INCREMENT P, NRCan, Esri Japan, METI, Esri China (Hong Kong), Esri Korea, Esri (Thailand), MapmyIndia, NGCC, © OpenStreetMap contributors, and the GIS User Community

º
Ypsilanti Twp - Option 1 Streetlight Locations - Map Sheet Index~

0 0.5 1 1.5 20.25
MilesMap Compiled by:

Data Integrity - Mapping Technology
02/12/2018

Legend
Street Light (OH) - Ypsilanti Twp - A230 - Option 1
LAMPTYPE, LAMPWATTAGE
! LED, 65W (426)

! LED, 130W (7)

! LED, 135W (209)

! LED, 280W (2)
Street Light (UG) - Ypsilanti Twp - A230 - Option 1
LAMPTYPE, LAMPWATTAGE
" LED, 60W (190)
" LED, 65W (441)
" LED, 80W (42)
" HPS, 100W (1,387)
" LED, 130W (19)
" LED, 135W (117)
" MH, 400W (15)

!( Two Street Lights

u27495
Oval

u27495
Callout
(15) 400w Metal Haldie. Roundabout at Whittaker and Stoney Creek.

u27495
Line

u27495
Line

u27495
Line

u27495
Line

u27495
Line

u27495
Line

u27495
Line

u27495
Line

u27495
Line

u27495
Line

u27495
Callout
(58) 100w HPS Granvilles to 39w LED Granville.No Gold Trim on new LEDs.

u27495
Line

u27495
Line

u27495
Line

u27495
Line

u27495
Line

u27495
Line

u27495
Line

u27495
Line

u27495
Callout
(17) 100w HPS Granvilles to 39w LED retrofit kit.

u27495
Line

u27495
Line

u27495
Line

u27495
Line

u27495
Callout
(15) 100w HPS Granvilles to 39w LED retrofit kit.



 
May 9, 2018 
 
 
Ypsilanti Township 
7200 S. Huron River Dr. 
Ypsilanti, MI 48197 
 
Re: Ypsilanti Township - Conversion of 105 Street Lights to LED 
 
Based on your request, I have attached a cost estimate for the proposed 2018 street light conversion project.  The total light 
count is 105 street lights and reflects the following descriptions: 
 
Underground (UG) – DTE Owned and Maintained Street Lights Fed by Underground Cable 
58 - 100 watt High Pressure Sodium to 39 watt LED Retrofit Kit (with new glass optics) 
15 - 400 watt Metal Halide to 296 watt LED (Special Order Material Mongoose Luminaires) 
32 - 100 watt High Pressure Sodium to 39 watt LED Retrofit Kit 
 
Below please find the estimate breakdown for this project. The costs are based on the Option 1 Municipal Street Light rate - DTE 
Energy owned and maintained.  The rate requires the customer pay a portion of the construction cost.  The following information 
outlines the street lighting installation. Pricing below includes one (1) spare 296w LED luminare that Ypsilanti Township to keep 
in inventory for outage incidents. 
 
Estimate Breakdown 
Project Cost    $61,079.60    
Less DTE Labor Contribution  $0.00 - (Labor contribution applies to Mercury Vapor lights only) 
Total Upfront Cost   $61,079.60 
 
EO Rebate Issued After Construction $2,375.10 
Final Cost to Convert after Rebate  $58,704.50 
Current Annual Invoice   $41,717.16 
Future Annual Invoice   $30,693.90 
Annual Savings    $11,023.26 
Payback     5.3yrs 
 
After installation, the total cost for additional modification, relocation, or removal will be the responsibility of the requesting 
party.  An authorized signature on the Municipal Street Lighting Purchase Agreement and the payment contribution will be our 
notification to begin final design and construction scheduling. 
 
Please feel free to contact me if you have any questions at 734-397-4017. 
 
Sincerely, 
 

Brandon R. Faron 

 
Brandon R. Faron 
Account Manager 
DTE Energy - Community Lighting 



SET PUBLIC HEARING DATE 

A. SET PUBLIC HEARING DATE OF TUESDAY,
JUNE 19, 2018 AT APPROXIMATELY 7:00PM – 
CREATION OF STREETLIGHT SPECIAL 
ASSESSMENT DISTRICT #211 CREEKSIDE VILLAGE 
WEST-2



 

AUTHORIZATIONS AND BIDS 

 

 



 

Page 1 of 1 
 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
 

INFORMATION SERVICES 
 

Computer Support  Web Content Management  Communications Services 
 

 
 

 
To:   Township Board 
 

From:   Travis McDugald, IS Manager 
 

Re:  Request to seek RFPs for the installation of a Cellular Repeater System for the 
Township Civic Center and 14B Court. 

 

Date:   April, 16 2018 
 

 
As you may have experienced, cellular coverage within the walls of the Township Civic Center 
can be spotty, weak, or non-extant. This lack of coverage causes an inconvenience to guests 
and staff, along with potential issues in case of an emergency. 
 
While we put effort into ensuring Township desk phones may contact emergency services, it 
may not always be the best option.  This project objective will help to ensure that all parts of 
the Township Civic Center will have sufficient cellular coverage. 
 
The primary focus will be the Township’s current preferred mobile device carrier (Verizon) 
however; the system will not be single carrier targeted. 
 
Proposals will come back to the Board for review and approval.  
 
I respectfully request the Township Board authorizes seeking RFPs for the installation of a 
Cellular Repeater System for the Township Civic Center and 14B Court. 
 
Thank you for your consideration. 
 
Travis McDugald 
IS Manager, Charter Township of Ypsilanti 



 

   

 

 

 

  

RFP-2018-04-16-DAS 
Distributed Antenna System Installation 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
rfp@ytown.org 

Abstract 
The Charter Township of Ypsilanti is soliciting proposals from qualified organizations for the 

installation of a Neutral Host Distributed Antenna System or Cellular Repeater System for the 
Township Civic Center. 

 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti 

 



 

RFP-2018-04-16-DAS  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

Project Bid Dates and Contacts 
Issue Date: TBD 

Mandatory Pre-Bid Meeting: TBD @ 2:30PM EDT 
 
Ypsilanti Township 
1st Floor Conference Room 
7200 South Huron River Drive 
Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

Pre-Bid Question Deadline: All Questions Must Be Asked At The Pre-bid 
Meeitng 

Bid Deadline: TBD 
 
Ypsilanti Township - Clerks Office 
RFP-2018-04-16-DAS 
7200 South Huron River Drive 
Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

Bid Opening: TBD @ 2PM EDT 
 
Ypsilanti Township 
1st Floor Conference Room 
7200 South Huron River Drive 
Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

Project Coordinator: Travis McDugald 
IS Manager 
rfp@ytown.org 

 

 

 

  



 

RFP-2018-04-16-DAS  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

Table of Contents 
Project Bid Dates and Contacts ..................................................................................................................... 1 

General conditions of bidding and terms of contact .................................................................................... 7 

1. Bidding .............................................................................................................................................. 7 

1.1. Bids ............................................................................................................................................ 7 

1.2. Required Forms ......................................................................................................................... 7 

1.3. Authorized Signatures ............................................................................................................... 7 

1.4. Late Bids .................................................................................................................................... 7 

1.5. Mandatory Pre-Bid Meeting ..................................................................................................... 7 

1.6. Withdrawal of Bids Prior to Bid Opening .................................................................................. 7 

1.7. Withdrawal of Bids After Bid Opening ...................................................................................... 7 

1.8. Bid Amounts .............................................................................................................................. 7 

1.9. Exceptions and/or Substitutions ............................................................................................... 7 

1.10. Alternates .............................................................................................................................. 8 

1.11. Descriptions .......................................................................................................................... 8 

1.12. Bid Alterations ....................................................................................................................... 8 

1.13. Tax Exempt Status ................................................................................................................. 8 

1.14. Delivery ................................................................................................................................. 8 

1.15. Quantities .............................................................................................................................. 8 

1.16. Bid Award .............................................................................................................................. 8 

1.17. Best Value ............................................................................................................................. 8 

1.18. Non-Collusion ........................................................................................................................ 9 

1.19. Silence of Specifications for Complete Units ........................................................................ 9 

1.20. Addenda ................................................................................................................................ 9 

1.21. General Bid Bond/Surety Requirements ............................................................................... 9 

1.22. General Insurance Requirements ......................................................................................... 9 

1.23. Responsiveness ..................................................................................................................... 9 

1.24. Responsible Standings of Bidder ........................................................................................... 9 

1.25. Proprietary Data .................................................................................................................. 10 

1.26. Non-Iran Linked Business .................................................................................................... 10 

2. Performance ................................................................................................................................... 10 

2.1. Design, Strength, and Quality ................................................................................................. 10 

2.2. Compliance with Federal, State, County and Local Laws ........................................................ 10 



 

RFP-2018-04-16-DAS  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

2.3. Infringements and Indemnifications ....................................................................................... 10 

2.4. Patents, Copyrights, Etc. ......................................................................................................... 11 

2.5. Samples, Demonstrations and Testing .................................................................................... 11 

2.6. Acceptability ............................................................................................................................ 11 

3. Purchase Orders and Payment........................................................................................................ 11 

3.1. Purchase Orders ...................................................................................................................... 11 

3.2. Invoices ................................................................................................................................... 11 

3.3. Payment Draws ....................................................................................................................... 12 

4. Contract........................................................................................................................................... 12 

4.1. Contract Definition .................................................................................................................. 12 

4.2. Contract Agreement................................................................................................................ 12 

4.3. Change Order .......................................................................................................................... 12 

4.4. Price Redetermination ............................................................................................................ 12 

4.5. Termination for Default .......................................................................................................... 12 

4.6. Invalid, Illegal, or Unenforceable Provisions ........................................................................... 13 

4.7. Injuries or Damages Resulting From Negligence .................................................................... 13 

4.8. Warranty ................................................................................................................................. 13 

4.9. Sale, Assignment, or Transfer of Contract .............................................................................. 13 

4.10. Service Contract Renewals .................................................................................................. 13 

4.11. Service Contract Auto-Renewals – ...................................................................................... 13 

5. Minimum Wage Requirements ....................................................................................................... 13 

5.1. Contractors, including Subcontractors ................................................................................... 13 

5.2. All other employees ................................................................................................................ 13 

6. Bond Requirements ........................................................................................................................ 14 

6.1. Bond Certificates ..................................................................................................................... 14 

6.2. Bid Bonds ................................................................................................................................ 14 

6.3. Performance and Payment Bonds .......................................................................................... 14 

6.4. Maintenance Bonds ................................................................................................................ 14 

6.5. Bond Surety ............................................................................................................................. 14 

6.6. Licensing Jurisdiction .............................................................................................................. 15 

7. Insurance Limits .............................................................................................................................. 15 

7.1. Insurance Certificates ............................................................................................................. 15 

7.2. Requirements .......................................................................................................................... 15 



 

RFP-2018-04-16-DAS  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

7.2.1. Worker’s Compensation ..................................................................................................... 15 

7.2.2. Broad Form Comprehensive General Liability .................................................................... 15 

7.2.3. Owner’s protective policy ................................................................................................... 15 

7.2.4. Automobile Liability ............................................................................................................ 15 

7.2.5. Builders Risk ........................................................................................................................ 15 

7.2.6. Certificate of Liability Insurance Verbiage .......................................................................... 16 

7.2.7. An umbrella policy .............................................................................................................. 16 

7.3. Licensing Jurisdiction .............................................................................................................. 16 

7.4. Require to Maintain ................................................................................................................ 16 

7.5. Legal Review ............................................................................................................................ 16 

8. Completion ...................................................................................................................................... 16 

8.1. Township Approval ................................................................................................................. 16 

8.2. Construction Start ................................................................................................................... 17 

8.3. Payment .................................................................................................................................. 17 

9. Site Access ....................................................................................................................................... 17 

9.1. Prior to bid closure .................................................................................................................. 17 

9.2. After bid award ....................................................................................................................... 17 

10. Proposal Submittals .................................................................................................................... 17 

10.1. Limits ................................................................................................................................... 17 

10.2. Required Copies .................................................................................................................. 17 

10.3. Price Break Down ................................................................................................................ 17 

10.4. Product Sheets .................................................................................................................... 17 

10.5. Execution Plan ..................................................................................................................... 17 

10.6. Coordination Efforts ............................................................................................................ 17 

10.7. Township Review ................................................................................................................ 17 

10.8. Mounting Information ........................................................................................................ 18 

10.9. Electrical Requirements ...................................................................................................... 18 

10.10. Background ......................................................................................................................... 18 

10.11. Business Changes ................................................................................................................ 18 

10.12. Licenses ............................................................................................................................... 18 

10.13. Additional Information ........................................................................................................ 18 

10.14. References .......................................................................................................................... 18 

Scope of Work ............................................................................................................................................. 19 



 

RFP-2018-04-16-DAS  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

Location 1: ............................................................................................................................................... 19 

Location 2: .................................................................................................. Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Requirements: ..................................................................................................................................... 19 

Location 1 Image .................................................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Location 2 Image .................................................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

 

 

  



 

RFP-2018-04-16-DAS  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

Advertisement for Bids 
The Charter Township of Ypsilanti is accepting sealed bids a NEUTRAL HOST DISTRIBUTED ANTENNA 

SYSTEM or Cellular Repeater system for the Township Civic Center Location from firms or individuals 

with expertise in design and implementation of neutral host distributed antenna systems (DAS). The DAS 

will provide enhanced cellular and radio coverage throughout areas of the Township Civic Center and 

connected 14B Court building located at 7200 S. Huron River Dr. Ypsilanti, MI 48197. Bid documents may 

be found at http://ytown.org/public-bid-postings. 

  



 

RFP-2018-04-16-DAS  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

General conditions of bidding and terms of contact 
By execution of this document, the Bidder accepts all general and special conditions of the contract as 

outlined below and in the specifications and plans. 

1. Bidding 

1.1. Bids - All bids shall be clearly marked on blank bid form furnished by Charter Township of 

Ypsilanti (Form A).  A minimum of one original one (1) copy, and one (1) electronic version of 

the executed Bid Form shall be submitted in a sealed envelope. Copies are to be marked as 

such. 

 

1.2. Required Forms - The Proposal Cost Analysis (From A) must be filled and included with all bid 

responses. 

 

1.3. Authorized Signatures - The bid shall be executed personally by the Bidder or duly authorized 

partner of the partnership or duly authorized officer of the corporation. If executed by an 

agent, a power of attorney or other evidence of authority to act on behalf of the Bidder shall 

accompany the bid to become a valid bid. 

 

1.4. Late Bids - Bids shall be in the Charter Township of Ypsilanti Clerk’s Office before or at the 

specified time and date bids are due. Bids received in the office of the Clerk after the 

submission deadline shall be rejected as non-responsive bids. 

 

1.5. Mandatory Pre-Bid Meeting – Pre bid meeting will be required for all prospective bidders.  

Failure to attend will result in disqualification from the bid review process. 

 

1.6. Withdrawal of Bids Prior to Bid Opening - A bid may be withdrawn before the opening date 

by submitting a written request to the Township Clerk. If time allows, and the Bidder desires, a 

new bid may be submitted. Bidder assumes full responsibility for submitting a new bid before 

or at the specified time and date bids are due. Charter Township of Ypsilanti reserves the right 

to withdraw a request for bids before the opening date. 

 

1.7. Withdrawal of Bids After Bid Opening - Bidder agrees that offers may not be withdrawn or 

cancelled by the Bidder for a period of ninety (90) days following the date and time designated 

for the receipt of bids unless otherwise stated in the bid and/or specifications. 

 

1.8. Bid Amounts - Bids should show net prices, extensions where applicable and net total. In case 

of conflict between unit price and extension, the unit price will govern. Any ambiguity in the bid 

as a result of omission, error, unintelligible or illegible wording shall be construed in the favor 

of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti. 

 

1.9. Exceptions and/or Substitutions - As a matter of practice, Charter Township of Ypsilanti 

rejects exception(s) and /or substitutions as non-responsive but reserves the right to accept any 

and/or all of the exception(s) and/or substitution(s) deemed to be in the best interest of the 



 

RFP-2018-04-16-DAS  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti. Bidders taking exception to the specifications and plans, or 

offering substitutions, shall state these exceptions in the section provided. If bid is made on an 

article other than the one specified, which Bidder considers comparable, the name and grade 

of said article must be specified in the bid and sufficient specifications and descriptive data 

must accompany same to permit thorough evaluation. The absence of stated exceptions and/or 

substitutions shall indicate that the Bidder has not taken any exceptions to the specifications 

and shall hold the Bidder responsible to perform in strict accordance with the specifications. 

 

1.10. Alternates - Bid request and/or specifications may expressly allow Bidder to submit an 

alternate bid. Presence of such an offer shall not be considered an indication of non-

responsiveness. 

 

1.11. Descriptions - Unless otherwise specified, any reference to make, manufacturer and/or 

model used in the bid specifications is a minimum standard that will be accepted. 

 

1.12. Bid Alterations - Bids cannot be altered or amended after submission deadline. Any 

interlineations, alteration, or erasure made before opening time must be initialed by the signer 

of the bid, guaranteeing authenticity. 

 

1.13. Tax Exempt Status - The Charter Township of Ypsilanti is exempt from federal excise 

tax and state sales tax. Unless the bid form or specifications specifically indicate otherwise, the 

price bid must be net exclusive of above-mentioned taxes and will be so construed. Therefore, 

the bid price shall not include taxes. 

 

1.14. Delivery - The Bids shall include all charges for delivery, packing, crating, etc., unless 

otherwise stated in the bid document.  All deliveries will be FOB: Delivered.  General delivery 

hours are 8:30 a.m. to 12 p.m and 1 p.m to 4p.m. Monday-Friday.  Township does not have a 

loading dock, lift gates may be required. 

 

1.15. Quantities - Quantities indicated are estimated quantities only and are not a 

commitment to buy. Approximate usage does not constitute an order, but only implies the 

probable quantity that will be used. Commodities will be ordered on an as-needed basis. Bidder 

is responsible for accurate final counts. 

 

1.16. Bid Award - Award of contract shall be made to the lowest responsible Bidder or to the 

Bidder who provides goods or services at the best value for the municipality. The Charter 

Township of Ypsilanti reserves the right to be the sole judge as to whether items bid will serve 

the purpose intended. The Charter Township of Ypsilanti reserves the right to accept or reject 

in part or in whole any bid submitted, and to waive any technicalities or informalities for the 

best interest of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti. The Charter Township of Ypsilanti reserves 

the right to award based upon individual line items, sections or total bid. 

 

1.17. Best Value - In determining best value, Charter Township of Ypsilanti may consider: 1) 

purchase price; 2) reputation of the Bidder and of the Bidder’s goods or services; 3) quality of 



 

RFP-2018-04-16-DAS  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

the Bidder’s goods or services; 4) extent to which the goods or services meet the Charter 

Township of Ypsilanti’s needs; 5) Bidder’s past relationship with the Charter Township of 

Ypsilanti; 6) total long-term cost to the Charter Township of Ypsilanti to acquire the Bidder’s 

goods or services; and 7) any relevant criteria specifically listed in this document. 

 

1.18. Non-Collusion - By signing the bid the bidder certifies that the bid submitted, has been 

arrived at independently and has been submitted without collusion with, and without any 

agreement, understanding or planned common course of action with, any other vendor of 

materials, supplies, equipment or services described in the Invitation to Bid, designed to limit 

independent bidding or competition. 

 

1.19. Silence of Specifications for Complete Units - All materials, equipment and/or parts 

that will become a portion of the completed work including items not specifically stated herein 

but necessary to render the service(s) complete and operational per the specifications are to be 

included in the bid price. Bidders may be required to furnish evidence that the service, as bid, 

will meet or exceed these requirements. 

 

1.20. Addenda - Any interpretations, corrections or changes to the specifications and plans 

will be made by addenda no later than forty-eight hours prior to the bid opening. Addenda will 

be posted on the MITN Website (http://www.mitn.info/). Bidders shall acknowledge receipt of 

all addenda with submission of bid. 

 

1.21. General Bid Bond/Surety Requirements - Failure to furnish bid bond/surety, if 

requested, will result in bid being declared non-responsive. Non-responsive bids will not be 

considered for award. 

 

1.22. General Insurance Requirements - Failure to furnish Affidavit of Insurance when 

requested and if insurance coverage is required in these specifications, will result in bid being 

declared non-responsive. Non-responsive bids will not be considered for award. 

 

1.23. Responsiveness - A responsive bid shall substantially conform to the requirements of 

this Request for Proposal and/or specifications contained herein. Bidders who substitute any 

other terms, conditions, specifications and/or requirements or who qualify their bids in such a 

manner as to nullify or limit their liability to the contracting entity shall be deemed non-

responsive and the bid will not be considered for award. Also, bids containing any clause that 

would limit contracting authority shall be considered non-responsive. Examples of non-

responsive bids include but shall not be limited to a) bids that fail to conform to required 

delivery schedules as set forth in the bid request; b) bids with prices qualified in such a manner 

that the bid price cannot be determined such as with vague wording that may include “price in 

effect at the time of delivery”; and c) bids made contingent upon award of other bids currently 

under consideration. 

 

1.24. Responsible Standings of Bidder - To be considered for award, Bidder must at least: 

have the ability to obtain adequate financial resources without limitation; be able to comply 



 

RFP-2018-04-16-DAS  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

with required or proposed delivery/completion schedule; have a satisfactory record of 

performance; have a satisfactory record of integrity and ethics; be otherwise qualified and 

eligible to receive award. In order to determine financial standing of Bidder, Charter Township 

of Ypsilanti may request recent financial statements or a statement of net worth. 

 

1.25. Proprietary Data - Bidder may, by written request, clearly indicate as confidential any 

portion(s) of a bid that contain proprietary information, including manufacturing and/or design 

processes exclusive to the Bidder. Charter Township of Ypsilanti will protect from public 

disclosure such portions of a bid unless directed otherwise by legal authority including the 

existing Michigan Public Information Act. 

 

1.26. Non-Iran Linked Business - By signing the bid Form B, you certify and agree on behalf 

of the company submitting this bid that the company submitting this bid is not an “Iran linked 

business,” as that term is defined in Section 2(e) of the Iran Economic Sanctions Act, being 

Michigan Public Act No. 517 of 2012. 

 

2. Performance 
2.1. Design, Strength, and Quality - Design, strength, and quality of materials and workmanship 

must conform to the highest standards of manufacturing and engineering practices. The 

apparent silence of specifications and/or plans as to any detailed description concerning any 

point shall be regarded as meaning that only the best commercial practices are to prevail. All 

interpretations of these specifications and/or plans shall be made on the basis of this 

statement. 

 

2.2. Compliance with Federal, State, County and Local Laws - Bids must comply with all federal, 

state, county and local laws, to include but not be limited to, all applicable standard safety, 

emission, and noise control requirements. Any vehicles or equipment shall contain all standard 

safety, emission, and noise control requirements required for the types and sizes of equipment 

at the time of their manufacture. The Contractor agrees, during the performance of work or 

service, to comply with all applicable codes and ordinance of Charter Township of Ypsilanti, 

Washtenaw County, or State of Michigan as they may apply, as these laws may now read or as 

they may hereafter be changed or amended. 

 

2.3. Infringements and Indemnifications - The bidder, if awarded a contract, agrees to protect, 

defend, and save the Township and the cooperative members listed herein, its officials, 

employees, departments and agents harmless against; any demand for payment for the use of 

any patented material, process, or device that may enter into the manufacture, construction, or 

from a part of the work covered by either order or contract; and from suits or a charge of every 

nature and description brought against if for, or on account of, any injuries or damages 

received or sustained by the parties by or from any of the facts of the contractor, the 

contractor’s employees, or agents; from all liability claims, demands, judgments and expenses 

to persons or property occasioned, wholly, or in part, by the acts or omissions of the bidder, 



 

RFP-2018-04-16-DAS  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

contractor, agents or employee. 

 

2.4. Patents, Copyrights, Etc. - The Contractor shall release, indemnify and hold the Buyer, its 

officers, agents and employees harmless from liability of any kind or nature, including the 

Contractor’s use of any copyrighted or un-copyrighted composition, secret process, patented or 

unpatented invention, article or appliance furnished or used in the performance of this 

contract. 

 

2.5. Samples, Demonstrations and Testing - At the Charter Township of Ypsilanti ‘s request and 

direction, Bidder shall provide product samples and/or testing of items bid to ensure 

compliance with specifications. Samples, demonstrations and/or testing may be requested at 

any point prior to or following bid award. Samples, demonstrations and/or testing may be 

requested upon delivery and/or any point during the term of resulting contract. All samples 

(including return thereof), demonstrations and/or testing shall be at the expense of the Bidder. 

 

2.6. Acceptability - All articles enumerated in the bid shall be subject to inspection by an officer 

designated for the purpose by Charter Township of Ypsilanti. If found inferior to the quality 

called for, or not equal in value to the specifications, deficient in workmanship or otherwise, 

this fact shall be certified to the Project Coordinator who shall have the right to reject the 

whole or any part of the same. Items and/or work determined to be contrary to specifications 

must be replaced at the Contractor’s expense. Inferior items not retrieved by the Contractor 

within thirty (30) calendar days, or an otherwise agreed upon time, may become the property 

of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti at the Charter Township of Ypsilanti’s option, without cost. 

If disposal of such items warrants an expense, an amount equal to the disposal expense will be 

deducted from amounts payable to the Contractor. Contractor’s failure to retrieve property 

resulting in ownership by Charter Township of Ypsilanti shall not be imputed as acceptance of 

replacement good under this contract. 

 

3. Purchase Orders and Payment 

3.1. Purchase Orders - A purchase order(s) shall be generated by the Charter Township of Ypsilanti 

to the successful Contractor. The purchase order number must appear on all itemized invoices 

and packing slips. The Charter Township of Ypsilanti will not be held responsible for any work 

orders placed and/or performed without a valid current purchase order number. Payment will 

be made for all services rendered and accepted by the project coordinator for which a valid 

invoice has been received. 

 

3.2. Invoices - All invoices shall reference the Purchase Order number. Invoices shall reference the 

bid item number or a detailed description for each item invoiced. If an item purchased and 

itemized on the invoice does not correspond to an item in any of the categories awarded to the 

Contractor, invoice shall reference the item as “N/C” to indicate that it is a non-contract item. 

This requirement is to assist the Charter Township of Ypsilanti in verifying contract pricing on all 

invoices. Payment will be made under terms of net forty-five (45) days unless otherwise agreed 



 

RFP-2018-04-16-DAS  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

upon by seller and Charter Township of Ypsilanti. 

 

3.3. Payment Draws – Request for payments prior to project completion may be negotiated during 

the contract term.  The Charter Township of Ypsilanti reserves the right to deny any payment 

draw requests for any reason. 

 

4. Contract 

4.1. Contract Definition - The General Conditions of Bidding and Terms of Contract, Specifications, 

Plans, Bidding Forms, Addenda, and any other documents made a part of this bid shall 

constitute the complete bid. This bid, when duly accepted by the Charter Township of Ypsilanti, 

shall constitute a contract equally binding between the successful Bidder and Charter Township 

of Ypsilanti. 

 

4.2. Contract Agreement - Once a contract is awarded, the service offered by the successful Bidder 

shall remain firm for the term of the contract. Contract shall commence on date of award and 

continue until the work is completed. 

 

4.3. Change Order - No different or additional terms will become part of this contract with the 

exception of a change order. No oral statement of any person shall modify or otherwise 

change, or affect the terms, conditions or specifications stated in the resulting contract. All 

change orders to the contract will be made in writing and at the discretion and approval of the 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti. No change order will be binding unless signed by an authorized 

representative of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti and the Contractor. 

 

4.4. Price Redetermination - All requests for price redetermination shall be in written form. Cause 

for such request, i.e. manufacturer's direct cost, postage rates, Railroad Commission rates, 

Federal/State minimum wage law, Federal/State unemployment taxes, F.I.C.A, Insurance 

Coverage Rates, etc., shall be substantiated in writing by the source of the cost increase. The 

Contractor's past experience of honoring contracts at the bid price will be an important 

consideration in the evaluation of future bids for the lowest and best bid. Charter Township of 

Ypsilanti reserves the right to accept or reject any/all requests for price redetermination as it 

deems to be in the best interest of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti. 

 

4.5. Termination for Default - Charter Township of Ypsilanti reserves the right to enforce the 

performance of this contract in any manner prescribed by law or deemed to be in the best 

interest of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti in the event of breach or default of this contract. 

The Charter Township of Ypsilanti reserves the right to terminate the contract immediately in 

the event the Contractor fails to perform to the terms of specifications or fails to comply with 

the terms of this contract. Breach of contract or default authorizes the Charter Township of 

Ypsilanti to award to another Bidder, purchase elsewhere and charge the full increase in cost 

and handling to the defaulting party. 

 



 

RFP-2018-04-16-DAS  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

4.6. Invalid, Illegal, or Unenforceable Provisions - In case any one or more of the provisions 

contained in the Contract shall for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in 

any respect, such invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability shall not affect any other provision 

thereof and this contract shall be considered as if such invalid, illegal, or unenforceable 

provision had never been contained herein. 

 

4.7. Injuries or Damages Resulting From Negligence – The Contractor shall defend, indemnify 

and save harmless Charter Township of Ypsilanti and all its officers, agents and employees from 

all suits, actions, or other claims of any character, name and description brought for or on 

account of any injuries or damages received or sustained by any person, persons, or property 

on account of any negligent act or fault of the Contractor, or of any agent, employee, 

subcontractor or supplier in the execution of, or performance under, any contract which may 

result from bid award. The Contractor shall pay any judgment, with costs, which may be 

obtained against Charter Township of Ypsilanti growing out of such injury or damages. 

 

4.8. Warranty - The Contractor shall warrant that all materials utilized in the performance of this 

contract shall conform to the proposed specifications and/or all warranties as stated. All labor 

shall have a warranty for minimum 1 year from the project completion date. 

 

4.9. Sale, Assignment, or Transfer of Contract - The Contractor shall not sell, assign, transfer or 

convey this contract, in whole or in part, without the prior written consent of Charter Township 

of Ypsilanti. 

 

4.10. Service Contract Renewals – The Township requests that all service agreements revert 

to a month-to-month plan at the end of initial agreement duration. 

 

4.11. Service Contract Auto-Renewals – Any service agreement renewals with an auto 

renew clause may only renew in one year increments.  The Township shall have the right to 

discontinue or cancel the renewal at any time up to 29 days’ prior the renewal date.  The 

servicing agency shall inform the Township of its upcoming renewal between 90 and 60 days 

prior to the renewal. Failure of the servicing agency to notify the Township of the upcoming 

renewal, gives the Township the right to cancel service at any time without penalty. 

 

5. Minimum Wage Requirements 
5.1. Contractors, including Subcontractors, performing work or services shall be required to pay 

not less than the prevailing wages and fringe benefits to all employees and follow Charter 

Township of Ypsilanti Ordinance No. 2-201 and the additional provisions contained within.  

 

5.2. All other employees directly involved with this project must be paid in accordance with the 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti Ordinance No. 99-213, “The Living Wage Ordinance”.  A copy of 

this ordinance can be obtained through the Charter Township of Ypsilanti Clerk’s office by 



 

RFP-2018-04-16-DAS  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

calling (734) 484-4700. 

 

6. Bond Requirements 
 

6.1. Bond Certificates – The bid bond is required at the time of bid submission.  All other bond 

requirements must be provided to the Township prior to the execution of the contract 

documents.  

 

6.2. Bid Bonds – (Applies only to proposals over $25,000) Each proposal must be accompanied by a 

certified check, bidders bond, bank draft or cash bond, in an amount not less than (5%) of the 

total price and drawn to the order of The Charter Township of Ypsilanti, as a guarantee of good 

faith on the part of the Bidder and subject to the conditions stipulated in the proposal form. No 

proposals shall be withdrawn for a period of ninety (90) days after the date set for the opening 

of bids. A single check, bond or draft may serve to cover two or more alternate or supplemental 

proposals when such proposals are submitted by the same Bidder. 

 

If multiple bids are being submitted by any one single Bidder a single bond may be utilized.  The 

bond value must be 5% of the project cost for the most expensive option being proposed. 

 

6.3.  Performance and Payment Bonds - (Applies only to proposals over $25,000, See Bid Check 

List Form C) Contractor shall furnish Performance and Payment Bonds, each in an amount at 

least equal to the Contract Price as security for the faithful performance and payment of all 

Contractors’ obligations under the Contract Documents. All Bonds shall be in the form 

prescribed by the Contract Documents except as provided otherwise by Laws or Regulations, 

and shall be executed by such sureties as are named in the current list of “Companies Holding 

Certificates of Authority as Acceptable Securities on Federal Bonds and as Acceptable 

Reinsuring Companies” as published in Circular 570 (amended) by the Audit Staff, Bureau of 

Government Financial Operations, U.S. Treasury Department.  All Bonds signed by an agent 

must be accompanied by a certified copy of such agent’s authority to act. 

 

6.4. Maintenance Bonds - (Applies only to proposals over $25,000, See Bid Check List Form C) 

Contractor shall furnish a Maintenance Bond, in an amount not less than (5%) of the total price 

and drawn to the order of The Charter Township of Ypsilanti, as a warranty guarantee. 

Maintenance Bonds must remain valid for one year after completion of the project.  All Bonds 

shall be in the form prescribed by the Contract Documents except as provided otherwise by 

Laws or Regulations, and shall be executed by such sureties as are named in the current list of 

“Companies Holding Certificates of Authority as Acceptable Securities on Federal Bonds and as 

Acceptable Reinsuring Companies” as published in Circular 570 (amended) by the Audit Staff, 

Bureau of Government Financial Operations, U.S. Treasury Department.  All Bonds signed by an 

agent must be accompanied by a certified copy of such agent’s authority to act. 

 

6.5. Bond Surety - If the surety on any bond furnished by the Contractor is declared as bankrupt or 

becomes insolvent or its right to do business is terminated in any state where any part of the 



 

RFP-2018-04-16-DAS  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

project is located or it ceases to meet requirements of this bid, the Contractor shall within 10 

days thereafter substitute another bond and surety, both of which must be acceptable to the 

Owner Licensed Sureties and Insurers; Certificates of Insurance. 

 

6.6. Licensing Jurisdiction - All bonds and insurance required by the Contract Documents to be 

purchased and maintained by the Owner or Contractor shall be obtained from surety or 

insurance companies that are duly licensed or authorized in the jurisdiction in which the project 

is located to issue bonds and insurance policies for the limits and coverage’s so required. 

 

7. Insurance Limits 

7.1. Insurance Certificates - The Contractor agrees to provide the Owner with Certificates of 

Insurance for General Liability, Vehicle Liability, and Statutory Workers Compensation, 

according to the limits provided in the Charter Township of Ypsilanti Financial Policy.  The 

Certificates of Insurance must be provided to the Township prior to the execution of the 

contract documents.  

 

7.2. Requirements - The Contractor will maintain at its own expense during the term of the 

contract, the following insurance: 

 

7.2.1. Worker’s Compensation insurance with Michigan statutory limits and employers liability 

insurance of $1,000,000.00 minimum each accident. 

 

7.2.2. Broad Form Comprehensive General Liability Insurance with a combined single limit of 

$1,000,000.00 each occurrence for bodily injury and property damage.  Policy to include 

products and completed operations, independent contractors and contractual liability 

coverage.  Policy shall be endorsed to provide 60 day written notice to the Project 

Coordinator of any material change of coverage, cancellation or non-renewal of coverage. 

 

7.2.3. Owner’s protective policy shall be in the name of “Charter Township of Ypsilanti”.  Policy 

shall provide a $1,000,000.00 combined single limit for bodily injury or property damage 

per occurrence.  The Charter Township of Ypsilanti and its past, present, and future 

elected Officials shall be named as “additional named insured” on the General Liability 

policy with respect to the services provided under this contract. 

 

7.2.4. Automobile Liability insurance covering all owned, hired and non-owned vehicles with 

personal protection insurance and property protection insurance to comply with 

provisions of the Michigan No Fault Insurance Law.  Including residual liability insurance 

with a minimum combined single limit of $1,000,000.00 each accident for bodily injury and 

property damage. 

 

7.2.5. Builders Risk - The Contractor shall take out and maintain Builders Risk insurance during 

the life of the contract(in the name of the Contractor and the Charter Township of 

Ypsilanti), "All Risk" (excluding Earthquake and Flood) Builder’s Risk Insurance covering the 



 

RFP-2018-04-16-DAS  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

entire work of this contract for 100% of the replacement value thereof, including items of 

labor and materials in place or to be used as part of the permanent construction, including 

surplus miscellaneous materials and supplies incident to the work, and such scaffoldings, 

staging, towers, forms, and equipment not owned or rented by the Contractor, the cost of 

which is not included in the cost of the work. EXCLUSIONS: This insurance does not cover 

any tools owned by mechanics, any tools, equipment, scaffoldings, staging, towers, and 

forms, rented or owned by the Contractor, the value of which is not included in the cost of 

the work, or any shanties or other structures erected for the sole convenience of the 

workers. 

 

In the event of a loss by the perils insured against, of any or all of the work and/or 

materials herein provided for, at any time prior to the final completion of the contract and 

the final acceptance by the Charter Township of Ypsilanti, the Contractor shall promptly 

reconstruct, repair, replace or restore all work or materials so destroyed. Nothing herein 

provided for shall in any way excuse the Contractor or the Contractor's surety from the 

obligation of furnishing all the required materials and completing the work in full 

compliance with the terms of the contract. 

 

7.2.6.  Certificate of Liability Insurance Verbiage – General Liability Insurance limits must 

contain the following verbiage in verbatim; “The Charter Township of Ypsilanti and its past, 

present, and future elected officials, trustees, appointed commissions and boards, agents 

and employees shall be named as “additional named insured” on the General Liability 

policy with respect to the services provided under this contract.” Prior to contact execution. 

 

7.2.7. An umbrella policy may be used to meet some of the above requirements. 

 

7.3. Licensing Jurisdiction - All insurance policies must be held by companies licensed to do 

business in Michigan and such companies must be well rated and acceptable to the Charter 

Township of Ypsilanti. 

 

7.4. Require to Maintain - If the required insurance is not maintained at any time during the term 

of this Contract, the Contract shall be subject to cancellation immediately or at any time 

thereafter, at the sole discretion of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti.  If the Charter Township 

of Ypsilanti elects to exercise its option to cancel on these grounds, the Charter Township of 

Ypsilanti shall so notify the Contractor of its election. 

 

7.5. Legal Review - All Certificates of Insurance are subject to the final approval of the Charter 

Township of Ypsilanti Legal Counsel. 

8. Completion 

8.1. Township Approval - The project will not be considered complete until all approved Charter 

Township of Ypsilanti final inspections have been approved. 

 



 

RFP-2018-04-16-DAS  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

8.2. Construction Start - Construction shall start within 45 days of the Notice to Proceed and 

completed within 60 days unless otherwise noted in the RFP response. 

 

8.3. Payment - Full payment shall be made within 45 days of receipt of invoice upon completion of 

work. 

9. Site Access 
9.1. Prior to bid closure - Access to the any Charter Township of Ypsilanti site referenced herein 

will be made available only during the mandatory pre-bid meeting. 

 

9.2. After bid award - Only the approved employees, approved contractors, and approved sub-

contractors will have access to non-public areas of Charter Township of Ypsilanti facilities. 

 

10. Proposal Submittals  
10.1. Limits - There is no limit to how many proposals a single Bidder may submit. 

 

10.2. Required Copies - As part of the bid proposal package, the following submittals are 

required by Charter Township of Ypsilanti to be reviewed and acted on by the Township in 

evaluating the Bidder’s proposal.  Two (2) copies of all drawings and product data shall be 

required.  One (1) paper and one (1) electronic. 

 

10.3. Price Break Down - Bid proposal pricing shall be broken down by building with each 

price representing a complete building installation. Include line item pricing for all major 

components and subsection pricing for all items described in that subsection. Pricing shall 

include all associated costs including but not limited to: hardware, cabling, conduit, electrical, 

network, licensing, and labor. 

 

10.4. Product Sheets - Manufacturer’s product data sheets for all equipment and 

components provided for in this project.  Data sheets shall include equipment specifications, 

code compliance, certifications, and other information as required for proper evaluation. 

 

10.5. Execution Plan - A written description of the proposed plan of execution for the Work 

herein described, including estimated time-frame, number of personnel to be used, a 

description of long lead-time items and materials, and a description of the methods to be used 

to ensure quality. 

 

10.6. Coordination Efforts - A written description of the coordination efforts that need to be 

made, either by the Contractor, Charter Township of Ypsilanti, or any other party, for the 

installation to proceed on schedule in the manner described. 

 

10.7. Township Review - Prior to fabrication or installation of the Work, the following 

submittals are required by Charter Township of Ypsilanti of the Contractor to be reviewed and 



 

RFP-2018-04-16-DAS  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

acted on by Charter Township of Ypsilanti in accordance with the provisions of the contract. 2 

paper, 1 electronic.  Three (3) copies of all drawings and product data shall be required. 

 

10.8. Mounting Information - Detailed descriptions of all equipment locations and mounting 

particulars. 

 

10.9. Electrical Requirements - A schedule of the electrical requirements for the proposed 

equipment, including system idle and peak power requirements.  Required only if proposed 

equipment has power consumption. 

 

10.10. Background - Description of the Bidder’s background and size.  Include statements of 

qualifications that includes your firm’s professional credentials and experience in providing 

services enumerated in the Request for Proposal and the legal status of your organization. 

 

10.11. Business Changes - Describe any changes in the mode of conducting business your firm 

has made in the past three (3) years, include any mergers, acquisitions, consolidations, 

downsizing or bankruptcy proceedings or filings. 

 

10.12. Licenses - Identify all licenses currently held by your firm. 

 

10.13. Additional Information - Any other additional information which would assist the 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti in the evaluation of your proposal. 

 

10.14. References - Provide a list of at least four (4) references (government preferred) with 

knowledge of your firm’s contract performance.  References shall be employees in the senior 

level management positions. Include the name of the entity, a description of the contract 

project the dates of service and the name(s), telephone numbers, and email addresses of the 

contact persons. 

  



 

RFP-2018-04-16-DAS  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

Scope of Work 

Location: 
Ypsilanti Township Civic Center (Including 14B District Court) 

7200 South Huron River Drive 

Ypsilanti MI 48197 

 
The Township seeks proposals from qualified individuals and/or firms for the installation of a system 

enhanced cellular and radio coverage throughout the designated areas of the Township Civic Center. 

The selected Respondent will fully design, install, and implement the DAS at the Civic Center. The system 

shall include the design of a neutral host DAS to support multiple cellular carriers including but not 

limited to AT&T, Sprint, T-Mobile, and Verizon. The DAS shall, at a minimum, incorporate all current 

wireless communications and broadband data requirements for procurement of the four major wireless 

service providers. 

The Township Civic Center Offices and 14B District Court and connected into a single physical building. 

Requirements: 

 Shall improve coverage to all areas within the Civic Center walls. 

 Minimal coverage goal shall be -95 bBm for the Township Devices primary carrier (Verizon) 

 Shall not be dependent on Township network resources. 

 

 

 

 

  



 

RFP-2018-04-16-DAS  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

Form A: Proposal Cost Analysis. 
By submitting this proposal, the potential contractor certifies the following: 

 This proposal is signed by an authorized representative of the firm. 

 

 It can obtain insurance certificates as required within 23 calendar days after notice of 

award. 

 

 The cost and availability of all equipment, materials, and supplies associated with 

performing the services described herein have been determined and included in the 

proposed cost. 

 

 All labor costs, direct and indirect, have been determined and included in the proposed 

cost. 

 

 The potential Contractor has read and understands the conditions set forth in this RFP 

and agrees to them with no exceptions. 
 

Therefore, in compliance with this Request for Proposals, and subject 
to all conditions herein, the undersigned offers and agrees, if this 
proposal is accepted within 90 days from the date of the contract 
execution to furnish the subject services for a base cost not to exceed  

Project Total:  $___________ 
 

 (Please attach a detail of the cost with this cost form page) 

 

Company Name: ____________________________________ 

Address: __________________________________________ 

Address: __________________________________________ 

City, State, Zip: _____________________________________ 

Telephone Number: __________________________________ 

Federal Employer Identification Number: __________________ 

eMail: _____________________________________________ 

 

By:___________________________ Title:_____________________ Date: 
(Signature) (Typed or printed name)  

 

THIS PAGE MUST BE SIGNED AND INCLUDED IN YOUR PROPOSAL. 

Unsigned proposals will not be considered. 



 

RFP-2018-04-16-DAS  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

Form B: Iran Business Relationship 
Affidavit. 
 

Effective April 1, 2013 all bids, proposals and/or qualification statements received in the State of 

Michigan must comply with the “Iran Economic Sanctions Act”.  The Following certification is to be 

signed and included at time of submittal: 

Pursuant to the Michigan Iran Economic Sanctions Act, 2012 P.A. 517, by submitting a bid, proposal or 

response, respondent certifies, under civil penalty for false certification, that it is fully eligible to do so 

under law and that it is not an “Iran linked business,” as that term is defined in the Act. 

 

 

_______________________________  _______________________________ 
Signature  Title 

 

 

_______________________________  _______________________________ 
Company  Date 

 

 

  



 

RFP-2018-04-16-DAS  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

Form C: Bid Check List 
 

 

 Bid Copies; 1 Paper and 1 Identical Electronic. 

 Signed copy for Form A. 

 Signed copy for Form B. 

 Bid Bond (Required) 

 Performance Bond (Over $25,000 bids; required prior to project execution) 

 Payment Bond (Over $25,000 bids; required prior to project execution) 

 Maintenance Bond (Over $25,000 bids; required prior to project execution) 

 Detailed Project Pricing Information. 

 

 



 

 

 

 

May 7, 2018 
 
 
Ms. Brenda Stumbo 
Township Supervisor 
Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
7200 S. Huron River Drive 
Ypsilanti, MI 48197 
 
 
RE: Recommendation of Award 
 Fire Station Parking Lot Improvements 
 
 
Dear Ms. Stumbo: 
 
Sealed bids for the Fire Station Parking Lot Improvements construction project were received and publicly read aloud at 
1:00 p.m. on Friday May 4, 2018 at the Charter Township of Ypsilanti Civic Center.  The bid documents were posted on 
MITN.  Proposals were received from five (5) bidders with as-checked results ranging from $360,466.66 to $505,709.00. 
The engineer’s estimate for the project was $384,465.00.   
 
We have evaluated all five bidders based on their bids, all required information, including bond surety, statement of 
qualifications, and subcontractors listing.  The lowest bid was received from Doan Construction Company, located at 
3670 Carpenter Road, Ypsilanti, MI 48197, in the amount of $360,466.66.  They also received the highest Quality Based 
Selection (QBS) rating, having performed work within the Township on projects that were completed on time and under 
budget. 
 
It is felt that Doan Construction Company and their subcontractors are capable of performing the work based on past 
experiences, referenced projects, and information provided with the statement of qualifications in the bid package.  Based 
on the submitted information, it is recommended that the Fire Station Parking Lot Improvements work be 
awarded to Doan Construction Company of Ypsilanti, MI in the amount of $360,466.66.  We also recommend a 
contingency budget of $36,000.00 to help cover unforeseen issues in the field or additional work that may be 
determined in the field.  This results in a total recommended construction budget of $396,466.66. 
 
Should there be any questions, please contact this office at (734) 522-6711. 
 
Sincerely, 
OHM Advisors,  

 
Matthew D. Parks 
 

Encl: Bid Tab 
cc: Chief Eric Copeland, Fire Chief 
 Karen Lovejoy-Roe, Township Clerk 
 Larry Doe, Township Treasurer 
 Lisa Stanfield, Township Deputy Clerk 
 Aaron Berkholz, OHM Advisors 
 Jess Howard, OHM Advisors 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
 

OFFICE OF COMMUNITY STANDARDS 
 

Building Safety  Planning & Zoning  Ordinance Enforcement  Police Services 
 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive    Ypsilanti, MI  48197    (734) 485-4393 

 

 
To:  Karen Lovejoy Roe, Clerk 
 

From:  Michael Radzik, OCS Director 
 

Re: Request to waive the financial policy to accept a bid from A.R. Total 
Construction to perform a variety of maintenance work at the police facility at 
1405 Holmes Rd for an amount not to exceed $25,000; request is funded in 
account 266-301.000-931.011 pursuant to transfer of funds from within the 
Law Enforcement Fund cost center. 

 

Copy: Wayne Dudley 
 

Date:  May 10, 2018 
 
There have been recent discussions with the Washtenaw County Sheriff’s Office (WCSO) about 
its 2018 summer policing plan and the Township’s desire to increase police visibility in 
neighborhoods traditionally impacted by seasonal youth related service demands.  The 
Township and the WCSO wish to station deputies assigned to a neighborhood/youth summer 
program at the Township police facility at 1405 Holmes Rd.  The assignments will begin in June 
2018. 
 
This was formerly a full service police facility that was closed several years ago due to revenue 
decreases and staffing reductions.  After several years it was partially reopened as a 24/7 
“drop-in” substation where deputies write reports, interview victims and witnesses, and 
conduct other business as needed.  The locker room facilities, emergency generator, and other 
non-essential functions have remained closed, and maintenance has been limited to necessary 
cleaning and supplies. 
 
Deep maintenance work is now required, including replacement of flooring in certain areas, 
paint refresh, reopening locker rooms and other replacement upgrades.  The Residential 
Services Department (RSD) solicited bids from local contractors who could complete the scope 
of work within a relatively short time frame.  As of this writing, only one bid has been received 
from A.R. Total Construction, which is the same local company that successfully renovated the 
Law Enforcement Center in 2014-15.  Other firms have indicated they are too busy to complete 
the work in a timely manner. 
 
Due to the short time line, lack of multiple bids, and confidence in the company that submitted 
a bid, I am requesting to waive the financial policy and accept the submitted bid for an amount 
not to exceed $25,000.  The project will be supervised by RSD/Wayne Dudley. 



 

OTHER BUSINESS 
 

 


	May 15, 2018
	Departmental Reports
	14B Court - April 2018
	Hydro Dam - April 2018
	Police Services - April 2018

	Work Session Agenda
	Review Agenda
	Other Discussion

	Regular Meeting Agenda
	Public Comments
	Consent Agenda
	April 17, 2018 Work Session Minutes
	April 17, 2018 Regular Meeting Minutes
	April 24, 2018 Special Meeting Minutes
	April 24, 2018 Closed Meeting Minutes
	May 2, 2018 Special Meeting Minutes
	May 2, 2018 Closed Session Minutes
	May 9, 2018 Special Meeting Minutes
	May 9, 2018 Closed Session Minutes
	Statements and Checks May 1, 2018
	Statements and Checks May 15, 2018
	Treasurer's Report April 2018

	Attorney Report
	Old Business
	2nd Reading Res. 2018-07, Proposed Ord. 2018-477 Commercial and Industrial Business Registration
	2nd Reading Res. 2018-11, Proposed Ord. 2018-477 Rezoning of 1250 E. Michigan

	New Business
	Budget Amendment #9
	Request Local Governing Approval for Small Wine Maker License
	Request Approval of Metro Act Permit Application for Lightspeed Communications
	Request Approval of Economic Development Strategy
	Request Approval of E. Michigan Ave. and Ecorse Rd. Placemaking Plan
	Request Approval of OHM Proposal to Oversee Construction at Fire Station HQ Parkign Lot
	Request Approval of Amendment to OHM Proposal for Additional Grove Rd. Pathway Work
	Request Approval of Agreement with WCRC and City of Ypsilanti for Emerick St. Work
	Request Approval of Renewal of RANT Software for 14B Court
	Request Approval of Amendment to Court Innovations Agreement for 14B Court
	Request Approval of Proposal from Innovative Environmental 
	Request Approval of Agreement with WCRC For 2018 Local Road Improvements
	Request Approval of Easment Agreement ACM and WRAD
	Request Approval of Public Nuisance Abatement
	Request Approval fo Contracts with WCSO for School Resource Deputies
	Request Approval of WCRC Contract for Foley Ave. CDBG Road Project
	Request Approval of Agreement with DTE for 2018 LED Conversions
	Request to Set Public Hearing Date for Creation of SAD #211 Creekside West-2

	Authorizations and Bids
	Request to Seek RFP's for Cellular Repeater System
	Request to Award Low Bid for Fire Station HQ Parking Lot Improvements
	Request to Waive the Financial Policy and Award Bid for Holmes Rd. Fire Station Work

	Other Business



